Government, the Railways and the Modernization of Britain

Beeching's last trains

Charles Loft



Government, the Railways and the Modernization of Britain

When Dr Richard Beeching, the Chairman of British Railways, presented his report on the future of Britain's rail system in March 1963, he ensured that his name would forever be associated with cutbacks and consolidation. The Beeching Report recommended the closure of a third of Britain's railways: a plan that went ahead despite heavy opposition and arguably helped transform the way the British live, and the kind of country they live in.

In this book, Charles Loft places current issues in transport policy in historical and cultural context: he examines why the nationalized railways were in such dire financial straits by 1963; how the government's conclusions on future transport-work would have cut Britain's railways down by even more than Beeching; and what eventually stopped successive governments implementing such cuts. In bringing the story of government railway policy up to date, the book asks what Beeching's legacy is now, and whether the lessons of the fifties and sixties have been heeded since privatization.

Government, the Railways and the Modernization of Britain examines the politics behind the programme and argues that Beeching's apparent ruthlessness was an attempt to impose logic on railway finances as well as a response to the failures of 15 years of public ownership. A case study of the complexities of transport policy and the political pitfalls of implementing massive changes, this study holds relevance today. It will be invaluable to anyone interested in how transport policy is made, or how it has arrived at its current state, and sheds fascinating new light on the working of government, the economy and the mood of the times under Churchill, Eden, Macmillan and Wilson.

Charles Loft is a researcher, who worked as a musician and freelance investigator before becoming a historian. He has taught at Queen Mary and Westfield College, University of London, Huddersfield University and was Fulbright-Robertson Professor at Westminster College, Missouri, 2000–1.

British politics and society

Series editor: Peter Catterall ISSN: 1467-1441

Social change impacts not just upon voting behaviour and party identity but also the formulation of policy. But how do social changes and political developments interact? Which shapes which? Reflecting a belief that social and political structures cannot be understood either in isolation from each other or from the historical processes which form them, this series will examine the forces that have shaped British society. Cross-disciplinary approaches will be encouraged. In the process, the series will aim to make a contribution to existing fields, such as politics, sociology and media studies, as well as opening out new and hithertoneglected fields.

The Making of Channel 4

Edited by Peter Catterall

Managing Domestic Dissent in First World War Britain

Brock Millman

Reforming the Constitution

Debates in twenty-first century Britain Edited by Peter Catterall, Wolfram Kaiser and Ulrike Walton-Jordan

Pessimism and British War Policy, 1916–1918 Brock Millman

Amateurs and Professionals in Post-war British Sport *Edited by Adrian Smith and Dilwyn Porter*

A Life of Sir John Eldon Gorst

Disraeli's awkward disciple *Archie Hunter*

Conservative Party Attitudes to Jews, 1900–1950 *Harry Defries*

Poor Health

Social inequality before and after the Black Report *Edited by Virginia Berridge and Stuart Blume*

Mass Conservatism

The Conservatives and the public since the 1880s *Edited by Stuart Ball and Ian Holliday*

Defining British Citizenship

Empire, Commonwealth and modern Britain *Rieko Karatani*

Television Policies of the Labour Party, 1951–2001

Des Freedman

Creating the National Health Service

Aneurin Bevan and the medical Lords *Marvin Rintala*

A Social History of Milton Keynes

Middle England/edge city Mark Clapson

Scottish Nationalism and the Idea of Europe

Atsuko Ichijo

The Royal Navy in the Falklands Conflict and the Gulf War

Culture and strategy Alastair Finlan

The Labour Party in Opposition 1970–1974

Prisoners of history Patrick Bell

The Civil Service Commission, 1855–1991

A bureau biography *Richard A. Chapman*

Popular Newspapers, the Labour Party and British Politics

James Thomas

In the Midst of Events

The Foreign Office diaries of Kenneth Younger, February 1950–October 1951 Edited by Geoffrey Warner

Strangers, Aliens and Asians

Huguenots, Jews and Bangladeshis in Spitalfields 1666–2000 Anne J. Kershen

Conscription in Britain 1939–1963

The militarization of a generation *Roger Broad*

German Migrants in Post-war Britain

An enemy embrace Inge Weber-Newth and Johannes-Dieter Steinert

The Labour Governments 1964–1970

Edited by Peter Dorey

Government, the Railways and the Modernization of Britain

Beeching's last trains Charles Loft

Britain, America and the War Debt Controversy

The economic diplomacy of an unspecial relationship, 1917–1941 *Robert Self*

Government, the Railways and the Modernization of Britain

Beeching's last trains

Charles Loft



First published 2006 by Routledge 2 Park Square, Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon OX14 4RN

Simultaneously published in the USA and Canada by Routledge 270 Madison Ave, New York, NY 10016

Routledge is an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group, an informa business

© 2006 Charles Loft

This edition published in the Taylor & Francis e-Library, 2006.

"To purchase your own copy of this or any of Taylor & Francis or Routledge's collection of thousands of eBooks please go to www.eBookstore.tandf.co.uk."

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reprinted or reproduced or utilized in any form or by any electronic, mechanical, or other means, now known or hereafter invented, including photocopying and recording, or in any information storage or retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publishers.

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library

Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data A catalog record for this book has been requested

ISBN10: 0-714-65338-1 (hbk) ISBN10: 0-203-64305-4 (ebk)

ISBN13: 978-0-714-65338-9 (hbk) ISBN13: 978-0-203-64305-1 (ebk)



For Frances Jordan and Ron Loft

Contents

	Acknowledgements Abbreviations	x xi
1	'A wound that has not healed'	1
2	The railway problems	16
3	The success of the Modernisation Plan	37
4	Reappraisals	53
5	'The nitty-gritty of actually doing things'	74
6	Top gear	90
7	White heat/red light	113
8	The management of decline?	134
9	Conclusion	149
	Appendix One: Financial Overview, 1948–73 Appendix Two: Maps Notes Bibliography Index	161 162 166 202 210

Acknowledgements

This book began life as a PhD thesis supervised by Peter Hennessy, whose infectious enthusiasm has continued to support its subsequent development. My work has benefited from the advice and support of too many colleagues at Queen Mary University of London, Westminster College, Missouri, the BP History Team and Huddersfield University, and the useful comments of participants at too many conferences, for me to list them all individually; but I am particularly grateful to Roger Mettam for encouraging me to enter into it, to my PhD examiners, Jim Tomlinson and John Turner, to John Ramsden and Jim Bamberg and to the series editor Peter Catterall.

I am grateful to the trustees of the Harold Macmillan Book Trust, Copyright and Archives Fund for permission to quote from the diaries of Harold Macmillan; to the Governors of the Ashridge (Bonar Law Memorial) Trust for permission to quote from the papers of Lord Watkinson; to Her Majesty's Stationery Office for permission to reproduce and adapt the maps in appendix two under core licence agreement; to the National Archives Image Library for permission to use the chart reproduced in figure one; and to Nick Catford for the photograph of Liverpool Central station on the title page. I have benefited from, and enjoyed, the willingness of several participants in the events discussed here, some of whom are unfortunately no longer alive, to cast their minds back over them: Lord Boyd-Carpenter; Sir James Dunnett; Sir Christopher Foster; Kenneth Glover; Richard Hardy; Lady Marples; Dame Alison Munro; Lord Peyton; Sir Leo Pliatzky; Sir David Serpell; William Sharp; Sir Geoffrey Wardale; Ivor Warburton and Lord Whitelaw. I am particularly indebted to two fellow writers: Terry Gourvish, whose excellent two-volume business history of the nationalized railway has been a vital aid to my research; and the late Gerard Fiennes, whose autobiography, I Tried to Run a Railway, cost him his job but planted the first seeds of my interest in the thinking behind the railways that fascinated me as a child. Needless to say, any mistakes and failings herein are entirely mine. Finally, this book would never have been written without the love and support of my wife and my father, to whom it is dedicated and who will undoubtedly feel that a weight has been lifted from their shoulders now that it is finished.

Abbreviations

AA:	Automobile Association
AA:	Automobile Association

- ABCC: Association of British Chambers of Commerce
- APT: Advanced Passenger Train
- ASLEF: The Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen
- BOAC: British Overseas Airways Corporation
- BOC: British Oxygen Company
- BoT: Board of Trade
- BR: British Rail
- BRB: British Railways Board
- BRF: British Roads Federation
- BTC: British Transport Commission
- CPRE: Council for the Protection of Rural England
- CSO: Central Statistical Office
- CTCC: Central Transport Consultative Committee
- DEA: Department of Economic Affairs
- DfT: Department for Transport
- DoE: Department of the Environment
- DoT: Department of Transport
- DSIR: Department of Scientific and Industrial Research
- EPC: Economic Policy Committee of the Cabinet
- GDP: Gross Domestic Product
- GLC: Greater London Council
- GWR Great Western Railway
- HoC: House of Commons
- HOPS: Treasury Home and Overseas Planning Staff
- HST: High Speed Train
- IDR: Interdepartmental Working Party on Railways
- JSG: Joint Steering Group
- LCC: London County Council
- LMS: London Midland and Scottish Railway
- LNER: London and North Eastern Railway
- LPTB: London Passenger Transport Board
- LTST: Statistical Working Party on Long-term Survey of Transport

MGM:	Ministerial Group on Modernisation [of the railways]
MHLG:	Ministry of Housing and Local Government
MoL:	Ministry of Labour
MoT:	Ministry of Transport
MTCA:	Ministry of Transport and Civil Aviation
NCB:	National Coal Board
NUR:	National Union of Railwaymen
PESC:	Public Expenditure Survey Committee
PSO:	Public Service Obligation grant
RAC:	Royal Automobile Club
REPC:	Regional Economic Planning Council
RHA:	Road Haulage Association
RHE:	Road Haulage Executive of the BTC
RRL:	Road Research Laboratory
RSG:	Regional Study Group
SAG:	Special (Stedeford) Advisory Group (on the BTC)
SDD:	Scottish Development Department
SMMT:	Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders
SRA:	Strategic Rail Authority
TGV:	Train à Grande Vitesse
TGWU:	Transport and General Workers Union
TOCs:	Train Operating Companies
TSSA:	Transport Salaried Staffs' Association
TUC:	Trades Union Congress
TUCC:	Transport Users' Consultative Committee

1 'A wound that has not healed'

On a September evening in 1964 a branch line terminus in the north of England waited for the Beeching Axe to fall. As the last train from Carlisle pulled into the tiny terminus at Silloth, the usual diesel replaced by a steam locomotive for the occasion, passengers in the packed coaches gasped to see a crowd of between 5,000 and 9,000 people spilling across the tracks and serenaded by a group of folk singers performing The Beeching Blues. The police had already ejected the local Labour Party candidate from the platform and as the train prepared to return to Carlisle they repeatedly removed a placard which read 'if you don't catch this you'll never get another one – unless you vote Labour' from the front of the locomotive, which was also adorned by a wreath. The final departure was delayed, first while the police removed detonators from the rails and then as they removed 'dozens of "teenagers"', sitting on the line to shouts of 'remember it's your train they're stopping as well as ours'. As the locomotive inched forward, the driver released hot steam and then hot water to clear the last of the demonstrators sitting on the tracks before the train pulled away to the sound of Brian Poole and the Tremeloes' Do You Love Me? playing on the crowd's transistor radios. As it pulled into Abbeydown, police cars raced to the station in response to a bomb hoax. In 1883 a group opposing Sunday working, armed with clubs and sticks, physically prevented fish being carried from Strome Ferry station by the Highland Railway, but it is much easier to stop a train than to make it run; at Silloth the crowd departed, some of them in tears. The following Friday, the Carlisle Journal reported this 'great train robbery' in uncompromising terms:

With one swift cut of your scalpel, Dr Beeching, you have severed a vital life-line ... a line that can mean the difference between prosperity and poverty to the once booming seaside town of Silloth. You have threatened the livelihoods of many people. You have deterred industry.

You have discouraged the 'bucket and spade brigade'.

A few weeks earlier the local MP, William Whitelaw, had been accosted by a constituent whose farm bordered the line. The farmer complained that if he was

no longer able to see the branch train passing in the afternoon he would not know when it was time to go home for his tea. He was advised to get a watch. This was not just the loss of a local amenity, it was a fundamental alteration to a pattern of life; the old certainties steamed away, to the soundtrack of the new, Sixties Britain. This convenient symbolism was less significant, however, than the fact that the 'teenagers' (the *Railway Magazine*, founded in 1897, felt the word still required inverted commas) were as unhappy at the loss of their railway as the watchless farmer.¹

This book is, first and foremost, about railway closures. It seeks to explain why it was that the British government, having apparently supported a massive investment in rail in 1955, began cutting that investment programme in 1960 and by 1963 was pursuing a programme of rail closures which implied an ultimate reduction of the passenger rail network to about 5,000 miles. It examines the political difficulties this policy encountered and the subsequent relationship between government and the railways to the present day, placing it in the context of a wider perception of the need to modernize which existed in Britain during the late 1950s and 1960s and which the railways came to represent. This is not a business history or an economic study and does not seek to prove that the arguments for closing individual lines were right or wrong. However, this introductory chapter begins with an examination of the myths surrounding Beeching today and the chief arguments over the viability of individual services, in order to demonstrate that the lasting resentment felt over rail closures cannot be explained solely by the controversy surrounding the figures used to justify them, but needs also to be seen as an expression of the place of the rural branch line in English culture (and of rail closures in Scottish and Welsh nationalism). A final section discusses the wider context of the modernization of Britain.

The Beeching myth

Although the atmosphere in which the last train left Silloth was unusually politicized and rowdy (the 1964 General Election was only a month away), similar scenes took place all over Britain during the 1950s and 1960s, as the passenger network contracted from around 17,000 miles in 1948 to under 9,000 in 1973. As many local services were withdrawn from lines which remained open for through traffic, the more dramatic fall in the number of stations open to passengers, from over 6,500 to 2,355, may provide a better guide to the impact of this contraction.² The name of Dr Richard Beeching has become so indelibly associated with this process that over 30 years after he left the British Railways Board (BRB) the BBC could use it in the title of a situation comedy set on a rural branch line in the early 1960s, *Oh Dr Beeching*, and be confident the public would recognize it.

Beeching joined the British Transport Commission (BTC), the publicly owned body with responsibility for the railways, in March 1961 and became Chairman on 1 June. When the BTC was replaced by the BRB on 1 January 1963, Beeching became its Chairman, remaining in the post until 1 June 1965.³

Under Beeching's Chairmanship, the BTC and BRB closed 2,479 route miles to passengers (less than a third of the total contraction).⁴ In March 1963 the BRB published The Reshaping of British Railways, or the Beeching Report as it soon became known. At great length the report expounded what was in essence a very simple message: the railways had to discover what traffic they could carry most profitably and concentrate on doing so with increasing efficiency, while cutting out that which did not pay. This meant investing in the transport of large loads over long distances, while withdrawing many stopping-train passenger and pickup freight services (in other words local services stopping at every station), and closing lines on which no other traffic was carried.⁵ In short, the railways should act as a business and in doing so should cut out a variety of loss-making activities and invest in the profitable ones. Beeching made a number of positive recommendations, most notably investment in freightliner trains, which it was hoped would allow rail to retain some general merchandise traffic by offering a long-distance service combined with collection and delivery by road. Nevertheless, the parts of the report which had the greatest impact were the appendix listing 2,363 stations to be closed, 266 services to be withdrawn and 71 to be modified and the accompanying map which showed roughly a third of the network's route miles would go. Thirty-one per cent of the route mileage open to passengers in 1962 had closed by the end of 1973, and slightly more than half of this was achieved by the end of 1965. The results could have been far more dramatic: by 1965 the BRB had identified a network of 7,000-8,000 miles, less than 5,000 miles of it open to passengers, which would suffice for the next 20 years, but the closures this implied were never implemented.6

As a literary text, the *Beeching Report*'s pages of alphabetically ordered stations to be closed have the mournful look of names on a war memorial. This sombre list inspired an immediate *Guardian* editorial, utilizing some of the more interesting station names and entitled *Lament*, which ended 'Yorton, Wressle, and Gospel Oak, the richness of your heritage is ended. We shall not stop at you again; for Dr Beeching stops at nothing'. In a similar vein, Flanders and Swann produced their valediction for the passing of *The Slow Train* later the same year.⁷ It wasn't only professionals who put pen to paper. The Ministry of Transport's files on railway closures are stuffed with letters of protest. Some are actually written in green ink; many more are as eloquently angry as Mrs Joan Price of Cavendish, Suffolk:

Opinion here of the Dr Beeching closure proposals is that they are a monstrous embodiment of ruthless disregard for the thousands whose lives ... are bound to suffer enormous ... disruption if this inhuman plan is allowed to be carried out ... it is like cutting off the nation's feet in order to save the cost of shoe leather.⁸

The contraction of Britain's railway network was well underway before the *Beeching Report*. Between 1950 and 31 August 1962 the passenger rail network shrank by over 3,300 miles, the rate of contraction accelerating from 1958.⁹ But

the concentration of so many closures in one slim volume associated Beeching with the entire process. No other nationalized industry chairman is so well remembered: at the *Lord Beeching* pub in Aberystwyth; at *Beeching's Folly*, the former Southern Railway station in Tavistock; at, among others, *Beeching Close* and *The Beechings*, housing developments on the site of the former stations at Halwill Junction, Devon, and Henfield, Sussex, respectively.

These are not fond memorials but infamy. The name Beeching still arouses passion, at least in men of a certain age. When I tell people I study transport policy their eyes glaze over; when I tell them I study Beeching I am often treated to a brief lecture on my subject. In popular opinion, Beeching stands accused of callously ignoring the social consequences of closures, of studying the railways in narrow financial terms when he should have studied transport as a whole, of falsifying the figures justifying closure, of cooperating with an antirail conspiracy and of simply being wrong. Richard Lamb refers to Beeching's appointment as 'a tragedy for the nation' and to his 'dismantling of the railways ... as one of the major aberrations of the Macmillan Government'. The late Robert Adley MP saw Beeching's legacy as the 'mass decimation' of the railway network. The popular author Ian Marchant describes Beeching's 'brutally simple task' as being to make the railways pay '[n]o matter what it cost in social terms'.¹⁰ In the introduction to the most virulent of these attacks, David Henshaw's The Great Railway Conspiracy, Stan Abbott writes that praising Beeching for his achievements in improving railway management 'is rather like praising Hitler for helping create the VW Beetle while conveniently forgetting his other more notorious deeds'.¹¹

It is perhaps worth reminding ourselves that Richard Beeching never killed anyone, indeed he did not close a single railway line; every individual closure had to be approved by the Minister of Transport; all Beeching did was to put forward for closure those lines which were in his view irretrievably unremunerative. The prioritization of financial criteria evident in the Beeching Report was founded upon the BRB's terms of reference set out in the Transport Act 1962. Beeching's critics have generally recognized that their barbs must equally be aimed at Ernest Marples, Conservative Minister of Transport from October 1959 until October 1964, who appointed Beeching, implemented many of the closures he proposed and presided over both the 1962 Act and a shift in investment resources from rail to road which preceded it. When the last train ran on the Cirencester branch in 1964, it was Marples who was burned in effigy outside the station.¹² Both contemporary and more recent commentators have tended to see the shift in emphasis from rail to road as a direct reflection of Marples' influence, and - for some - as a result of an unjustified anti-rail prejudice on his part.¹³ This last suspicion rests on the fact that Marples had founded a company that, among other things, built roads, and had recruited Beeching to a Special Advisory Group (SAG) on the railways he established in 1960, the conclusions of which were kept secret for nearly 30 years. This secrecy and Beeching's membership have given rise to the false idea that the group produced a secret version of Beeching's closure programme, which is discussed in Chapter 5.14

But whether it is Beeching, Marples or the road lobby that gets the blame, Bruce Grocott's reference in a House of Commons debate in February 1996 to the 'vandalism of the Beeching era' typifies the lasting resentment over railway closures. They are, as Stewart Francis, then Chairman of the Rail Passengers Council wrote in 2002, 'a wound that hasn't healed'.¹⁵

Why should this still be so, 40 years on? Some obvious explanations are available. The closure of the Edinburgh-Carlisle line, for example, left the border towns around Hawick far from the nearest railhead, and Stewart Francis argues that the disadvantage of poor rail links continues to have a negative impact on the area today.¹⁶ The reopening of some 180 route miles by 1991 supports Henshaw's claim that they should not have closed in the first place; and further reopenings have followed.¹⁷ Reshaping's claim that 'if the whole plan is implemented with vigour, much (though not necessarily all) of the railways' deficit should be eliminated by 1970' was not achieved.¹⁸ Terence Gourvish's thorough business history of British Railways concludes that the amount saved through closures was 'anybody's guess', but that it was less than expected during the late 1960s; and in the early 1970s British Rail concluded that there was no size to which the railway network could be reduced that would render it profitable.¹⁹ If all this suggests that Beeching was fundamentally on the wrong track, Gourvish's examination of the figures offered in support of individual proposals and the admission by former senior railway managers Richard Hardy and Gerard Fiennes that these figures were in some cases vague calculations in support of a general principle that rural railways did not pay bestow more than a little credibility on contemporary complaints about inaccurate figures.²⁰ Certainly closures were not subject to detailed social cost-benefit analyses. Nor can there be any doubt that the Transport Act 1962 prioritized financial criteria, changed the procedure for considering closures to speed up the closure process, or that closures inflicted hardship on those dependent on rail.²¹ One can make a case, therefore, that this was a policy which failed, which was based on data that was at best flawed and at worst faked, which was bludgeoned through in the face of popular opposition, ignoring the need to consider transport as a whole and with scant regard for the wider picture of social costs and benefits or the suffering endured as a result.

This view is not, however, endorsed here. This book argues that the closure policy was based on the best analysis of transport requirements and social need that Whitehall could make at the time and cannot therefore be simply dismissed as a short-sighted cost-cutting exercise, nor a deliberate attempt to benefit the road lobby at the expense of rail users, but was a genuine attempt at modernization, rooted in Whitehall's attempt to find a framework within which the social services provided by nationalized industries could be balanced against the need to control public expenditure and to adapt the transport infrastructure to modern conditions. The evidence supporting this case is found in the files of government departments rather than in the debates over individual closure cases. However, a summary of the points raised in discussions of the finances of railway closures is a necessary basis for the more detailed research that follows, because it allows the more conspiratorial and dastardly allegations against Beeching to be dismissed.

The debate over individual closures

In defence of Beeching's hopes for the financial effect of *Reshaping* it should be pointed out that the recommendations in the report were not pursued in total or with the vigour he envisaged; however, even if they had been, the railways would almost certainly have remained in serious financial difficulty. In 1972 Whitehall estimated that £115 million had been cut from railway operating costs in the four years to 1967 but that this had been largely consumed by increases in wages and other costs. If Beeching placed too much faith in the financial benefits of rationalization, he was also overly optimistic about the prospects for rail freight.²² Direct savings from closures and withdrawals, including freight, were expected to account for £34-41 million of the £115-147 million total financial improvement envisaged in Reshaping. However, much of the rest of the financial improvement depended on indirect savings which were 'expected to arise as the system is simplified by groups of closures'. The figures published in relation to individual closures from 1963 onwards were not therefore a summary of the entire financial effect of withdrawing a particular service. This helps to explain the apparently blanket condemnation of rural railways to which Fiennes refers. When, for example, the Ministry questioned the figures in the East Dereham-Wells case in 1964, the Board's representative replied that even if the service 'were able to break even, it would not be the sort of service which we ought to be engaged in', citing as justification for this comment the argument in Reshaping that the 'proposals in the plan are interdependent ... realisation of many of the savings depends upon the adoption of the plan as a whole'.²³ Any discussion of the shortcomings of figures in individual cases needs to be seen in this context.

The post-Beeching reopenings represent only a small retreat from the proposals in Reshaping and the shortcomings of the figures do not mean that the lines in question were making money. Even Beeching's harshest critics accept that about half of the lines he closed had to go.²⁴ Gourvish's comments on the total effect of the closure programme notwithstanding, we can dismiss the idea that a profitable network of rail services was falsely presented as losing money or that a thorough cost-benefit study of this network would have produced, as Henshaw suggests, a significantly different result.²⁵ Railway finances are not a simple matter and it is always possible for those who wish to challenge the financial case for withdrawing a railway service to question the figures.²⁶ The two great imponderables (at least for the layman) are shared costs and contributory revenue. When two services use the same track, for example, how much of the cost of maintaining the track should be apportioned to each? The official answer has varied over the years, but the figures supplied to the public under the 1962 Act tended to underestimate the savings that would be derived from a closure, because they ignored the additional sums saved if freight traffic was

withdrawn from a route after it lost its passenger services, allowing it to be completely closed. This was logical enough, but because freight rationalization lagged behind the passenger closure programme it was very often the case that lines closed to passengers lost their freight services a few years later and closed completely, realizing savings which would have been lost if the passenger service had continued.²⁷

Contributory revenue is the contribution to revenue on one service resulting from the existence of another, for example the revenue earned on the Birmingham-Taunton and Taunton-Barnstable Junction lines by the existence of the Barnstable Junction-Ilfracombe branch. If the Ilfracombe branch closes will those using it who have started their journey in Birmingham continue to use the railway to reach Barnstable (in which case none of the contributory revenue is lost and the case for closure is strengthened), will they make the entire journey by car (in which case the economics of the other two services might be adversely affected to the point where the closure makes no sense), or will they travel to another resort by train (leaving the railways better off)? The issue is further complicated by the fact that figures for gross contributory revenue take no account of the profitability of the services, in this case between Birmingham and Barnstable, on which that revenue is earned. This is a particularly pertinent point when discussing lines to holiday resorts, as holiday traffic required the provision of significant capacity in the form of additional staff, rolling stock, track and signalling which was only used on a few weekends a year and was therefore not necessarily profitable.²⁸ When one considers that a resort such as Ilfracombe might earn contributory revenue on a variety of routes bringing it holidaymakers, the complexity of the calculations involved in the pre-computer age becomes clear. Both the amount of contributory revenue and the amount which would be lost on closure were open to almost endless debate. In judging the closures proposed in the Beeching Report, the Ministry of Transport accepted the BRB's view that the amount of contributory revenue lost on closure was a matter of opinion.²⁹ While complaints that too little account was taken of contributory revenue cannot be entirely dismissed, they do at times reflect the erroneous view that if the branches are cut the main lines will die, because without feeder services they will lose their traffic.³⁰ Implementation of the closure programme provided 'bitter experience ... that the truncation of routes affects the viability of the residual sections', but this did not apply to the network as a whole. The main lines were built first because they linked major centres of traffic and just 1 per cent of the stations open in 1960 produced more than a quarter of passenger revenue while a third handled less than 1 per cent of it. The quote used above is taken from a paper arguing that maintaining a service between Peterborough and Skegness would cost just as much as maintaining it throughout to Grimsby, the implication being that the whole service should be withdrawn; it was not suggesting that closure would damage the viability of the remaining network onto which through traffic would be diverted. The idea that cutting out branches damaged the 'tree' was undermined by studies in the early 1970s.31

8 'A wound that has not healed'

To these uncertainties must be added a third: potential. Just because a line is losing money at a given moment, does this mean it must continue to do so? Critics of closures have consistently argued that more could have been done to cut operating costs on the services involved and this is generally true. It is not generally the case, however, that this would have turned losses into profits. Gerard Fiennes' account of how he drew up a plan for operating the East Suffolk line as a 'basic railway' has encouraged the view that this should have been done more widely; but it is worth remembering that Fiennes did so only after the political battle to close the line 'was clearly lost', that he rejects the view that such measures could have saved the neighbouring Cambridge-Marks Tey route and that, while he refers to the 'crass folly' of parts of the closure programme, this comment relates to the minor proposal to close a few stations on a line which was to remain open.³² Opponents of closure called for both cost-cutting and better services, generally an untenable combination, and sometimes accused cost-cutting rail managers of deliberately running down a service.³³ Between 1956 and around 1960, the BTC pursued a policy of trying to make branch lines pay through investment, in particular in diesel traction. It failed. Many costsaving innovations required investment which would never be repaid because it would only reduce losses. For example, the use of diesel railbuses increased receipts, but generally failed to make the lines profitable, while the vehicles were unable to cope with peaks in demand. They also cost three times as much as a road bus of the same capacity.³⁴ One must also consider not only the rate of return on investment in branch lines but the lost opportunity to invest the funds involved elsewhere; this might be an economic calculation to identify the most socially or financially rewarding expenditure or, from the railways' point of view, just a case of concentrating funds on the busiest routes. Moreover, potential was an issue which cut both ways; as we shall see, the evidence suggested that traffic was more likely to decline than to increase.

Would a thorough analysis of social costs and benefits conducted in each case have significantly reduced the number of closures? Probably the most powerful myth surrounding the *Beeching Report* is that no account was taken of the social costs attached to railway closures and it is certainly true that cost-benefit analysis was applied to only a handful of lines prior to 1971, when British Rail asked the economist Christopher Foster to carry out a cost-benefit study of two suburban lines in Manchester which had been listed for closure in the Beeching Report. Foster concluded that by reducing road congestion the services provided benefits to those not using them which outweighed the financial loss incurred by their operation and that the services should be retained and improved.³⁵ It would be a mistake, however, to assume that this conclusion could be applied in blanket form to all rail services. In their 1975 work The Rail Problem the economists Richard Pryke and J.S. Dodgson reviewed the six cost-benefit analyses of individual lines carried out in the previous decade and updated them. Both the original studies and their recalculations indicated that the social benefits of rural services tended not justify the cost of retaining them while those of urban services did. By extrapolating an average social benefit of approximately



Figure 1.1 The effect of introducing diesel railcars on the Buckingham–Banbury branch from 13 August 1956. Monthly receipts were boosted by the greater availability of the diesel stock, allowing additional services to be run. However, the dramatic impact on receipts and costs left the service still far short of viability. The Banbury experiment was somewhat undermined because, instead of using a purpose-built lightweight railcar, it involved taking the power-car of a conventional diesel multiple unit and adapting it to be driven from either end, which meant removing seats and adding a second engine, reducing its passenger/weight ratio. A lightweight unit would have cut costs further, but could not have bridged the considerable earnings gap illustrated here. (source: *NA PRO MT 115/3, BTC statistics section chart, February 1958*).

2.2p/passenger mile (at 1971 prices), Pryke and Dodgson argued that 89 services and 2,137 miles of passenger routes should be closed. This suggests that few lines closed before 1971 would have justified a subsidy on a cost-benefit basis, in particular because many of the urban closures proposed in the *Beeching Report* did not proceed.

A reading of Pryke and Dodgson's methodology brings out the extent to which cost-benefit analysis involves estimates and averaging to such an extent that its findings cannot be carved on tablets of stone, but are open to challenge. For example, while the value attached to savings in passengers' time (25 per cent of the wage rate for in-vehicle time saved and 50 per cent for walking time) was based on research and economic theory, it clearly had an element of arbitrariness and this typifies the sort of judgement involved.³⁶ As another economist put it when introducing the topic to undergraduates in 1973, transport economics involves measuring 'that which appears to be unmeasurable'. It is a field in which the economist may find it hard to 'discuss means without questioning ends', a point borne out in Pryke and Dodgson's argument that rail subsidies probably encouraged a regressive distribution of income by benefiting the betteroff who were more likely to use rail than the poor by 1973.³⁷ At the same time as Foster argued for investment in suburban services in Manchester, another study made a cost-benefit case for concreting over the main line from Harwich into London Liverpool Street, two urban lines and three branch lines and replacing their trains with buses.³⁸ The point here is not to dismiss the methods or usefulness of cost-benefit analysis, merely to emphasize that it is an economic calculation, not an absolute summation of human wants and needs or a magic wand. The decision to close, retain or improve a loss-making railway service is a political decision and in the contest around that decision accountancy and economics are weapons deployed by both sides. Objectors to the closure of the Bluebell line, the best-known pre-Beeching closure controversy, made much of the inadequacy of BR's figures but could not prove the line made a profit. Indeed, their argument was that it had never been expected to.³⁹

The essentially political nature of closure decisions is evident too in the question of the degree to which closures caused genuine hardship for those deprived of their railway. Individual objectors may often have 'made noises out of all proportion to the hardship involved',⁴⁰ but even where the argument for closure was clear, those who depended on the railway suffered when it was removed. Take, for example, Melton Constable, a tiny Norfolk village distinguished from its neighbours only because it owed its existence to the fact that it had been, until 1959, the hub of the former Midland and Great Northern Railway, the point at which a duplicate route from the Midlands divided to reach Norwich to the south, Yarmouth to the east and Sheringham and Cromer to the north. It was once the site of a locomotive works and a railway-owned concrete works, producing everything from fence posts to prefabricated offices.⁴¹ By 1963 only the line to Sheringham and a sheet-metal works remained. A total of 189 people used the ten daily trains to Sheringham in the summer, 166 in the winter. Closure was expected to save £26,700 net, and only 31 objections were made.

The fact that the taxpayer appears to have been paying over four times as much to operate the service as its passengers and that such expenditure could not be justified when so few benefited was undoubtedly no consolation to those marooned in a village which had lost its purpose: the two schoolteachers and a pupil who would have to wait until 6.45pm for a bus back to Sheringham; those who relied on the train to reach doctors, dentists and chemists in Holt; and those who would be seeking new jobs when the sheet-metal works closed in July. A local councillor, Miss M. Gray, suggested that Beeching and Marples should 'come out here for a month, leave their cars at home, and see how they would like it. That is the way to prove what hardship means ... With no station and no trains we might as well be dead'.⁴² It is significant that her letter implied she used the line, not to get to work, but for 'little outings by train' which gave her 'something to look forward to'; even for those who did not depend on the railway in absolute terms, its loss had an appreciable effect on the quality of life. Miss Gray's rhetoric may have spilled into hyperbole, but for those with no cars rural life would be significantly bleaker without the railway and they were hardly likely to meekly accept the argument that, from a national perspective, there were too few of them to be worth subsidizing. Nevertheless, this brief survey suggests that the factual controversy surrounding rail closures cannot fully explain the lasting passion with which the subject is discussed today.

The antithesis of modernity

In his survey of the place of the railway in English culture, Ian Carter shows how having once been the 'epitome of modernity', the 'railways' historic role as modernity's spear tip is [now] blunted to the point of fatuity' and that the association of the railway with main-line speed has given way to the prominence of the rural branch line, 'at home in the English landscape' as a cultural reference point, a process he traces back to Quiller-Couch's Cuckoo Valley Railway of 1893, which 'invented a new way of writing about railways in Britain ... nostalgic memory, a conservative and yearning regret for lost days'.⁴³ Could anything illustrate the place of the railways in the landscape more clearly than the name ascribed to the line which was the subject of the most controversial closure of the 1950s and the first standard gauge preservation project, the Bluebell Railway in Sussex? Carter stresses the place of the quaint and whimsical in the nostalgic memory he describes; it was precisely the loss of the quaint and the whimsical, of Trouble House Halt and Midsomer Norton, which lay at the heart of Flanders and Swann's lament.⁴⁴ When David St John Thomas wrote in his survey of The Country Railway that such a line 'was always part of the district it served' he was building a bridge between history and nostalgia which is more clearly visible in Henshaw's reference to rural lines 'ingrained into the communities they served; integral and indispensable threads binding the rich tapestry of rural life'.45 It resounds, too, in a letter pleading the case for Bridlington station sent to the Minister in 1967. Having complained bitterly of the effects of bus sickness the correspondent emphasized that

12 'A wound that has not healed'

our beloved railway station ... means much more to us than a means of conveyance. In the 19-14-18 [*sic*] war countless servicemen said 'farewell' forever on these platforms, as in the 1939–45 war. It represents to us locals a precious land-mark [*sic*]. Its lights at night mean a good deal to us who live nearby. We are never lonely when we look out at the back of our cottages and see those lights. Please Please do not have them taken from us.⁴⁶

This places the branch-line railway at the heart of the place in which the English, or many of them at least, imagine they live; a rural idyll onto which urban modernity has been artificially imposed.⁴⁷ It is an image reinforced by the almost obligatory appearance of a pristine steam train at a beautifully kept rural station in just about any recent film set in England before the Second World War.

The subject of railway closures had been turned into typically English comedy the year before the Isle of Wight case provided the first serious closure controversy in 1953. In *The Titfield Thunderbolt* the sort of archetypal English community that had put paid to Nazi invaders a decade earlier in *Went the Day Well?* took on the Ministry and the BTC to take over their local branch line and run it themselves. The squire and the vicar played leading roles and overcame the spiv-like bus operators with the help of a train-driving bishop. The most revealing line in the film is the heartfelt appeal preached to Ministry of Transport officials by Squire Chesterford:

Don't you realise you're condemning our village to death? Open it up to buses and lorries and what's it going to be like in five years time? Our lanes will be concrete roads, our houses will have numbers instead of names. There'll be traffic lights and zebra crossings.⁴⁸

The squire was wrong, the growth of road traffic was happening irrespective of railway closures, but his appeal illustrates the strength of the branch lines' perception as the sinews of imagined England.

Where Beeching closed rural railways, Sir John Betjeman eulogized them in poems such as *Dilton Marsh Halt*, complained of the *Inexpensive Progress* creating a world 'where motor car is master' (a line which the Council for the Protection of Rural England took as the title of its 1992 pamphlet on transport policy) and, as Vice-President of the Railway Development Association, wrote to the Minister complaining of the 'diesel-scented traffic jams' which would be created by railway closures in Cornwall.⁴⁹ Betjeman's celebration of the Great Central main line, always a white elephant and closed in the 1960s, is not concerned with its fine engineering but the '[u]nmitigated England' of farms, woods and village churches through which it runs; and when the train passes a modern housing estate the poet makes a pointed reference to the regimented 'cars of parked executives'. The whimsically inappropriate name of Rugby Central station, the whereabouts of which '[d]oes only Rugby know', is an asset as far as Betjeman is concerned.⁵⁰ As the champion of branch line closures, therefore,

Beeching is not simply the man who vandalized the railways or who deprived communities of a valuable service, but the man who drove the dagger of soulless modernity into the heart of Englishness. He is the anti-Betjeman.

This impression is bolstered by the removal of steam locomotives from Britain's railways by 1968, a process Beeching did not start but did accelerate. Steam often returned to branch lines for final services and, for all the suggestions of cost-saving methods involving alternative traction put forward by opponents of closure, the steam locomotive was fundamental to the romantic appeal of a branch line and vital in attracting visitors to those reopened by the preservationists.⁵¹ In *Dilton Marsh Halt* Betjeman looks forward to the day when, the world's supply of petrol having run out, 'the horrible roads are finally done for ... [and] Steam trains will return'.⁵² When the penultimate scheduled steam service on BR pulled into Blackpool South on 3 August 1968, small boys flocked to the cab to get the autographs of the driver and the fireman. The preservationists and the continuing popularity of Thomas the Tank Engine, including personal appearances on preserved lines, has allowed nostalgia for steam to be transmitted to a generation who never experienced it first-hand.⁵³

All this says nothing about Scottish and Welsh reaction to railway closures. Perhaps the general lack of preserved steam railways in Scotland and the distinctive nature of the preservation movement in Wales as 'the Great Little Trains of Wales' reflect a different role for the railway in Scottish and Welsh imaginations. For both Scottish and Welsh nationalists railway closures could be depicted as indicative of the negative effects of English rule, rather than an unpleasant aspect of modernization. H. P. White suggests that this restricted the extent of closures in Scotland and Wales relative to England, a point we shall return to in Chapters 6 and 7.⁵⁴ The closure of local rail services undoubtedly made life a lot harder for those people who depended on them and caused inconvenience for others. However, the continuing controversy surrounding railway closures and the contemporary opposition to them clearly owe something to the place of the railway in the imagination.

Modernization

The railway industry was at the heart of two discernible strands in political debate and cultural commentary during the late 1950s and 1960s: decline and modernization. This period saw the rise of a sense of decline in Britain which Jim Tomlinson argues was distinct from previous concerns about decline, was widely propagated and instilled assumptions in the public mind 'with sustained and significant consequences for public debate about Britain's situation, which in turn had a major impact on the tenor of British politics'. These concerns centred around the belief that the British economy was growing less quickly than that of its European neighbours and was bolstered by Britain's apparent decline as a world military and political power.⁵⁵ This mood was expressed in such works as Michael Shanks' *The Stagnant Society* and came to focus on what Anthony Crosland called 'a dogged resistance to change [that] now blankets

every segment of our national life' and Anthony Samson referred to as 'a loss of dynamic and purpose'. Such complaints went hand in hand with an attack on the amateurish nature of British government and management. While a variety of answers were offered to the much-debated question 'what's wrong with Britain?', by the General Election of 1964 modernization had emerged as the solution to most of the problems identified, and both parties sought to present themselves as modernizers.⁵⁶ The use of modernization as a universal panacea for British problems reflects the wider national fascination with modernity that stretched from politics to the young men and women who would lead British popular culture in the coming decade, a phenomenon which Christopher Booker castigated as a kind of mass psychosis in his book *The Neophiliacs*.⁵⁷

Politically, the response to this mood included the attempt to join the Common Market, the creation of the National Economic Development Council, the development of an incomes policy, a renewed emphasis on planning and the control of public expenditure and a new policy towards the nationalized industries from 1961 under which ministers 'tended to treat state industries as commercial undertakings, not social services'.58 These moves reflected not only the concerns of politicians and voters but of Treasury officials engaged in what Samuel Brittan called 'the great reappraisal' within the Treasury in the late 1950s.⁵⁹ This process was a genuine modernization in the sense that it was an attempt to come to terms with modern conditions: the new responsibilities the Treasury found itself shouldering in the 1950s and in particular its management of the investment programmes of the nationalized industries. As chapter four will demonstrate, this reappraisal spawned an attempt to adapt transport spending to modern conditions which was central to the policy behind the Beeching Report. The report was one of a series of measures by which the Conservatives hoped to convince the electorate in 1964 that they were the standard-bearers of modernization.⁶⁰ Whether Britain was suffering from amateurish management, outdated technology or poor industrial relations, the railways seemed to epitomize the problems identified by the 'what's wrong with Britain?' debate.⁶¹ This political judgement had its cultural parallel in the contrast between the last days of steam and the motor car's encapsulation of the spirit of individual freedom, speed and excitement that so concerned Booker. The fact that the growth of new industries, more suited to road transport than rail, and the rising standard of living, expressed through increased car ownership, were important factors in the railways' decline did not prevent that decline from being presented as indicative of a national problem.

This book argues that the *Beeching Report* was the outcome of a genuine modernization within Whitehall. Its form and presentation were a reflection of what was imagined to be wrong with Britain; its limitations reflected the difficulties of modernizing Britain. Clearly it occupied the space in which the nation's enthusiasm for modernization collided with its, or at least England's, self-image. It also represented the point at which a superficially attractive term had to be transformed into a clearly less-attractive reality, a point emphasized by the contrast between the its emphasis on contraction and the more positive tone

of the BTC's 1955 *Modernisation Plan*. If Beeching attacked the mythical England of the country branch line, his report also punctured the dream of what modernization might mean that had been conjured up in 1955. The story of the Beeching era is also the story of how Britain attempted to modernize in the 1950s and 1960s, what politicians, officials and the public thought modernization involved and how they responded to its realities.

This book therefore has two purposes: to revise the popular view of the Beeching Report as an example of anti-rail bias, incompetent government and callous official indifference; and to place the railways at the heart of debates over the modernization of Britain in the late 1950s and early 1960s. Chapter 2 sets out the decline of the railway industry to 1958, stressing its long-term nature, the failure of ideologically inspired solutions (nationalization, coordination, decentralization and competition) to solve the industry's problems and the significance of government action in bankrupting the BTC. Chapter 3 argues that the presentation of technological modernization as a solution to the railways' problems in the mid-1950s was a fantasy conjured by government to avoid acknowledging the consequences of its interventions in railway pricing decisions and wage negotiations. These two chapters provide a basis for the argument of Chapters 4 and 5 that the Beeching Report was the outcome of a genuine modernization within Whitehall. This involved the development of a more logical approach to public investment and the relationship between government and the nationalized industries, accompanied by an analysis of future transport needs which undermined the case for maintaining a large rail network. It did not ignore the wider transport picture or the social consequences of rail closures, but was limited by a lack of expertise, knowledge and time. Chapter 4 stresses the limited part Marples played in altering the course of policy and highlights the role of the Treasury in initiating change. Chapter 5 emphasizes the extent to which the Beeching Report, presented as a thorough analysis, was more a snapshot of work in progress on a hurried modernization based on limited knowledge. The implementation of Beeching's closure programme and the political difficulties it posed are discussed in Chapter 6, which argues that Marples' real significance was as a Minister who was utterly committed to a policy which even some of his senior colleagues opposed, and Chapter 7, which stresses the continuities in transport policy following the change of government in 1964, the limitations of what a planning-based approach to transport could achieve and the extent to which the railways' contraction was limited by political opposition to closures. Chapter 8 discusses the aftermath of the Beeching era and draws some comparisons with government policy since 1992. It argues that the maintenance of the railway network at its existing size has become a test of government commitment to rail, while the problems of the relationship between government and the railways over investment control and subsidy remain, despite attempts to solve them through privatization.

2 The railway problems

On 4 January 1960 the Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Transport, Sir James Dunnett, signed a memorandum entitled 'The Railway Problem', informing ministers of the urgent need for a new policy on the railways. The problem which Dunnett's title referred to was the bankruptcy of the British Transport Commission (BTC), the nationalized body which controlled British Railways (and whose other operations were utterly dwarfed by the railways), and the fact that there was no financial justification for the government's continuing support for the BTC's programme of railway modernization.¹ The focus of contemporary questioning was the BTC and its modernization programme. The outcome of that questioning was the Beeching Report. The purpose of this chapter is to show that bankruptcy into which the BTC sank during the later 1950s was the culmination of half a century of problems facing the railway industry which had been exacerbated by post-war government policy, not least because the search for the right ideological and organizational framework in the Transport Acts of 1947 and 1953 was not sufficiently focused on the need for a practical response to the changed conditions in which the railways were now operating.

1938: romance and decline

The great railway age effectively ended in 1914, but the railways were still the most important form of transport in Britain and it is the inter-war period of the 'big four' companies – the Southern, the London Midland and Scottish (LMS), the London and North Eastern Railway (LNER) and the Great Western Railway (GWR), that encapsulates the golden age of steam in popular memory today, the age of the *Flying Scotsman* and Auden's *Night Mail*. It was to this period that some Conservatives, including John Major, appear to have looked when considering how to privatize the railways in the late 1980s and early 1990s.² If one required a date that captures the romance of the inter-war railway, 3 July 1938 would do well. It being a Sunday, the 'silence and peace which once characterised so many branch termini' would have been even more pronounced than usual.³ But Sundays were the best time for irregular workings and, on the LNER main line just north of Grantham, a small group of railwaymen prepared to take the next step in their struggle of engineering and public relations expertise with

the rival LMS. Almost three years earlier the LNER had launched a new Silver Jubilee high-speed service between London and Newcastle using streamlined locomotives and coaches. Their modern look caught the imagination of the public and the LMS felt obliged to respond even though its west coast main line was less suited to high speeds. In 1937 a train hauled by the LMS Coronation broke the steam speed record at 114mph before careering to a halt in Crewe station where the broken plates in the dining car could be cleared up. The following year under the cloak of 'brake trials', one of the LNER's streamlined express locomotives, Mallard, was sent out to win back the title. The locomotive's aerodynamic casing was not just for show; it produced the extra speed required to approach the record as it accelerated southwards from Grantham. Germany had already achieved speeds of over 120mph with diesel and electric traction, but while Sir Nigel Gresley, Mallard's designer, was influenced by the streamlined casing of the German trains, Britain had rejected proposals for a 20year programme of main-line electrification in 1931 and the shell of Mallard contained the best steam could offer. Its limit was reached down the long, straight descent of Stoke Bank. Shortly after roaring through the quiet wayside station of Little Bytham at 120mph, driver Joe Duddington smelled violets, a scent given off by a safety device installed to warn him that the big end was overheating. Nevertheless he decided to push on and, during a three-mile run at over 120mph, reached 126mph for a few hundred yards.⁴ In presenting this brief, unsustainable glimpse of main-line speed as their public face, the LNER were playing to the railways' strengths, a point Dr Beeching would reiterate in his report some 25 years later.⁵ Two-and-a-quarter hours were cut from the London to Edinburgh journey between the wars; the high-speed trains of the 1930s were real technical achievements, operated by skilled men and providing an excellent service; however, they were the proud face of an empire in decline.⁶

The basic problem which faced the railway industry after the First World War and continued to face it in the 1950s was that both the railway network and the legal framework in which it operated had been developed on the assumption that the railways enjoyed a virtual monopoly of inland transport, which was no longer the case. Coastal shipping and the canals never lost all their traffic to rail and even before 1914 road transport offered some competition, in particular electric tramways, but the railways dominated inland transport before the First World War. Not only the number of lines, but the number of competing separate networks and the short distance between the stations on individual lines, reflected this; so did the regulations protecting passengers and industry from the exploitation of this monopoly. These regulations included the approval of railway charges schemes by the Railway Rates Tribunal and the obligations to carry any traffic offered, to provide a reasonable level of service, to publish charges and not to give undue preference to one customer over another. One consequence of these regulations was that railway charges bore little relation to the cost of specific services.⁷

The First World War kick-started the road haulage industry, as the government ordered large numbers of lorries for use on the western front and at the end of the war sold them off at a time when large numbers of men who had been trained to use them needed work and possessed demobilization grants with which to purchase vehicles. When a small consignment of merchandise needs to be taken to or collected from a railway siding by lorry, the greater convenience of simply taking it to its final destination in one road journey is fairly obvious. Hauliers' charges were closely related to costs, because they could pick and choose traffic and quote whatever price they liked to individual customers, and it was a simple enough matter for them to undercut the published railway rate for a job by enough to win the traffic. Although the decline in the railways' heavy freight traffic, especially coal which traditionally accounted for about a fifth of receipts, reflected general economic conditions rather than the effects of competition, general merchandise traffic fell by more than a quarter between 1924 and 1937, largely as a result of transfers to road. The rise of road transport has been estimated to have cost the railways as many as 300 million passenger journeys a year by 1937. While total land passenger journeys increased by nearly half between 1920 and 1938, rail passenger traffic increased only slightly and this was more than offset by a decline in earnings per passenger mile as the railways cut fares to compete.8 Bus competition devastated rural railway passenger services. Peter Butterfield's study of the north-east shows that, between 1921 and 1925, receipts for journeys under ten miles declined by a guarter, but that 1926–7 saw an even greater expansion of bus services and a parallel fall in rail passengers. At some stations traffic fell to less than 10 per cent of its pre-1914 level by 1929; service improvements sometimes helped restore it, but not by enough in the long term to justify the additional cost, and cheap fares produced mixed results. It was not only branch lines that suffered but wayside stations on the main line.9 Of the 14 stations on the Settle and Carlisle line still open in 1954, none was as busy in the mid-1950s as Scotby had been immediately after the First World War, yet Scotby was so quiet a station that it had closed by 1954.¹⁰ By 1938 50 per cent of passenger revenue in the LNER's north-eastern area was being earned by just seven stations; while 53 per cent of stations earned just 2 per cent of revenue. As Butterfield points out, Beeching's 1961 studies showed almost exactly the same distribution.¹¹

Much of the rail network in 1938 consisted of lines which had completely failed to fulfil the hopes of those who financed them. The Clayton West branch, which survived until 1983 due to the difficulty of operating a replacement bus service, earned annual receipts of £1,811 in 1881, against expenses of £2,500. The bitter competition between the South Eastern and London, Chatham and Dover companies ruined both shareholders and services. When the Manchester, Sheffield and Lincolnshire company, whose initials were jokingly said to stand for 'Money Sunk and Lost', built an extension to London and renamed itself the Great Central, the wags justifiably re-dubbed it 'Gone Completely'. The 'railway king', George Hudson, lost his fortune and those of others in the same railway casino where he made it.¹² Railways had never been guaranteed financial successes, but in the inter-war years no-one was making much money from them. The assumption that earnings would return to pre-war levels, on which the

big four had been created from a host of smaller companies under the Railway Act 1921, proved to be wrong and, although the industry was by no means bankrupt, earnings on ordinary stocks ranged from little to nothing. The LNER paid nothing on its deferred stock after 1925 and even preferential stockholders could not always count on a return. In 1938 ordinary shareholders of three of the big four received no dividend while those of the fourth got half a per cent. These results prevented the companies raising investment capital on the stock market, resulting in a net disinvestment of £125 million between 1920 and 1938. What investment did take place (including the Southern Railway's major programme of electrification) had been largely dependent on government incentives, such as grants to cover interest payments, since 1929.¹³

By 1938 some railwaymen appreciated that the 'small wayside station has in most cases outlived its usefulness'.¹⁴ In Britain, as elsewhere, the rail network had begun to contract before the Second World War. Some 1,200 miles of route were closed to passengers between 1923 and 1938, three-quarters of them in just five years from 1929, without significant protest, so low was their usage.¹⁵ Yet closures were rare enough that when, a few months before the *Mallard*'s run, Douglas McDonald Hastings of the *Evening News* stumbled across the deserted Singleton station in Sussex, which had lost its passenger service three years earlier and was now available to let, he gave his readers an account of his exploration of this strange phenomenon, 'too incredible for invention', with a carpet of leaves in the booking hall and the 'ghostly bang' of the ticket office hatch. Presciently, he concluded that he might take the lease:

I wanted to play with it. I wanted to fill the racks in the booking office with bright green tickets and stamp them with a date stamp.... I had even made up my mind to buy a second-hand train so that I could drive it and shunt it in and out of my station with clouds of steam and blasts on the whistle.¹⁶

The concept of transport coordination was central to inter-war debates over what should be done in response to the consequences of the rise in road transport, most obviously in the creation of the London Passenger Transport Board (LPTB) in 1933. The first proposals for peacetime coordination followed quickly from the experience of government control during the First World War, but came to nothing. In 1928, following lobbying by the rail companies, the government allowed them to expand into road transport. The same year, a Royal Commission was appointed to examine the consequences of growing road traffic and to consider possible measures to coordinate the various forms of transport in the public interest. The Commission's findings led to the Road Traffic Act 1930, which imposed a national system of licensing on road passenger transport. Before licensing a service, the Traffic Commissioners had to consider the necessity of the proposed service in the context of those already provided, including by rail. In 1932 pressure from the railway companies and unions, supported by the Association of British Chambers of Commerce (ABCC), led the government to establish a conference on transport chaired by the economist Sir Arthur Salter,

20 The railway problems

which resulted in the Road and Rail Traffic Act 1933. This allowed the railways to agree charges with individual traders and imposed a licensing system on road haulage, which involved an examination in each case of the need for a service and the existence of alternatives before a new licence was granted.¹⁷ Critics of coordination have seen the concept as a:

euphemism [which] has always seemed less likely to offend the susceptibilities of businessmen or arouse the suspicions of the travelling community than a cruder expression such as 'the elimination of competition' or the 'the handicapping of road transport'. But this is in fact what it has meant.¹⁸

But if these Acts substantially restricted road transport, they did not solve the railways' difficulties, nor did the railway companies take full advantage of the opportunity offered by their powers to expand into road transport to become coordinated transport empires. A few months after the *Mallard*'s record-breaking run, the railway companies launched the 'Square Deal' campaign for increased commercial freedom. Had war not intervened, 1940 would almost certainly have seen a relaxation of the commercial restrictions imposed on railway freight, although there is some doubt over how far ministers were prepared to go.¹⁹

Transport trends after 1945

The combination of petrol rationing and government control during the Second World War did much to retard transport trends. The numbers of licensed private cars and motorcycles had declined by over half by 1943.²⁰ In terms of both freight ton-miles and market share, the railways' freight business appeared much healthier in 1946 than in 1938 and passenger mileage (including London Transport) rose from 21,700 million to 31,700 million in the same period. However, this traffic was carried with a significantly smaller maintenance budget and the railways were left in a poor condition without the means to put matters right as pre-war trends began to re-emerge over the following decade.²¹ The most striking post-war transport trend was the massive growth in road traffic. It took until 1949 for the number of motor cars to return to pre-war levels, but between 1950 and 1960 the number of cars in the UK doubled from approximately 2.25 million to approximately 5.5 million and had doubled again by 1969. The number of commercial vehicles in 1945 was only slightly below the 1939 figure at 570,000. This doubled by 1950 and had almost reached 1.5 million in 1960 and 1.64 million by 1969.²² There was a lot more to the railways' problems in the 1950s than a simple loss of traffic to the roads. Passenger mileage held up well and it was the bus which suffered most from the rise of the motor car. At the end of the Second World War the railways (including London Transport) carried over 30,000 million passenger-miles. This figure quickly declined, but had stabilized at 24,000-25,000 million by 1950 and remained so until 1961. However, rail's market share was slowly eroding, and the stable total figure disguised the further decline of passenger traffic in rural areas; every station on the Settle and Carlisle line saw a drop in passengers in 1958–62 compared to 1954–8. Similarly, the railways' freight ton-mileage remained fairly steady until 1954 and only experienced a slow decline in the following three years. However, rail's market share declined continuously from 1946, when it was more than 50 per cent, and in 1955, at 40 per cent, fell below the 1938 figure. Between 1957 and 1963 freight ton miles fell by nearly a quarter (from 20,900 million to 15,400 million). By the end of the 1960s rail's market share was 18 per cent.²³

For most of the 1950s, then, the railways were faced with a restoration and intensification of the sort of road competition they had experienced in the 1930s, as lorries improved technically. The significant decline in rail freight from 1958 was also a reflection of a new problem, the decline of those industries best suited to rail and of the traffic offered by those remaining and the rise in their place of new industries better suited to road because they required door-to-door delivery and careful handling. Pilkington's Glass was the example used by officials when they explained to a Labour government hoping to shift freight from road to rail in the 1960s why there were only limited prospects for such a policy, but any manufacturer of the white goods that characterized the growth of consumerism would have served as well. By the mid-1970s freight was rail's secondary activity, but as late as 1967 railway managers still saw freight as the most important part of the business.²⁴ The enormity of this change should not be understated: the railways were built for freight and it had been their core business for nearly 150 years.

The Transport Act 1947

The Second World War cut short the possibility that the Square Deal campaign might shift the emphasis of policy from coordination to competition. The government took control of the railways and the LPTB from 1 September 1939, and in 1943 the Ministry of War Transport took direct responsibility for long-distance road haulage, having taken over those canals not owned by the railways in 1942. Wartime experience strengthened the case for nationalized integration, to which the incoming Labour Government of 1945 was committed. The Transport Act 1947 gave the BTC ownership of the railways (including the docks, hotels and road haulage and bus interests they owned), London Transport and all canals. Under the Road and Rail Traffic Act 1933, road freight vehicles had one of three kinds of licence: A and B licences related to vehicles available for public traffic, C licences to vehicles owned by traders who only used them to carry their own goods. The Commission also had the power to purchase A and B licence lorries and road haulage undertakings; and from 1 February 1950 A and B licensees were restricted to operating within a 25-mile radius of their bases.²⁵

In November 1949 Minister of Transport Alfred Barnes sat in the cab of a train in London's Liverpool Street station ready to inaugurate the new electric service to Shenfield by driving the first train. As he was being shown how to

start it, Barnes asked 'Do you mean like this?' and moved the controller, sending the train on its way with the doors still open and half the assembled dignitaries still on the platform.²⁶ In similar fashion he had nationalized the railways without much idea of where they were going. The purpose of the Transport Act 1947 was to provide 'an efficient, adequate, economical and properly integrated system ... in such a manner as to provide most effectively and conveniently for the needs of the public, agriculture, commerce and industry', but it was not based on any assessment of how coordination would achieve this and the BTC appeared to have made little progress by 1951.27 The Commission itself was a small body of men, most of them past the peak of their professional abilities, responsible for a vast undertaking, the structure of which, divided into executives responsible for railways, docks and waterways, hotels, London Transport and road transport (divided between haulage and passenger transport in 1949), was hardly conducive to inter-modal coordination. The Railway Executive, by far the largest part of the BTC, was eager to go its own way.²⁸ Nor could the BTC exercise total control over road transport. In addition to the 25-mile limit imposed on A and B hauliers, the original 1947 Bill would have imposed a 40mile limit on C-licence vehicles, but opposition to this last measure was so intense that it was dropped. In 1951 the acquisition of road haulage was only just reaching completion and this left the BTC operating less than 10 per cent of road freight vehicles, while C licences accounted for over 80 per cent.²⁹

Initially at least, the Commission was reluctant to force its freight customers to use one mode of transport rather than another and pursued a policy of maximizing rail traffic while looking to its road operations as a source of revenues to balance the losses on some railway services.³⁰ Similar attitudes prevailed at the Ministry, which until 1958 tended to make:

a basic assumption that the railways, were the railways, were the railways ... the whole attitude of the Ministry was to back up the railways ... no-one had really appreciated the vast expansion of road traffic ... it's easy to think now 'they must have been blind', but it wasn't quite like that at the time ... [One] should not underestimate the difficulty of turning a Government department round ... the inherited attitudes just go on and [are] passed on from the seniors down to the juniors.³¹

When Kenneth Glover, a Ministry statistician who seems to have been one of the first officials to anticipate the trends in transport during the next 20 years, suggested to a superior in the late 1940s that the railways' depreciation funds be used to buy lorries he was told 'don't ride your hobby-horse here'.³² The 1947 Act therefore provided neither the mind-set nor the organization to achieve its coordinating aims. There is some evidence, however, that attitudes were changing. A statement issued by the BTC in the summer of 1950 talked of developing road and rail to carry the traffic for which each was best suited.³³ In September 1951, Barnes told the Cabinet that a 'bolder and more imaginative approach' was required. He suggested that a Royal Commission be established to examine:

the primary question ... what part should be played by the railways in a fully integrated system having regard to all the means of transport and techniques of handling goods and passengers now available or likely to be so in the foreseeable future ... until this fundamental issue is cleared it is hardly possible for the country to have a coherent transport policy ... [and] our transport policy as a whole will be liable to drift and capital investment in transport will be devoid of firm guiding principles.

The inquiry might answer questions which would allow 'the railways to proceed much more rapidly and extensively with the closing of branch lines'.³⁴

In creating this vast virtual monopoly, the government saw no need to remove the restrictions on the railways' freedom to choose traffic or set charges.³⁵ The Railway Rates Tribunal became the Transport Tribunal and regional Transport Users' Consultative Committees (TUCCs) were established to oversee the BTC, representing agriculture, commerce, industry, shipping, labour and local government (the Commission was also represented). TUCCs could examine any aspect of the BTC's passenger and freight services, and reported to a Central Transport Consultative Committee (CTCC) and the BTC. The CTCC reported to the Minister and the BTC, and the Minister could then direct the Commission accordingly. Although not legally obliged to do so, the BTC referred every proposal to withdraw a railway service that attracted objection to the relevant TUCC and this became their most significant role.³⁶

Perhaps the most significant part of the 1947 Act was the requirement that the BTC earn revenue 'not less than sufficient for making provision for the meeting of charges properly chargeable to revenue, taking one year with another' and pay a 3 per cent return on the £1,132 million of British Transport Stock, issued in compensation to those whose property had been nationalized, and a further £20 million a year towards its redemption. Although this burden was spread over the undertaking as a whole, it was implicitly placed on the railways because they dwarfed the rest of the nationalized transport sector. Given the state of the railways and their pre-war performance it was an incredibly ambitious target. It was also a marvellous deal for railway shareholders given that, as one former LMS director admitted, 'it would have been very difficult - if not impossible to have maintained the solvency of the railways under private enterprise'.³⁷ As we shall see, it was the Treasury's fear that the proposals of the incoming Conservative Government in 1951 would make it impossible for the BTC to achieve this rate of return that made the subsequent Transport Bill so controversial; and it was the BTC's admission to the Treasury in 1958 that these fears were now fulfilled that opened the door to reform and reorganization. It was the phrase 'taking one year with another', however, which was the most significant part of the requirement, as it proved vague enough to allow ministers to intervene in the Commission's business while paying insufficient regard to the financial consequences.

In 1948–50 the Commission did not earn enough to cover its central charges, consisting chiefly of interest on Transport Stock, and argued that the main
problem was the time lag between the submission of schemes for increasing charges to the Transport Tribunal and their subsequent approval. Real fare levels had fallen by about a quarter since nationalization. Barnes' 1951 Cabinet paper recommended that the Commission be allowed to set rates and fares without reference to the Minister, subject to the subsequent approval of the Tribunal; and indicated sympathy for the Commission's desire to change the whole basis of its charging structure to give greater flexibility and take more account of costs.³⁸ Before any decision could be taken on these proposals, the General Election of October 1951 returned the Conservatives to power and Churchill to Downing Street, with a pledge to end the BTC's monopoly of long-distance public road haulage.

The Transport Act 1953

The road haulage industry was typified by the small operator, who had built his own business from nothing. He did not take kindly to the state appropriating it, compensation or not. The Road Haulage Association (RHA) waged an intense campaign of opposition to nationalization, even after the Act had been passed, and when the Conservative spokesman on the Bill, Sir David Maxwell Fyfe, addressed the House of Commons at the start of the new Government's life he spoke for the hauliers:

what I object to is the inability to distinguish between merely financial troubles and the trouble of heart and soul which comes from destroying businesses into which people have put not only their money but also their lives and every particle of their energy.³⁹

As this suggests, the hauliers formed strong links with the Conservative Party as a result of the campaign against nationalization. Lord Woolton, the Party Chairman, also chaired the National Road Transport Federation, while the RHA offered MPs much practical help in the debates.⁴⁰ Within a week of the 1951 election, it was successfully lobbying the Secretary of State for the Coordination of Transport Fuel and Power, Lord Leathers, to halt the BTC's acquisition of its members' vehicles. The influence the RHA could exert can be gauged from Churchill's surprise 'at the small number [of firms] involved in view of the many reports of injustices and the strong feeling which existed in the Party' when Ministers discussed complaints that the BTC was refusing to renew hauliers' licences in early 1952.⁴¹

The RHA's ability to influence Conservative policy can only have been helped by the Party's uncertainty over how to respond to nationalization, given its internal tensions between neo-liberals and corporatists. As Harold Watkinson, a newly elected MP in 1950 and later Minister of Transport, recalled, he and his colleagues 'had no blueprint ... we were not very sure what kind of future we wanted except that it should be a change from socialism'. In the absence of a commitment to denationalization across the board, the concept of

decentralization (shifting power within the public sector from national to regional bodies) emerged as a means by which competitive principles could exist or at least be acknowledged within the state sector; but little thought had been given to what this actually meant.⁴² As Michael Kandiah has argued, Conservative acceptance of rail nationalization was pragmatic rather than ideological; who would have bought a denationalized railway in 1953? Indeed, the struggle over transport policy in 1947-53 can be seen as supporting Kandiah's view that the Conservative and Labour parties profoundly disagreed over policy and had fundamentally different visions of the society they wanted during the post-war period.⁴³ The 1947 Act was founded on the idea that the state could and should provide a comprehensive transport system, while the 1953 Act stressed the role of regional bodies and of competition (the latter through the Act's provision for the denationalization of buses as well as road haulage). These were fundamental differences over conceptions of what the state could and should do and between those who saw competition as the engine of progress and those who saw it as leading to a wasteful duplication of facilities. However, just as Labour's ideology had been compromised by practical politics when it gave in to opponents of the nationalization of road haulage and had not been translated into a detailed concept of how coordination would work in practice, so the relationship between the ideology of competition and the 1953 Act was convoluted and contradictory. If the alliance with the RHA was initially a pragmatic one forged in pursuit of a shared objective, once the Conservatives took office in 1951 the question of the relationship between road and rail transport was largely considered only in as much as it was incidental to implementing the manifesto pledge to return road haulage to private enterprise.⁴⁴ (Nor was Conservative enthusiasm for decentralization purely ideological. Harold Macmillan, a former GWR director, urged a return to the old company names out of loyalty to the company, which 'really was a very good show'.⁴⁵)

By 1951 the Conservatives had abandoned their intention to sell off the entire Road Haulage Executive (RHE), because the Party's transport committee had decided it would be impossible to sell more than 20 per cent of it, if that.⁴⁶ The manifesto promised to allow expropriated hauliers an opportunity to return to the business and to modify the 25-mile radius imposed on the operations of private road hauliers, halt the nationalization of road passenger transport and subject BTC road transport to the same licensing system as its private competitors. The Conservatives intended to abolish the BTC's various executives and set up regional boards to coordinate publicly owned transport. The majority of nationalized road transport would therefore have remained in public ownership, arguably in a more coordinated structure, within a competitive environment in which the BTC was to be given greater freedom to set its charges. A limited Bill to allow some steps to be taken immediately (in particular the lifting of the 25mile limit) would be passed quickly, with the major reforms postponed until the details had been worked out.⁴⁷ However, once in office with a majority of only 17, ministers quickly formed the view that both road haulage and iron and steel should be denationalized as soon as possible, despite an already tight parliamentary programme, in order that the process could be completed before the next election returned a Labour government committed to halting it.⁴⁸ The task was entrusted to a pair of weak ministers. Lord Leathers was one of several 'overlords' Churchill appointed to coordinate the work of individual ministries, an innovation not generally considered a success. He lacked political experience and skill, had not been particularly active in politics since the war and felt something of an outsider in the Cabinet.⁴⁹ Leathers' expertise lay in shipping, a trait he shared with John Maclay, the Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation, and the Ministry's Permanent Secretary Sir Gilmour Jenkins. Jenkins had little to do with inland transport and left most of the work to the relevant deputy secretary, Sir Cyril Birtchnell, under whom a working party was established to consider how the Conservatives' pledges might be implemented.⁵⁰ Under Leathers' guidance, the Government's transport policy descended into farce.

Within days of the election Birtchnell's old boss, Lord Hurcomb, the former Ministry Permanent Secretary who was now chairman of the BTC, warned Leathers that even a modest relaxation of the 25-mile limit on private haulage would inflict major damage on the BTC's haulage operations. Much to Hurcomb's subsequent dismay (he was not consulted over the Bill and denied the comment) this encouraged Birtchnell to recommend that the whole RHE would have to be sold, although he tried to delay action by reviving the kind of inquiry Barnes had proposed. By November Birtchnell had warned Leathers that the Government would be accused of abandoning:

the principle of integration which under one form or another has been generally accepted as desirable for the last 20 years ... [and] wrecking an organisation which still has some chance of success without having any considered plan for transport as a whole to put in its place.

Birtchnell suggested that some financial integration at least could be maintained by imposing a levy on either all road transport or just road haulage, the proceeds of which would be used to balance any loss the BTC suffered on the sale of the RHE and from subsequent competition.⁵¹

Despite the fact that the Party had already concluded that denationalization on such a scale would be impossible, Leathers and Maclay approved the policy; but the levy rang alarm bells at the Treasury of sufficient volume to persuade the Cabinet to delay legislation and establish a ministerial committee to examine the proposals.⁵² Leathers and Maclay were joined on this committee by Woolton and Maxwell-Fyfe (now Lord President and Home Secretary respectively) who had led opposition to nationalization, Sir Arthur Salter, who had presided over the conference which led to the 1933 Act and was now Minister of Economic Affairs, and Peter Thorneycroft, the former chair of the Party Transport Committee, now President of the Board of Trade. For all its transport experience the committee, under constant pressure from Churchill, backbenchers and Conservative supporters to announce a policy, was unable to decide between the levy and Salter's suggestion that the Exchequer pay a grant to compensate the Commission for the loss on the sale of the RHE and assume direct responsibility for some part of the Commission's capital liabilities. The Cabinet enlarged the committee by four members and after two more meetings a white paper including the levy was approved and presented to Parliament on 8 May 1952.⁵³ The haste with which policy had been worked out proved unnecessary as Churchill's plan to extend the parliamentary session into 1953 was abandoned and, although the Transport Bill was published, it did not proceed.⁵⁴

The proposed levy consisted of two parts, the first of which would compensate for the loss on the sale of the RHE and although not popular was relatively uncontroversial. In retrospect it seems incredible that part two, which would be paid by hauliers and long-distance road passenger transport and would cover that part of the railway deficit attributable to road competition minus any savings from closures, was included in the Bill.55 Politically, it was bound to incur the opposition of the one group who might otherwise have been the chief cheerleaders of the Government's policy, the RHA. Economically, it made no sense at all to introduce competition and then, as Thorneycroft put it, to 'tax road hauliers to the precise extent of their economic superiority over the railways'.⁵⁶ Administratively, it raised the question of how it could be set at a level sufficient to cover a deficit the size of which would only become apparent later, while also calculating the effect of savings from closures made possible by the transfer of traffic to road.⁵⁷ There were those within the Ministry who had had their doubts from the start.⁵⁸ The levy had two things on its side, however. Senior Ministry officials were convinced that the railways would inevitably lose money once subjected to road competition, even if modernized and freed from some of their commercial restrictions (not all of which could be removed, because the railways would always have a monopoly of some types of traffic).⁵⁹ Meanwhile, the Treasury was determined to avoid having to meet a railway deficit and thereby remove any incentive to railway efficiency and release the brake on both pay claims and the public's 'desire ... for wasteful transport services'.60

The white paper emerged at a difficult moment. On 2 March the BTC had increased passenger fares in London to a chorus of public dismay and the issue became a feature of the London County Council election campaign. A similar increase was planned for the rest of the country on 1 May. Despite the Government's policy that the Commission should be given more freedom to set charges and despite the fact that the scheme had been endorsed by the CTCC, Churchill insisted that Maclay instruct the BTC not to raise fares outside London and refer the whole matter back to the CTCC. Churchill's actions were entirely motivated by public opinion. He was only able to overcome Leathers' view that the increase was necessary for the Commission to maintain its obligation to breakeven by the Lord Chancellor's ruling that this obligation could be overridden by the Minister's power to direct the Commission. It was a very dangerous precedent to set for, as Leathers argued, the real issue was whether the fare increases should be free from political influence. In preventing the increase, Churchill had overruled the Commission, the Transport Tribunal, the CTCC, Maclay, Leathers, the initial advice of Ministry officials and his own Government's

nascent policy of increasing the Commission's freedom to raise charges, which was amended as a result. It was simultaneously a remarkable feat of will, a damaging error of judgement and an unheeded warning of the way the BTC would be treated in the next few years.⁶¹ Criticised for an intervention he opposed and his failure to introduce swift reform of road passenger licensing, Maclay appears to have suffered a breakdown and resigned on 3 May and was replaced by Alan Lennox-Boyd.⁶²

The Bill's reception justified the doubts ministers and officials had expressed about it.⁶³ Whether Lennox-Boyd was right that part two of the levy was actually the most unpopular part of the Bill or whether it was simply the most unpopular part among his Party's supporters, it was certainly the most successfully opposed part. There were doubts as to whether part two could be carried in Parliament. The opponents' case was strengthened by the fact that imposing the levy would make it harder to sell-off the RHE.⁶⁴ By September Lennox-Boyd and Leathers were plotting behind their officials' backs to drop part two, prompting Ministry officials to produce a paper for the Transport Policy Committee refuting the arguments of their own Minister. Lennox-Boyd advocated 'drastic decentralisation of the railways' and argued that rather than looking at existing restrictions on the railways' commercial freedom and seeing what could be eased, the Government should 'start the other way and ask why should there not be complete freedom ... and make every restriction justify itself'. The problem was that he had no way of showing that this drastic extension of the commercial freedom would enable the railways to survive the impact of road competition and his assertions on this point were denied by his officials, while he was unable to offer any detail on how decentralization would help or what drastic decentralization would mean in detail.⁶⁵ It would be hard to imagine a clearer example of Nigel Harris' comment that, for the Conservatives, decentralization had become 'a word in which the element of possible validity was dwarfed by the attribution of magic qualities to the concept ... designed to wish away problems'.66

Lennox-Boyd's proposals left the committee hopelessly divided and Leathers' inability to lead decisively left his colleagues to reach a conclusion only because they had run out of time.⁶⁷ By the start of October Lennox-Boyd had convinced Churchill of his plan and when Leathers reported that there was no workable alternative to the levy, the Prime Minister replied 'we must look further'. Needing a decision in time for the Conservative Party conference on 8 October, the committee referred the matter to the Cabinet, which appeared to decide on 7 October that part two should stay in the Bill but be suspended for two years; however Lennox-Boyd took a non-committal line at the conference and the following week Leathers told the Prime Minister that the Committee now 'felt forced to think out our policy again from first principles'.⁶⁸ A slim majority in favour of Lennox-Boyd's proposal to abandon both the levy and denationalization entirely, lift the 25-mile limit and allow the railways greater charging freedom was reversed by enlarging the Committee and the matter was sent back to the Cabinet. Over two meetings the Cabinet unpicked what

Macmillan called 'a really terrible tangle'. Had agreement not been reached when it was, the Bill could not have been ready in time to meet the Government's timetable. Maxwell Fyfe successfully insisted that without denationalization the pledge to allow ex-hauliers to rejoin the industry would not be fulfilled. One minister objected to extending the railways' commercial freedom because it would be an admission that the Government 'had no road/rail policy to offer and were prepared to leave this problem to solve itself by the free play of economic forces', but the proposal was approved, despite the fact that the ABCC were still to agree the details. A key argument for abandoning the levy was that it would be hard enough to sell off the RHE without its discouraging effect. A last-minute bid by Birtchnell to either abandon the Bill or postpone it pending an independent inquiry was defeated. Part two of the levy was abandoned, leaving the railways reliant on the unknown benefits of decentralization and the, as yet undecided, extension of their commercial freedom in response to the denationalization of road haulage and the abolition of the 25-mile limit from the end of 1954.⁶⁹ Once the details emerged, neither proved adequate.

The impact of the 1953 Act

For all the sound and fury surrounding the denationalization of road haulage, it did not make as great a difference to the railways' position as might be expected. As predicted, it proved impossible to sell all the RHE and another Act was required in 1956 to allow the BTC to retain some 10,000 vehicles. Bagwell sees the failure to nationalize C-licence vehicles in 1947 as more significant than the 1953 Act, because the former constituted so great a part of the road haulage sector.⁷⁰ Gourvish argues that, while road competition was a factor in the railways' declining results, bankruptcy was not inevitable, but the result of costs outstripping revenue. The Commission reacted slowly and over-estimated the extent to which commercial freedom and modernization could turn losses on some services into profits. In particular, this led it to carry certain goods at a loss, in an attempt to retain traffic which might otherwise be lost to roads.⁷¹ Whatever the failings of management, the foundations of the BTC's eventual failure were all laid by the Government; on the one hand ministers wanted competition and on the other they were unwilling to allow the railways the freedom, over charges, the provision of services or the negotiation of wages that any firm would take for granted and that any organization required to avoid losing money must surely be granted. This problem was also reflected in and exacerbated by the failure to establish an effective organization to manage the railways, either in terms of structure or personnel.

In September 1953, when General Sir Brian Robertson replaced Lord Hurcomb, the Government placed the Commission in the hands of a man with very limited business experience, whose colleagues were generally part-time or underpaid. The Transport Act stipulated that the Railway Executive should be abolished, leaving the BTC with the dual role of overseeing all nationalized transport and acting as central authority for the railways, an arrangement its

financial comptroller Sir Reginald Wilson called 'a first class English mess'. The Act was vague on the details of reorganization and Gourvish describes the organization which Robertson implemented in January 1955, after a disruptive 15-month interim, as 'a great semi-military bureaucratic edifice', which lacked a clear chain of command, confusing and demoralizing railway managers.⁷² A key problem was that the new Area Boards set up to manage the railway regions (Southern, Western, Eastern, London Midland, North Eastern and Scottish) were too weak to satisfy the Conservatives' hopes for decentralization, but strong enough to hamper the BTC's attempts to run the railways effectively. Part of the logic of decentralization was the idea that separate accounts for the railway regions would stimulate performance by allowing comparison. The complexities of railway operations and accounting make this a problematic field, as we shall see, and Robertson failed to introduce them.73 The part-time nature of those appointed to the Area Boards made it difficult for them to act effectively, while the Boards' very existence discouraged economies made possible by railway unification, such as the pruning of duplicate routes and facilities, and gave rise to some inefficient practices. While the BTC was responsible for making policy in regard to investment and the withdrawal of unremunerative services, in both cases individual proposals came from the Area Boards, which proved as resistant to the Commission's direction as the Railway Executive had been, a problem decentralization also inflicted on the National Coal Board.⁷⁴ The abolition of the Commission under the Transport Act 1962 and the re-creation of a central railway authority in the form of the British Railways Board represented a belated admission of the 1953 Act's failings.

The 1953 Act allowed the BTC to discriminate between customers and to vary its charges below published maximum rates which had to be approved by the Transport Tribunal. Ministers could hardly abolish the time-consuming process of submitting proposed price increases to the Transport Tribunal when they had just vetoed a fare rise themselves; and they also insisted that the extension of the railways' commercial freedom set out in the Transport Bill be negotiated between the BTC and its freight customers. While the result encouraged a closer relationship between costs and charges, it left railway charges subject to an interminably bureaucratic process of approval. The Commission had not finished work on a merchandise charges scheme it was drawing up under the terms of the Transport Act 1947, when it was obliged to begin again in response to the 1953 Act. After five months of consultation with customers, the scheme (which would have allowed the railways to carry 90 per cent of their freight traffic at prices which would cover direct costs) was submitted to the Transport Tribunal in March 1955. Following 16 months of consideration, the Tribunal asked the Commission to modify its plans as a result of objections by traders. It was not finally implemented until July 1957.75 Clearly, this was not what Lennox-Boyd had had in mind.

By 1953 the railways had conducted studies which showed that stoppingtrain services outside urban areas and short-distance haulage of small freight loads were fundamentally unprofitable.⁷⁶ It is clear that the Government expected denationalizing road haulage to lead to rail closures and was aware that it might make sense to replace some passenger services with buses.⁷⁷ The Conservatives' original proposals would have provided the regional transport boards with the means (as they controlled rail and road services) and the incentive, through competition, to transfer traffic to road. The Act's provisions for the denationalization of road haulage and buses undermined this possibility, which is precisely why ministers changed their minds and decided to abandon the latter measure in 1955.⁷⁸ However, the railways were discouraged from a rigorous abandonment of unprofitable routes by the BTC's *de facto* obligation to submit proposals to withdraw services to TUCCs, a time-consuming and controversial process.

'These closures of branch line services are going to give us plenty of trouble' the BTC's public relations department warned in 1950 after the proposal to close the Queenborough-Leysdown line (on which each train was used by an average of less than four passengers and each passenger journey was subsidized to the tune of about a pound) produced demands for a public inquiry, threats of legal action, letters to the Minister, a suggestion from a parish council chairman that he take it over and make it pay and accusations that branch lines lost money because fares were too high.⁷⁹ By the time The Titfield Thunderbolt appeared in 1953, the closing down of railway lines was ceasing to be the curiosity it had been when Douglas McDonald Hastings stumbled across Singleton and a generation had grown up accustomed to branch-line traffic at the reduced level of the 1930s. In April that year the BTC proposed to withdraw services over three routes on the Isle of Wight, closing about half the island's network, which had never made any money. The CTCC eventually approved closure of two routes, the third being kept for two years, when it was reviewed and the case for closure accepted. However, this was a hollow victory. Reports of the TUCC hearing, which took place in public and at which a QC represented the objectors, conveved the impression that the railways were at best incompetent and at worst dishonest.⁸⁰ The BTC may have made a political error in grouping these proposals, as they could therefore be presented by objectors as an 'island' issue much as closures in Scotland and Wales were later criticised in nationalist terms. In the same month as it put forward the Isle of Wight proposals, the Commission decided not to restore services over the Brightlingsea branch in Essex, which had been severed by flood damage in February. A TUCC hearing that summer was attended by three MPs and a QC. Accepting that the line lost money, the committee nevertheless recommended that services be restored because local roads were inadequate, although they were good enough for half of the 1938 traffic to have deserted the line. None of the improvements in traffic forecast by objectors ever materialized.⁸¹ Even the proposal to close the tiny Woodstock branch (average train loading: five passengers) brought forth letters to The Times containing the soon-to-be-familiar allegations that the Railway Executive had deliberately diverted traffic to roads in order to make the line seem uneconomic and that a combination of social need, the scope for cheaper operations and the increased traffic that lower fares and future housing developments would bring meant that the line should not be closed. One correspondent hoped that the filming of part of *The Titfield Thunderbolt* in the area would bode well for attempts to save the line. It was not enough.⁸²

The following year saw the start of a four-year farce surrounding the 'Bluebell' line between East Grinstead and Lewes in Sussex, another lightly-used line which had never made any money. It did provide an alternative when the Brighton main line was blocked, but to be a truly effective diversionary route it would have had to be maintained to main-line standards and electrified. The BTC overcame objections to closure only to find that a local resident, a Miss Bessemer, had discovered a clause in the Act under which the London, Brighton and South Coast Railway had absorbed the company that built the line requiring a minimum service to be maintained. Having closed in June 1955, the line had to be reopened in August 1956 and the bad grace with which the Commission restored the service (it was not required to stop at the busiest station) added to the opprobrium the whole affair brought on not only the BTC, but on the southeastern TUCC, which was so heavily criticized in the House of Commons that it refused to hear any more cases. It took an Act of Parliament (opposed by Miss Bessemer) and a public inquiry (which exonerated the TUCC) to close it again in March 1958. There is some doubt as to whether Miss Bessemer actually used the line and those seeking a simple symbol for the supposed decline of the industrial spirit in Britain need only compare her quixotic defence of this unnecessary but delightful relic with her great-grandfather's invention of the Bessemer Converter, from which she must have derived much of the wealth and social standing she used so effectively against the BTC.83

With the benefit of hindsight it is easy to see the BTC's approach to closing branch lines as far too cautious, but while the difficulties of closing lines undoubtedly deterred railway managers from taking a more rigorous approach, they also saw themselves as providing a social service.⁸⁴ This view was widely shared and not just by those using the lines in question. By the time Miss Bessemer was finally defeated, opposition to closures was being organized by the Railway Development Association (formed in 1951) and the Society for the Reinvigoration of Branch Lines (1954) and the subject had been raised on many occasions in Parliament, most notably in the Rural Transport Improvement Bill, sponsored by Archer Baldwin, Conservative MP for Leominster, which sought to allow for cheaper operation and to make the consultative procedure even more of an obstacle to closures.⁸⁵ While some of this opposition was recognized as pure sentiment at the time, the BTC was regarded as a powerful faceless bureaucracy lacking awareness of local needs.⁸⁶ A 1955 Times editorial commenting on opposition to closures from Dartmoor to Yorkshire concluded that '[a]fter allowing for the irrelevance of sentiment and of mere automatic reactions of protest, the duty still lies on the Commission of doing its best, in the general national interest, not to disturb an area, however small'.⁸⁷ Encouraging local opponents of closures to make their voice heard at TUCC hearings, the Hastings MP Neil Cooper-Key questioned whether it was right for the BTC 'to divest itself of a responsibility to serve outlying districts in the country' just because such services lost money.⁸⁸ The claim made to the TUCC in the Brightlingsea case that closure of the railway would further the decline of the shellfish industry is just one example of a widespread assumption that the social and economic benefits of rail services were a right, which should no more be provided on the basis of ability to pay than healthcare or education; and the BTC's obligation under the 1953 Act to pay due regard to the needs of 'the public, agriculture, commerce and industry' seemed to support this view.⁸⁹

The same conflicting objectives were at work on a larger scale when it came to setting the railways' price and wage levels. The greatest restriction on the railways' commercial freedom in the 1950s was the Government's tendency to treat the railways and other nationalized boards as the 'handmaidens of other policies',⁹⁰ in the Treasury's phrase, by constantly involving itself in the Commission's pricing decisions and industrial relations. Government policy towards the BTC in 1953–8 was dominated by the issue of industrial relations, both in terms of disputes over railway wages and the effects of these disputes on other industries and the economy in general. Churchill's industrial relations policy was designed to disprove Labour's warnings of the consequences of Conservative victory in 1951 and was part of a more general belief in the need for good relations with the trade union movement, which ministers knew could all-too-easily be undermined.⁹¹ It is said that when Churchill appointed General Robertson to the BTC he told him 'the money doesn't matter, what matters is the chaps', he certainly told his colleagues much the same thing in December 1954.92 Indeed Robertson's appointment only really makes sense if one sees the railways as a collection of officers and men (the words used to differentiate management and non-management within the industry at the time), 'requiring firm leadership'.93

Government pressure on Robertson to accept claims the BTC felt it could not afford was vital in settling wage disputes with the National Union of Railwaymen (NUR) in December 1953 and again the following winter. In the first case this was done through pressure on Robertson, in the second this pressure was accompanied by the appointment of a Court of Inquiry after negotiations had broken down and the union had called a strike. Given indications that the Government would accept a verdict favourable to the union, the Court duly delivered such a verdict and the strike was averted. Subsequent negotiations gave the railwaymen essentially what they had demanded in July 1953. The Government's handling of the two wage crises attracted criticism at the time and has been censured since.⁹⁴ However, in a country where coal was still vital to industry and for domestic heating and was distributed almost entirely by rail, a winter railway strike would have had genuinely dire consequences, including a fuel crisis, for which the Government not the NUR was likely to be blamed, and a strike was expected to cost more than a settlement.95 Ministers decided to resist a claim by the Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen (ASLEF) in the summer of 1955, but the resulting strike did not resolve the railway pay issue in general.96

From 1955, unwilling to pursue legislative curbs on trade unions, a formal incomes policy or to abandon the commitment to full employment, the Eden

Government attempted to 'educate' workers on the need for wage restraint and to take the heat out of wage claims by stabilizing prices. The Government attempted to create a wage and price plateau; but while ministers could only exhort private sector employers and the trade unions to show restraint, they could impose such policies on the nationalized industries (albeit informally through discussion with their chairmen). In the same month, March 1956, that the Government published a white paper on The Economic Implications of Full *Employment*, designed to promote this policy, Robertson was persuaded to set an example by agreeing to postpone a rise in rail charges for six months. The Government then imposed a general six-month price freeze on all the nationalized industries in June. The claim that the railways' contribution to this was the Commission's own decision, and not the result of a Government request, was only technically accurate. Chancellor of the Exchequer, Harold Macmillan, admitted to his diary that 'of course it's economic nonsense - prices cannot be stabilized unless costs are. But it's a polite way (and the only way in which we as a Government can take a lead) of saving "no more wages this year"'. Gourvish concurs with the BTC's lament at the financial effect of these two interventions.⁹⁷ Their failure to achieve wage stability and their damaging impact on the nationalized industries were important stimulants to the different approach urged by the Treasury by the 1960s.⁹⁸ In 1958 a further strike threat was averted when the Government, having decided to take on the Transport and General Workers Union (TGWU) over London busmen's pay, intervened to avoid a simultaneous fight with the NUR. The settlement included the establishment of an inquiry into railway pay under the academic economist C. W. Guillebaud which took the heat out of the issue until 1960.99 One consequence of the Commission's lack of control over costs and charges was that average real fares per passenger-mile, which had fallen by about 25 per cent in 1948-51, remained more or less at this level until 1960.¹⁰⁰

Damaging as these actions were for railway finances, it would be futile to pretend that there was some simple and obvious solution to the problems that produced them. I am not concerned here with the rights and wrongs of the railwaymen's struggle for better pay, nor with judgements on whether ministers were right to intervene. I am certainly not advocating any particular alternative approach to the problem of railwaymen's wages. Had the Government not engaged in these interventions, the Commission would still have faced pressure for increases in pay and there was a limit to which simply increasing charges could fund pay awards.¹⁰¹ However the effect of these interventions and in particular of the Government's unwillingness to admit them, as the following chapter shows, was to unofficially remove the Commission's obligation to break-even. In theory this obligation should have forced the unions and the public to recognize that wages could not rise unless earnings per employee rose, as well as providing a balance to the Commission's duty to provide a public service. Whether this would have worked in practice is open to question, but the Government's actions ensured that it did not.

Conclusion

From an operating surplus of £16.4 million in 1954, the railways slipped into the red in 1956. In 1958 the deficit (£48.1 million) was more than 10 per cent of gross revenue and, although the following year saw an improvement, by 1962 it was £104 million, more than 20 per cent.¹⁰² Although there was more to the reform of rail policy in 1958-63 than mere cost-cutting, that reform was framed in the context of a deficit apparently spiralling out of control. There are several reasons for this financial decline. Clearly the railway industry entered the postwar era in a difficult position, but one similar to that it had been in for much of the inter-war period. Constructed and regulated on the assumption of a transport monopoly, it faced a challenge from road transport which, even without the private motor car, had the potential to offer an alternative service which was cheaper and more convenient in many circumstances and for general merchandise freight and short-distance passenger services in particular. By 1947 the industry was suffering from a quarter of a century of under-investment and a severe lack of maintenance during the busiest few years in its history. Had the railways remained in private ownership they would still have faced demands for better wages and opposition to closures and it is difficult to see how they could have paid a dividend, yet nationalization saddled them with the requirement to earn a return and redeem their capital. In theory coordination offered an opportunity either to transfer unprofitable traffic to road and manage the restructuring of the industry, or to stifle road competition. In practice so much road haulage remained in private hands that the latter course was probably impossible, while the growth of the motor car in the 1950s meant that the former competition between bus and rail was gradually replaced with competition between public and private passenger transport. There is some evidence that a managed transfer of traffic within a coordinated system might have taken place had the Conservatives not been elected in 1951 or had they followed their original plans. The chaos into which policy-making descended in 1951-3 created a position in which, as Lord Rusholme, Chairman of British Railways' London Midland Area Board, put it, the BTC 'were under an obligation to pay their way, but no-one allowed them to run the business as if this was their object'.¹⁰³

The railways' position in 1953 was neither irretrievable nor an indictment of their performance, given the problems of the 1930s and the subsequent disruptions and lack of investment; but it was vulnerable. It was the Government's interventions over wages and prices that did most to turn an operating surplus of over £30 million in 1953 into a loss of almost £30 million four years later, from which position a recession in its core freight markets delivered the final financial blow. The ideologies of coordination and competition, although prominent in the language of transport policy in the 1950s, were not as significant as their advocates wanted to believe. Coordination under the 1947 Act was too incomplete and short-lived and competition under the 1953 Act too laden with restrictions for either to stand as practical examples of ideology at work (unless as examples of the impossibility of translating such ideologies into practicalities). Nor had

the concepts been translated into plans for action. What the railways needed were investment funds, clear objectives, good management and time to run themselves. Given these factors, either coordination or competition might have worked, but none of them was available before 1955 (and only the first was available then). The conflicting social and financial obligations imposed on the railways cannot simply be blamed on management or even on Government. This was a national uncertainty, expressed in the reaction to branch-line closures, but also evident in the short-term treatment of railway finances by ministers intervening to avert strikes and avoid price increases, with the support of public opinion. In the first decade of peace, Britain failed to equip its railways in any meaningful way to adapt to modern conditions, either by cutting out the dead wood, investing in the good and coming to terms with pay and productivity issues, or by providing a sound basis for operating as a public service. By the end of the decade, this failure appeared to characterize many of Britain's problems; and, like much of the rest of the country, Robertson and the Government sought hope, vaguely, in modernization. This is discussed in the following chapter.

3 The success of the *Modernisation Plan*

In 1969 Christopher Booker looked back at the preceding two decades and concluded that in the late 1950s and early 1960s Britain had been caught up in a collective 'vitality fantasy', a significant element of which was 'the sense of being carried into a modernistic future'. As this fantasy progressed from dream to nightmare, a struggle took place between 'New' and 'Old England' culminating in the latter's defeat in the 'terrible year of 1963'. Booker says little about the railways and when he writes that by the mid-1950s 'as prosperity went on increasing, people were beginning to forget the past and turn their imaginations with ever rising expectation to the future' he isn't talking about the Treasury.¹ But it wasn't only the public who had money to spend; while the increasing ownership of cars and televisions transformed Britain, the Government's spending included large-scale investment programmes in the nationalized industries. At a press conference on 24 January 1955, anxious to stress the newness of what he was proposing and to prevent the railways appearing anachronistic, General Sir Brian Robertson GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC launched the BTC's Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways (the Modernisation Plan).² At a cost of £1,240 million over 15 years, the plan promised 'a thoroughly modern system', featuring high-speed track, colour-light signalling, automatic train control, modern telecommunications, 'several thousand electric or diesel locomotives', modern coaches and computerized marshalling yards, which would allow the railways to earn at least £5 million a year more than was required to meet their central charges by the early 1970s. While the emphasis of the plan was on positive investment it was founded on an intention to concentrate on those tasks the railways could perform more efficiently than other forms of transport, the bulk carriage of passengers and goods, and it referred to closing uneconomic lines.³ By 1962 Robertson's appeal to the mood of the times had failed. In that summer's bestseller, Anatomy of Britain, Anthony Sampson, part of what Booker described as New England's 'rising chorus of "What's wrong with Britain" journalism',4 described the railways, with their 'picturesque, feudal and delightful way of life' as 'the most embarrassing of all Britain's Victorian leftovers.... [A] kind of caricature of all Britain's problems'. Sampson found Beeching 'reassuring'.5 He did not interview Robertson. That Old Englander had retired the year before,

with a hereditary baronetcy, to run boys' clubs in Gloucestershire and take a seat on the board of a sleeping-car company.⁶

The 1955 Modernisation Plan was superseded by the white papers, Proposals for the Railways, in October 1956 and Reappraisal of the Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways, in July 1959. The important point to note about these plans is that the 1955 version was a statement of intent, work on the various components of which was supposed to begin within five years once the details had been worked out, and the two subsequent versions did not provide a dated list of projects. It is therefore more accurate to talk about a policy of modernization from 1955 than the implementation of a plan. This policy delivered the elimination of steam traction and the electrification of the west coast main line between London and Manchester/Liverpool, among a variety of improvements in safety, efficiency and comfort. However, the course of modernization prior to 1960 has been severely criticized on conceptual, technical, managerial and financial grounds. In retrospect the BTC's attempts to win back merchandise traffic and to restore the fortunes of rural branches suggest that it placed too much emphasis on technical modernization and too little on the need to adapt to modern conditions, but Gourvish has shown that a fairer analysis is that its attempts to predict future trends and adapt to them were hurried, flawed and often disregarded by the Area Boards which put forward specific proposals on their technical or operating, rather than financial, merits. However, these problems were compounded by technical mistakes, and a general lack of clear central direction. The fact that the plan was produced during the disruptive double reorganization of 1953-5 contributed to its shortcomings, as did the Government's role in encouraging diesel locomotive orders from British manufacturers, rather than more experienced foreign firms. In particular the Government's desire to reduce unemployment in Scotland contributed to the BTC being saddled with an unsatisfactory collection of overpriced North British Locomotive Company machines.⁷

This chapter focuses on one specific issue, the failure of the plans of 1955 and 1956 to deliver the financial results they predicted. The 1955 plan indicated that the net benefits of modernization (including measures such as closures which required no spending) would amount to £45 million against an inherited annual deficit of £40 million (the official deficit of £25 million increased by £15 million representing a correction in depreciation provisions), adding up to a net annual surplus of £5 million at the end of the plan period. The 1956 version's key estimate was that the Commission would break-even on its operating account by 1961 or 1962 and the Reappraisal put this estimate back a year. Although there were other reasons for modernizing the railways, the financial benefits were absolutely central and there is no doubt that the sketchy calculations in the three plans were deeply flawed and hard to relate to any detailed work within the BTC. The Commission certainly made errors in the financial justification for modernization; for example by calculating a return on 'betterment', the difference between the cost of renewing existing equipment and introducing improvements, which was not a valid calculation if the original

equipment was operating at a loss.⁸ However, this chapter argues that the problem was not that the Commission failed to deliver on its financial promises but that the financial estimates in the plans of 1955 and 1956 were always illusions and that the primary conjurer was the Government, which presented the two plans as solutions to financial problems it was responsible for and which it ought to have known, and almost certainly did know, it could not solve.

'Having willed the end, the Nation must will the means'; with these words the Court of Inquiry appointed to avert the strike called by the NUR in December 1954 dismissed the BTC's claim that it could not afford to pay higher wages.⁹ They were dangerous words; anxious as they were to avoid a strike, ministers were even more anxious to avoid this phrase being interpreted as meaning that if nationalized boards could not afford to pay decent wages they should be subsidized until they could.¹⁰ In defending the 1955 pay settlement, ministers adopted the line that the long-term effects of the Modernisation Plan and the shorter-term effects of productivity improvements and adjustments to fares and charges would eventually outweigh the immediate increase in the BTC's deficit resulting from the wage settlement.¹¹ The purpose of the account which follows is to show how completely this contradicted the evidence, to explain how a plan based on the assumption of a government subsidy came to be used as an argument for long-term solvency and how the outcome made it likely not only that the Commission would fail to recoup its losses but that it would be blamed when that failure became clear. It is followed by an account of the genesis of the 1956 plan which tells essentially the same story except that modernization was used to justify imposing a price freeze on the Commission when the response the Government wanted, a significant increase in closure proposals, failed to materialize. In other words it was not so much that modernization failed by 1963 as that, the fantasy having become a nightmare, reality dawned.

Background to the 1955 plan

By 1954 the need to modernize the railways was so obvious that even a Treasury official could say that 'everybody wanted and expected the railways to spend money', without it being a complaint.¹² Whitehall was also anxious to help ease pressure on the National Coal Board (NCB), which found it difficult to produce sufficient quantities of coal suitable for steam locomotives, and ministers saw railway investment as a buffer against any possible rise in unemployment.¹³ Yet there was little expectation at the Ministry (which had become the Ministry of Transport and Civil Aviation [MTCA] in 1953) that modernization would solve the BTC's financial problems. As we have seen, Robertson was reluctantly persuaded to meet an NUR pay claim in December 1953 and shortly afterwards Lennox-Boyd admitted to the Cabinet that the warnings officials had given about railway finances when the Transport Bill was being drafted had proved correct. He suggested that the BTC might need financial assistance with modernization.¹⁴ Senior officials at the Ministry were coming to the conclusion that

40 The success of the Modernisation Plan

we have come into an era in which the railways are going to be in the red for quite a long time, and perhaps for always. Modernisation, greater efficiency, and freedom in freight charges ... should help in years to come, though not for some time, but [are unlikely] ... to bring in enough revenue to meet increased costs.¹⁵

Treasury officials took a more robust line, but their desire to have a railway modernization plan was motivated from the start by concern over the BTC's financial position. In January 1954 the Treasury official responsible for day-to-day work relating to the Commission, the assistant secretary at the Trade and Industry division, Alexander Grant, had realized that the Commission was borrowing just to keep itself going (i.e. to fund replacement and renewals rather than investment which would earn a return).¹⁶ A bill extending its borrowing powers would have to be brought forward in the 1954–5 parliamentary session or their £275 million limit would be reached (an Act extending them to £600 million was passed in March 1955¹⁷). In putting pressure on the Commission to produce even an outline of its plans, which it originally hoped to see in the summer of 1954, the Treasury's objective was to examine the spending it was effectively approving in this Bill, before the Bill was published. It was only in September 1954 that officials learned the borrowing the plan required would be additional to that provided for in the new Bill.¹⁸

One consequence of the pressure the Commission was under to produce its plan quickly was that the Modernisation Plan was essentially 'a lot of mouldering schemes which the BTC and the Regions had found after a hurried search in their pigeon holes', hastily brushed up by a committee under BTC Financial Comptroller Sir Reginald Wilson between 18 November and 21 December 1954, when it was submitted to the Ministry. It is unclear on what basis this committee inserted the figures estimating the eventual return on the plan. The draft Wilson worked on admitted that it might be impossible to meet interest payments on the investment in the period before the plan bore fruit and these costs were omitted from the calculations in the published document. This omission is one of the major criticisms of the plan's finances, because the costs in question were enough to wipe out the eventual annual surplus.¹⁹ Yet it seems likely that their omission was no accident, nor should it have come as a surprise to the Government. Lennox-Boyd had specifically referred to this problem when he told the Cabinet that the BTC would need help with modernization in February and Chancellor of the Exchequer 'Rab' Butler's offer to consider any proposals the Minister put forward seems to have encouraged the Commission to base its plans on the assumption that the Government would provide a loan of £500 million on special terms.²⁰ By September John Boyd-Carpenter had replaced Lennox-Boyd as Minister and Robertson took up the question of assistance with him. Boyd-Carpenter sent his officials to the Treasury on 6 December to pass on Robertson's view that it would be impossible for the Commission to embark on modernization without some form of special Government assistance with the borrowing involved and to raise the possibility of deferring interest, which the Treasury estimated would amount to a subsidy worth £32 million a year. Treasury officials, who had suspected something of this nature was in the pipeline and believed that Robertson was trying to use modernization as an excuse to get a concealed subsidy to solve the Commission's existing financial difficulties, were not about to agree to it. Following the meeting Grant warned his superiors to expect an approach to the Chancellor from Robertson.²¹ There was no reason then for Butler, Boyd-Carpenter or their officials to expect that the plan would solve the Commission's financial problems even before these were exacerbated by the settlement of the wages dispute.

The political function of modernization

The threat of a railway strike was now being discussed almost daily by the Cabinet, aware that Robertson did not feel the BTC could afford to increase its offer. On 8 December, as Grant was warning his superiors to expect a further approach for a subsidy, the Cabinet discussed the possibility of 'a Government contribution towards capital expenditure on a programme for modernising the railways', not as a reason for closely examining the plan when it arrived, but as a way of encouraging the BTC to feel justified in temporarily increasing its operating deficit to fund higher wages and avoid a strike.²² Determined to avoid a strike, ministers were desperate to avoid the appearance of paying a subsidy to finance a wage claim, which would bring criticism on the Government and set a dangerous precedent for other nationalized industries. What they needed was a formula allowing the railways to be treated as a special case. Paying the kind of subsidy the Treasury feared, linked to modernization but in fact reflecting other problems, provided one. However, ministers quickly appreciated that the subsidy element of this formula was unnecessary if the Commission could be persuaded to express the view that the benefits of modernization would eventually earn enough to outweigh the effects of a pay award. On 9 December, a senior Treasury official, second secretary Sir Bernard Gilbert, discussed the crisis with Sir Reginald Wilson. Wilson agreed that the railwaymen's claim would have to be settled and that there was nothing fundamentally wrong in a temporary deficit redeemed by the effects of modernization. Yet he mentioned that the Commission might need help before the plan bore fruit or in the form of a capital write-off. Here again were grounds to question whether the plan would actually improve the Commission's financial position, yet Gilbert took the view that 'all this is for the future, and anyhow a subsidy on any such ground is of course entirely different from a revenue subsidy to meet a wage claim'.²³

On 10 December a small group of ministers met at Downing Street to discuss the crisis. Henry Brooke, the Financial Secretary, arrived fresh from a briefing on Gilbert's meeting with Wilson; Boyd-Carpenter with a proposal that Robertson might be persuaded to accept an increase in the deficit in return for financial assistance with modernization. On hearing Boyd-Carpenter's plan, Churchill dismissed the benefits of modernization and proposed that the Commission be formally (i.e. publicly) directed to increase its offer, after which ministers' chief concern was to dissuade the Prime Minister from doing so. Boyd-Carpenter was authorised to assure Robertson that the Government would accept an increased deficit to avoid a strike and would consider sympathetically any request for 'financial assistance' with modernization. What he actually asked Robertson at their meeting the following day was 'on a purely hypothetical basis what his reaction would be if Her Majesty's Government ... were prepared to assure him that in their view he need not trouble himself unduly about the size of his deficit in view of the long term prospects of the Commission when railway modernisation took effect'. Boyd-Carpenter's note of the meeting makes no reference to financial assistance, but even if he did not make the offer he had been authorized to make, the assurance he mentioned completely contradicted his comment at the previous day's meeting that the pay award would leave the Commission with an annual loss of £20 million and 'little early prospect of reducing it'.²⁴ Harold Macmillan understood that Boyd-Carpenter had given Robertson 'a hint that "subsidy" might be made respectable as "deficit".²⁵ The vagueness of the Commission's obligation to break-even 'taking one year with another' meant this could be done by claiming that modernization, the new merchandise charges scheme and improvements to productivity would allow any deficit arising from the pay deal to be recouped at some point in the future. By 4 January, this was the Cabinet's position.²⁶ Ministers genuinely intended to push the Commission and the unions into achieving improvements in productivity, but they had no real idea of how to do so and when Robertson objected to their proposal for an inquiry on the matter they had little option but to give way.²⁷ Clearly modernization was being discussed here as a political solution not a financial one. It seems unlikely therefore that the Commission saw any reason to abandon its assumption of assistance in drawing up the calculations in the Modernisation Plan, which reached the Ministry on 21 December, and that the 'failure' to include interest charges was not a failure at all. Indeed, when Boyd-Carpenter sent the plan on to the Treasury on 29 December, he warned Butler that a great deal would have to be spent before any benefits were produced and that Robertson wanted a meeting with him.28

Robertson was reluctant to accept Boyd-Carpenter's assurance unless it was stated publicly; but in order to maintain the fiction that they had not intervened, Ministers wanted the General to settle the dispute first and then ask whether the Government supported him.²⁹ On 7 January he made this request in a letter to Boyd-Carpenter, indicating that the accumulated deficit would be £50–60 million by the end of 1955 and there would be further deficits to follow, to which must be added the burden of financing modernization, which was unlikely to produce substantial increases in net revenue for some years. The letter makes it clear that he was expecting to discuss the terms on which modernization would be financed and a major reconstruction of the Commission's finances with the Minister and the same week he publicly implied that funding the wage deal was not his responsibility but the Government's, a statement which caused discontent on the Tory backbenches.³⁰ The Treasury stalled a reply while it considered four ways in which the Commission might be offered assistance: public

borrowing under Treasury guarantee; a revenue subsidy from the Exchequer; a Government loan for investment at an uneconomic rate of interest; and allowing the BTC to fall back on the Treasury guarantee of its existing stock. The last of these would 'brand the BTC as the one [nationalized] body which had not met its obligations', thereby deterring the others, and no legislation would be required. It also meant that the Government could avoid a decision on a subsidy and simply wait and see if modernization, closures, productivity and changes to charges were enough to prevent a permanent deficit. This was the course officials favoured. The Treasury was not yet convinced that a permanent deficit was inevitable, but clearly considered it possible and, while the preferred course of action was logical, it had the side-effect of blaming the BTC for a loss not of its making.³¹ The likelihood of this was probably increased by the fact that the officials centrally involved in the events of December and January had departed the scene by 1958. In 1960 a junior official was asked to go back through the files and establish how it had been claimed that the BTC was covering its accumulated deficits before 1957. No clear answer emerged.³²

The Treasury's view of the plan

Had Treasury officials been asked to fully endorse the plan in January 1955 they would not have done so. Grant was the only one of them who had had a chance to study it in any detail and he advised that 'if we accept that [the calculations in the plan] are cautious ... we can say that ... there is a fair and reasonable chance of the Commission breaking even'.33 However, while the proposals seemed sensible, he admitted that the figures 'are made to measure'. He had no information on the thinking behind them, could not divide the benefits derived from closures from those requiring investment and could not estimate the extent to which the plan might be accelerated or what its short-term effects might be.³⁴ It was not until April 1955 that Treasury officials discovered that there was no detailed programme of projects behind the plan, the figures were aggregations of estimates, the details were expected to take another year to work out and 'the planning proper' was 'only just starting'.³⁵ Butler's Cabinet paper on the plan reserved the Treasury's position on the grounds that the £5 million eventual surplus was dependent on the figures being 'conservatively calculated' and the deficit being kept under £25 million a year until the benefits emerged. Officials attempted to ensure that Butler did not give the impression that he had swallowed the figures in the plan whole when he defended it in Parliament.³⁶ A variety of ministers expressed doubts about investing in rail and Churchill had no faith whatsoever in modernization as a financial panacea.³⁷ So why was the plan accepted? Because 'acceptance' involved no real commitment. Boyd-Carpenter was only able to overcome the Treasury's desire to study the plan properly before it was published once he explained that he merely intended to give a general endorsement of it, which was all he was required to do by law.³⁸ When the Cabinet approved publication on 20 January 1955, that was all it approved and, as the Treasury had understood for months that there would be little spending under the plan for five years and that virtually none of the borrowing involved would be covered by the Borrowing Powers Bill, there would be plenty of time to study and modify it (although they hoped to accelerate it).³⁹

Although Butler admitted in the House of Commons on 3 February 1955 that the Government would need to examine the plan in detail, he told the House that 'allowing for all the uncertainties of forecasting 15 years ahead, there is a reasonable prospect of the Commission's plan paying its way'. His failure to appreciate that the plan's calculations took no account of the £10 million cost of the wages settlement may have been a genuine mistake, but he was certainly wrong and on paper this wiped out the eventual surplus, irrespective of the interest issue. His comment that 'I have no reason to think that the Commission counts on any Exchequer subsidy to help it in fulfilling its statutory duty' glossed over the fact that he had every reason to believe it would need one and was hoping to get one.⁴⁰ The reality of Butler's endorsement of the plan is contained in a passage Grant drafted for, and Butler excised from, the latter's Cabinet paper on it:

it may be said that [the BTC's] figures are optimistic and that solvency is too much to hope for ... but ... even if hopes are not realised in full, this is still the best way to minimise losses ... What is the alternative ... can anyone contemplate that by continuing as we are now there is any prospect of solvency? I cannot see any alternative to the plan ... something on the lines proposed is inevitable, and ... the longer a decision is postponed the greater the danger of an ultimate charge falling upon the Exchequer.⁴¹

Meanwhile Robertson continued his pursuit of a subsidy. In March 1955, his agreement to postpone the announcement of increased charges bought him a meeting with the Chancellor, and he began to sound out Boyd-Carpenter on the possibility of capitalizing interest (treating the interest on borrowing as further borrowing). The Treasury stalled until December and all the meeting produced were further talks. Grant appears to have been surprised at the casual way in which Robertson mentioned at this meeting that the accumulated deficit was unlikely ever to be paid off, but Robertson may well have assumed this was common knowledge; he had reason enough to do so.⁴²

The Treasury had every intention of getting to grips with the Commission's investment proposals in the wake of the *Modernisation Plan*'s publication, just as it had had every intention of studying the investment related to the Borrowing Powers Bill before its publication. And just as it had failed in the latter task, it had learned very little indeed about the 1955 plan before it saw the 1956 version.⁴³ The chief problem was one of organization. In the mid-1950s the Treasury was in the process of transition from a system under which the Investment Programmes Committee controlled all investment in order to manage the allocation of scarce resources, to one in which controls over private investment were abandoned and the Treasury was concerned with the revenue-earning potential of nationalized industry investment.⁴⁴ That was the theory, but Treasury

officials had no experience in judging investment on this basis, let alone a 15year programme of railway investment.⁴⁵ The most obvious manifestation of this inexperience was that the whole system revolved around a discussion between the Treasury, Ministry and BTC lasting one-and-a-half hours once a year.⁴⁶ The Treasury had no direct contacts with the Commission (Gilbert's meeting with Wilson in December 1954 was exceptional). It relied on the Ministry to act as a go-between, but its relationship with the Ministry tended to come down to contacts between Grant and Ira Wild, the Ministry's director of finance.⁴⁷ Contacts between Wild and the Commission, usually through the Ministry's Railways and Inland Waterways division (known as 'Trains and Drains'), were hampered by the BTC's resistance to any attempt by Whitehall to interfere in its planning and what Grant saw as the Ministry's too-willing acceptance of this. When one considers that the Commission itself had a less than perfect knowledge or control of the railways' regional organizations, the difficulty the Treasury faced in its attempts to get information on the railways' plans can be appreciated.⁴⁸ The inadequacies of this approach were plain enough; what to do about it was less obvious. Officials took the view that if total investment appeared neither too large nor too small there was little the Treasury could do in individual cases, unless it felt that the board in question was not up to the job. This meant that the Treasury could not get sufficient information to judge whether the BTC was investing sensibly until it had information to show that it was not.⁴⁹ Before officials found a way out of this difficulty, the Government gave the BTC's plans a fuller endorsement in October 1956 by publishing them as a white paper, which once again served to bridge the gap between ministers' words and the consequences of their deeds.

The background to the 1956 plan

At one point in his period as Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation, probably in the spring of 1958, Harold Watkinson tramped up and down through the long wet grass of his garden with one of his officials, trying to solve the question of railwaymen's pay. Eventually, his legs soaked, Watkinson sat down, put his head in his hands and admitted there was no solution.⁵⁰ He had arrived at the Ministry in late 1955, his experience as Parliamentary Secretary at the Ministry of Labour during the previous winter's pay dispute still fresh in his memory, determined to turn the railways into a sensible business. Eager to make an immediate impact, he supported a swift pay award in the hope that this would improve industrial relations and encourage progress on productivity.⁵¹ Although Sir James Dunnett credited him with initiating the reforms that moved the railways onto a more businesslike footing in the early 1960s, Watkinson himself claimed that 'three years in charge of the Transport Ministry provided ... a useful corrective to any illusions that politics is about doing things in a businesslike fashion'.⁵² The lesson arrived in his first year in the post. When the pay award was followed by the usual application for increased charges, the Cabinet saw an opportunity to demonstrate its determination to break out of the wage-price spiral, using the BTC as an example which would help the Prime Minister, now Sir Anthony Eden, sell his policies to the British Employers' Federation and the Trades Union Congress. The Commission was therefore persuaded to agree to a six-month moratorium on some passenger fares and only half of the 10 per cent increase it had wanted in freight charges.⁵³ The strategy failed to control inflation and the move was heavily criticized. This criticism intensified in April when the public learned of the Transport Tribunal's opinion that if the increases had been approved in full the Commission's deficit would still have increased at the rate of £650,000 a week. Watkinson, who knew that the BTC would probably be left with a deficit for years to come, defended the decision by announcing that he and the Commission were undertaking a major review of its prospects. The Minister was now effectively committed to producing a document in six months' time which would justify a deficit heading in the direction of one million pounds a week.⁵⁴

By this time the idea that there were large potential savings in a programme of branch-line closures had been growing within the Ministry for some months and Watkinson's announcement of the review made it clear that this issue would form a significant part of it. Certainly, there was reason to believe that the annual savings of approximately £1.4 million from previous closures represented only a 'minute fraction' of what was possible. The Ministry knew that a traffic survey of October 1954 had found that about 35 million passenger train miles (about 40 per cent of stopping train services and 15 per cent of all passenger train miles) earned only one-third or even less of their movement costs, that the BTC believed there were relatively few rural services which it could justify modernizing and that it had asked the Area Boards to review uneconomic services with a view to replacing many of them with buses. However, the Commission, having undertaken not to bypass the TUCCs, was now experiencing such difficulties with the procedure that it appeared to have despaired of making any progress.⁵⁵ The Ministry's Parliamentary Secretary, Hugh Molson, had been advocating the publication of a closure programme since January and once the Cabinet began to express doubts about approving increased charges, Watkinson was convinced. 'Let us cut off all the heads at once in a White Paper if necessary', he told Molson; 'I have no objection to drastic action', he told officials. He told Robertson he wanted a comprehensive programme of closures for a white paper and warned the Chairmen of the TUCCs to expect one.

The realism of this plan was always open to question. Simply by-passing the consultative procedure was ruled out as politically impossible and success rested on Watkinson's willingness to take a lead in encouraging the committees to act more quickly and ruthlessly; yet Watkinson wanted the BTC to take the lead. Molson was thinking of saving a million pounds a year; yet this would only dent the deficit. Nevertheless, Robertson agreed to the plan and when the Commission warned the TUCCs to expect imminent action on the 'steam-hauled stopping passenger trains which call at all or most intermediate stations [and] fail as a group by tens of millions of pounds to cover even their direct costs', it must have seemed like a good one.⁵⁶ The Commission's proposals implied that it

would be stopping services on main lines which would be the focus of closures and Watkinson wanted the TUCC chairmen to agree that, unlike branch lines, these could be implemented as timetable changes without reference to the consultative procedure. However, both the committee chairmen and the CTCC rejected the idea and stressed the difficulties in coping with an increased workload. Had the BTC been free of the need to consult, it would have produced significant proposals, but the CTCC's reaction caused it to rethink and examine each individual service. This left the Commission back at square one, weighing all the time-consuming controversy of the consultative procedure against what were often small individual savings, right at the height of the Bluebell controversy. The outcome was a new policy, under which savings of £20-25 million were sought by replacing steam with diesel railcars. The Commission now claimed that the losses attributed to stopping-services had been exaggerated in its earlier figures, because in separating 'the cost of the "wool" from the cost of the "mutton"' (i.e. dividing shared costs between services) it had been obliged produce 'abstractions based on all kinds of apportionments which in real life could not take place'.57

Unaware of these developments, Ministry officials expressed doubts over whether Watkinson should endorse the closure programme himself, thereby compromising his position as the final arbiter of closure proposals, and over whether the advantages of having 'one big row' over a programme of closures rather than a succession of small ones outweighed the prospect of stirring up 'a hornet's nest of opposition all over the country' and in Scotland in particular.⁵⁸ Whether or not the Ministry was to endorse the Commission's proposals it was determined to write them. On 17 May a draft was sent to the Commission indicating what was required. This set out six strategies used to tackle the problems of rail systems worldwide: modernization, productivity improvements, charging freedom, subsidy and the restriction of road transport (which it ruled out) and, heading the list, closures. It set out what the Ministry expected the Commission to say on this subject:

The conclusion reached by this reassessment is that the railways will always, as far as can be foreseen, have an essential function to perform, but that they can only perform this function efficiently and economically if there is a radical change in the pattern of railway services and if the nonessential and unremunerative services are rapidly eliminated.... The target for all railway policy planning must therefore be to adjust, as rapidly as circumstances permit, the railway system to this more limited but essential function and to eliminate the dying wood. This is the basic thinking underlying the ... modernisation programme.⁵⁹

The final document was expected to contain statistics showing the financial and traffic improvements expected, the mileage closed to passenger and/or freight traffic, the number of stations closed and of passenger services to be discontinued for 1956 and succeeding years. At a meeting between MTCA and BTC

representatives in May, chaired by the Minister, it was agreed that 'there was no time for prolonged discussions if results were to be produced in time for the White Paper... it was important to show a progression of lessening deficits over a reasonable number of years until a balance was secured. Some five or six years at most should be the aim'.⁶⁰

For Watkinson this was more than an aim; it was a pressing need. The BTC intended to publish in its annual report for 1955 a table attributing the entire accumulated deficit to Government action; in May the Opposition claimed that the Government had forced the BTC to breach its statutory duty to break-even.⁶¹ Unsurprisingly, the figures produced in response were essentially cosmetic alterations to the made-to-measure predictions in the 1955 plan, which in no way justified the predicted surplus of £3 million in 1961 or 1962 and £48 million in 1970 excluding interest on the accumulated deficit (or a deficit of £17 million and a surplus of £38 million respectively if interest payments on the accumulated deficit continued).⁶² Within days of the meeting at which the need to show the BTC breaking even in five years had been discussed, Ministry deputy secretary George Stedman had been warned by Sir Reginald Wilson that 1961 or 1962 was 'the very earliest date at which the Commission can hope to break-even in the most favourable circumstances', and had concluded that it was important to avoid giving the Cabinet the impression that 1961 or 1962 was 'in any way a firm date'. Just as the 1955 plan's figures took no account of the wage settlement, so Wilson's warning was made before the Government imposed its second price freeze, a development which clearly did not fall within the compass of 'the best possible circumstances'.⁶³

The failure of Watkinson's strategy

On 12 June, Watkinson told the Cabinet that the full extent of the Commission's financial woe would soon be public knowledge. The BTC's accumulated deficit would probably top £100 million at the end of 1956 and the operating account would probably be in the red for many years to come. 'Hard political decisions would have to be taken', he warned, including closures.⁶⁴ But when the Commission submitted its draft contribution to the white paper on 29 June, closures had been demoted to second place in the list of approaches to the railways' problems and the emphasis placed on modernization. The draft argued that as branch lines already existed, as new technology promised great economies, and allowing for the importance of such services in feeding traffic to main lines, 'on balance it seems probable that a considerable proportion of the rural railway services will be retained', and 'for a long time ahead ... the fundamental pattern of routes will change only slowly'. There were no detailed proposals, just an eventual annual saving from closures of £3 million (in addition to the, still unspecified, savings from closures in the Modernisation Plan), to be achieved over six years 'by which time the process will be more or less complete as far as the present pattern of things is concerned'.⁶⁵ There seemed to be nothing here to justify a six-month review. Despite several redrafts of the section on closures, the Ministry was obliged to accept that cheaper operating methods would be tried before 'those services which cannot possibly be made economic by modern rail methods and which can be better catered for by road transport must be eliminated'. Watkinson fumed, but there was little he could do; he had to have a white paper and he could not force the BTC to give him the one he wanted.⁶⁶

Robertson's agreement to the June price freeze finally bought him the financial reconstruction he had been seeking, in the form of the Transport (Railway Finances) Act 1957. This extended the Commission's borrowing powers, allowing it to capitalize interest on railway investment for 1956–65 (i.e. to borrow to pay the interest in the same way that it borrowed the capital in the first place) for three years after the initial borrowing, to borrow to cover railway deficits of 1956–62 inclusive up to a total of £250 million and to cover interest on each of these advances during the first five years until the end of 1964. These sums and the accumulated deficit to the end of 1955 were placed in a suspense account in the Commission's books, and its much-abused requirement to break-even did not apply to them.⁶⁷ The origins of the Act were recalled several decades later by Sir Leo Pliatzky, who, in the absence on holiday of Grant, was asked to draw up the financial reconstruction of the BTC:

the Treasury Minister [on the Cabinet committee on railway policy] was the Financial Secretary [Henry Brooke] ... I never spoke to him, never saw him face to face, he never consulted me, but I used to get the minutes ... and I saw that he turned down all [the financial] proposals [put forward by Watkinson] ... The minutes of one meeting said that at the next meeting the Financial Secretary would present his own proposals, which I found rather astonishing. I had no idea what his proposals were, but nor had he! It turned out ... that I was supposed to produce his proposal for him ... I was absolutely flabbergasted. So I came up with the proposal that the BTC ... should have power to capitalize interest on their borrowing. I knew such an arrangement existed for it was provided for in the legislation for the North of Scotland Hydro-Electricity Board which is where I came across it ... I had no experience of it ... but I was in a spot.⁶⁸

Although the capitalization of interest had been raised on several occasions previously, Pliatzky's task and achievement was to draw up a version of the idea which could be defended on the basis that it was 'not a subsidy but corresponded on a massive scale to an ordinary commercial operation in which an undertaking with good prospects has to be specially financed during the period before new investments bear fruit'.⁶⁹ Treasury officials' attempts to delay action pending a proper study of the BTC's proposals were frustrated by the need to show that the review Watkinson had promised had produced results, a cause of contemporary frustration and lasting regret at the Treasury.⁷⁰ The general endorsement of the plan in 1955, which the Treasury had only accepted in the belief that it would be able to study the details later, was now deployed by Watkinson to convince his colleagues to rush through a more specific endorsement of modernization (a white paper rather than a BTC publication) and what everyone must have known would be a subsidy, without investigation by either the Treasury or outside experts:

the Government had already endorsed the modernisation plan in general terms and, unless the plan was put into effect, the Government would be open to the damaging criticism that it had, by the 1953 Transport Act, destroyed the Commission's prospects of solvency. . . . in any event, the Government could not avoid incurring very substantial expenditure on the railways for many years to come. It would be better that this should be applied constructively, rather than in financing a continuing deficit.⁷¹

A reasonable aim, but not one generally fulfilled by *Proposals for the Railways*. By the end of 1957 the modernization programme had been recosted, accelerated and expanded. One consequence of this rush to eradicate the deficit through modernization was the ordering of hundreds of untested and often unsatisfactory diesel locomotives. By the end of 1958 Watkinson had been obliged to agree to extend the limit on loans to cover the deficit and announce another review.⁷² The investment programme and the deficit were beginning to look like partners rather than alternatives.

The success of modernization

In January 1955 there was a danger that Conservative backbenchers would not tolerate the Government's funding of a pay settlement. The first achievement of modernization was to convince a joint meeting of the Party's backbench transport and labour committees that modernization, not subsidy, would fund the dispute.⁷³ This was just part of a wider political effect, summed up by *The Economist* (which was not fooled itself):

From the grime and muddle of 1955, from a very recent piece of politicking which everybody would like to forget, the public is invited to lift its eyes towards 1974. Look; there is an electric or diesel (or, just possibly, atomic) train pulling silently, briskly competitive, smog-free, out of the glistening chromium of the new King's Cross.⁷⁴

It was a railway fit for Dan Dare, yet the Government was neither committed to a firm programme of specific investment nor sure that the plan would work. Ministers had pulled off a conjuring trick, using the bright baubles of the plan to distract from a reality in which the proposal they held up as the key to solvency had at its very heart the assumption of a subsidy in the form of an interest-free loan. The casual observer would surely have concluded that the Commission had found a way out of its difficulties and, while some details needed to be worked out, the Government had agreed. In reality the Commission had admitted that it couldn't solve its financial problems, the Government had added to them and it

was hoped on all sides that at some point in the future investing in modernization would at worst improve the position and at best resolve it, although no-one knew how. The Commission expected financial help and the Government decided not to refuse it (and not to grant it). The 1956 plan, presented on the back of a written answer in the House of Commons, was very much a defensive stroke, but effectively deflected criticism of the price freeze.75 Our casual observer might now have concluded that the details left unresolved 18 months earlier had been worked out and the solution to the railways' problems had, as a result, come nearer. In reality one of the hopes of modernization, that savings could be achieved through closures, had run into difficulties, the rest remained vague and the financial problem was worse. The Government was bailing out the Commission financially but had found a way to call it a loan. Once again, the Government did not intend to 'actually sponsor the present scheme or endorse it in detail',⁷⁶ and Watkinson had made it clear to his officials and his colleagues that 'the Commission would have to do as well or better than forecast in their plan or face the consequences. This would be the time for an outside inquiry', a comment which paved the way for the Commission's demise when the finances of the 1956 white paper were revealed for the fantasy they were.⁷⁷

Conclusion

To suggest that the Government deliberately misled the nation over the state of the railways' finances would be to credit it with more control over events than it had and, although there is strong evidence that Butler's defence of the 1955 plan and Watkinson's preparation of the financial details of its successor were designed to mislead, there was a strong element of self-deception here too. Ministers' hopes that productivity improvements could help fund the 1955 pay deal were reasonable in principle but devoid of practical detail. Watkinson's hopes that he could inspire greater progress on this issue with a quick pay rise in 1956, or that closures could make a significant difference to a deficit which was consuming something like the entire saving from closures since 1948 every fortnight, do not smack of a resounding realism. Whether the presentation of these two plans as solutions to the railway deficit were acts of incompetence, deception or self-deception on ministers' part, it is clear that the mitigation on all three charges is that they were struggling to get to grips with immediate and recurring economic and industrial relations problems which seemed more important than whether investment in the railways, which was not actually going to take place immediately, would eventually eradicate their deficit. But this judgement merely emphasizes the fantasy which emerged, that the modernization plans as published in 1955 and 1956 offered the solution to the railways' financial problems. They did not, and while the BTC can be criticized for failing to produce better plans and for mismanaging the ones it had, the blame for the failure of a plan originally conceived as effectively beginning in 1960 to reduce the railway deficit by that date must lie with the Government. The one moment in the nationalized railways' history when they were offered a major investment opportunity was in fact the absolute nadir of their treatment by Government, because it eventually led the industry to be saddled with an undeserved image of failure.

At the same time a second illusion was beginning to form in the minds of ministers and officials. It was beautifully articulated by Enoch Powell in the House of Commons following the publication of the Modernisation Plan when he argued that 'there must be concealed ... in our present railway system, as a sculpture is concealed in a block of marble, the railway system of the future which does pay and does correspond to the economic needs of the country'.78 This was something beyond what Watkinson had envisaged, something more like the fundamental rethinking of the railway which was to provide the basis for the Beeching Report and the proposed 8,000-mile network; but it drew on Watkinson's idea that a closure programme could make a significant contribution to reducing the deficit. This idea remained a feature of debates over railway policy for the following 20 years. The search for a slimmer, financially solvent railway eventually revealed that if Powell's sculpture existed it was a tiny ornament not a statue. However, it was a vision which seemed increasingly sensible as the chromium dream of 1955 tarnished and it is to that development that we now turn.

4 Reappraisals

By the autumn of 1958 it was clear that the railways' financial position was diverging from the estimates in the 1956 white paper. 'No one', Sir Thomas Padmore told the Chancellor, 'knows what to do'.¹ In fact Whitehall was already on the way to working out how it would deal with the problem in the long term (in the short term it was addressed by increasing the amount the BTC could borrow under the 1957 Act). The action taken in response to the railways' slide into bankruptcy was shaped by wider policy developments relating to public expenditure and the nationalized industries discussed in this chapter; but just as those developments influenced policy towards the railways, they were themselves shaped by the growing realization that all was not well with the nationalized industries, of which the railways' problems were greatest. By 1959 the National Coal Board (NCB) had joined the BTC on the sick-list and the Treasury was also concerned about the Gas Council and the North of Scotland Hydro-Electric Board.² In terms of financial disaster, however, the BTC was in a league of its own. At the end of 1959, its revenue and unallocated reserves showed a negative balance of £350.6 million. The next worst figure was that for the NCB, with a negative balance of a mere £52 million.³ The developments discussed in this chapter took place as the extent of the BTC's financial failure was emerging.

Although a *Reappraisal* of the *Modernisation Plan*, defending its assumptions and objectives, was published as a white paper in July 1959, from 1960 there was a discernible shift in government policy towards the railways. The Government began to exercise greater control over railway investment and in September imposed a 30 per cent cut in the railways' 1961 investment programme.⁴ A Special Advisory Group (SAG), of which Dr Beeching was a member, had already been appointed to examine the railways; in December a white paper promised new legislation and in 1962 a new Transport Act abolished the BTC, replacing it with the BRB under Beeching's Chairmanship and charged with the task of breaking even as soon as possible. The 1962 Act also changed the consultative procedure governing the withdrawal of railway services in a way that was intended to facilitate the closure programme that Beeching was by now preparing. In mid-1960 the Cabinet agreed to expand the road programme at the request of Ernest Marples, who had become Minister of Transport after the General Election of October 1959 (when civil aviation was

54 Reappraisals

removed from the Ministry's control). This chapter challenges the idea that the policy changes following Marples' arrival as Minister can be attributed to his personal influence, and argues that the change in railway policy from 1960 was the culmination of developments in Whitehall pre-dating Marples' arrival: a collapse in the BTC's credibility; developments in the Treasury's attitude to the nationalized industries; a more sophisticated approach to public investment and a realization that the procedure for closing railway lines was too cumbersome. It begins with an analysis of the influence of Marples and the road lobby before examining the process of policy development between 1956 and the start of 1960, to illustrate the extent to which policy was already developed before Marples' arrival and his subsequent setting up of the SAG, which is discussed in Chapter 5.

The Marples myth

Ernest Marples stands at the centre of the David Henshaw's *Great Railway Conspiracy* in which 'the road transport lobby ... aided by the Ministry of Transport ... succeeded by the late 1960s, in bringing the railway system to its knees'. Henshaw describes Marples as 'a Minister of Transport who was not only roadbiased, but a successful road engineering contractor into the bargain', who used the railways' financial plight as 'an opportunity to humble' them.⁵ It is understandable that observers should see Marples as a key figure, not only because he was Minister at an important moment, but because he had a flair for publicity and liked to see himself and to be seen as a man of action, a doer rather than a talker or a thinker, the very model of a modern Tory minister.⁶ To Anthony Sampson he was:

an unusual British minister, much more typical of North America or Germany, and almost unique in the upper reaches of Conservatives. ... a self-made tycoon, with no political connections, and a passionate interest in business which distinguishes him from the rest of the Cabinet. He sees himself less as a politician than a technician, devoted to efficiency ... first and last a businessman ... he doesn't even pretend to be an amateur.

The son of a socialist foreman, Marples had, since leaving school at 15, risen through accountancy and property-development to run his own construction company. During the war, he rose from private to captain; after it, he began climbing the political ladder, becoming a Conservative MP in 1945, and Parliamentary Secretary to Macmillan at the Ministry of Housing in 1951. He impressed the future Prime Minister, who made him Postmaster General in 1957. At the Post Office he reorganized telephone exchanges, gave his name to the computer that picked premium bond winners and showed a flair for publicity.⁷ At Transport from October 1959, he appeared to run his department with little concern for Parliament and to have the ability 'to locate a single objective and to get there, never mind how'. Reporting to Macmillan in August 1960 he

wrote that 'the crucial point is that on all fronts we must retain the initiative and keep moving all the time'; it was no coincidence that when the cartoonist Vicky caricatured Macmillan's Cabinet as a football team, Marples was the centre-forward.⁸

It was all too easy to believe that Marples was taking a lead in transport policy making, especially as he was unable (unwisely) to conceal his dislike of Robertson, whom he offended with a dinner party performance the General found disgusting, and carelessly upset the rail industry by the tone of an anecdote he told at the 1960 Conservative conference about a crane he had once had moved by train, some part of which the railways had lost.⁹ In fact he had a fairly stormy relationship with the roads lobby at times, provoking a split in the Roads Campaign Council in 1963.¹⁰ Questions over his integrity add to the belief that he dictated an anti-rail policy. There is no evidence that he was engaged in out-and-out corruption, but he certainly showed a carelessness towards the rules when they impinged on his personal convenience. After Macmillan's departure, he fell foul of the Cabinet Secretary over an attempt to import wine from his French vineyard and rumours of an exotic private life abounded among his colleagues.¹¹

Marples' share in the construction firm Marples Ridgeway has been a key part of the Beeching myth, because the firm built roads.¹² Marples became Minister of Transport while owning some 80 per cent of Marples Ridgeway. He had resigned as managing director in November 1951, shortly after he became a junior minister, and had received no payment from the firm since then other than expenses; however, by 1960 his share of the firm had come to be worth something in the region of £350,000-£400,000.13 Once Marples became Minister of Transport, the firm's involvement in road-building was clearly in breach of the rule that ministers must not allow a conflict of interest to arise or appear to arise between their official and private work. Matters came to a head in January 1960 when the Evening Standard reported that Marples Ridgeway had won the contract for the Hammersmith Flyover. The potential embarrassment was increased by the fact that a lower tender from another firm had been rejected (for the entirely proper reason that it had not matched the specifications for the job). The tender was in fact handled by the LCC, not the Ministry of Transport (MoT), although MoT engineers endorsed the council's rejection of the lower tender.¹⁴ In fact Marples had begun arranging to sell his share of the firm in October 1959. However, he initially arranged to do so in a way which left him open to the charge that Mr Ridgeway was acting as an agent to ensure Marples could buy back the shares when he left office (giving Marples an incentive to see the firm do well). This was prevented by the Attorney General and, having sold his shares, Marples was careful to ensure that any contracts awarded by the Ministry to his old firm were approved by other ministers.¹⁵ Given that Marples had no inherited wealth to fall back on if he lost office, and bearing in mind that precisely this concern led Watkinson to consider leaving politics in 1955 and to tell Macmillan in 1962 that he would not be able to devote all his time to serving on the opposition front bench if the Conservatives lost the next election,¹⁶ it was perhaps an understandable error of judgement on Marples' part. It was a significant one, however. What it was not was evidence that Marples influenced transport policy for personal gain because, as we shall see in this chapter, transport policy was already changing course when Marples arrived at the Ministry.

The road lobby

There is no question that Marples was an enthusiastic road-builder, as were his two predecessors. Late in 1954 the Ministry had sought approval for an annual road programme of £60 million per annum but had been left with one of £40 million. By 1957, it had concluded that roads should be improved to accommodate a 75 per cent increase on the traffic levels of 1954 by 1970.¹⁷ In fact throughout the 1950s the Ministry's estimates of future traffic levels were too low; the level predicted for 1970 had been reached by 1962.¹⁸ Throughout 1957, Watkinson, who believed his 'first priority was obviously that of getting a national road programme moving at any cost', pressed for more road spending.¹⁹ By the time Marples arrived, the annual cost of the roads programme for England and Wales had reached £60 million and the Ministry was pressing for £90 million.²⁰ Preparing a list of topics for consideration by the new Government prior to the 1959 General Election, Treasury officials expected an expansion of the road programme to be 'the first priority of the next Minister of Transport'.²¹ Pressure from the roads lobby undoubtedly encouraged Boyd-Carpenter and Watkinson to act.²² Mick Hamer has shown that organizations such as the British Roads Federation (BRF) made great efforts during the 1950s to encourage motorway building. However, while he makes a reasonable case for the view that the lobby influenced the pattern of motorways and the order of priorities within the roads programme, he does not show that it achieved an unwarranted diversion of funds away from rail towards road-building and his suggestion that 'there is scant evidence of any public concern' over the inadequacies of Britain's roads is unconvincing.²³ By 1959 there was a cross-party consensus on the need for new roads and the 'pathetic inadequacy' of the road system was clear enough for Michael Robbins to comment on it in his 1962 history of The Railway Age.²⁴ The strength of a group such as the Roads Campaign Council was at least in part a consequence of the wide variety of road users affiliated to it, including the AA, RAC, RHA and public road transport operators.²⁵ Even critics such as Political and Economic Planning, which stressed the role of public transport, raised the need for congestion charging and questioned the prioritization of inter-urban motorways within the road programme, did not suggest that these roads should not be built and accepted that investment in road transport was long overdue.²⁶ Less-thoughtful critics attacked Marples' perceived failure to improve road conditions with a campaign of car stickers that read 'Marples Must Go', while official attempts to tackle urban congestion by introducing parking meters led one motorist to saw a meter off its stand in north London and hurl it through the front window of the Minister's west London home.²⁷ Indeed, given that the Attlee Government had announced a ten-year plan to build 800 miles of motorway in 1946, that Britain's first motorway did not open until December 1958, that by the time *Reshaping* was published only 194 miles were open and that before 1960 the Ministry consistently underestimated future traffic levels, the lobby's efforts do not seem to have been very successful.²⁸ The support given to the railways' investment plans even after 1960, when spending remained higher than in the first half of the 1950s, further undermines the idea that the road lobby was dictating transport policy.

This is not to say that it had no influence. Clearly the BRF's campaign contributed to the pressure for road-building. Equally clearly, the RHA influenced policy in the early 1950s and it had a good relationship with the road transport division of the MTCA, which ensured that it was given the opportunity to give evidence to the SAG. The RHA's fear when the establishment of the SAG was announced was that it would lead to restrictions on road transport to benefit the railways, which it felt enjoyed 'widespread general sympathy'. It complained that taxes paid by hauliers were being used to subsidize their chief competitor, which was also cross-subsidizing freight services to undercut hauliers by carrying traffic at less than cost price, an allegation it was able to support with examples. At a meeting with Marples in March 1960, RHA representatives called for a study of 'true comparative costs as between road and rail' in the clear belief that such a study would support the case for allowing road haulage to grow and reducing rail investment. Rather than conspiring to do down the railways through some underhand deal, the RHA was confident in its members' ability to win traffic from them through what it saw as fair competition.²⁹

In 1959 the Treasury agreed to set up a study on the potential growth of the motor-car industry and its economic implications in response to requests from the Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders (SMMT) and representatives of motor-industry unions. The SMMT hoped that this inquiry would lead to a greater appreciation of the motor industry's importance and consequently to more account being taken in Whitehall and Westminster of its needs.³⁰ The committee fulfilled the SMMT's hopes in as much as it recognized that:

the progress of the motor industry is clearly a matter of very great interest to the Government both because of its economic importance and its physical and social effects. Through the investment which it has recently agreed to undertake in areas of local unemployment it has now become an important instrument of the Government's employment policy. It forms a valuable source of revenue.³¹

Should we take this conclusion or the study's use of SMMT predictions of future traffic levels as indicative of the pernicious influence of the road lobby on transport policy? Clearly the SMMT had its own agenda, but so too did the Treasury, which had hoped to use the study to consider whether to slow down the rate of the industry's growth in response to the social costs of increasing car traffic. That this was not the outcome was partly a result of the Ministry's inability to calculate what the social costs were and chiefly of the impossibility of

restricting road traffic. As Marples' glaziers could testify, restricting car usage or ownership was politically difficult in the early 1960s. Any party committed to such a policy risked losing the votes of the 750,000 working in the industry, existing motorists and those affluent workers saving for their first car, the purchase of which fuelled 'a feeling of modernity and adventure that would never be won so easily again' in Booker's view. It also reflected the fact that in 1960 the motor-car industry's contribution to the economy and the railway industry's decline both seemed fairly obvious. Officials felt the SMMT's predictions of future car-ownership levels were in fact too low, while the difficulties the motor-car industry was suffering at the time were not apparent until the 1970s.³²

The RHA and the SMMT must have been generally satisfied with the trend of policy in 1960, but the problem in attributing a decisive influence to the road lobby in bringing it about is that its arguments tended to be backed up by the available evidence. The crucial factor in explaining the shift of policy in 1960 was that investing in roads seemed likely to reduce congestion, while investing in rail did not, nor did it seem that the BTC's investment programme would reduce a deficit which was out of control by 1958. Whatever one makes of this view, it was based on the best analysis Whitehall could make of future transport needs and how to meet them and the process by which officials reached this conclusion is described in the rest of this chapter. At the same time as they attempted to study transport needs, civil servants were becoming increasingly disturbed by the apparent failings of the BTC and of the TUCC procedure. These processes were well underway by the time Marples arrived and, in contrast to Sampson's description of him as a doer rather than a thinker, Sir James Dunnett, Marples' Permanent Secretary at the MoT, recalled him as being:

a great publicist, and he was interested in new ideas, but he had not much effect as far as the railways were concerned ... he wasn't awfully good at following through ... it's difficult to put your finger on what he actually achieved.³³

Dunnett's comment may underestimate Marples' influence in one particular respect. Marples was fascinated by the prospect of rebuilding urban Britain to accommodate the motor car and was heavily influenced by Professor Colin Buchanan's 1958 book *Mixed Blessing: The Motor in Britain*. Marples appointed Buchanan to produce a report, *Traffic in Towns*, which was published in November 1963 and put forward expensive proposals for reconstructing cities to cope with traffic. Buchanan's appointment and report helped fuel a conflict in transport policy advice between physical planners and economists which was to fester over the following decade. With the benefit of hindsight one can argue that Buchanan's report was detrimental in diverting attention from the need to develop a pricing mechanism for road use, by raising the false prospect that the car could be physically accommodated. However, Buchanan's work was also vital in bringing home the scale of the problem to the public.³⁴ None of this was the result of an anti-rail bias on Marples' part, even if one takes it as reflecting

his background in construction. What it does reflect is the difficulties that arose from the fact that Whitehall was, as this chapter will show, starting almost from scratch in attempting to address a revolution in transport patterns as it developed.

The modernization of the nationalized industries

Just as the changes in railway policy only became apparent from 1960, the most obvious manifestations of the Treasury's 'great reappraisal' appeared in 1960 and 1961, but had their origins in the mid-1950s. The key factor was a determination within the Treasury to regain the control it felt it had lost over public expenditure. Increased spending on social services and the nationalized industries following the end of the Korean War imposed new financial and administrative tasks on the state, the most important of which was the need to consider this spending in terms of the national economy. If public expenditure continued to grow faster than the economy when the windfall from reduced defence expenditure after the ceasefire in Korea was used up, then eventually a financial crisis was inevitable. However, the existing machinery of investment control, under which a public spending total emerged from an annual series of individual discussions with departments (such as those which had failed to shed much light on the Modernisation Plan in 1955) did not provide an effective mechanism for limiting these totals. The annual budget was also a blunt instrument of economic management in that when a crisis loomed and cuts were called for, it was difficult to know where they should sensibly be made and instead flat-rate percentage cuts were demanded from departments, whose spending programmes often lacked the flexibility to achieve them. The Treasury sought to address this problem through the introduction from 1961 of the Public Expenditure Survey Committee (PESC), a rolling spending programme covering a five-year period and involving a limit on total spending rather than allowing a total to emerge from the accumulation of departmental desires. The same year saw the publication of a white paper on Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries, which indicated a move to setting firmer and clearer financial objectives for the nationalized boards, a blueprint applied to the railways under the Transport Act 1962.35

The move to a longer-term investment perspective began in the mid-1950s when the Treasury created a Home and Overseas Planning Staff (HOPS) under Richard 'Otto' Clarke, who had recently failed in an attempt to limit future social services spending to a percentage of national income. At the same time, parliamentary concern over the performance of the nationalized industries led to the establishment of a Select Committee on the nationalized industries, the reports of which fuelled further concern.³⁶ Treasury worries over the growth of public spending during 1956 and 1957 preceded the completion by HOPS in 1957 of the first Long-Term Investment Review, a rolling annual survey of public investment covering five years with firm figures for the first three, and the first Long-Term Economic Assessment.³⁷ The origins of PESC lay in the 1958
report on Treasury Control of Expenditure by the House of Commons Select Committee on Estimates which recommended an inquiry. The Plowden Committee on the Control of Public Expenditure was consequently set up in the summer of 1959 and its report, most of which was written by Clarke, led to the establishment of PESC.³⁸

The development of more effective Treasury control of public expenditure clearly required more than simply expanding the investment timescale under consideration. As Clarke put it, the key question was 'if the Government can afford to lend only X, how can it rationally allocate the X, without going behind the borrowing to the investment?' (an approach which implied a fundamental departure from the attitudes which inhibited Treasury questioning of the BTC in 1955–6, described in the previous chapter). Given this, how could the Treasury judge investment in areas such as transport without some idea of future levels of demand? How too could it allocate X without a clear idea of what ends the spending of nationalized boards were supposed to achieve? And how could it control investment rather than borrowing? The Treasury's concern over public spending led logically, therefore, to a series of studies of long-term demand in various sectors, including transport, to provide some kind of guide to investment allocation. It also led officials to conclude that the nationalized boards must be given clearer financial and economic criteria. This last point was established in Treasury minds when in 1958 HOPS expanded the Long-Term Economic Assessment exercise it had pioneered the previous year to form a strategic review of how consumption and civil public expenditure might fit into a longterm assumption of a 2.5 per cent growth in GDP.³⁹

Officials were provided with an opportunity to act on these views by ministers' desire to produce a distinctive policy on nationalization. In December 1958 Rab Butler, the chair of the Conservative Research Department's committee on nationalized industries, Lord Mills, the Minister of Fuel and Power, and Watkinson asked Macmillan to set up a committee of officials to look at the nationalized industries. The Conservatives wanted proposals to increase decentralization and commercialization to put forward at the next election. Watkinson wanted to encourage the boards to hive-off some activities and to begin transferring their finance to the private sector, so that the Conservatives could 'oppose nationalisation with denationalisation which makes it a nice simple issue for the average voter'.⁴⁰ In January 1959 a committee of officials chaired by Treasury second secretary Sir Thomas Padmore, of which Clarke was a member, was established to consider these ideas. Although the Padmore committee's terms of reference only covered organizational matters, its members shoehorned their own agenda into the report they produced in June 1959 by arguing that organization could not be satisfactorily resolved unless the industries' financial problems were addressed first. The Treasury pushed for greater power to limit the number of unremunerative investment schemes the nationalized boards could embark upon and the setting of clear financial targets in the form of a rate of return. The committee's report argued that these should be published, as should any ministerial intervention which significantly impaired a board's ability to meet its target, a recommendation which reflected officials' desire to reduce government interventions of the sort discussed in the previous chapters.⁴¹

The logic behind this proposal was set out in the 1961 white paper, which argued that if the nationalized industries' prices were too low, demand for their services would be artificially stimulated, thereby increasing their investment requirements. As the industries were failing to fund their own investments, such demand would restrict the finance available for profitable private investment and damage the economy. The Padmore committee's report was tentative and its translation into a published white paper was delayed by the General Election and by ministers' reluctance to accept a policy that would restrict their freedom to use the nationalized sector as a means of holding down inflation. Nevertheless, the prioritization of financial criteria evident in the Transport Act 1962 originated from this report. This was not an outright rejection of the railways' social role but a means of exercising some kind of control over their operation and in particular their investment programme. It was particularly relevant to Beeching's closure programme, as we shall see in the following chapter, because Beeching's apparent disregard of the social consequences of closures was in fact a reflection of this new division of responsibility, under which the BRB told the Government what it wanted to do as a business pursuing financial objectives and the Government decided how far this should be modified by social need. The Padmore committee's report recognized that the railways could not be expected to earn a return in the short term and, as we shall see, did not rule out the payment of subsidies for specific services, while the 1961 white paper argued that, given the traditionally low rate of return expected of regulated public utility monopolies and the social role of the nationalized sector, the boards should not be expected to yield the same rate of return as private investment.⁴² The new policy towards the nationalized industries was therefore part of the Treasury's adaptation to its new responsibility for the boards' investment borrowing. The shape it took reflected Whitehall's growing knowledge of the nationalized industries, including the BTC and its modernization programme; knowledge which owed much to the attempt to get to grips with future transport needs.

The modernization of transport planning

Clarke's hope that the Commission's 1956 plan could be examined in relation to the wider economy and other public investment was frustrated by the rush to publish it, but in its wake HOPS determined to find out more from the BTC about the estimates behind the plan and, when this led nowhere, established a working party of officials from the Treasury, Ministry and the Central Statistical Office (CSO) in June 1957 to conduct a survey of long-term transport requirements, covering the period to 1970.⁴³ As the first transport study of its kind within Whitehall,⁴⁴ the long-term survey faced insurmountable obstacles and had difficulty in making predictions even for 1960. Problems included the lack of road statistics, discounting the abnormal trends of the post-war years and the difficulty of estimating the impact of better roads, railway investment and the

62 Reappraisals

Commission's new merchandise charges scheme. In charting the growth of road freight, the report relied on one survey carried out over a week in 1952 and multiplied the average ton/mileage carried by each class of vehicle by the number of vehicles licensed in that class in each year between 1948 and 1956. These statistics could not be broken down by different types of cargo. Rail freight statistics were more plentiful, but even these could only be divided between coal, minerals and merchandise/livestock. The state of information on passenger traffic was even worse. Not only were figures scant, but it was unclear which ones would be relevant (for example, how were commuting peaks to be treated?); and officials were unable to answer the question 'what common unit can be used to measure commuting, pleasure motoring and flying?¹⁴⁵

Significantly, it was the railways not the road lobby that had a man on the inside. The BTC, anxious to ensure the report backed up its own estimates, had a representative added to the group studying future demands at an early stage and pressed for favourable amendments to the final report.⁴⁶ Unsurprisingly, the report generally accepted the BTC's arguments. However, it did raise doubts in Treasury minds about the basis for railway investment, which seemed to be related to quality of service rather than demand; it concluded that the Ministry's estimates of demand for road space were too low; it indicated the possible advantages of formulating a plan for roads and studying its effect on the railways and it exposed very clearly the inadequacy of the Ministry's statistical and planning machinery, to which Clarke later attributed the failure of the initiative.⁴⁷ The study had shown that demand could be met 'by any number of combinations of road and rail investment plans' and the Treasury view on the right combination would depend on the answers to two questions which the report had been unable to address: how to assess the return on investment in roads; and whether the railways could compete profitably with road transport.48

The 1957 report signalled the start of an erosion of confidence in the railways' modernization programme. Clarke's under-secretary, Matthew Stevenson, was dissatisfied with the projection that the vast capital expense of the modernization programme would only increase railway freight traffic by 11 per cent and passenger traffic by 7 per cent and argued that it was 'a mistake to go on treating capital as the cheapest and most plentiful commodity in the United Kingdom and as the main way out of all our difficulties'. He put forward a choice between encouraging more traffic onto the railways to maximize the return on their investment and slowing down the rate of investment.⁴⁹ A study of the case for road building was conducted as the next step, but while this raised doubts about the methods used to justify road investment it was unable to come to any definitive conclusion. The need to adjust the short-term investment programme to a run on the pound in the autumn of 1957 distracted everyone's attention before the parallel questioning of the BTC on the effect of slowing down the programme could begin.⁵⁰ However, by the early summer of 1958, Clarke, influenced by the financial difficulties of American railways, was moving towards the conclusion that 'capital investment is not the cure-all ... the evidence points increasingly to the need for cutting down the whole system to what is commercially viable on a basis to charge what the traffic will bear'.⁵¹ Once the Treasury started to see total transport demand as something which could be met by alternative combinations of road and rail investment, the railways were in trouble, because the first of Stevenson's options, encouraging traffic to use rail by restricting road transport, was always likely to run into political difficulties (as it did when Labour attempted it a decade later) and the second became increasingly attractive. As this belief took hold in Whitehall, the justification for investing in rail depended increasingly on the hope that it would reduce the railways' deficit. Unfortunately faith in this prospect was fading.

Scepticism about railway investment was fuelled during preparation of the Long-Term Investment Review in the summer of 1958. In May Ministry officials admitted that, despite pressure from the Minister, they had never been shown the regions' investment returns to the BTC and therefore could not explain why the cost of modernization had increased to £1,660 million.⁵² When the Commission's representatives were questioned the following month, they admitted that they had no knowledge of regional investment proposals between one annual submission and the next and so could not provide details of the £210 million they wanted to spend in 1960 until the end of 1958 when they had the regional estimates. Moreover they found it difficult 'to keep track of the revenue position in the regions with a view to action to correct deficits'. The most significant revelation, however, was that figure of £1,660 million did not represent the final cost of the modernization plan, just the latest estimate of what it was thought desirable to spend by 1970, and it did not cover everything the BTC would want to do in the later part of the period.53 When the long-term transport study had been considered the previous year, the prospect of railway investment declining after 1964, as the peak of spending on modernization passed, had been a point in favour of allowing it to continue, and the picture of an almost openended spending programme for which neither the BTC nor the Ministry could make a really convincing case was significantly less attractive. By the summer of 1958 there was talk of cutting the programme for 1960–1.54

The closure agenda

As the Treasury's scepticism over railway modernization began to increase, so the Ministry renewed its interest in a programme of closures. The 'almost pitiful' savings from this source in 1957 were already dismaying Watkinson and his officials when they found themselves obliged to produce a new set of savings to justify another capitulation to the NUR in May 1958.⁵⁵ Anxious to avoid taking on the railwaymen at the same time as the London bus drivers, the Cabinet was nevertheless determined to maintain the appearance that the cost of the settlement had been met by new savings. It also sought to defuse the pay issue by setting up an inquiry under the academic Claude Guillebaud. Guillebaud's inquiry helped end the 1958 dispute and avoid one arising in 1959, but at the price of the inquiry's developing a political momentum which virtually guaranteed a major pay award in 1960 and the prospect of this increased the pressure to reduce the deficit.⁵⁶

64 Reappraisals

By the time this settlement was reached some members of the CTCC (in particular its secretary, J. C. Chambers, and the representatives of trade and industry), aware that modernization was no universal panacea, were pushing for a more extensive closure programme.⁵⁷ When R. G. M. Street, the chair of the Wales and Monmouth Committee, saw figures showing how few people actually used some services, he was 'very shaken by what I saw'; so much so that he immediately proposed that the BTC be allowed to submit lists of cases which it felt required no further investigation to the TUCCs, who would then agree to the immediate suspension of services for six months, pending further study. However, the BTC was still unwilling to incur public displeasure by mounting a rigorous attack on unremunerative lines and saw timetable alterations that reduced services to the legal minimum as a possible alternative to closure.⁵⁸

With even some of the watchdogs barking that the procedure was too slow, it seemed that at last Watkinson might succeed in accelerating the railways' contraction. However, criticism of the closure procedure was reaching such a pitch that virtually any change that did not halt closures was bound to be treated with suspicion. The South Eastern Area TUCC had been so heavily criticized by MPs for its supposed unfairness in the Bluebell case that it was still refusing to hold meetings when the CTCC report on the case exonerated it in February 1958. That summer the role of the BTC members of the North Western TUCC in the Coniston branch case, whose votes provided the majority in favour of closure, brought such discredit on the whole process that the Commission instructed its representatives to refrain from voting in future.⁵⁹ Both Street's suggestion and the use of closure by timetable were vetoed because of the suspicion they were likely to arouse and a list of the closures that would produce the £500,000 saving promised as part of the pay award merely confirmed official suspicions that the proposals were half-baked and deflated expectations of an increase in the committees' workload. Of the 32 lines on the list, only eight or nine would close completely and seven of these had lost their passenger services some years previously.⁶⁰ The mess the BTC had made of the Bluebell case had led the CTCC to ask for more detailed and defensible figures in support of future proposals in the hope that this would restrict the time spent arguing over the financial case for closure and allow greater emphasis to be placed on discussion of hardship and alternative services. The BTC only agreed to this after months of haggling motivated by its fear that more detailed figures would expose it to increased criticism from objectors and would take longer to prepare, fears that seem to have been borne out.⁶¹

Watkinson attempted to keep things moving, urging the Commission, the committees and the local authorities to accelerate their parts of the procedure.⁶² He agreed to publicly state that the BTC was under no obligation to ensure that alternative services were available following closure and did so twice in July, telling the House of Commons that 'the railways are no longer a monopolistic organization with an obligation to provide all sections of the community with a railway service ... [and] the Commission is under no obligation to provide an alternative service'.⁶³ Unfortunately, performing in the House was not

Watkinson's strongest point, and, in attempting to reassure opposition members that passengers' needs would not be totally ignored, he confused matters by implying, wrongly, that the TUCCs had a statutory duty to take alternative services into account when judging closure proposals.⁶⁴ Not only did this detract from the intended effect but it illustrated the point that unless someone was prepared to stand up and risk the wrath of those who opposed closures, a strategy of cutting the deficit by this means was not going to get very far.

The collapse of faith in railway modernization

There was, then, already an atmosphere of scepticism over investment and pressure for closures, when, in September 1958, it became clear that the Commission's performance was making a nonsense of the path to solvency set out in Proposals.⁶⁵ In an exchange of letters published in November, Robertson and Watkinson agreed that the deficit had risen because of a slump in coal and minerals traffic. Robertson argued that this was a temporary phenomenon beyond the Commission's control and stuck to his view that modernization was the best way out of the red.⁶⁶ Armed with the information gleaned from its recent efforts to establish future transport needs, the Treasury was unconvinced. Officials suspected that the decline in coal traffic would not be reversed when the economy picked up and this called into question the BTC's assurances about railway competitiveness, which had provided the basis of the 1957 study's estimates of the future distribution of freight between road and rail.⁶⁷ Watkinson announced in December that the Commission would produce a reappraisal of its position. Remembering 1956, the Treasury made a determined effort to investigate the BTC's position itself, and Watkinson was only able to assert his department's independence because a series of personnel changes had increased its credibility.⁶⁸ In particular, James Dunnett had arrived in preparation for his replacing Gilmour Jenkins as Permanent Secretary in April 1959. One former colleague felt that Dunnett 'changed the whole attitude of the Ministry, which had been pretty fuddy-duddy under Gilmour Jenkins, ... by a prodigious effort of will'. He certainly impressed the Treasury and Cabinet Secretary Sir Norman Brook, while abandoning his predecessor's tendency to support Robertson and to have been relatively untroubled by the railways' position.⁶⁹ The top post was not the only one to change hands: Ira Wild's departure as Financial Director, which preceded Dunnett's arrival, and the arrival of Raymond Le Goy and Terence Bird as assistant secretary and under secretary responsible for the railways, respectively, helped change attitudes and reduce Sir Reginald Wilson's influence at the Ministry (although it is impossible to divorce these developments from the effect of the BTC's failing credibility).⁷⁰

Watkinson was determined that the Commission 'must not dodge the issue of the future size and shape of the railway system related to road traffic growth and changing patterns of industry. This must be a <u>great deal</u> smaller than anything envisaged up to the present'.⁷¹ Claiming that only through closures could they achieve the economies Watkinson demanded, the BTC sought to use this as an

opportunity to bypass the consultative procedure and close small stations without consultation. But the consultative committees, suspecting an attempt to withdraw entire services by closing all the stations involved, would not agree. Watkinson's statements the previous summer had demoralized some committee members who felt that there seemed to be no circumstances in which they could reject a proposal and despaired of ever winning the confidence of the public, while others complained of overwork.⁷² Watkinson's efforts produced quicker decisions, a record estimated annual saving of over £900,000 and the first really large closure proposal, the Midland and Great Northern, a duplicate route snaking through the unspoilt countryside between the Midlands and the Norfolk coast. However, like the Hull and Barnsley line, the closure of which was also proposed in 1959, this was such a profligate scheme in the first place that it should never have survived to be nationalized, and the Commission and the regions were still felt to be dragging their feet.⁷³ Although the Commission's Reappraisal referred to a possible reduction of 1,800 route miles and 1,000 passenger and goods stations, this would not be complete until 1963 and while the London Midland and Western regions put forward fairly extensive proposals (the former intending to close 700 miles to passenger traffic), the Southern and Scottish regions offered little and the Eastern and North Eastern Regions' comments were vague.74

By mid-1959 Watkinson had accepted that the Commission would not achieve the economies he had demanded in response to the 1958 deficit.75 However, £10 million here or there on the 1959 deficit was merely a sideshow to the battle for which the Treasury and a re-invigorated Ministry were gearing themselves. The investigation that should have taken place in 1955 or 1956 would not be evaded in 1959 and this time Whitehall would be armed not only with determination but with the lessons gleaned from the interest it had taken in the future pattern of transport demand over the previous two years. Its knowledge may have been sketchy, but it was enough to undermine any idea that the Commission could carry on with business as usual. In December 1958, Dunnett told the Treasury that he wanted a study of future transport needs to see 'just how large a railway system we really needed'.⁷⁶ The Ministry began a study of what the railways' future position was likely to be, by extrapolating existing trends on the basis of a variety of alternative assumptions and then asking what measures would be necessary to bridge the gap between these results and the break-even point.77 Kenneth Glover had raised doubts about the railways' prospects over a number of years (including during the 1957 study) but with little response, despite mounting evidence based on statistical trends.⁷⁸ Now, like the Treasury, the upper levels of the Ministry were more receptive to this kind of warning. By the end of January, Glover had produced a paper based on three different sets of assumptions about the economy and the railways' performance, which concluded that 'there is no prospect of profitable employment for a railway system of the size the Modernisation Plan is creating', and estimated an overall loss in 1970 of between £247 million and £432 million.79 Watkinson, who was expecting Guillebaud to report in May or June, was now contemplating major reform: tighter control of lower levels of investment; greater decentralization; a restructuring of the BTC's finances and, presaging the SAG that Marples would establish the following year and which brought Beeching onto the scene, the appointment of an industrialist, a chartered accountant and the head of Canadian Pacific Railways to consider the Commission's reappraisal.⁸⁰

During the spring of 1959, analysis of road and rail freight statistics for 1958 showed rail freight declining at an increasing rate and an increase in road freight in almost inverse proportion; while the economy was becoming more transport efficient (i.e. the rate of growth of freight traffic relative to the growth of GDP was declining). As a result, the 1957 study's estimate of future rail traffic was reduced, suggesting that the railways would be carrying only 5 per cent more freight in 1970 than in 1958, while the pressure on road space would be only marginally less than originally forecast, as road freight accounted for barely 40 per cent of the road space occupied by all vehicles. Reduced estimates of coal output for 1965 spelt worse news for rail freight. By the end of July it seemed clear that the deterioration in the BTC's position during 1958 was generally in line with traffic trends which had been disguised in 1956 and 1957 by the effects of the Suez crisis, rather than a consequence of the recession (a view supported by the railways' performance in early 1959), that the economy's transport efficiency was likely to improve still further, with an increasing proportion of freight being carried by road, and that the BTC had over-estimated its ability to win freight back to the railways.⁸¹

The *Reappraisal* claimed to have demonstrated 'that the Modernisation Plan drawn up four years ago, and the financial appreciation made in the White Paper of 1956, were soundly based'. Attributing the failure to fulfil the predictions in the 1956 white paper to factors outside the Commission's control, it simply wrote-off 1958 as an aberration and moved the break-even date back a year to 1963. This convinced no-one in Whitehall. Officials found it vague on what had gone wrong, on how the 1955 plan had changed, on how individual investments related to the whole and on closure policy. They feared that investment aimed at maintaining the railways' share of general freight 'suggests large expenditure on a task which may be hopeless and indeed pointless'.⁸² It was now clear to Ministry officials that:

there are wide ranges of activity carried on by the railways which do not pay and these activities can now be fairly well identified ... cutting out these activities would seem to be a much more promising line of approach to railway solvency than further heavy investment. It is certainly difficult to see why the Commission should make any effort to increase merchandise and stopping passenger traffic in the way that the plan contemplates.⁸³

Aware that the BTC's problems went deeper than the *Reappraisal* admitted, the Government published it as a white paper in July, without endorsement, and asked officials to study it in detail, bearing in mind the conclusions of the Padmore committee's report on the nationalized industries.⁸⁴

68 Reappraisals

The outcome of this study was an acknowledgement that the BTC could never repay its debts and a decision to exercise greater control over a smaller railway investment programme. It fell to Marples to implement these conclusions, but he was in no way responsible for producing them. The Ministry conducted a series of diplomatically phrased interrogations of the Commission and produced a report two days before the 1959 General Election. Its conclusion that the BTC's working surplus in 1963 would be $\pounds 35-50$ million, not the $\pounds 50-100$ million the BTC had claimed, seems wildly optimistic given the BRB's operating loss of over £80 million in 1963, but the important point was that the anticipated surpluses would be too low to meet the increase in the BTC's expenses as the interest-free period on the loans for modernization began to expire. This left Dunnett, as the person responsible to the House of Commons Public Accounts Committee, in a 'most unsatisfactory' position, because there was no legislative authorization for the Commission to receive grants rather than loans.⁸⁵ The Ministry's report was the basis for a joint memorandum produced with the Treasury early in 1960. This brought out the fact that the Commission calculated the return on its investments only on the 'betterment' element of its investment (the cost of modernizing a particular facility minus the cost of maintaining it at existing standards) and detailed the full horror of the post-1963 position: a return on investment of under 2 per cent; interest payable under the existing debt structure rising from £90 million in 1963 to £145 million by 1968; a total interest burden of £200 million in 1968 if investment continued at the current rate, requiring a £100 million improvement in the Commission's annual performance between 1963 and 1968. Finally, Guillebaud's report on pay was 'likely to lead to a substantial increase in railway wages which may by itself invalidate the Commission's forecast'.⁸⁶

If this was a bleak prospect, the investigation, supported by a study of the 1960–2 BTC investment programme, painted an even darker picture for the future of railway modernization, throwing up all sorts of information that the Ministry's statistics division had been after for years, which decisively strengthened the suspicion that the railways had overestimated the amount of traffic they could win back from the roads and that investment proposals were based on technical, operational or social, rather than financial considerations. Now the first inklings that the financial case for the flagship electrification of the Euston to Manchester main line was weaker than Whitehall had been led to believe began to appear and fears that the Commission was simply spending as much as it could (and the Government could be persuaded to part with) were not allayed by the news that it wanted to invest £1,000 million on top of the £1,660 million cost of modernization by 1970. Far from offering a route to solvency, the modernization programme was producing such a poor return that it seemed more likely to add to the Commission's debts.⁸⁷

What to do

The investigation of the *Reappraisal* did not take place in a vacuum. At the Ministry a long-term road planning group had been established in 1957 and by 1959

its studies had provided considerable support for the existing motorway programme and for an expansion of it. When, in December 1959, Marples began pressing the Prime Minister for more roads spending, he was acting on the basis of the Ministry's work rather than his own whim.⁸⁸ The five-year 'rolling' nature of the road programme which emerged was in line with the development of public expenditure management described earlier in this chapter. At the Treasury, Clarke had not abandoned his belief in the need for a coordinated approach to road and rail investment and, as part of the study of motor industry prospects, officials took another look at the economic case for road-building. This argued that as car ownership would inevitably grow and as the trend of traffic appeared to be from rail to road, demands for spending on motorways could not be ignored and, if met, would call into question the competitiveness of the railways. Although officials still wanted a viable system of comparing road and rail investment and were unconvinced by the Road Research Laboratory's methods for justifying road schemes, Whitehall opinion was now increasingly moving towards the view that investment in the railways should enable them to do 'as economically as possible what only they can do and no more', and that 'no railway line outside the main network should be kept open where public road transport can do the job', although this was not yet policy.⁸⁹

In March 1960 Marples' request for a five-year road programme was referred to a committee of officials under Padmore which reported in July 1960 that the five-year motorway programme, while desirable in principle, should not be settled until a clearer picture of railway investment had emerged. However, the Cabinet's economic policy committee concluded that expanding the road programme would bring quick economic benefits through reducing congestion and accidents and the Cabinet gave Marples most of the funds he wanted for 1961-2 and 1962-3.90 Although the economic case for providing better roads for motorists was weak, the congestion those motorists caused was damaging the economically significant road freight industry, which carried more than half the nation's goods, and even a 10 per cent increase in railway passenger and freight traffic (which seemed unlikely) would reduce road traffic by only 5 per cent on 1959 levels.⁹¹ Further support for this policy was provided by the pioneering costbenefit study of the first section of the M1 published in 1960 and the positive public reaction to this first long stretch of British motorway. It was only when the Greater London Council (GLC) attempted to carve a swathe through urban London in the late 1960s that opposition to motorways took off.⁹² In 1960, therefore, the choice seemed to lie between watching the roads grind to an unpopular halt and increasing efforts to reduce congestion through road building, so the case for road building was a combination of the political (responding to motorists' complaints about congestion) and economic (speeding up road freight). This shift of emphasis may have been what the road lobby wanted and may have been encouraged by its lobbying, but it was first and foremost a consequence of what Whitehall had learned from its investigations into transport since 1956.

The outcome of the investigations into the BTC in 1959 was Dunnett's paper on 'the railway problem' in January 1960, warning ministers that the BTC was most unlikely to cover its capital charges in 1963 and even less likely in subsequent years, and drawing attention to the increasingly urgent need to decide what the Government's policy on the BTC should be.⁹³ 'The first essential step' wrote Dunnett, 'is that we should make it clear to the BTC that we will have to approve in detail their capital investment programmes for the future. This will give us control over the parts of the railway system that are to be modernised'. Dunnett felt the betterment justification for investment was 'absurd, if not dishonest' and that if the investment programme could be justified at all, it was on grounds of national interest, which should be decided by the Government rather than the Commission. Dunnett's juniors had argued for a cut of £35 million in the BTC's 1960 investment programme, but, anxious to avoid a row, he recommended one of £20 million and further discussions with the BTC about the justification for the major schemes (although he thought even this was likely to cause trouble).⁹⁴ This was the course adopted. Marples wrote to Robertson in February telling him that schemes costing over £250,000 would now be subject to ministerial approval.95 This was a logical response to what the Ministry had learned in the preceding 12 months, but it also drew on the desire of the Padmore committee to increase ministerial supervision of nationalized industry investment and borrowing in general in order to ensure a clear distinction between those schemes which were socially desirable and those which were simply commercial failures.⁹⁶ It is impossible to pinpoint the extent to which this was an example of the reform of the BTC being conducted within a new policy framework established for the nationalized sector, rather than that framework being born out of experience of addressing the railways' problems. The two processes informed each other.

Officials recognized that questions were now raised about what the railways were there for, which could not be answered purely in financial terms. Ministers would have to decide 'whether the railway system ... is to be regarded as a social service, a commercial undertaking, or a mixture of both'.⁹⁷ The principle of applying cost-benefit techniques to the railways' role in reducing road congestion had been raised in the Treasury and the Padmore committee had recognized that the BTC might require 'a special subsidy related to its uneconomic services which were kept in operation for social needs'; as had ministers.⁹⁸ The Padmore committee had considered whether the lines north of Perth and Dundee should be treated as a separate accounting unit as they were socially necessary but would always lose money. It had reached no conclusion, because the whole question of reorganizing railway accounts on a regional basis had yet to be decided, but the idea had not been ruled out.99 In August, Dunnett took this idea up with the Commission, at the same time trying unsuccessfully to get an idea of how far it would rationalize the railway system if it did so on a purely commercial basis, the question Beeching eventually answered. Dunnett asked whether there were any particular areas in which railway services could be subsidized and, if so, what amounts might be involved? The Commission agreed to consider studying three areas: Scotland north of Perth; central Wales; and the former Southern Railway lines west of Exeter.¹⁰⁰

The Commission's response to Dunnett's request was a memorandum, 'Fringe Areas', which reached the Ministry in December. Unfortunately, as its treatment of the former Southern Railway lines west of Exeter illustrates, 'Fringe Areas' was a wasted opportunity to make the case for socially necessary railways. Because losses were attributed to areas rather than to services, the existence of bulk freight traffic from quarries and clay-pits at Delabole, Meldon and Petrockstowe (which kept their rail connections long after the passenger services had gone) was submerged within the overall loss. The case for providing rail connections to the otherwise remote resorts of Ilfracombe and Bude and towns such as Launceston, Barnstable, Okehampton, Tavistock and Padstow was surely weakened by the inclusion of the little-used services between Launceston and Wadebridge and Halwill and Torrington. Most significantly, the memorandum ignored the fact that the area was also served by former GWR lines providing a series of duplicate routes. If there had ever been a need for two railways to Barnstable or Launceston, the existence of parallel lines between Lydford and Plymouth, both via Tavistock, more than a decade after nationalization illustrated the Commission's failure to rationalize its network and the rival routes between Exeter and Wadebridge and between Wadebridge and Bodmin merely served as a memorial to the occasional bouts of insanity that afflicted Victorian railway promoters. A schoolboy with a map and a pen could have saved the taxpayer a few thousand pounds at any time after nationalization.

The memorandum's figures took account of impending economies for which 'substantial capital expenditure would of course be required'; but, as central charges were not included in the calculations, the interest on this investment appears to have been ignored. Receipts were broken down by traffic type but expenses were not, so it was impossible to gauge the effect of, say, transferring merchandise traffic to road. The document also admitted that its figures 'do not represent the financial effect which would result from the closure of the lines', begging the question why such figures were not produced. If the Commission was to operate these lines as a social service it ought to have wanted to know the cost of doing so. Certainly, the Ministry could hardly judge whether a grant should be paid for such services without knowing how much the Commission was losing by continuing to provide them. 'Fringe Areas' suggests that the Commission's belief in its social obligations, however sincere, was in practice so vague that it merely concealed waste and complacency.¹⁰¹

The Commission's shortcomings were not the only factor at work here, however. The real bone of contention was not how the Commission's debts were to be paid, but its independence. Dunnett wanted a subsidy to be called a subsidy, so that the MoT could impose greater financial discipline on the Commission. The Commission wanted to avoid a subsidy to preserve its independence, and a grant covering the loss on these lines would make little difference to its overall financial position.¹⁰² In this political battle the issue of social service subsidies fell by the wayside, at least for the time being. In 1959, Sir Reginald Wilson, the BTC Financial Comptroller, argued that cost-benefit techniques should be applied to railway investment and that increased speed from improved

72 Reappraisals

track and signalling and improved conditions for employees should be considered as benefits in such an equation. This received short shrift at the Treasury, on the grounds the value of these benefits should be reflected in the railways' financial results. Instead, the Commission sought a capital write-off and help with its track costs. Robertson suggested that the Government take over the ownership of track and signalling and rent them to the Commission. Officials were not interested in the details of the scheme, which they ruled out as a disguised subsidy in January 1960.¹⁰³ When, in the same month, ministers raised the question of a general separation of the commercial and social activities of the nationalized industries, they were told the official committee on nationalized industries had examined this and considered it impractical.¹⁰⁴ The Commission had missed an opportunity to provoke a different conclusion.

Conclusion

By 1960 it seemed unlikely that investing in rail would reduce either the demand for spending on roads or the railway deficit, unless the government intervened to direct traffic onto rail. If restricting road transport to a significant extent was politically impossible (and it is clear that the difficulty here was not the road lobby's influence but the demands of industry and the public), then cutting the railways and investment in them back to do only what they alone could do made sense. It is hardly surprising that ministers and officials favoured such a policy when the alternative appeared to be obviously more expensive, obviously less popular, economically damaging and quite likely to fail. In early 1960 senior Whitehall figures were left uncertain, in Sir Thomas Padmore's words, as to 'what size or kind of railway system we ought to be aiming at. But everyone concerned is pretty well convinced that it ought to be smaller, perhaps much smaller, and that a great many unnecessary and uneconomic services ought to be cut out'.¹⁰⁵ The limited extent to which this could be achieved under the existing closure procedure was clear, faith in the BTC's ability to manage its undertaking was crumbling, plans to reform the BTC on more commercial lines were well advanced and the case for transferring investment away from rail and towards road was strengthening.

Each of these developments originated before the appointment of Ernest Marples as Minister of Transport in October 1959 and it is hard to detect his influence in any of the developments described in this chapter except in the call for more spending on roads in 1959, which the Treasury had anticipated being made by whoever replaced Watkinson. Instead, the catalyst for a new transport policy was the Treasury's attempt to get to grips with the expansion of public expenditure in general and the nationalized sector's investment programmes in particular. Railway policy was both an influence on and a product of this change. Unlike the fantasy of modernization produced in 1955 and 1956, this was a genuine modernization in the sense that Whitehall was attempting to come to terms with modern conditions, initially in the form of its new responsibilities, but consequently in terms of transport trends. It is clear that official thinking on

transport started almost from scratch in terms of both expertise and information. If the conclusions reached by 1960 seem rather unsophisticated today, that reflects the fact that officials started from a position of very limited knowledge and were left, as one of them complained in 1961, 'collectively fumbling after a new policy to meet new conditions which threaten to overwhelm existing outlooks'. 'Indeed', he continued, 'they may already have done so'.¹⁰⁶

It is surely significant that thinking on transport planning flowed from concern over public expenditure totals and was driven by officials whose primary concern was spending levels. It is also significant that while trends were clearly moving in a direction which undermined some elements of the modernization programme, this problem was not separated out from the effects of government intervention in driving up the deficit and so the shortcomings of modernization and the size of the deficit were to a certain extent conflated, which may have had the effect of making investment appear less worthwhile than it was. Finally, the focus of the 1957 survey was the period to 1970. The tendency, continued into the 1960s, to look no more than 15-20 years ahead, while understandable and challenging enough, can only have helped to obscure the limitations of a 'predict and provide' approach to road transport. When one considers the time that major transport projects take to gestate and implement, 15 years is not very far away, even for a sophisticated analysis. This is not a criticism of what the Treasury was attempting, so much as an indication of the scale of the task.

One crucial change is evident. In 1956 and again in 1958, closures had been seen as a way of making economies in response to immediate financial problems. Watkinson had wanted a more rigorous approach, but this was still a response to the deficit. By the end of 1959, however, the argument had begun to shift. It wasn't simply that closing lines could save money, but that there seemed no point in a railway system providing stopping-train services or merchandise freight. The issue was no longer how many lines would have to close to eradicate the deficit, but what the railways were there for. In hindsight this implies that there was no longer any logic in making the case for individual closures, but instead making the case for individual reprieves; and this change in emphasis can be discerned in the subsequent course of policy. Although the issue of subsidies to specific rail services had yet to be properly addressed, by the time Marples entered the picture the question was not so much what general end to achieve as the means by which to achieve it. This is the subject of the following chapter.

5 'The nitty-gritty of actually doing things'

Sir David Serpell, who arrived at the Ministry of Transport as deputy secretary responsible for railways in March 1960, has described the railways' position on his arrival as being like 'an old film where a girl has been tied to the railway track and you find there are two trains coming'.¹ The two trains were the inability of the BTC to ever repay its accumulated deficit and the impending report of the Guillebaud inquiry into railway wages, which was obviously going to recommend a pay award that would substantially increase the deficit and which had taken so long that it had acquired an irresistible momentum. After the usual consultations between the Government and the Commission, a railway strike was averted in February by an interim award and Guillebaud's recommendations were largely implemented under an agreement reached in June, the ultimate cost of which was over £40 million.² In the early months of 1960 the slow process of transforming the Padmore committee's recommendations into legislation on the BTC was overtaken by these two concerns. When Macmillan returned from his 'wind of change' tour of Africa to 'a great log-jam of problems', he insisted that the important point was not officials' concern over how to subsidize the BTC legally (a problem eventually solved by including the sums involved as spending not lending in the 1960 budget) but how to reorganize it, bring in new men to oversee a new plan and persuade the unions to accept these measures and a smaller railway industry, in return for the Government's acceptance in principle of the Guillebaud Report.³ This he attempted to do in a statement to Parliament on 10 March 1960 which stressed the need for the unions and the public to accept the remodelling of the industry and of the modernization programme to 'a size and pattern suited to modern conditions and prospects', higher fares and reorganization of the BTC.⁴ This statement is the fulcrum of the public face of railway policy, the point at which the dream of the Modernisation Plan began to become the nightmare, or at least the reality, embodied in the *Beeching Report*.

The following month the appointment was announced of a Special Advisory Group (SAG) to examine the Commission and advise 'how effect can best be given to the Government's intentions' as set out in Macmillan's statement.⁵ The SAG's Chairman, Sir Ivan Stedeford, the Chairman of Tube Investments, was the second choice from a lengthy list of the great and the good (the first choice had been Lord Chandos, the former Oliver Lyttleton who had been a late

addition to the committee working on the 1952 Transport Bill). Sir Frank Lee, Treasury Joint Permanent Secretary, recruited Henry Benson, an accountant from Cooper Brothers who Dunnett believed was interested in replacing Robertson. Stedeford suggested Frank Kearton of Courtaulds and Sir Ewart Smith of ICI as other members. Sir Ewart was unavailable, but recommended ICI's Technical Director, Dr Richard Beeching. Two civil servants, Serpell and Matthew Stevenson of the Treasury, were also appointed to the Group.⁶ At the same time the House of Commons Select Committee on Nationalized Industries cross-examined the Ministry and the Commission for its own report on the railways. This increased the pressure on both and its recommendations required a white paper containing the Government's response, but it had little if any direct impact on policy-making.⁷

The SAG produced a series of eight recommendations between June and October 1960 which formed the basis of a white paper Reorganisation of the Nationalised Transport Undertakings, published in December 1960. This was followed by the Transport Act 1962 which wrote off much of the railways' debt and created a strong central British Railways Board (BRB) to run the industry, hiving off the other parts of the BTC to separate boards. The BRB was relieved of many of the commercial restrictions placed on the BTC and given clear terms of reference prioritizing the need to break-even 'at the earliest possible date' before 1 January 1969. The Minister was able to make grants to the railways to cover losses to that date and to an aggregate total of £450 million. The closure procedure was clarified, paving the way for the closure programme proposed in the Beeching Report.8 One significant consequence of the SAG's work not covered in its recommendations was that the contributions of Beeching and Benson had convinced officials that solving the railways' problems required 'someone of the stature and width of mind of Dr Beeching relying on the accountancy expertise possessed by Mr Benson'.9 They had to settle for the former and Beeching joined the BTC in March 1961, becoming Chairman in June with a salary of £24,000 (Robertson had received £10,000). This figure caused a storm Marples and Macmillan were willing to weather, but it fuelled suspicions of a hidden agenda.¹⁰

When the BRB published *The Reshaping of British Railways* in March 1963 it seemed as though the process was moving into its final phase. The Prime Minister had decreed, Parliament had legislated, Dr Beeching had delivered, now all that remained was to implement his proposals. However, this picture was misleading in two respects. The closure programme in *Reshaping* was only the first stage in the contraction Beeching envisaged; the rationalization of main lines and the identification of the less obviously unremunerative secondary services was hardly touched upon in the report and its closure programme was really the final stage of the process of removing the dead wood which had been going on during the 1950s. In order to smooth this process the BRB and the Government attempted to present *Reshaping* as a carefully considered technocratic verdict on the railway system. In reality, however, the report was more a statement of intent and a snapshot of a work in progress.

76 'The nitty-gritty of actually doing things'

The central theme of this chapter is that *Reshaping* does not fully justify either the presentation of it at the time as the fulfilment of Macmillan's announcement that the railways must be adapted to modern conditions, implying a thoroughly analysed technocratic solution to the railways' problems,¹¹ or the suspicion that it reflected a hidden anti-rail agenda. It was simply the best that could be done in the time available. This comment applies both to Beeching's own contribution and Whitehall's role and explains both the shortcomings of its closure proposals and the over-optimism of its more positive aspects. The chapter begins with a discussion of the SAG's work. This emphasizes the divisions within the group, which owed much to Beeching's desire to do exactly what his critics have accused him of failing to do, by basing a plan for the railways on a study of transport as a whole. It moves on to show how Whitehall prepared the ground for a closure programme both by making it easier to close lines and by gearing up to take a greater role in considering the social case for retention. Finally, it demonstrates that the Beeching Report was not quite the comprehensive judgement it purported to be, because Beeching's attempts to base it on a study of transport costs ran into insurmountable obstacles.

The Special Advisory Group

The SAG has achieved a mythical status among the critics of Beeching and Marples, primarily because its recommendations remained secret until the publication of the official history of British Railways in 1986 and because Beeching was one of its members. Given these two facts, it does not take a great deal of imagination to conjure up a picture of a secret version of the *Beeching Report*'s closure programme emerging from conspiratorial meetings in some Whitehall bunker. Ironically it was Alf Robens, the Labour MP who was shortly to become Chairman of the NCB, who claimed that the SAG members were appointed to be 'the handmaidens of Government policy', but the suspicion that the SAG was a 'Marples Gestapo', steered towards recommending a closure programme and a cut in investment by the Minister was common, and has endured.¹²

As the previous chapter illustrated, Whitehall did not need outside experts to convince it of the need for a closure programme in 1960. It is certainly true that the SAG was given secret terms of reference, while the public version was deliberately kept as vague as possible, but these only applied to the BTC's reorganization.¹³ Henshaw's argument that 'the Stedeford committee was set up for the sole purpose of facilitating railway closures' is contradicted by the evidence, which he himself cites, that its only recommendation on closures was that a dated programme of further proposals should be drawn up. The Group repeated to the Government what it had been told by some Transport Users' Consultative Committee (TUCC) chairmen, 'that the majority of the cases now coming before them for the withdrawal of uneconomic railway services could have been put forward several years earlier ... and that, from their experience there must be a considerable number of similar cases not yet prepared', and concluded that 'this is a field in which ... action may have been retarded by a sense of public obliga-

tion'.¹⁴ The SAG did set up a body to examine the future size and shape of the railway system (the Ministerial Group on Modernisation, MGM, discussed below), but this never completed its task. As part of the MGM's investigation of the Commission's investment programme the BTC produced a modernization plan covering 1961–4 in December 1960. This referred to the possible with-drawal of passenger traffic from 2,554 route miles, which was certainly an increase on the *Reappraisal*'s reference to the possible closure of 1,800 route miles (including freight-only closures), but only half what the *Beeching Report* proposed, even ignoring the closures that had been implemented between 1960 and 1963. The 1960 list only related to proposals to be considered by the Commission, it was specifically not a commitment to propose all these closures, and its reference to 31 route miles to be considered in Scotland illustrates that, north of the border in particular, Beeching went much further.¹⁵

What the Government wanted from the SAG was detailed advice on how to apply the policy on nationalized industries it had been developing through the work of the Padmore committee to the railways, in particular how to reorganize them on a more decentralized and commercial basis. The Padmore committee lacked the expertise to make recommendations on the practicality of separate accounting arrangements for individual regions, a goal the Conservatives had hoped to achieve in 1953, and the committee's report had envisaged bringing in outside advice on the issue before preparing a white paper.¹⁶ The secret terms of reference were intended to steer the Group towards organizational proposals which would fulfil ministers' desire for greater decentralization to the railway regions and break up the BTC into a series of boards controlling different activities. Stedeford and Kearton obliged, proposing a central railway board dominated by the managing directors of the regional boards. Beeching and Benson, however, wanted a strong central board, almost a resurrection of the Railway Executive that the Conservatives had abolished in 1953. Ministers had been anxious to avoid this and the Padmore committee had assumed it would be politically impossible, however desirable it might appear.¹⁷ There are a number of reasons why the SAG's recommendations remained secret: Whitehall instinct; the involvement of officials in the group; the desire to avoid public criticism of Robertson and his colleagues; the possibility that the Government might reject the recommendations; but the failure of the Group to agree on the central issue of reorganization was in itself enough to prevent publication. Although Serpell and Stevenson tried to find a compromise, they favoured the Beeching/Benson approach, not least because a strong central board was felt to be a necessary step in getting a grip on the railways' finances and cutting the system down, a move regional boards might not pursue with sufficient enthusiasm.¹⁸ The Government proved willing to abandon its ideological attachment to decentralization in order to achieve a pragmatic solution to the railway problem and the Regional Railway Boards created under the 1962 Act were subordinate to the BRB, which was directly responsible to Marples.¹⁹ One consequence was that Beeching was able to go further in proposing extensive closures in Scotland because, unlike Robertson, he was able to compel the Scottish region to put forward major cases

such as Inverness–Wick/Thurso and Edinburgh–Hawick–Carlisle, which it would not have done on its own initiative (and which it privately invited the Scottish Secretary to direct it to retain in 1963).²⁰

The SAG's divisions over organization were paralleled by disagreement over how it should approach its task. Beeching and Benson wanted to begin by establishing what the railways should be doing and in June Beeching produced a paper on the factors he felt necessary for the preparation of a sound programme of railway modernization. This argued that the Transport Acts of 1947 and 1953 had set the railways potentially conflicting objectives, which could only be reconciled through precisely the kind of detailed study of transport as a whole which he was later castigated for failing to conduct as a basis for the Beeching Report. Beeching proposed a study of total traffic flows and the railways' share over recent years. This data would then be sub-divided into types of passenger journey (commuting, inter-urban business; inter-urban pleasure; local business; local private; holiday; excursion) and freight classes that took account of distance, size and loadability. In each category of traffic Beeching proposed a study of the merits of rail relative to other forms of transport, previous trends, the likely effect of changes in charges or quality of service, handling costs and the effect of various improvements on costs or quality. These figures would then be applied to estimates of future traffic flows in the country to assess the railways' probable share, given various possible improvements and taking account of likely developments in other forms of transport, to arrive at an indication of what investments would be most likely to bring worthwhile results. In addition, he drew up a list of 19 points which should be answered in relation to each specific project. Clearly this would take time and Stedeford, aware that ministers wanted organizational proposals sooner than Beeching's approach would allow, resisted. Robertson and his colleagues learned of these divisions through sympathetic officials at the Ministry and saw good relations with Stedeford as the best way to safeguard the investment programme and to influence the nature of the reorganization, an objective they pursued with such success that Stedeford appeared willing to allow the BTC to review the modernization programme itself, to the dismay of Beeching, Benson and the two officials. Personal relations within the SAG became strained and, following a particularly fractious meeting on 13 June, Stedeford felt he should resign, as Beeching and Benson appeared to have lost confidence in him as chairman and negotiator. This would have been a major political disaster and, enlisting Benson's help, Serpell spent most of the following two days persuading Stedeford to stay.21

These divisions have somewhat obscured the extent of the Group's unanimity in criticizing the BTC's investment programme and have contributed to an impression of Beeching and Benson as 'hawks' to Stedeford and Kearton's 'doves'.²² In fact, the Group quickly came to the view that the modernization programme should be fundamentally reviewed and that a senior official should be appointed to the Commission to take responsibility for finance. Stedeford expressed this view to the Treasury in strong terms: Sir Ivan ... felt that if in a private firm shareholders' money had been committed with the recklessness which characterised the inception of some of the projects making up the modernisation scheme those responsible would have been indictable ... [I]t almost seemed ... as if the judgement whether or not to start a scheme had depended on the degree of support which it received from the particular technicians or other people in authority in, say, a particular region rather than on any economic justification.

The SAG felt the BTC exhibited an astonishing level of complacency regarding its deteriorating position and the progress of modernization and was very critical of Sir Reginald Wilson.²³ No allowance had been made in the Commission's books for depreciation of some £1,000 million of assets, others had been depreciated on the basis of too long a book life, and there had been a £30 million shortfall on depreciation provisions in the last three years. The BTC had no liquid assets to cover £160 million of liabilities in its pension funds and employee savings bank.²⁴ The railways earned less than £900 per employee, and the planned reduction in the workforce of 10 per cent over the next four years would not offset the cost of implementing the Guillebaud Report.²⁵ Stedeford told Marples that 'there had at no time been any adequate commercial appraisal of the plan by the commission', that a change of attitude and personnel was necessary and that the BTC should no longer have access to large sums of new money for investment.²⁶

In June the Group recommended that modernization projects that were at an early stage should be halted and no new works begun until a review of the whole programme had been undertaken. There had been no disagreement over the need for such a review, only the form it should take, and this dispute was settled in the recommendation that a new body, consisting of BTC and Ministry representatives, the Board of Trade's Director of Statistics and Beeching, be established to examine 'the size and pattern of the railway system required to meet current and foreseeable needs' and to consider the Commission's latest modernization programme in the light of this study. This group, the MGM, took Beeching's paper on the preparation of a modernization plan as its starting point. Beeching was therefore able to pursue his studies while the SAG focused on questions of organization and finance.²⁷ The SAG did, however, report on the flagship project of the modernization programme, the electrification of the Euston-Manchester/Liverpool main line. While the Group supported some form of modernization of the route, it did not express a firm preference for electric or diesel power.²⁸ Continuation of electrification was approved in January 1961, but not because there was a convincing case for it. (In fact the benefits the Commission expected did not materialize. In 1967-8 the line's earnings were £0.9 million less than in 1959, using constant 1959 prices; an £18 million increase had been forecast.²⁹) In the absence of a compelling argument for calling a halt, the negative effect on railway morale and the export efforts of the electrical industry, plus the waste of sums already spent, persuaded ministers that work should begin again.³⁰ The SAG's verdict on the BTC's investment programme was as damning as Whitehall's the year before and the idea that Marples' cutting back of modernization was a reflection of anti-rail bias cannot be sustained. Indeed, if the Government had wanted to, it could have justified deeper cuts than it made.

The modernization plan produced for the SAG was in effect the first attempt at what became the standard procedure for Whitehall control of railway investment through annual submissions covering five years. Whitehall's control was strengthened by the 1962 Act which required projects costing over £100,000 to be reported to the Ministry and those over £250,000 to be approved. The procedure, common to all nationalized industries, became more sophisticated (and more complex and time-consuming) over the years but did not change in its basic reliance on identifying a rate of return on investment, although the level of return and the method of its calculation altered and the 1967 white paper Nationalised Industries: A Review of Economic and Financial Objectives accepted in principle that cost-benefit analysis might have a role to play. Although both sides had complaints about the procedure, the central problem from the railways' point of view was not the supervision to which they were subjected but the low level of total investment and the tendency for sudden cuts to be made in response to economic crises. For example, in 1965 the National Plan set railway investment at a level that was already outdated by cuts the BRB had been asked to make and devaluation in 1967 was followed by postponement of the electrification of the west coast main line to Glasgow. In the 1970s such interventions reached ludicrous levels, but this was a problem affecting investment control as a whole as the PESC system was found wanting in the more difficult circumstances in which the Exchequer found itself.³¹ From the Ministry's point of view the chief problem was the railways' failure to achieve the results the Board predicted, as Chapter 8 will discuss.

Preparing the ground for closures

While the SAG made important recommendations on the abolition of many of the commercial restrictions hampering the railways and on achieving a closer relationship between costs and charges in setting freight rates, its proposals on productivity amounted, to a large extent, to a call for further studies and greater effort. A programme of closures therefore represented the most tangible way of reducing losses in the short term. Nor did the continuing work on transport questions encourage a revision of the view that future transport developments implied 'an expansion of road transport and a very large contraction of the railway system', until concerns began to be raised about urban lines in mid-1962 (see below).³² The 1960 modernization plan indicated an increase in both the number of proposals and their complexity and by 1961 it was clear to the Ministry that the pace of the process 'was limited not by lack of knowledge as to how far the railway system should in the long run contract, but by the political difficulties involved in any contraction'.³³ In a characteristic display of dynamism, Marples overturned the recommendation of the London area TUCC

and the CTCC in consenting to the closure of the Westerham branch in Kent, a five-mile line used by around 170 commuters, in August 1961. But this controversial stance could not be adopted on a regular basis without discrediting the whole procedure. Indeed, Marples' reluctance to overrule the London TUCC again influenced his decision not to consent to the Woodside–Sanderstead proposal in 1963.³⁴

Officials drafting the Transport Bill realized that it would be politically impossible to free the railways entirely from the consultative process, but ensured that the Bill devoted much more attention to the detail of the procedure than its predecessors had, in order to speed things up.³⁵ Under the 1962 Act the railways were free to close freight services as they saw fit and the CTCC was reduced to a supervisory body monitoring the work of the TUCCs. The TUCCs themselves were now confined to reporting on the level of hardship a passenger closure would cause, and the means by which that hardship might be alleviated. Having received the TUCC report, the Minister then considered this and all other relevant factors and either gave or withheld his consent to closure. He could also attach conditions to his consent; for example, that an alternative bus service must be provided and subsidized by the BRB.³⁶ Restricting the TUCCs in this way was intended to relieve the railways of the need to provide them with any financial figures in support of closure proposals, although the Ministry would have to be given them.³⁷ Preventing discussion of the figures was one way of reducing the controversy; another was to divert the emphasis away from the consultative procedure by reviving the idea of having one big row over national or regional closure plans, a view influenced by 'French experience, where the mere existence of an economic plan had a powerful psychological effect'.³⁸ The Commission resisted this, even after Beeching became Chairman, on the grounds that it would be quicker to publish proposals as soon as they were ready, but to no avail.39

The reform of the closure procedure also reflected the view expressed by Beeching within the SAG (and in July 1960 by the Select Committee on Nationalized Industries' report on the BTC) that if loss-making lines were to be maintained for non-commercial reasons the Government and not the Commission should take the decision. This position broadly corresponded with the policy set out in the white paper on nationalized industries in April 1961, that ministers should take responsibility for interventions which interfered with the boards' ability to meet financial targets. 40 Dunnett's view, that if railway investment was in fact social spending then government should control it, was in a similar vein.⁴¹ The Ministry prepared for this new responsibility by establishing an Interdepartmental Working Party on Railways (IDR), chaired by Serpell, in November 1962 'to consider the British Railways Board's proposals for the future size and shape of British Railways and to advise Ministers thereon'.⁴² A division of the Ministry under an assistant secretary and two principals was devoted entirely to handling closures.⁴³ Its assistant secretary chaired a working party on closures, including representatives of various MoT divisions and other departments which considered individual cases. It considered the TUCC reports in each case, received more detailed financial information on individual cases than the TUCCs and reports from the Ministry's divisional road engineers on what road improvements might be required if a line closed. Once a case had been considered here, it passed to another committee chaired by the Parliamentary Secretary, which in turn advised the Minister.⁴⁴ The need for road improvements was also taken up with Beeching in 1962 and the Ministry studied the implications of *Reshaping* for the road programme. Although in general it was felt that road improvements would only be necessitated by a small proportion of closures, the problems which prevented the closure of the Haltwhistle branch (until 1976), Ryde–Shanklin, Plymouth–Gunnislake and Inverness–Wick/Kyle of Lochalsh lines were identified (although at this stage none of them was removed from the closure programme), as were general difficulties in the West Country and Wales.⁴⁵

Probably the most significant product of the Ministry's efforts to prepare for the closure programme was the growing concern over proposals to close commuter services in urban areas, which is discussed below, but it was always understood that some lines would survive on social grounds and a number of public statements to this effect had been made prior to the publication of *Reshaping*. Beeching himself argued in the SAG that efficiency and adequacy might well need to be judged by criteria other than their effect upon the economics of the Transport Commission.⁴⁶ That some services would survive on such grounds was implicit in the role of TUCCs under the 1962 Act and in September 1962, Macmillan set out the policy as he understood it:

if the Government decides that on social grounds a railway from Inverness to Wick is necessary then . . . Dr Beeching will quote a price . . . for keeping the line open . . . the Government will pay this, if it decides to do so, as a social service, but the management of the railway will not be accused of inefficiency or an increase in their deficit made a subject of attack on them on this account.⁴⁷

The Prime Minister made this sound rather simpler than it proved to be, but the principle was clear enough. However, the absence of specific subsidies for socially necessary services undermined ministers' attempt to convince the public that they were not simply closing every loss-making service. The Select Committee had called for an open payment for lines retained on non-commercial grounds, yet the 1961 white paper indicated that rather than subsidize specific services, the Government would consider the cost of them when agreeing the rate of return required from a nationalized board and the 1962 Act merely set the BRB the target of eliminating its deficit.⁴⁸ The practical difficulties of individual subsidies, exacerbated by the BTC's objections, were certainly a factor here.⁴⁹ As we have seen, Dunnett's attempt to sound out the Commission on the subsidies would be paid for specific socially necessary services would encourage demand for them in every case and make the closure programme harder to

implement (clearly the existence of a continuing general deficit would have the opposite political effect) and that once a service received a subsidy it would be difficult to close it at some point in the future and incentives to operate it more cheaply would be removed.⁵⁰

These objections overcame the logic of specific subsidies at least in part because the railways were obviously going to need a subsidy to cover the general deficit for years to come and because for all its talk of breaking even by 1969, the 1962 Act was not expected to be a final settlement of the railways' finances. The SAG estimated that of the railways' supposed value (£1,600 million), £400 million was irretrievably lost. It recommended that, of the remainder, £400 million, representing the investment in the railways since 1955, continue as interest-bearing debt, and £800 million (approximate to the capital at nationalization) be placed in a suspense account (of which a considerable amount would probably have to be written-off eventually). The railways should then aim to eliminate the operating deficit in three years and earn enough to begin reducing the fixed debt within five years, receiving Government grants in the meantime. This required an annual improvement of about £25 million in the operating account (based on an estimated annual interest burden in 1965 of £50 million), and a simultaneous increase in depreciation provision. This was hardly realistic, and Macmillan seems to have expected all of the £800 million in the suspense account to go the way of the £400 million written off. The Transport Bill left the BRB with the much higher figure of £900 million interest-bearing debt.⁵¹ Stevenson recognized that the railways had been set 'a Herculean task' and expected a further financial review to become necessary before 1969. The inter-departmental committee studying Reshaping came to a similar conclusion in the summer of 1963.52 Yet Stevenson had been eager to err on the side of caution in writing off railway debts, partly because they might be recovered, but also because he was wary of encouraging other nationalized industries to seek similar relief. In the autumn of 1960, the BOAC was lobbying for a write-off of some of its capital debt, and Stevenson hoped that the ignominy of radical reorganization and increased ministerial control of the BTC would deter such initiatives.⁵³ The absence of specific subsidies from the 1962 Act has led some to conclude that lines closed which would have remained open had the subsidies provided under the 1968 Act been available.⁵⁴ This is a misunderstanding; the decision to retain or withdraw a service took account of social factors and, if retention was decided upon, a subsidy was provided within the overall funding of the deficit. Whether sufficient account was taken of social factors is a separate question.

Devising the closure programme

Beeching's desire to base the work of the SAG on a study of transport was in tune with Whitehall's thinking on the need to set clear objectives and to base investment on a picture of transport trends. Dunnett was well aware of the need for expert advice on the latter question and of the inadequacy of the Ministry's economic and scientific resources, but recruiting staff to rectify the problem was not easy and these problems continued to frustrate official attempts to get to grips with issues such as the costs of the growth in road traffic.⁵⁵ Even as the SAG debated the merits of Beeching's proposals, similar studies were called for in the report of a group of officials Dunnett had appointed to consider how the Ministry should improve its statistical machinery in preparation for a long-term study of transport. However, this group recognized that the BTC was unlikely to be able to provide the necessary information and the Ministry's Statistics Division had too few staff even to complete the preliminary work required.⁵⁶

The position was not helped by the fact that the centre of official research on transport economics was generally seen as being the Road Research Laboratory (RRL) of the Department of Scientific and Industrial Research (DSIR), which had better links with academics and local authorities than the Ministry. It had poor relations with the Treasury and the Ministry, however, and in 1960 the two departments prevented the RRL's Economics Committee from carrying out a study of transport requirements in the next 20 to 30 years.⁵⁷

Sir Christopher Foster has credited the cries for help emanating from the Ministry from the late 1950s with a crucial role in stimulating interest in the application of cost-benefit analysis to transport, but there was little experience or expertise available for the Ministry to recruit and it was very much still a developing science. The retrospective study of the M1 conducted by Michael Beesley and others in 1960 was the first of its kind in Britain; Foster and Beesley's 1963 study of a proposed new tube line in London (which became the Victoria Line) was the second; and in 1963 the Ministry asked Foster to carry out a similar study of proposals to electrify the commuter lines out of King's Cross.⁵⁸ The nascent stage of transport planning in Whitehall is evident from the fact that when Dunnett recruited Sir Robert Hall, the former Chief Economic Adviser to the Government, as the Ministry's Economics Adviser in the summer of 1961 and asked him to chair a group supervising the Ministry's own study of transport requirements over the next 20 years, Hall was given terms of reference which focused on the need 'to consider the questions which this study should be designed to answer, the assumptions on which it should be based and the methods by which the necessary data should be sought'. If this indicates that the Ministry was merely at the starting gate, Hall's report a year later represented only limited progress. It identified the problem of allocating investment between rail, urban roads and inter-urban roads as the one of two fundamental problems facing the Ministry, but was unable to find a common yardstick for assessing road and rail investment, which the Ministry concluded would have to continue to be assessed separately. As the extent to which rail could attract freight from road would have only a marginal effect on the road programme, 'the level of rail investment would continue to depend on the rate of return it was likely to earn'.59

These difficulties illustrate just how large a problem Beeching was taking on when he argued that the SAG should begin its work with a detailed study of transport costs and flows. In August 1960 the newly established MGM decided to carry out two studies: one of current costs (to show which rail traffics were currently profitable); and one of likely future traffic trends for rail and other transport modes. This was expected to take a year to complete. However, as the preparations began for the detailed work, attention increasingly focused on rail. In particular, the estimates of future traffic were to be based upon a study of existing levels of rail traffic in various categories and estimates of future demand derived from a study of the past relationship between the development of the industries concerned and the levels of the rail traffic they generated. A market research study would then estimate how much of this potential traffic would go by rail given various assumptions on fares and charges. This approach was almost entirely dictated by the absence of information on non-rail transport, in particular on road costs and future traffic estimates. Further difficulties were encountered because the figures the Commission was able to produce were not really what was needed and it had proved impossible to find anyone who could undertake a market research study on the factors influencing industry's choice of transport mode. Among the bodies considered was the DSIR, but even if it could do the job, the undesirability of encouraging it to go beyond its usual brief was felt to outweigh any positive contribution it might make. There seems also to have been a degree of misunderstanding between Beeching and the Ministry, which may well have reflected the fact that while Beeching was interested in establishing what traffic the railways could and should carry in the future given the right kind of investment, the Ministry was still trying to ascertain where the railways were currently losing money. Officials also had reservations about Beeching's cost-based approach, as cost was not necessarily the chief determinant in industry's choice between transport modes. Beeching hoped to proceed using estimates and research but this would have involved an even longer and more complex exercise and the MGM petered out, overtaken by 'the nitty-gritty of actually doing things'.60

Gourvish has shown that the studies which Beeching oversaw at the BTC and which formed the basis of *Reshaping* depended on the data provided by existing work within the BTC and reflected current conditions rather than predicted trends, but that Beeching introduced a new emphasis on the utilization of the network, traffic flows and the possibility of winning new profitable traffic. Beeching's approach was certainly not beyond criticism, for example in its treatment of track costs, and his attempt to consider how rail might compete with road freight in future produced some very flimsy proposals. However, *Reshaping* was based on studies that were the remnants of his original plans once the difficulties of obtaining data on future trends and other transport modes had become apparent. It was, therefore, based on a broad appreciation of transport as a whole; and the extent to which it focused on rail in isolation from other forms of transport was dictated by the limits of what was possible. *Reshaping*'s shortcomings are unsurprising given the problems that had undermined the MGM.

The final element Beeching brought to existing BTC studies was the need for a substantial effort to present a closure programme to the public and the presentation of *Reshaping* certainly succeeded in bringing home the true position of the railways. Yet the need for this dramatic demonstration of the inevitable logic behind the closure programme arose, at least in part, from the difficulty of presenting an unarguable case for Beeching's proposals. Painting the big picture proved the easy part. In July 1962 Beeching produced two maps showing that half the rail network carried only 5 per cent of freight traffic, half the network carried 4 per cent of passenger traffic and 92.5 per cent of all rail traffic travelled on half the network. This implied a viable network of 8,500 miles, but the more extensive closure programme this suggested was not ready until 1966.⁶¹ The detailed figures relating to the closure proposals in *Reshaping* were worked up in the months following publication, which itself took place some six months after the Ministry had originally hoped for a closure plan.⁶² The Ministry was told that annual earnings figures for individual lines were calculated by multiplying the results of surveys carried out over one or two weeks, a process hardly beyond question; in fact a variety of methods was used, none without its failings.⁶³

This does not mean that the lines proposed for closure were making money, but proving they were not was a time-consuming process. The need for haste was emphasized by the fact that what Beeching had to say on other subjects was far less convincing than what he said about closures. In October 1962, he produced a new map showing freight not travelling by rail which was considered suitable for rail. However, in December, Ministry officials were disconcerted to learn that the total of some 90 million tons of such freight was based on 'subjective estimates made by district commercial officers on the basis of their personal experience of the economics of handling traffic by rail and the known characteristics of each group of traffic' and that 'the plans for attracting freight traffic at present passing by other means of transport were a longer-term and more hazardous task than that of cutting down the system to a realistic size and reducing operating costs'. It appeared that no assessment had been made of the capital investment necessary to win this traffic, or how charges should be altered to attract it; and there were fundamental problems with some of the new technology upon which the plan relied.⁶⁴ Several months after *Reshaping*'s publication, officials remained unable to come to any firm judgement on it and in particular on its proposals for investing in freightliners, because the BRB's studies of new handling methods and other factors were still incomplete and the Board remained unable to relate the total savings and earnings under various headings in the report to any specific timescale. Although the details of individual closure proposals were also still being worked out, these difficulties merely strengthened official support for Beeching's view that the negative aspects of Reshaping would have to proceed in advance of its positive side. The case for closures seemed sound in principle, the case for investment more speculative.⁶⁵

The *Beeching Report* was in effect a snapshot, not only of the stage which Beeching's work had reached, but of Whitehall's also, a picture created when the slow development of transport planning and railway costing was frozen in time by the need to act before the deficit got any worse. This is evident from the fact that a similar mileage was closed between Beeching's appointment and Reshaping's publication as was closed in the subsequent two years and several lines which were listed for closure in the report had in fact already been closed.⁶⁶ It was also apparent in the confused approach to urban closures. How to address the consequences of increasing urban traffic was a central question in transport policy in the early 1960s.⁶⁷ The most obvious manifestation of this was the commissioning by the Ministry of a report by Professor Colin Buchanan on Traffic in Towns, published in November 1963; but the need to coordinate the planning aspects of traffic management and public transport in urban areas was already understood within Whitehall by the spring of 1961, when the Ministry and the Ministry of Housing and Local Government (MHLG) were laying the foundations of a joint group on traffic and urban planning. In December 1962 Sir Robert Hall's report identified urban traffic as the second of the two major problems facing the Ministry and warned that '[r]ail transport in the cities which have it is an asset which should not be lightly eroded'. Traffic surveys were being conducted in a number of towns by the time *Reshaping* was published.⁶⁸ In mid-1962 the Ministry took this issue up with Beeching and suggested that it might wish to have advance consultation before urban services were proposed for closure.⁶⁹ Beeching was persuaded to omit urban services losing some £25 million a year from Reshaping, which acknowledged that suburban services were important in Glasgow, Edinburgh, Newcastle, Manchester, Liverpool, Cardiff, Leeds and Birmingham and vital in London and that social benefit studies and a coordinated approach to urban transport would have a role to play in deciding their future. The Hall and Beeching reports stimulated Treasury officials to move towards the idea of conurbation transport authorities well before Barbara Castle arrived at the Ministry and included Passenger Transport Executives in the Transport Act 1968.

Nevertheless, Whitehall was only beginning to work out how to approach this problem when *Reshaping* was published and Beeching was not prepared to hold back urban proposals indefinitely. He had included several services affecting the cities listed above in his closure programme on the grounds that social benefit studies would not show them to be worth keeping, a claim which officials found unconvincing, and he arguably underestimated the railways' role in reducing urban congestion in smaller cities. Nottingham, where lines have since reopened, is the obvious example; Bristol, Exeter and Hull might be others.⁷⁰ The fact that such concerns surfaced after the financial framework of the BRB and the reform of closure procedure had been established illustrates the problems Whitehall faced in trying to reduce the railway deficit while still in the process of getting to grips with transport developments.

All these uncertainties and equivocations were played down in the presentation of the report, which Beeching held up for the cameras like some eleventh commandment he had brought down from a technocratic mountain-top. To an extent, Beeching's critics played into the Government's hands by suggesting that the problem with the report was that its cold calculations and scientific analysis ignored the social consequences of its proposals, as this can only have distracted attention from and undermined the more sustainable criticism of its methodology.⁷¹ Writing to The Times from Castle Leod in Rothshire, Lord Cromartie compared Beeching to 'a very efficient, very expensive computer, brilliant but completely soulless' (before suggesting that closing the railway north of Inverness would lead to 'the extermination of a people and their way of life').⁷² Such criticisms said more about Beeching's image of cool, ruthless detachment than the reality of a plan which, like its 1955 predecessor, had been hurried along by officials and contained figures made to measure. Although endowed with an aura of calm, the antithesis of Marples' tense dynamism, Beeching was, like the Minister, of 'New England'. A grammarschool boy with a first in physics, whose managerial abilities had allowed him to rise 'with apparent effortlessness' through the ranks of ICI, Beeching was at the height of his powers when he came to the railways. Sampson described him as having a reputation for efficiency, generating confidence, being 'visibly astonished' at the railways' lack of information about their activities and giving the impression 'above all of a striking intellectual honesty'. His doctorate replaced his Christian name and preceded his surname like the man with a red flag who walked in front of early motor cars, proclaiming his modernity and inviting images of 'the dispassionate expertise of a surgeon'. He was 'the antithesis of the old English ideal of the amateur', a point reinforced by the storm over his salary.73 Yet, for all the experience and ability that qualified him to lead a nationalized industry, he neither possessed nor had access to the expertise and knowledge necessary to put together the unanswerable analysis which *Reshaping* was presented as being, nor did he have the time. Such luxuries were simply not available.

Conclusion

Two responses to the suggestion that Beeching studied the railways in isolation emerge from this and the previous chapter. First, the developments discussed in this chapter flowed from the conclusions Whitehall reached on the general balance between road and rail when it attempted to consider transport as a whole in the late 1950s. Second, Beeching clearly attempted to study transport as a whole in his work as a member of the SAG and MGM, but he ran into the same difficulties which hampered Whitehall's attempts to carry out similar studies: a lack of time, information and expertise. The work of the SAG does not justify the suspicion that has surrounded it. To an extent, it is true that it was set up to justify ministers' plans and undermined by the refusal of some members to play along. But this comment applied not to some secret closure programme; rather it was the proposal to decentralize railway organization which was undermined and by Beeching himself. The willingness of the Government to abandon its ideological preference and accept Beeching's organizational proposals contrasts with the background to the 1953 Act and reflects the mounting concern that something had to be done to get a grip on the railway deficit. In seeking a solution to this problem the Government was increasingly drawn to a closure programme because it was the one obvious method which would at least do

something in the short term to reduce losses in the face of uncertainty over what could be achieved by other, slower means.

Officials were certainly convinced of the need for a significant contraction of the railway network, but this conviction was not accompanied by the complete disregard of the social or wider economic issues surrounding railway closures. This is particularly evident in the rising concern over urban closures. Much was done to prepare for a closure programme. Some of this work was devoted to making closures easier and speeding up the process, but some of it was devoted to ensuring that due consideration was given to hardship and other non-commercial factors. The failure to provide subsidies for individual services was never a reflection of any intention to close all lossmaking lines. Such subsidies were simply considered too complex, premature and politically disadvantageous at a time when it was unclear how much of the deficit would remain after the genuinely 'dead wood' had been cut out. Whitehall was aware of the need to consider more than the balance sheet; the problem with this approach was that the details of judging the social and economic value of rail services depended on analytical abilities which officials were still struggling to acquire. Clearly, the reform of the closure procedure was an attempt to solve the problems of the 1950s, based on the experience of the previous decade that the opposition to individual closures was a temporary phenomenon that largely dissipated once a line closed and people found they could do without it.⁷⁴ However, the lines Beeching was about to dispense with were often far busier or longer or left more significant towns isolated from the network than any that had closed before, while the possibility that cost-cutting measures might reduce losses to a level justified by this social value was often easier to argue. Ironically, those who made it so difficult to close the Bluebell line ultimately helped make it easier to close lines people might actually need.

The picture that emerges of the background to the *Beeching Report* illustrates the difficulties and limitations of modernization within Whitehall in the early 1960s. The Ministry's Parliamentary Secretary told the House of Commons that the plan 'will not be put to us in a half-baked form. . . . It will not be a plan for closing down the railway system. It will be a plan to create the right kind of railway system for the second half of the twentieth century'.⁷⁵ In fact the *Beeching Report* was half-baked in several respects. The case for closures was in general sound, but the detailed proposals were delayed by similar difficulties to those which dogged attempts to study transport as a whole; and these would complicate the consideration of their wider implications. *Reshaping* exuded the dynamic technocratic image associated with modernization in 1963, but beneath that image lay the real limitations of economic and statistical machinery. And the implementation of its recommendations would challenge the nation's appetite for modernization.

6 Top gear

By early 1963 Harold Macmillan saw the modernization of Britain as a theme with election-winning potential. In the month *Reshaping* was published he noted in his diary 'I see quite an attractive policy developing around the main theme of "Modernising Britain" or "Britain in top gear"'.¹ The *Beeching Report* offered an opportunity to show the public that modernization was not simply a slogan, while modernization provided a positive context for a controversial policy. Whitehall's new role in evaluating individual cases and assessing the impact of the closure programme provided a test of how modernization would work in practice, as officials tried to evaluate individual services in the light of policies on urban congestion and the future distribution of population and employment, while balancing the modernizing aim and its social side-effects. At the same time, the closure programme offered a test of ministers' appetite for modernization as a policy theme. As Samuel Brittan recognized in 1964:

[t]he fashionable belief among Left and Right alike is that if a country is to get moving, it needs not a new financial policy but more fundamental changes in its industrial and business structure.... Yet whenever any such structural change is proposed all hell is immediately let loose.²

In February 1963, ministers realized that they were about to let all hell loose and responded by paying careful attention to the presentation of the report. Later that year, similar concerns ensured that Marples' decisions on individual closures and the timing of the programme were overseen by a Cabinet committee.³ By the time of the General Election in October 1964 Marples had consented to the closure of 127 services and 17 individual stations, affecting 701 stations and closing 1,341 route miles in all (excluding cases published before March 1963); he refused consent in 11 cases affecting 76 stations.⁴ This chapter begins with an examination of the relationship between the *Beeching Report* and the wider modernization theme, before discussing the Government's handling of the chief issues raised by the closure programme: urban closures and regional development; the effect on the holiday industry and the definition of hardship. The second half of the chapter looks at how the Cabinet reacted to the political difficulties *Reshaping* posed and how real those difficulties were.

'Britain in top gear'

It is apposite that Macmillan should have considered a motoring metaphor for his modernization theme, as the motor car was at the heart of what modernity meant to many Britons in 1963 and, even as the closure programme was being developed during 1962, Marples was dreaming of a grandiose plan to be launched in mid-1963 amounting to '[n]o less than the rebuilding of most of our urban fabric' to cope with the motor car and an increase in population, and retraining redundant workers from the railway and ship-building industries for two major projects: government development of derelict urban areas and the production of prefabricated living units such as kitchens and bathrooms.⁵ These ideas were part of a wider debate within government during 1962 in response to the perceived decline of the industrial areas of Scotland and the north-east of England and the contrasting growth of the south-east. Macmillan and ministers such as Henry Brooke, the Home Secretary, found the decay and unemployment of run-down areas intolerable, while such regional imbalances were also seen as a barrier to the effective use of labour, making an incomes policy harder to sustain. The difficulty was that to resist the economic trend in favour of the south-east might damage economic growth.⁶

For Macmillan, modernizing Britain meant rejecting both a laissez-faire acceptance of the decline of some areas and a simple propping up of declining industries (although he was not prepared to rule the latter out in every case, for example ship-building). Instead, new jobs and 'growth points' must be created in the areas threatened by unemployment. The difficulties in doing so were illustrated in July 1962 when the Cabinet considered the proposed sale of a redundant aircraft factory in Christchurch to BOC. The Board of Trade (BoT) had offered to pay £300,000 of the £2 million cost of transferring BOC light engineering production from Edmonton to Dumbarton in an attempt to reduce unemployment there. Unknown to the BoT, however, BOC had negotiated to buy the Christchurch factory from the Ministry of Aviation. The Cabinet found itself impotent in the face of BOC's refusal to transfer work to Scotland and, although it halted the sale, did so in the knowledge that this was a purely symbolic act, resolving to review policy on the distribution of industry.⁷ The Conservatives had already discovered a new emphasis on regional planning and during 1962 a Cabinet committee on population and employment was established under Brooke, followed by the establishment of a Prime Minister's steering committee on the modernization of Britain and Macmillan's decision to give Lord Hailsham special responsibility for drawing up a development plan for the north-east in January 1963.8 By mid-1963 a series of Regional Study Groups (RSGs) covering the south-east, north-east, north-west, west midlands and central Scotland had been established as part of the Government's attempt to get to grips with the future distribution of population and employment.9

Marples' ideas for shifting workers from declining industries to the expanding construction industry probably influenced Macmillan's thinking on modernization and he certainly seems to have been attracted to them. However, with an

92 Top gear

election looming, policy focused on short-term measures relating to Scotland and the north-east and Marples' plans were never launched.¹⁰ The contraction of the railway industry provided a clear example of the Government's determination to free the resources tied up in decaying industries for redeployment in growing ones and of its commitment to achieving this change without abandoning full employment. Dissatisfied with Marples' handling of the rationalization of railway workshops, Macmillan told him:

We must not hesitate from the slogan 'Growth means change – innovation and change are all the time necessary', yet we must not let it be thought that so far as men and women are concerned that they are to be treated in the Victorian happy-go-lucky way when they thought of humans almost less than they thought of machines.¹¹

Macmillan had already identified the need to use redundancy payments to mitigate the effects of industrial change and here the railways set an example followed in both public and private sectors and which met the main aim of the NUR. The history of the NUR attributes the weakness of its opposition to *Reshaping* to the fact that General Secretary Sid Greene was not well-suited to leading the type of campaign effective opposition to *Reshaping* would have required and concentrated on securing good redundancy terms.¹²

Both sides were helped here by the fact that the plan for rationalizing railway workshops launched in 1962 offered a dry run for the closure programme. Union anger at the way the workshop proposals had been published without prior consultation brought home to the Government the dangers of treating closures in the same way and Macmillan ensured that this did not happen. The workshop scheme also produced agreements on redundancy that provided a basis for those relating to *Reshaping*.¹³ The NUR's opposition was further hampered by the unwillingness of the wider union movement to support action which might hamper the election of a Labour government, to which the unions looked for a change of policy.¹⁴

The difficulty that the modernization project faced is summed up in the apparent contradiction between requiring the railways to prioritize financial criteria, which implied a move towards market-orientated policies, and preventing a rise in unemployment or its concentration in particular areas, which implied the direction of labour and industry. Neither extreme was acceptable either to Macmillan or to the nation. The difficulties the Government faced in finding a middle way were evident in the story of the Christchurch factory. The 1961 white paper's attempt to set financial targets which recognized the nationalized utilities' social function and the involvement of Whitehall in judging closure proposals were attempts to bridge the divide. One effect of this policy framework was to place an emphasis on closures as a means by which the railway workforce could be reduced without a major confrontation.¹⁵ The Government was keen to stress that the job losses implied by *Reshaping* could be achieved through 'natural wastage'.¹⁶ However, this was not enough as far as the deficit

was concerned. The massive cost reductions achieved in the wake of *Reshaping* (28 per cent in real terms in 1962–73) were consumed by increases in wages (among other things) and, although the workforce was cut by nearly half in 1960–73 (from 514,500 to 273,000) and the railways had a good record in improving productivity in the ten years after 1963, wages were estimated to account for 62 per cent of railway costs in 1972, just as they had done in 1948. Major questions over the relationship between capital investment and job losses remained unresolved into the 1980s when, for example, an ASLEF strike over the issue of driver-only operation (i.e. without a 'secondman' in the cab) delayed the introduction of new electric trains on the Bedford–St Pancras line.¹⁷

One could argue that this demonstrates how Macmillan's approach to modernization contained the seeds of its own failure by ruling out a more ruthless cut in the workforce which could have made the railways, and the nation, more efficient; however, such a view would have to ignore the political realities of 1963. Not only were ministers, unions and public generally unwilling to see unemployment rise, but a really radical reduction in the workforce would have required increased investment in labour-saving technology, implying a reversal in transport investment trends which was unlikely in the wake of the *Modernisation Plan* fiasco. The fact that such a significant cut in staff numbers was achieved without a major confrontation with the unions or a significant rise in unemployment counts as a success of the Macmillan approach to modernization and the more ruthless approach to this issue after 1979 stands, in this context, as an admission of failure. Macmillan after all had seen what real hardship looked like, on the Somme and on the Tees.

For the Macmillan Government, the railways provided something of a model for how industrial change could be managed and for its presentation in a positive light. However, until the Beeching Report reached Marples on 26 February, ministers had little idea of what its specific proposals would be or how they would relate to population and employment policy.¹⁸ It soon became clear that it contained potential conflicts with attempts to assist declining areas and with regional policy in general. This is most obvious in the fact that the 1962 Act granted the BRB the freedom to withdraw freight facilities as it saw fit, leaving regional planners with no control over their future availability. Closures threatened plans to disperse urban populations and might alter employment patterns, particularly though their effect on holiday resorts. Nationally, the Beeching *Report* implied a reduction in the workforce which could be accommodated by natural wastage; however, the local effects on employment in the north-east, south-west and Scotland would be more severe.¹⁹ In theory Whitehall's machinery for considering closure proposals could examine these problems, but it was recognized that the controversy over individual closures would be concentrated in the period between their publication (proposals had to be published individually subsequent to their appearance in Reshaping) and their implementation, a period which would be longer the more detailed consideration officials gave them.²⁰ Genuine as Macmillan's concern for the social consequences of industrial change was, the modernization of Britain was also a slogan which

94 Top gear

allowed the decline of coal, ship-building and the railways to be presented not as a problem, but as part of a positive process of change and to present the Government as 'full of life and vigour with some new plans to put before the people'.²¹ However, modernization was a problematic theme for the Conservatives and rail closures were an element of it, as Resale Price Maintenance was to be, in which the Party leadership was in danger of leaving its core activists unhappy.²² There was more to Macmillan's modernizing theme than regional and industrial policy, but it was in these respects that the *Beeching Report* can be seen as part of a wider set of policies that added up to more than just a slogan; and in these respects that it was to prove most problematic.

Urban closures and regional planning

Although Beeching had been persuaded not to list suburban services losing about £25 million a year in Reshaping, officials expressed doubts about the BRB's claim that those suburban services which had been included would not be justified by social benefit studies and warned ministers that careful consideration would need to be given in these cases, for example by considering all proposals in a given area together.²³ In December 1963 the Cabinet committee agreed to reject the proposal to close the Woodside-Sanderstead line in south London. Officially the reason for the decision was the London area TUCC's findings on hardship, but in reality ministers felt these were insubstantial. Marples, having overruled the TUCC in the Westerham case in 1961, was reluctant to do so again and the decision reflected ministerial sensitivity over urban transport policy. In March 1963 Marples was advised against taking the coordination of urban transport as the theme for a speech in Manchester because his officials had not yet worked out what advice to give him about either the policy or tactics on suburban closures included in *Reshaping*; and by the end of the year ministers were concerned over criticism that the Buchanan Report had thrown its policy on urban transport into disarray.²⁴ The refusal of consent to the tiny Cardiff-Coryton service resulted from genuine concerns about congestion and the riverside loop in Newcastle was probably reprieved for the same reason. In January 1964, Beeching was persuaded to defer publication of another London case, St Pancras-Barking, and publication of Broad Street-Richmond was also postponed, probably as the result of Government pressure.²⁵ The campaign to save this service, used by 18,000 people a day, was featured on television in May 1964 and the committee formed to save it produced a booklet containing a rough attempt at cost-benefit analysis by an economist, Neil Rubra. Although the Treasury had some reservations about Rubra's calculation, officials accepted the argument that the social costs of closure outweighed the savings to the board.²⁶ The concerns which had influenced the preparation of the report therefore continued to affect decisions on urban closures. Nevertheless, a number were approved, most notably three in Bristol and Nottingham–Worksop in August 1964.²⁷

In general, the potential for conflict between the closure programme and regional planning was reduced by the belief that rail links were less important to

regional policy than road, except for heavy industry. For example, the Prime Minister's steering group on modernization agreed that 'the most important single factor in the rehabilitation and transformation of the industries of North Eastern England was the provision of adequate communications by road and by air'.²⁸ Marples' colleagues generally shared his opposition to postponing cases until regional studies were complete or refusing consent to closure on the grounds that regional development might encourage new traffic, as this would entail a lengthy delay with no guarantee that such traffic would ever be available.²⁹ However, a number of proposals in the report raised similar issues to urban closures. The need for commuter services in the south-east was expected to grow in the future, but the chief planning problem was the impact on plans for the short-range dispersal of urban populations to areas from which they would still need to commute to urban centres for employment. Closure proposals in these areas would need to be carefully studied to assess their cumulative impact on road congestion.³⁰ This issue involved ministers in both individual cases and general regional concerns. Their view that the Andover-Romsey closure would have little effect on development in the south-east was based on advice from the South East RSG and seems defensible.³¹ However, their approval of the closure of Wolverhampton–Burton and Walsall–Rugeley in October 1964 came after the MHLG, the Ministry of Labour and the West Midlands RSG, which had warned that the closures would hinder long-term development and the dispersal of Birmingham's population, had backed down in the face of resistance from Marples, his officials and the Treasury. The West Midlands RSG also voiced concerns over the effect of closing Learnington-Coventry-Nuneaton on traffic in Coventry, which Marples successfully overcame, arguing that closure would only increase peak-hour traffic around Coventry by between 1 and 3 per cent.³² Coventry-Nuneaton, Walsall-Rugeley and the Wolverhampton-Walsall section of the Burton route have all reopened subsequently, although the latter service has not been a success (Learnington-Coventry has also reopened, but only to enable through trains to reach Birmingham International).³³

In the north-west and Scotland concerns about regional planning proved more influential. The North West RSG was particularly concerned about 13 proposals affecting the planned dispersal of about 500,000 people from Liverpool and Manchester.³⁴ Although the Group's fears were not conveyed to the Treasury until September 1964, seven of the services had appeared on a list of 15 cases worrying the MHLG drawn up for the Cabinet committee overseeing closures in August 1963. The MHLG was also concerned at the proposed withdrawal of services to Sudbury, Haverhill and Corby, the populations of which it was planning to expand significantly, two radial lines in London (St Pancras–Barking and Broad Street–Richmond), Barrow–Whitehaven, Manchester–Chinley–Sheffield (closure of which might restrict access to the Peak District National Park) and the effect on the Isle of Wight's holiday trade if the remaining lines there closed.³⁵ By December the MHLG had expanded this list to include another two north-western services, two in the north-east and two in the south-east. The Board of Trade expressed concern about four of these and added three others in
the north-west. The Scottish Development Department (SDD) added eight suburban services in the Glasgow area and six serving remote areas. It must be stressed that the departments were pressing for these services to be thoroughly examined and for their publication to be postponed so that regional studies could be carried out first, rather than for them to be retained.³⁶

Of the 31 services listed in December, Beeching was asked to postpone nine of the 16 that had not been published by January 1964 and agreed to eight, while the Barrow–Whitehaven and Broad Street–Richmond proposals appear to have been abandoned.³⁷ Marples consented to seven full closures and part of an eighth, refusing four outright (although some minor intermediate stations closed).³⁸ However, five consents (Glasgow–Kirkintilloch, Coatbridge–Dumbarton, Romsey–Andover, Glazebrook–Wigan/Stockport) involved minor duplicate or peripheral services in sensitive areas but with few planning implications, while Dumfries–Stranraer was balanced by refusal of Ayr–Stranraer (here, the real concern was over links to Northern Ireland which were maintained by diverting all services over the remaining route). This leaves Monkseaton–Blyth–Newbiggin as a debatable consent. Of the four outright refusals (the lines north of Inverness, Ayr–Stranraer and Manchester–Buxton) it is difficult to disentangle the significance of regional development from concern over significant levels of hardship.

Regional development was particularly significant in the decision to retain the Darlington–Bishop Auckland section of Darlington–Crook, because it served the development area around Darlington and Newton Aycliffe in the politically sensitive north-east.³⁹ Clearly there was a potential conflict between the Government's modernization of the nationalized sector and the regional policy that was a key plank of its wider modernization effort, although many of the cases involved had not come to the Ministry by October 1964 (nine services on the December 1963 list have been at least partially withdrawn since October 1964, although in some cases several of the stations remain open). The position regarding freight was something of a weakness, although perhaps more in theory than in practice, but the impact of rail closures on regional policy was clearly taken into account in individual cases.

Lines to holiday resorts

The closure of lines to holiday resorts was at the heart of the transformation of the railways in the 1950s and 1960s. The railways had created many resorts, in particular in the West Country, and summer traffic transformed lines to them. However, this traffic was concentrated over a very short period. In the West Country some resorts saw a third of their holiday trade in a single peak fortnight. Far from being the money-spinner that Henshaw suggests, this traffic required the railways to provide a capacity which was only rarely utilized and passenger numbers, although still large, were in decline during the late 1950s.⁴⁰ In 1959, out of 18,500 coaches allocated to fast and semi-fast services, 6,000 were used on no more than 18 occasions, and a third of these on no more than ten. Beech-

ing estimated these coaches cost £3.4 million, but earned only £500,000 (which illustrates the potentially misleading nature of figures relating to gross contributory revenue). *Reshaping* proposed the closure of lines to 127 holiday resorts, including inland destinations such as Richmond (Yorkshire) and Ballater, and promised the complete elimination of high peak stock by 1965 (a proposal with implications for plans to mobilize the army and disperse the urban population in the event of war).⁴¹ The closure of inland lines such as Peterborough–Northampton also reduced holiday traffic by removing points of its origin.⁴² One interesting consequence of the shift of holiday traffic from rail to road in the 1950s and 1960s was that the concentration of journeys in the high peak declined, as holidaymakers who had been prepared to tolerate the delays and poor facilities on the railways were unwilling to sit in traffic jams and made their journeys outside the peak weekends.⁴³

ILFRACOMBE, 1965						
	21–27 February 1965		11–17 July 1965			
	Weekday	Saturday	Weekday	Saturday		
Ilfracombe-Barnstable Jct.	255	275	403	1,543		
Barnstable JctIlfracombe	230	268	343	2,265		
EAST LINCOLNSHIRE, 1963–4						
	October 1963		July 1964			
	Weekday	Saturday	Weekday	Saturday		
Skegness	202	273	652	5,578		
Mablethorpe	31	51	197	1,716		
Sutton on Sea	26	22	40	111		

In addition 75,000 passengers were carried to the coast by excursion trains in the summer of 1963, including 142 trains to Skegness and 57 to Mablethorpe.

EAST LINCOLNSHIRE, 1967

	February 196	February 1967		
	Weekday	Saturday	Weekday	Saturday
Skegness ^b	159	193	423	3,162
Mablethorpe	24	32	71	712

In addition 41 excursions brought 17,967 people to Skegness and seven brought 990 people to Mablethorpe.

Notes

Figure 6.1 Holiday traffic and its decline (daily average of passengers joining regular services^a) (sources: PRO, MT 124/737, BRB, Ilfracombe closure proposal memorandum, 4 March 1966; MT 124/718, MoT, 'Railway passenger closure proposal: services in east Lincolnshire', April 1968; 'Railway passenger closure proposals: services in east Lincolnshire', January 1965).

a The figures for Ilfracombe refer to services, those for east Lincolnshire to specific stations.

b The 1967 figure for Skegness appears to include excursion train passengers. The remainder do not.

The Ministry's desire to take a strong line on holiday closures can be discerned in Marples' attempt to overcome the obvious problems of conveying luggage on buses by suggesting they be permitted to haul luggage trailers and in his argument that the definition of hardship should not include making daytrippers (specifically from Hull to Hornsea) wait for a bus rather than a train. Closures were only expected to affect 2 or 3 per cent of non day-trip holidaymakers, who could always transfer their custom to other resorts and were already shifting to road, and similar closures had not had a serious impact in the past (the Isle of Wight and Coniston were cited as examples). Although closures might mean hardship for resorts that lost business, it was felt that they should be adapting themselves 'more vigorously' to car-borne visitors and 'modernising their promotion to this end'. Although both ministers and officials saw the question of lines to holiday resorts as requiring special attention, the one concession to worried boarding house landladies, hoteliers and deckchair attendants throughout the country was the announcement that any closure proposals published from February 1964 would not be implemented until 1 October. Marples consented to closure of one of the two routes to Ilfracombe (Taunton--Barnstable), two of the three routes to Whitby and the Wells-next-the-Sea branch. However, tourist traffic was a factor in the decision to retain the Middlesbrough-Whitby service. Although congestion was not expected to be a major problem in many areas, in the south-west resorts accounting for nearly a fifth of the holiday trade were to lose their services, while in Wales the figure was 12 per cent, and the possibility of congestion, especially in the former, was noted. There was certainly significant concern within the Conservative Party about this, while the MHLG's worries about the Isle of Wight and the Peak District has already been mentioned.⁴⁴ It would be rash to assume that the Conservatives would have closed those holiday lines reprieved after 1964, as I shall argue in the following chapter.

Hardship

In February 1963 Marples assured Macmillan that 'our procedures are designed to ensure there is no real hardship'.⁴⁵ However, the term was difficult to quantify. In retrospect the extent of hardship required to prevent a closure can be defined as the inability to provide bus services for those travelling to work who had no alternative means of transport, without incurring such expense as to wipe out the savings produced (usually because the quality of the roads, the length of the lines and the numbers involved made replacement buses impossible). Marples had told Peter Thorneycroft in June 1962 that lines should only be subsidized 'where the essential needs of users cannot be met at less cost by bus services', although the intention seems to have been to postpone closures until roads could be made adequate, rather than retain lines permanently. Marples certainly felt that Manchester–Buxton, to which he could not consent in 1964, should close in the long term.⁴⁶ A key point in the evolution of this definition was ministers' consideration of the Romsey–Andover line in the early summer

of 1964, the first to come before them in which it was clear that closure would cause hardship that could not be satisfactorily relieved by a bus service. Here, ministers concluded that 'the decision should not turn on the mere presence of hardship but on the balance of the degree of hardship and the numbers involved against the cost to the public of maintaining the service' and, in doing so, considered the level of subsidy per regular passenger (£100–200 a year).⁴⁷ The Ministry recommended that Hull–Hornsea should close on the grounds that day-trippers' inconvenience was not hardship and that the increased journey times (from 25–37 minutes to 60–85 minutes, which the Ministry referred to as 'inconvenience, perhaps amounting to hardship'), and annual subsidies of £153 each for 300–400 commuters who would suffer very severe hardship according to the TUCC were roughly the same as in Andover–Romsey (an increase of 37 minutes and a 90-minute maximum).

These were very rough calculations and in the Hornsea case led the TUCC members to consider resigning en masse or appearing before the traffic commissioners to oppose the granting of licences to replacement buses. Leaving aside the question of whether the Board's figures were correct, the subsidy calculation compared the saving on closure only to the number of commuters who would suffer hardship, ignoring the benefits of retaining the line to Hornsea's day-trip tourist business (2,000-3,000 day-trippers from Hull on fine summer days), 200 shoppers and various other users, as well as the possibility of reducing the subsidy through economy. For good measure, the Ministry argued that refusing consent to Hornsea would 'no doubt arouse jealousy and bitterness in Withernsea' (which was due to lose its service to Hull at the same time) and so both should close.⁴⁸ Hardship was not the sole factor in cases where consent was refused. In the case of Cardiff-Coryton, a short commuter line, where a journey of 16 minutes might increase by an hour, urban congestion was clearly an issue; in Buxton and Scotland, regional planning; and in Whitby, holiday traffic. The political impact was also relevant, as it was in Shrewsbury-Llanelli where hardship justified retention.49

Organizing replacement bus services was a complicated business and it is easy to find failings, particularly as circumstances changed over time. The bus replacing the branch to Princetown on Dartmoor continued to terminate at the derelict junction station long after it closed in 1962.⁵⁰ Closure of the Wells–East Dereham branch saw a diesel train journey of 40 minutes replaced by a bus journey of 80. The provision of buses connecting with trains at Dereham was a condition of closure, but when the line closed the timetable on the remaining section through Dereham was recast, leaving the buses with no connection. Officials discovered this purely by chance some three months later.⁵¹ Moreover, when Dereham (which was not listed for closure in *Reshaping*) lost its service, the basis on which hardship had been assessed was undermined. In 1976, British Rail commissioned a study into the effects of railway closures, which concluded that buses 'cannot serve as adequate substitutes for rail' and that the inadequacy of replacement bus services meant rail closures had a significant adverse effect on the quality of life for many people. Fewer than half of former rail passengers transferred to replacement buses and even those who used them did so less often than they had used the railway. Car owners who had used rail services for some journeys did not use buses for any, while those without cars tended to abandon non-essential travel altogether. Particular difficulties were uncovered in providing connecting bus services to remaining rail services, and only a third of people who had travelled beyond the junctions on a reasonably regular basis continued to do so.⁵²

By 1965 MoT officials were aware that 'following a passenger closure usually only a proportion of the users transfer to the bus service'.⁵³ In 1967 they commissioned a survey of former rail passengers on three routes, Dumfries-Stranraer, Eridge-Hailsham and Bradford-Huddersfield. This found that the TUCCs' views on the impact of the closures were generally confirmed, that the closures had little immediate effect on the location of employment and accommodation and that, while many daily travellers complained about the general nature of bus travel, for the majority this constituted inconvenience rather than hardship and average increases in the cost and time of journeys were small. Such inconveniences appear to have been enough, however, to deter many of those who had made the journey less often (once or twice a week) from continuing to do so.⁵⁴ Nevertheless, the failure of many former rail users to transfer to buses needs to be placed in the context of a massive decline in rural bus travel after 1956. Those who lost their railways may have felt forced into their cars, but they were repeating a pattern of choice elsewhere, as the growth of car ownership during the 1960s undermined the economics of rural buses and decimated their network. The real issue was the fate of those without cars or the means to acquire them, a problem which led Watkinson to investigate, Marples to support and Barbara Castle to introduce subsidies for rural bus services in general (those replacing branch lines were already subsidized).⁵⁵

The Ministry certainly attempted a thorough investigation of individual cases. Treasury officials found the 'marathon' meetings of the working party responsible went into such detail that it was not worth their representatives attending most of them and decisions were often held up while further information was sought from TUCCs, the BRB or other departments, in particular the Scottish Office.⁵⁶ A certain amount of cynicism about claims of hardship was understandable; even in Wick a local claimed that 'most of the people who are making all the fuss have not used the railways for years'.⁵⁷ However, hardship was not ignored, but defined in a manner clearly designed to maximize the number of consents. Marples was an enthusiastic supporter of this approach and in one case (Cambridge-March) he was prevented by his colleagues from withdrawing a service in advance of complex arrangements for a replacement bus service being completed (the service eventually closed when these arrangements were established in the 1970s).⁵⁸ However, Hillman and Whalley's comment that former passengers suffered 'a degree of hardship and inconvenience that does not appear to be widely appreciated by people involved in making decisions affecting rural transport' ignores the harsh reality that what officials were trying to do was to strike a balance between the real suffering inflicted by the withdrawal of a service and the notional suffering which might be alleviated by the reallocation to some other area of government expenditure of the funds which that service consumed. It was inevitably a thankless task; and one undertaken without any hard and fast figure for an acceptable level of subsidy and on an uncertain basis, not least because it was not something the Ministry had ever done before.⁵⁹ More than any other issue, hardship illustrated the problems the Government had taken on in tackling the railway deficit.

Political presentation

Ministers were certainly not immune to the horror with which many rail users greeted the Beeching Report. When the Cabinet's population and employment committee first laid eyes on it in February 1963, members realized that it would raise a storm and some of them were attracted to the idea that the Government should 'reduce the size of the bang by removing some of the explosive', cutting out those proposals which were bound to be rejected on social grounds before the whole plan was made public. They considered publishing individual closures from time to time rather than as a whole in the form of a plan, but quickly ruled this out as several public references to the preparation of the plan had already been made.⁶⁰ By the end of the month a Cabinet committee on the reorganization of the railways, chaired by First Secretary of State Rab Butler and containing half the Cabinet, was established to consider when and if the plan should be published, whether a list of uneconomic lines which would not be closed should be agreed with the BRB and issued in conjunction with it and, if so, how these services were to be paid for.⁶¹ Cabinet Office officials warned that if ministers watered down the proposals, they would be attacked for having 'dismissed without examination plans which have taken many months to mature and ... once again shown themselves lacking in any sense of constructive leadership'. Treasury officials stressed both the size of the railway deficit and the centrality of freeing resources for more productive employment to the modernization process. Although a rumour reached the Treasury that Butler, who had been listed among the objectors to the closure of the Colne Valley line in 1961, was planning to slow down the closure programme to a significant extent, the Cabinet agreed to proceed. With caution.62

The importance of presenting the report as an exercise in modernization was clear to all. To be seen as 'concerned primarily with making the railways pay' would be to invite attacks; 'losses arose from the fact that the system was not related to present needs and the principal objective should be to reshape it'. The difficulty lay in demonstrating support for the plan while appearing 'determined to take due account of the social arguments for maintaining railway lines' and the report was considered sensitive enough for its presentation to merit two meetings of the Cabinet committee. The BRB had made considerable efforts on this front, a particular success being the use by Granada Television of the Board's own film explaining the report, and the exercise undoubtedly conveyed the size of the problem and the reasons for railway closures to the public as well

102 Top gear

as establishing the Party's modernizing credentials. So much so that its presentation was seen as template for the handling of the Buchanan Report later that year.⁶³ In the weeks prior to publication, Party Chairman Iain Macleod publicly linked Beeching with the modernization theme and stressed that he expected the proposals to be unpopular, but that they would be handled with 'courage and humanity' to free government funds for more positive uses, while ensuring the needs of rural areas were not ignored.⁶⁴ With the help of Beeching's map showing the extent of bus services (rather misleadingly, as it gave no indication of their frequency), the 'surgical' nature of the operation and the ability of bus services to cope were stressed, a combination summed up in the slogan 'Conservatives believe in modernizing Britain - with care for individual needs'. This approach bore fruit in praise for the report from Labour MP and the Transport Salaried Staffs' Association (TSSA) General Secretary Ray Gunter and the ASLEF General Secretary. However, there were immediate protests, in particular from other rail workers, Scotland and West-Country holiday resorts; and, as the Cabinet foresaw, the gap between Reshaping's publication and the first TUCC hearings meant that the effect of this success had worn off by the time individual decisions began to be announced in significant numbers from January 1964.65

As the Ministry had anticipated in 1956, Scotland was the focus of opposition to closures.⁶⁶ The Scottish Secretary, a fit-again John Maclay, had expressed concern about the effects of closures in the north of Scotland in the summer of 1962 and the impression made by Beeching's visit that autumn had built up opposition.⁶⁷ By May 1963 Maclay's successor, Michael Noble, was pressing for the Government to announce that five major proposals in Scotland Dingwall–Kyle (Inverness-Wick/Thurso, of Lochalsh, Ayr-Stranraer, Dumfries-Stranraer, and Edinburgh-Carlisle via Hawick, known as the Waverley Route), would be deferred for three to five years and was unhappy at Beeching's reluctance to supply him with information on them (it did not arrive until November, despite significant pressure from Macmillan).⁶⁸ In addition to Scottish concern, the threat to the two Stranraer routes was controversial in Northern Ireland and it was recognized that closing the Shrewsbury-Llanelli line would 'provide a stimulus to Welsh nationalism'.⁶⁹ The Association of Welsh Local Authorities had formed an All-Wales Committee on Rail Closures, which met Marples in April 1962. The following year, Macmillan unenthusiastically agreed to meet a joint delegation of the All-Wales Committee and the Welsh Parliamentary Party.⁷⁰

Marples was largely successful in keeping Conservative backbench doubts to a minimum when the plan was unveiled; however, the Government's majority was cut by about 20 in the debate on Beeching in April, with Scottish and West-Country MPs prominent among the rebels. Isle of Wight MP, Mark Woodnutt, was a vocal early critic and Sir John Maitland's opposition to the removal of almost all of east Lincolnshire's railways probably encouraged Marples to defer a decision on Lincoln–Firsby until the area could be considered as a whole (the General Election intervened).⁷¹ Some of the backbench concern seems to have been for show. When Nicholas Ridley saw Marples over the closure of the lines to Cirencester and Tetbury in his constituency, he expressed support for the policy but concern at his constituents' reaction. He left with a promise that Marples' office would draft a letter of complaint for him to send to the Minister and provide a draft reply from the Minister with it.⁷² Nevertheless, by May 1963 concern within the Conservative Party about the closure programme in general and the consultative procedure in particular had reached a level which prompted the Chief Whip, Martin Redmayne, to convey his concern 'as to whether the Minister of Transport is going to handle the political implications of the Beeching proposals in a way which will necessarily be acceptable to Ministers generally and to the Party' to Macmillan. The Chief Whip's primary objective was to ensure that Marples' decisions in individual cases were overseen by the Cabinet committee, a suggestion the Minister does not appear to have welcomed.⁷³

Even before any Reshaping cases reached Marples, backbench concern had undermined a key plank in the tactical plan for implementing the closure programme. As we have seen, it had been intended to avoid any discussion of financial information by the TUCCs, because it had no bearing on hardship.⁷⁴ However, in June 1963, as criticism of the procedure mounted, the Government announced that the TUCCs would be supplied with figures showing the direct earnings (exclusive of contributory revenue) and direct expenses of the service in question, plus a figure representing expenditure on maintenance and renewals (at historic, not replacement, cost) over five years. Direct expenses consisted of movement costs (the cost of running trains themselves), terminal expenses (the cost of providing stations) and the track and signalling costs attributed to the service in question. This concession merely led to a renewal of complaints about the accuracy of the railways' figures, forcing Marples to ask Sir William Carrington, a former president of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, to consider what financial information should be supplied to the TUCCs.⁷⁵ Carrington's report, which arrived in October, stressed his conviction that the lines in question were unprofitable and that the figures were diligently compiled. Serpell had told Carrington that he was free to say what he wished, but his positive verdict was 'not the result of immense cogitation'. Officials were all too well aware that 'objectors could find almost any reason for delaying closure [and therefore] needed something mildly episcopal'.⁷⁶ His endorsement of the figures supplied was condemned by experts in the Economic Section Barbara Castle later established within the Ministry. However, they had no doubt that the lines affected would have been losing money.77

In any event, Carrington's report did not defuse concerns about the process. In a furious private letter to Marples, in which he called the Minister's presentation of Carrington's report 'such a pitifully inadequate piece of whitewashing as to be almost childish' and the BRB's figures 'a damned lie', Lord Stonham of the National Council on Inland Transport warned Marples that he was receiving 200–300 letters of support a week and enclosed one from a correspondent 'typical of the decent women who in rural areas form the backbone of the Tory Party' and were now supporters of his campaign. He ended by warning Marples

104 Top gear

that while he had previously concentrated on attacking the BRB he would now begin attacking the Minister unless something was done. Stonham's campaigning was receiving favourable attention in the press and worrying the Ministry.⁷⁸ The fact that the figures supplied were obviously not as full as those published for ten exemplary cases in *Reshaping* – which included estimates of gross contributory revenue, the revenue lost following closure, and the net financial effect – did not help matters. However, Marples told his colleagues that these fuller calculations would be open to criticism because they inevitably involved a certain amount of estimation and in December called the waverers' bluff by offering to consider setting up an independent body to assess the economic case for closure, while warning that this would probably mean spreading implementation of the proposals over 'ten years instead of two or three'. The matter was dropped.⁷⁹

The problems over figures were compounded by the Board's presentational shortcomings. In the Wells-East Dereham case, for example, the BRB faced a fairly routine criticism that the summer traffic census had missed the extra traffic in the school holidays, which it countered by pointing out that a census in the holidays would have missed the 60 schoolchildren who used the line; but it was unable to explain to the Ministry why its representative had told the TUCC that special trains could still be run to the shrine of Our Lady of Walsingham as the line remained open to freight (a point which caused the TUCC to set aside objections from pilgrims), when in fact it only intended to offer a replacement coach service.⁸⁰ R. F. Bretherton, a Treasury official involved in drawing up advice on closures, attended the public hearing on his local service, Horsham-Guildford, in March 1964. Bretherton was not opposed to the closure but complained with some force to his superior about the performance of the 'unimpressive little man' representing the BRB at the hearing, 'who, from the first, adopted a hostile and querulous attitude', misrepresented the facts and informed the audience that there would be no alternative services provided to the users of Baynards station 'with a degree of malicious glee which roused most of the audience to fury'.⁸¹ The attempt to quell the storms over rail closures had failed: ministers would have to ride them out.

Managing the timetable

The Cabinet committee only dealt with a small percentage of closure cases, but it devoted much effort to managing the programme as a whole in order to minimize the damage it did to the Government. Significantly, it was chaired by the Party Chairman, first Iain Macleod and then, once Sir Alec Douglas-Home replaced Macmillan in October and reshuffled the Cabinet, Lord Blakenham. Although there was much concern about the impact of closures on Conservative support, there is no evidence that this affected the outcome of any individual case. (The files on the decision to reprieve the riverside loop in Tyneside immediately before the 1964 General Election in which the Conservatives defended a majority of 98 at Newcastle East have not survived, although this decision did affect the sort of urban line which might well have been reprieved in any event.) Instead it was the timing of the publication of closure proposals and decisions which ministers sought to influence. Their aim was to ensure that relatively uncontroversial closures which would offer large savings and the controversial proposals which would be refused could be brought to conclusion before the election, so as to postpone the most unpopular decisions until after it, while demonstrating a balance between support for the Board and due concern for the hardship arising in the meantime.⁸²

This strategy was fraught with problems; indeed Macleod believed it was impossible and pursued it mainly to prevent accusations of ineptitude.⁸³ Unless the Government was prepared to render the entire process a sham, it was impossible to know what the decision would be in any particular case or how long it would take to arrive at it. Moreover, the programme proceeded more slowly than originally expected; officials anticipated that the bulk of cases would have been dealt with by the TUCCs by the end of 1964 and implemented by the end of 1965, yet by the end of October 1964 only half had passed through the TUCC process and over 100 had yet to be published.⁸⁴ There were practical difficulties in altering the plans of the BRB and the TUCCs and political dangers in being seen to do so. Nevertheless, some ministers were prepared to consider such an approach.85 Marples, however, was convinced by his experience of almost constant controversy at Transport from the moment he introduced a new parking scheme in London in 1959 that 'a few objectors make more noise than the many who agree', and was generally reluctant to interfere with Beeching's timetable.⁸⁶ His officials shared this view and were enthusiastically backed by the Treasury, which took the view that 'our job is to facilitate the closure of the lines: there will be no shortage of advocates for the defence'.⁸⁷ For example, Marples' determination not to rule out the closure of lines north of Inverness at some point in the future, when announcing their reprieve in March 1964, was prompted by a letter from Boyd-Carpenter, the Financial Secretary.⁸⁸ Even if Marples had been more cooperative, Beeching was not. He had been appointed to do a job and, having already given ground on suburban services, was not prepared to delay proposals simply because they might prove unpopular.⁸⁹

The chief flaw in this attempt to manage the closure programme was ministers' apparent failure to appreciate that the controversy surrounding a proposal was generally greater the more money it saved.⁹⁰ Lines used by significant numbers of people tended to have more trains running on them, and therefore to cost more to operate, than lightly-used branches. To take an example from the cases set out in detail in *Reshaping*, the York–Hull service earned £90,400 a year in fares, while Banff–Tillynaught earned a mere £600, indicating that few people would be affected by its closure. Yet the former offered savings of £81,110, the latter £10,900.⁹¹ More obviously, long lines offered greater savings than short ones, but tended to leave communities more isolated and harder to serve by bus when they closed. The five Scottish cases Noble was worried about are good examples; others include Shrewsbury–Llanelli, Settle–Carlisle and Ipswich–Lowestoft, all of which survived, and Peterborough–Grimsby which

106 Top gear

survived in part. Even the Great Central (Aylesbury–Nottingham), which offered huge savings and relatively little hardship, was controversial and, while the 21 closures which Marples approved in March 1964 saved a total of \pounds 800,000 a year, the two he vetoed at the same time (Shrewsbury–Llanelli and Ayr–Kilmarnock) would have saved £215,000.⁹²

Over the summer of 1963 Macleod compiled a list of controversial cases in England based on the 'scores of replies' he received to a request for information from the Party. Although he limited it to those in which the relevant MP had complained, it still affected 33 proposals (somewhat misleadingly, as the reference to 'Devon generally' was interpreted by Marples as meaning all Devon closures, including Halwill-Torrington, one of the most easily justified). By October the list had expanded to include the five Scottish cases Noble was worried about and six in Wales. Marples had persuaded Beeching to accelerate publication of two Welsh and three Scottish cases to 1963 in the expectation that these would produce some refusals. A fourth Scottish case was already due to be published in November and Noble expected the fifth of his difficult cases (the Waverley line) to be approved for closure and so did not want it brought forward. The Welsh Secretary, Keith Joseph, had warned Marples in August that consent to the pre-Reshaping proposal to close Shrewsbury-Llanelli would convince the Government's opponents that no account would be taken of hardship and although he felt those brought forward would close he wanted this done sooner rather than later to measure the reaction.93 No sooner had this list been compiled, however, than the whole question of timing was thrown into confusion when Macmillan fell ill and resigned unexpectedly in October, putting the anticipated election date back from the spring of 1964 to the autumn. This led to uncertainty over whether to accelerate unpopular decisions to get them out of the way before the election instead of postponing them until after it and delayed further activity until December, by which time it was clear that the whole process was taking longer than anticipated and so additional accelerations would be of little use (because it was too late to reach decisions on them before polling). Marples was instructed to halt publication of proposals on the list until a decision on how to proceed was taken.⁹⁴ At this stage the implementation of closures had been virtually halted since June as the new machinery took time to get up to speed.95

By January 1964, with public and parliamentary concern over the consultative procedure unabated, enough areas of potential delay had emerged to threaten the credibility of the whole programme. Although much of the sting had been taken out of the urban question before *Reshaping*'s publication, the *Buchanan Report* had raised the temperature and Lord Stonham had called for 131 urban closures in *Reshaping* to be postponed (rather optimistically, as at least one proposal had attracted no objections). Marples was also being pressed to defer the publication of some 30 proposals relating to holiday resorts until the autumn. Meanwhile, the list of cases which the MHLG, SDD and BoT felt might be deferred had been produced and, taken with the existing list of politically sensitive cases, this accounted for about 20 per cent of the programme. Marples resisted any deferment through three meetings of the Cabinet committee and one of the Cabinet, before agreeing to a compromise under which, as we have seen, the Government announced that the implementation of holiday-line closures would be delayed until October and Beeching was asked to defer publication of only nine cases: the Waverley line; St Pancras–Barking and seven in the northwest. While the deferred cases were subject to planning concerns (although this was not a decisive factor in the Waverley case), these could have been dealt with after the TUCC reports had been received; deferment was a political move designed to avoid prolonging the period of greatest controversy between publication and the final decision.⁹⁶

The Waverley proposal's postponement reflected the continuing intensity of opposition in Scotland. An organization called the Vigilants of Scotland (also known as Macpuff) had been formed to oppose closures north of Inverness and was attracting Conservative support.⁹⁷ In December 1963 the Conservatives' majority at Dumfries was cut from over 7,000 to 971, its lowest for 30 years, in a by-election at which the proposed closure of the line to Stranraer had encouraged opposition hopes.⁹⁸ The following month the Chairman of the Party in Scotland, Sir John George, warned the Prime Minister that

feelings are red hot among the executive committees and Divisional Councils throughout Scotland on the ... subject. No one believes that the [Inverness–Wick and Dumfries–Stranraer] lines in fact will be closed but all are distressed and dismayed that we are giving our opponents such a long run to flay us mercilessly.⁹⁹

At the end of January Marples, Noble and Douglas-Home met a delegation representing various Scottish bodies calling for the postponement of the whole programme in the north of Scotland, at which Noble gave the delegates a hint that that the Government had no intention of closing the lines north of Inverness, although the departments were still arguing over who said what to whom two months later.¹⁰⁰ Douglas-Home agreed that closure was impossible and wanted the issue resolved as soon as possible after the TUCC reports were received. Pressure from Number Ten succeeded in squeezing a refusal out of Marples as soon as was decent after the TUCC reports arrived, two months earlier than he had originally felt possible and despite his hopes that the Inverness-Kyle line could be closed once major road improvements were carried out.¹⁰¹ The Stranraer lines proved more problematic and it was not until July that Marples was able to announce his refusal to Ayr-Stranraer and his consent to Dumfries-Stranraer.¹⁰² Meanwhile, Douglas-Home had to be persuaded that it would not look good if the Gleneagles-Crieff section of the Comrie branch (which lay in his constituency) was reprieved when other more deserving cases had not been.¹⁰³ In September Noble successfully lobbied for a decision on Aviemore–Forres to be deferred on purely political grounds.¹⁰⁴

Controlling the order in which decisions were announced offered a less problematic way of defusing opposition than manipulating the order in which proposals were published, but even this was not trouble-free. Closures were generally announced in batches so that consents were accompanied by refusals. The first such group was announced on 14 January 1964, when five Welsh consents were balanced by the refusal of Cardiff-Coryton.¹⁰⁵ By February Noble was insisting that the next batch must contain a Scottish refusal. Marples was able to offer Kilmarnock-Ayr and announced around 20 decisions at a press conference in March including this and a second refusal, Shrewsbury-Llanelli.¹⁰⁶ Every letter written to the Minister about rail closures received a reply written by officials. Although standard texts were used for all letters about a given line, unique paragraphs were usually provided in response to specific points. A good example is the reply offered to a 12-year-old schoolboy who wrote to the Ministry in 1967 with a lengthy account of his reasons for hoping that the Hull-Scarborough line would not close, during the course of which he asked whether two unrelated stations had been closed and whether the Ministry could send him some maps of railways. The Ministry's reply updated him on the progress of the Hull case, informed him that he could send an objection to the Yorkshire TUCC, answered his questions on the two stations and suggested he ask the BRB for maps, enclosing their address.¹⁰⁷ The provision of such individually-tailored replies made letter-writing an effective form of protest in as much as it delayed the whole process. The preparation of and correspondence resulting from the March press conference slowed the pace at which the Ministry could process cases and by May the press was claiming that this was deliberate; by July the Board was complaining.¹⁰⁸ In fact Blakenham was pressing Marples to speed up his decisions as early as April, in the belief that delays increased controversy.¹⁰⁹

In the early summer concern about the electoral consequences of closures was mounting and ministers sought to persuade Beeching not to publish new proposals in the run up to the election.¹¹⁰ Although he appears to have agreed not to publish controversial proposals, he refused to stop publication entirely. Although Marples' rash of decisions in September was prompted partly by his colleagues' desire to end uncertainty, he was admonished for overdoing it by Blakenham in middle of the month.¹¹¹ Some 30 decisions were implemented between the start of September and the General Election. A month before the election Marples gave his consent to a further 38 closures, leaving the lines involved under sentence over the campaigning period, while over 200 had yet to be dealt with (of which about half had been published).¹¹² Given the pressure on Marples to manage the closure programme with one eye on the election, what impact did closures have on what was one of the closest of post-war polls, returning Labour with a five-seat majority won on a few hundred votes in a handful of seats?

The 1964 General Election

The chief study of the election records that fulminations against Beeching on the part of candidates of all parties were common, but gives no suggestion that the issue affected the result.¹¹³ Local press reports give no indication that closure of Stockport–Glazebrook contributed to Labour's success in the two Stockport constituencies; at Buckingham, where closure of the line to Bletchley in Septem-

ber was followed by Robert Maxwell's victory for Labour in October, the local paper reported that only 40 people turned up for the last train, 'none of them local', while the reprieve granted to the Newcastle riverside loop in September was not enough to save the Conservatives' majority of 98 at Newcastle East.¹¹⁴ However, voters in some constituencies were given reason to expect that the whole programme would be frozen or even reversed if Labour got in. Labour's manifesto promised a national transport plan and that 'new regional authorities will be asked to draw up transport plans for their own areas. While these are being prepared, major rail closures will be halted'.¹¹⁵ Marples' consent to the closure of the lines from Malton and Scarborough to Whitby in September had been greeted with outrage in Whitby and the local Conservative MP had quickly found himself obliged to disown the decision. In a fine display of campaigning local journalism the Whitby Gazette gave front-page prominence to the case on an almost weekly basis for the rest of the year. Harold Wilson's letter to the local Labour Party in September assuring them that 'an obviously major decision such as the Scarborough-Malton-Whitby rail closure would be covered by the statement in the Labour Party manifesto "major rail closures will be halted"', was interpreted by the paper as meaning that if Labour won the election the closure would not go ahead.¹¹⁶ At Silloth the Party went further, organizing the demonstration described at the start of this book, reports of which gave much prominence to the promise that trains would run again if Labour got in.¹¹⁷

Silloth and Whitby both lay in safe Tory seats, but while hopes of a reopening had faded by polling day, the Silloth closure focused attention on the issue in Carlisle where Labour's successful candidate stressed that 'Carlisle is a railway town and I am a railwayman' and warned voters of the threat posed by Beeching's plans to rationalize through routes. Here a Conservative majority of 1,998 became a Labour one of 2,120, with the help of an independent Conservative.¹¹⁸ On the penultimate day of the campaign the Hull Daily Mail reported an election meeting at Hornsea, which along with the neighbouring Withernsea branch was due to lose its service the following week, at which a Labour councillor claimed that, if Labour won, 'the closures which had not already taken place would be stopped until every line had been examined, not purely on the basis of whether they paid or not, but whether they provided a service to the community'. Many of the voters in marginal Hull North (where Labour overturned a Conservative majority of 702 to win by 1,181 votes) used the lines for summer day-trips and would have read reports of the campaign to save them if Labour won on the front page of the local paper on polling day.¹¹⁹ The closure of the Northampton-Peterborough line through Wellingborough in May 1964 probably came too early to influence the election result, but even a minuscule protest vote could have cost the Conservatives dearly as Labour won by 47 votes.¹²⁰

It would be rash to claim that Beeching cost the Conservatives the election on the basis of any of these seats. However, these were all constituencies where the Party needed all the help it could get and did not get that help from Beeching and Marples. Moreover, in both the Scottish Highlands and Cornwall it is possible that the extent of Beeching's proposals fuelled a sense of regional

110 Top gear

disaffection reflected in the Liberals' capture of Inverness, Ross and Cromarty, Caithness and Sutherland and Bodmin.¹²¹ Darlington, Doncaster and Bury were among the seats which would determine the size of a Labour majority in a close election, a category in which the Party experienced only patchy success. At Darlington the threat to the railway workshops and to the industry in general in a town put on the map by its association with the Stephensons was a key factor in the campaign, as the Central Office agent for the north had predicted it would be the previous autumn, particularly given the Conservative candidate's support for the BRB's proposals and efforts by the Labour Party to trace rail workers who had moved to other works and ensure that they had postal ballots. The swing to Labour here was a strong 6.4 per cent. Similar concerns may have helped Labour in the railway town of Doncaster, which also changed hands, but where the pro-Labour swing was only 4.8 per cent.¹²²

At Bury, which had featured on the list of Conservative Party concerns the previous year, David Ensor turned a Conservative majority of nearly 4,000 into a Labour one of over 1,000. Labour was helped here by the fact that the Liberals fielded a candidate for the first time since 1950 and in numerical terms the Liberal vote was roughly equal to the decline in both main parties' vote since 1959. The electric service to Manchester, used by 7,000 people a day including 4,000 commuters to Manchester, had been proposed for closure in February. In an election speech reported locally a week before polling Ensor pointed out that under the Beeching plan the town would lose all its rail links, and implied that Bury would benefit from Labour's manifesto pledge. Although the local Conservative MP was a prominent opponent of closure, both Liberal and Labour candidates pointed out that he had voted in support of Reshaping itself and a Times feature on the constituency identified rail closures as one of two significant local issues. Ironically, the other was the unpopular plan to use Bury as an overspill town for Manchester, the very measure which had ensured the closure proposals were postponed.¹²³

Finally there was North Norfolk. This is an odd case to cite, in that Labour held it against a Conservative swing. Yet the majority of just 53, reduced from 658, is so small that the closure of the Wells and Mundesley lines ten days before polling and the fear that Sheringham-Cromer would follow may well have done enough to prevent the Conservatives repeating their success at Norfolk South-west. The possibility that seats in Norfolk would swing towards the Conservatives and the significance of local issues was appreciated during the campaign (although the Conservatives themselves focused resources on seats they were trying to hold). As the Conservative vote in the area tended to come from the towns (with Labour's support based on agricultural workers) it is surely possible that a handful of Conservative voters were persuaded either to stay at home or vote Labour in the hope of saving or restoring their local rail link. The local Labour candidate failed to utilize the campaigning opportunities provided by the two closures in the way that his counterpart at Silloth did, but closures did feature in the campaign and fears for the Sherringham line's future were expressed in the local press in the weeks leading up to the vote. Certainly Barbara Castle made a point of visiting East Anglia to reassure voters about rail closures during the 1966 campaign.¹²⁴

It is impossible to make a watertight case for closures costing the Conservatives a single seat in 1964 and even where closures were an issue they did not dominate campaigns to the exclusion of all else. Transport did not even feature in a Sunday Telegraph poll of election issues; the Carlisle Journal's supplement on transport on 9 October concentrated entirely on the possible impact of a Labour government on the local road haulage industry; and Ensor's final speech of the Bury campaign ignored the railway issue altogether while criticizing the Conservatives for not building enough roads.¹²⁵ Given that implementation of the closure programme coincided with a Conservative recovery in the polls it seems likely that the strategy of backing Beeching in order to present the Party as a modernizing force, rather than risking the appearance of weakness by not doing so, was right. Nevertheless, the scale of the impact on Bury, the tiny Labour majority in North Norfolk and the centrality of the industry to Darlington mean it is quite possible that Labour owed its victories in these three seats and with them Wilson's outright majority to the Government's inability to manage the programme with a combination of absolute cynicism and perfect foresight. The point here is not to criticize Conservative electoral strategy but to emphasize the warning 1964 offered future governments of the electoral dangers of rail closures. It was clearly appreciated by Wilson. The one certainty is that any voter who returned a Labour candidate in the hope that this would reverse one of Marples' consents was due to be disappointed and if any votes were won by the repeated pledge to halt major closures until a plan for transport was worked out they were won on a false prospectus, as the following chapter will show.

Conclusion

While rail closures did not cost the Conservatives victory at the General Election, they were certainly an issue which could influence individual results, and ministers' consideration of closure proposals displayed a desire to temper the rigour of economics with the balm of electoral success. This influenced the timing of publication in a small number of cases and the grouping together of decisions for publication, but not the outcome of decisions (although the Sanderstead verdict was a political one in the general sense of the word and political factors added to the case for reprieving some lines). Fake or genuine, Conservative backbench concern was confined to closures in members' own constituencies and the effect of the plan on the Party's electoral prospects. Modernization remained an asset in selling the plan to the Party and the country. The closure programme was part of a genuine attempt at economic modernization, but one which ministers struggled to control.

It is clear from this account that the Government did not ignore either the social or the economic implications of the closure programme, but its judgement was necessarily tentative and erred on the side of closure, reflecting the exaggerated opposition in previous cases. The effect on holiday resorts was not ignored

112 Top gear

but was considered from a national perspective in which individual resorts' business was less significant than the overall picture. Although the role of rail in reducing urban congestion was appreciated, the full extent of the problem as it has since developed was not, as the decisions affecting Bristol, Nottingham and Coventry suggest; the need to maintain commuter links for the dispersed population of urban areas was generally appreciated, but perhaps not fully enough in the west midlands. The existence of separate government departments for Wales and Scotland meant that objections to closure there were conveyed more forcefully than in parts of England. However, the experience of the north-west shows that strong representations from officials also influenced consideration of English cases and it is clear that Noble's primary concern was managing discontent rather than altering the outcome of proposals. It is the assessment of hardship that remains the most controversial aspect of the closure programme. Undoubtedly decisions erred on the side of saving money and taking a 'tough' line on the claims that life without the railway would be impossible. A fairly consistent line was taken on hardship, but attempts to ensure that this was the case by comparing the subsidy levels required were fairly crude.

The chief criticism of the whole process of evaluating individual closures under the Conservatives has to be that whether the issue was hardship, regional development, urban congestion, the effect on the holiday trade or political advantage, ministers and officials were constantly comparing the effects on rail users with losses which were taken as a given, although some cases were referred back to the BRB or TUCCs for more information. However, with the available expertise on cost-benefit analysis in transport employed on judging the Victoria line and the Great Northern suburban electrification for much of the period in question, subjecting every closure to a thorough cost-benefit analysis which took account of the effect of possible service improvements and cost reductions simply was not an option, as the following chapter illustrates. The real nub of the problem was, as Marples recognized, that what people really wanted was a thorough examination of every case, but to do so would have taken years and would often have resulted in closure, while losses continued to accumulate. If a retrospective cost-benefit analysis were to be conducted to weigh the merits of speedy implementation against thorough study it would probably conclude that in the circumstances the balance was about right. In pursuing the programme with vigour, Marples demonstrated his real significance. Although his decisions were based closely on official advice, a less selfpossessed or self-consciously dynamic modernizer might have faltered. He was to prove a difficult act to follow for a Government pledged both to change transport policy and base it on an increased level of dynamic modernization. It is easy to see how, to those trying to make a living from tourism in Hornsea or Wells-next-the-Sea or facing significantly longer journeys to work on a bus than they were used to on a train, Marples embodied a money-driven ruthless disregard for the welfare of ordinary people, but in fact the political difficulties of the closures programme in 1963-4 foreshadowed the extent to which the issue would demonstrate the limits of government power in the following decade.

7 White heat/red light

The closures proposed in the *Beeching Report* were only the first of a three-part programme of reshaping the railway network and can be seen as the conclusion of the process begun in the early 1950s of cutting out the railways' dead wood. The second stage involved identifying a core network of trunk routes, on which it was hoped investment would be concentrated in the following 20 years. The task of collating information and building predictions took until late 1964 and even then the routes chosen in the report published as *The Development of the Major Railway Trunk Routes* the following January were not a definitive selection. The report identified a core network of 3,000 miles of trunk routes and by August 1965 the final stage of the process, an investigation of the remaining lines outside the trunk network, had identified an 8,000-mile railway network, much of which would have been open to freight only.¹

It is *Trunk Routes* rather than *Reshaping* which really deserves the title 'Beeching Report'. *Reshaping* may have read convincingly as a technocratic argument, but *Trunk Routes* was much more obviously based on detailed studies and provided detailed justification for its selection of certain routes over others based on estimates of future traffic and the economics of carrying it. In hindsight *Trunk Routes* provides evidence of the difficulty of planning a railway system. It is clear from a reading of the text that freight traffic provided the basis for the Board's judgements, yet freight had declined in importance to become secondary to passenger traffic well before the report's 1984 target date. The electrified route between Manchester and Sheffield via Woodhead, identified by *Trunk Routes* as the major southern trans-Pennine freight route, closed in 1981. Nevertheless, in 1965 *Trunk Routes* epitomized what modernization meant. This chapter examines why the closure programme it and subsequent studies implied was never implemented.²

Given the Labour Party's opposition to *Reshaping*, it is unsurprising that the process should have run into difficulties after 1964. However, this chapter argues that the survival of a larger network was not simply the result of the change of government. The first section shows how, unable to come up with an alternative context in which to judge individual services, Labour initially continued the closure programme and resorted to cosmetic attempts to present its policy as new. It goes on to argue that Barbara Castle's claim to have almost

114 White heat/red light

single-handedly transformed transport policy needs to be treated with caution and that her introduction of subsidies for rail services and her 'stabilization' of the railway network at 11,000 miles were developments of Conservative policy rather than simple reversals of it. Although Castle was unenthusiastic about rail closures, her policy reflected a growing appreciation that the savings from further closures might be outweighed by social and political costs and her attempts to subject closure decisions to sophisticated cost-benefit analysis ran into difficulties similar to those which afflicted earlier efforts to get to grips with transport costs. This argument is supported by an account of three major closure battles during 1968–70 and a discussion of why Conservative attempts to revive the closure programme after 1970 had been abandoned by 1974.

Fraser, planning and the closure programme

In his survey of post-war British prime ministers, Peter Hennessy describes Sir Alec Douglas-Home as virtually 'the final flowering of an admirable breed.... Like the last of the steam locomotives which were on their twilight journeys at exactly this time ... he was Mallard, pulling one last express from King's Cross'.³ The whistle that sent Britain's last steam-powered premier on his way was blown by Harold Wilson in one long blast from his promise to harness the white heat of the technological revolution in October 1963 to the hundred days of dynamic action which would supposedly follow his victory in the General Election a year later.⁴ In opposition, Wilson argued that Beeching's terms of reference should have covered the whole of inland transport, not just the railways, and that 'transport is not a single problem capable of being looked at in isolation. It is part of the wider planning problem – economic planning, social planning, town planning'.⁵ Labour's manifesto stressed the new thinking that would make a new Britain, attacked the Victorian nostalgia of Conservative economic policy, offered virility in place of sterility, planning (both national and regional) in place of chaos. It promised a plan for transport and that while regional plans were being worked out major rail closures would be halted.⁶

The Treasury found this section of the manifesto to be 'more in the nature of an incantation than a set of proposals' and by implying that a planned transport policy would be significantly different from Conservative policy the manifesto posed two problems for Tom Fraser, the pleasant fifty-something Scottish exminer Wilson appointed as Minister of Transport. First, the Conservatives' policy had not ignored the need to consider transport as a whole or the relationship between transport policy and urban or regional planning to the extent implied by Labour's critique. There may have been plenty of room for better economic planning, but Labour needed economic advice that would produce fundamentally different conclusions to those the Conservatives had reached, yet in drawing up a plan it was inevitably reliant to a great extent on the same advice as Marples had received and even its new advisers were examining the same set of circumstances. If this was unlikely to produce new conclusions, the prospect of doing so quickly, given the difficulties which had hampered transport planning under the Conservatives, was remote. The second difficulty was that for much of the Labour Party, and the rail unions in particular, the commitment to planning, coordination and integration was attractive chiefly as a shorthand for a quick change of policy that would reduce the number of railway closures, protect jobs in the railway workshops and recreate the BTC, which had become 'the ark of Labour's transport covenant'. Although the commitment to renationalize road haulage had been dropped, Labour retained an emotional dislike of private road haulage and in particular of C-licence traffic.⁷ At the same time the Transport and General Workers Union, representing the labour wing of the road haulage industry, was implacably opposed to any assistance to its rail competitor which could not be justified on economic grounds and had its own ears and voice within the Cabinet in the shape of Frank Cousins, Labour's new Minister of Technology, TGWU General Secretary, former head of its road haulage section and rail-sceptic.⁸

Probably the best chance that Fraser had of producing a quick plan for transport was lost when the Cabinet vetoed the appointment of Beeching to draw it up. Given that Wilson's critique of *Reshaping* had been the supposedly narrow remit given to its author rather than the ability with which that remit was pursued, Beeching was a logical choice. However, the Cabinet, with Cousins prominent, forced Wilson and Fraser (who had persuaded Beeching to accept the job) to revise the proposal, saddling him with a team of assessors and precipitating the withdrawal of his acceptance. Instead he decided that he would leave the BRB at the end of May 1965, when he was replaced as Chairman by experienced railwayman Stanley Raymond. Cousins may well have been motivated by Beeching's argument, contained in evidence to a committee set up to examine the system of road hauliers' licensing, that heavy lorries were not covering the costs they imposed on the road network. The man appointed to conduct the study in Beeching's place, Lord Hinton, rejected this view (as did the MoT) and felt that the railways only existed because modern road transport had not been available when they were built. Unsurprisingly, his work produced nothing of use to a Government seeking a significant change in policy and by the summer Wilson was seeking ways to bury the exercise.⁹ Throughout 1965 Fraser stuck doggedly to the view that Labour's transport policy should be based on thorough studies of the problem. He brought in new economic advice, recruiting Michael Beesley, and reorganized the Ministry, but there was little prospect of results before 1967. The Ministry began constructing a transport costs model covering the next 30 years, a study of future demand and the factors influencing it and an examination of how road pricing could be used to increase the cost of using congested roads. There are clear echoes here of Beeching's aims at the MGM and, like the MGM, these studies, although pursued, were overtaken by the need for action.10

Wilson had followed Conservative practice in setting up a Cabinet committee to oversee the Minister's decisions on closures and in June 1965 he expanded its remit to cover the development of transport policy.¹¹ The result was a full-scale row between Fraser and the committee's chairman Douglas Houghton, who

produced a plan (heavily influenced by Raymond, and on similar lines to proposals made by the NUR and TUC) for the creation of a British Transport Authority, which among other things would have had significant powers to force freight traffic onto rail.¹² Although Fraser successfully fought this proposal, his continued insistence that new policy proposals should be based on the various planning studies underway within the Ministry created mounting frustration among his colleagues and the rail unions and fuelled the dissatisfaction which was evident within Labour's backbench transport committee from the early summer of 1965, while criticism of the Ministry mounted in Whitehall.¹³

In the absence of a new policy, Fraser was left facing the implications, not only of the manifesto pledge to halt all major closures until transport plans had been worked out, but also of the Party's willingness to imply that some closures would be reversed. A week after the election he warned his colleagues that this commitment 'appeared likely to be misconstrued as implying not only that all rail closures would be halted but also that those which [had been approved but which had not yet come into effect would be cancelled'. One can easily imagine the dismay in Whitehall at the prospect of Fraser agreeing to this; cases would have to be re-examined, savings would be lost and quite what would have been done about the subsidized replacement bus services, or what Beeching's reaction would have been, one can only guess. In the fortnight before the election, officials sought the advice of the Treasury Solicitor who replied that, while the Minister could issue directions of a general nature, a direction to halt closures approved by Marples which had yet to take place would not be 'of a general nature' as it would only affect about 25 lines and that no power existed to direct Beeching to reopen lines. It was advice that Fraser and the Cabinet were quick to accept.¹⁴

Fraser's November statement attempted to steer a path between his own backbenchers' dissatisfaction with this decision and Conservative criticism that 'the first fruits of "Go With Labour" are to hold up the modernization of the railways'. The statement gave the impression that Fraser would not consent to any major closure while regional transport plans were being worked out, but he made it clear in response to questions that there was no commitment to halting closures until these plans were finalized, nor could he cite a case in which he felt Marples had made a wrong decision. This retreat from the manifesto was covered by the introduction of a new procedure under which proposals were sent to the Minister before publication so that any obviously unacceptable ones could be vetoed at an early stage ('early sift'); by Beeching's agreement to leave the track in place where lines did close, so that they could be reopened if subsequent study suggested that they should be; and by Fraser's refusal to close a number of stations on the Settle-Carlisle line. The combined effect gave the impression of a change of policy; but, as was recognized in the Treasury, a great deal would turn 'on the meaning of the word "major". The statement allowed major closures to be defined as those which might conflict with regional transport plans, a definition which could be as narrow or as wide as the Government decided.¹⁵

There is every likelihood that Marples would have reached a similar decision

on the Settle–Carlisle proposal, as the BRB's inability to meet the Ministry's requirements for alternative services had been the subject of discussions since the spring.¹⁶ The requirement to leave the track in place following closure merely applied to every case a procedure Marples had instituted when agreeing to the Berwick–St Boswells closure in 1964 and which he had applied in the Romsey–Andover, Dumfries–Stranraer and Nuneaton–Leamington cases.¹⁷ As considerable sums could be raised by selling the track for scrap, Fraser told Beeching privately that he would do all he could to allow lines to be lifted sooner rather than later. In any case the track was of little use once left unmaintained for a few months.¹⁸ 'Early sift' self-evidently did not make any difference to the number of lines eventually closed. The officials who proposed it envisaged that only four of the cases already considered would have been weeded out in this way and by the end of November 1965 only Exeter–Barnstable/Okehampton and Cramlington Station had been rejected at this stage.¹⁹

Even as Fraser prepared his statement, the BRB's announcement of its intention to close completely most of the former Great Central main line between London and Sheffield increased the pressure for a change of policy and brought the three rail unions to a meeting with the Minister at which they pressed for action. Within a week of the statement being made, Fraser's assertion that he lacked the power to intervene was challenged in the House and he was bombarded with questions on individual cases, including a call for Scottish closures to be halted completely. The publication of the Trunk Routes report in January 1965 raised the temperature further (despite Fraser's success in getting Beeching to tone down the maps to make it look less like a closure programme²⁰) and Wilson urged Fraser not to welcome the report in a way that might imply the Government was contemplating closures beyond the existing programme.²¹ The insincerity of the Government's position was fully exposed when in February 1965 it refused to make time to pass a ten-minute rule Bill introduced by the Conservative MP for Scarborough and Whitby, Sir Alexander Spearman, which would have amended the Transport Act to allow Fraser to reverse Marples' decisions. This was all the more embarrassing as Spearman prefaced the introduction of his bill by reminding the House of Commons that Wilson had 'clearly ... precisely and unconditionally' pledged to halt the Whitby closures and had subsequently confirmed that this would have been done were it not for the 1962 Act. Wilson's comments on the Whitby lines were obtuse enough to allow him to claim that he was 'not aware that he gave a personal pledge' to save them (the gradual erosion of the Whitby Gazette's post-election optimism to its profession of bewilderment at Fraser's November statement makes sad reading).²² However, with Fraser now arguing that the Great Central proposal was 'very far from being "major" in any sense of the word', the Government's position was becoming ludicrously distant from its stance at the General Election and, with the backbench transport group pressing for a change of policy, Wilson had the matter brought to Cabinet. Once again the policy was endorsed and Fraser attempted to reassure backbenchers by announcing greater consultation with the Regional Economic Planning Councils (REPCs) that Labour had established.²³

118 White heat/red light

Once again the change was cosmetic. Although Fraser formalized regional consultation, this was a development of the Conservatives' informal practice of referring proposals to the Regional Study Groups they had established, rather than a genuinely new policy. Unsurprisingly, the REPCs found it difficult to judge proposals without any knowledge of the BRB's plans for the freight network, details of which they were not given until 1966, and the change had little effect on either the closure programme or pressure to bring it to a halt. Regional opinion was not necessarily unfavourable to closures. For example, the South West REPC had no objection to the closure of the Somerset and Dorset line or the branch lines to Lyme Regis and Seaton and saw the closure of ten intermediate stations between Salisbury and Exeter as a good thing, because it would speed up services to the latter from London. The REPCs' attempts to draw up regional transport plans were bedevilled by the same problems that Whitehall's transport planning faced and pilot studies of regional transport problems involving academics from local universities were still at an early stage in May 1966. In February the following year, Michael Stewart, First Secretary at the Department of Economic Affairs (DEA), told his colleagues that the Councils were complaining that they lacked back-up staff and information and that neither they nor the relevant government departments were sure what they should be doing. Stewart admitted that 'fundamental economic research on the regions is lacking and we are not in a position ... to give them the basic assumptions' on which to base regional economic plans.²⁴

Fraser's officials were surprised at the ease with which they convinced him to continue the closure programme. His initial Cabinet paper on the subject was drafted 'entirely in accordance with the Department's earlier thinking'.²⁵ Like Marples, his decisions reflected the advice of officials on individual cases and so, even if Spearman's Bill had been passed and previous cases reopened, officials would still have advised that the lines to Whitby should close.²⁶ The permanence of the official machine is evident in a draft letter to Philip Noel-Baker, the Labour MP for Swindon and a long-standing opponent of closures, presented to Castle when she replaced Fraser in December, containing a repetition of Marples' assurance to Macmillan that 'our experience is that in fact opposition to closures nearly always peters out once the decision has been made, and the forecast hardship hardly ever materializes'.²⁷ However, unlike Marples, Fraser was not comfortable at being 'in the doghouse' with the unions and backbench MPs. While the Conservatives had used the Cabinet committee system to subject Marples' enthusiasm for closures to the scrutiny and restraint of his colleagues, Fraser had to be dissuaded from bringing every case, even the Halwill Junction-Torrington line which almost nobody used, before his colleagues. Although Fraser wanted a campaign to convince the Party his policy was right in March 1965, he would have accepted a review of policy by the Cabinet's Economic Development Committee if Wilson had wanted a change.²⁸ A determined stand by the Prime Minister, Chancellor James Callaghan or First Secretary George Brown at the DEA could have changed Fraser's mind.

Wilson's eventual support for Fraser's policy in March owed something at

least to a plea from the Minister of Power, Fred Lee, who faced similar problems over the NCB's pit closure programme, which Lee supported and feared would be the next target if rail closures were halted. It also reflected the strong advice he received from Cabinet Secretary, Burke Trend, which stressed 'the government's declared intention to modernize British industry'. A key factor was the acceptance of closures by the Treasury ministers, with the DEA's acquiescence.²⁹ Although Treasury officials could press for action on other means to cut the railway deficit, the closure programme was the only way in which they felt they could exercise a direct influence and, believing that halting closures would cost £20 million, they were eager to know what was happening at the Ministry in the election's aftermath and to impress this figure on the new regime. They succeeded in getting it inserted into Fraser's November statement and in watering down his interpretation of the manifesto commitment. Although the BRB had confirmed the £20 million figure, it is unclear whether either ministers or officials knew that this was 'an off-the-cuff check' which the Ministry did not feel could be relied upon.30

While Treasury officials were willing to accept that lines such as Manchester-Bury and Huddersfield-Penistone should remain open, once the initial post-election controversy was over they began trying to get the programme back up to speed, especially when it became clear that the railway deficit would be as much as £130 million in 1966. In doing so they were consistently able to rely upon the support of the Chancellor, whom Richard Crossman felt had become 'almost a parody of the Labour man taken over by his officials', and the Chief Secretary, John Diamond. When a change of policy seemed possible in March, Callaghan wrote to Wilson arguing that the closure programme should be accelerated, not slowed or halted, on the grounds both of cost and of validating the commitment to modernization, and by the end of the year Treasury officials and ministers were united in pressing for action on the implications of Trunk Routes.³¹ Officials presented the issue to ministers as a test of their ability to govern and to Labour supporters by calculating that the railway deficit represented five-and-ahalf pence on a packet of cigarettes and three-and-a-half pence on a pint of beer.³² Houghton appears to have been the only minister to seriously resist these pressures. Clearly, if Fraser had 'fallen into the hands' of his officials he was not alone.33

In December 1965, Wilson sacked Fraser, a move which appears to have been primarily motivated by the need to heal Labour's divisions on transport with an election obviously approaching. Asking Barbara Castle to take the job, Wilson told her 'we have *got* to have an integrated transport policy: I can't hold the Party otherwise. And the Party is the key to everything'.³⁴ The continuity of rail policy under Fraser can be seen as one example of Labour's reaction to the unexpected financial crisis that confronted the new Government in October 1964, but the controversy surrounding it seems to have been generally confined to the areas affected and the Labour movement; certainly, Fraser was able to report that the extremely favourable reception *Trunk Routes* received indicated support for modernization.³⁵ While there is some justification in the criticism

that he was unable to take decisions and unduly reliant on his officials, Fraser's downfall was precipitated by his commitment to a planned transport policy. Even if such a policy could have been devised so as to justify a halt to the closure programme, it could not be done quickly enough to satisfy important sections of Labour Party support; and without a new policy the advice that Fraser received on individual closure proposals was unlikely to differ from that which Marples had received. Transport planning, it turned out, was at odds with the maintenance of an aura of dynamic change. It was in this respect that Fraser clearly failed to deliver and in which, on the face of it, things were to change with the arrival at the Ministry of Barbara Castle.

Castle's transport policy

Castle's reputation as an innovative minister of transport who restored a measure of coordination to transport policy and gave rail a better deal rests primarily on a series of measures contained in the Transport Act 1968.³⁶ Although she refused to recreate the BTC, the Act's provision for Passenger Transport Authorities to coordinate transport in urban areas and its creation of a National Freight Corporation (NFC) to control the former British Road Services, the BRB's collection and delivery services and various rail freight services, including freightliners, largely satisfied Labour's desire for coordination. Its provision of subsidies for loss-making rail services and a 'quantity licensing' system for road haulage, designed to divert freight from road to rail, combined with her commitment to an 11,000-mile rail network, rather than the 8,000 implied by the final round of Beeching's traffic studies, give even a critic such as Henshaw the impression that she successfully challenged the pro-road bias of the Ministry and its Permanent Secretary Sir Thomas Padmore, an impression which owes much to the weight of opposition brought to bear on quantity licensing by the RHA and the Conservatives.³⁷

Castle improved the Ministry's planning apparatus, appointing Christopher Foster to head a new economic section; she certainly hoped to get more freight onto rail and was a reluctant closer of railway lines. She brought with her temporary civil servant Christopher Hall, a former journalist who, while working for Castle at Overseas Development, had led the campaign against closure of the North London Line so successfully that in June 1965 it had been the beneficiary of an unprecedented announcement of reprieve without a proposal being published; although Hall does not appear to have been involved in devising rail policy following his transfer (and closure of the North London Line was never likely). However, the idea propagated by Castle that she personally transformed transport policy should be resisted.³⁸ Her policies drew on work conducted under Fraser and Passenger Transport Authorities in particular were a concept the Treasury had been advocating before the 1964 General Election.³⁹ Two areas in which Castle notably failed to provide a new impetus were the development of road pricing, which officials saw as a vital component of the modernization of transport policy,⁴⁰ and investment in the core rail network. The net disinvestments during 1963-73 outweighed the investment of the previous 15 years. While this reflected the high level of scrapped equipment and the completion of a programme of motive power acquisition, the railways found it hard to interest Whitehall in investment directed at the core network of trunk routes, such as continuous welded rail, electrification and colour-light signalling, and total gross investment in the railways in 1969 was over a third lower in current prices than in 1964 and lower in real terms than at any time since nationalization.⁴¹ At the same time Castle strongly defended the roads programme against cuts. She was all too aware of the political dangers of antagonizing motorists, particularly as increasing numbers of Labour supporters would be acquiring cars in the future, and warned her colleagues that attempts to introduce some form of road pricing would be controversial.⁴² What Castle brought to the Ministry which Fraser did not was a recognition that Labour's supporters would not be satisfied with continual assurances that studies were underway and that they required policy decisions sooner rather than later. This reflects the fact that her primary purpose at the Ministry, in particular during the early months of her appointment in the run-up to the General Election of March 1966, was to defuse the Party's internal divisions over transport. She played a crucial role in averting a strike by the NUR in early 1966 by promising a new deal for the railways, a promise supported by her commitment to creating a new body to coordinate nationalized freight transport, which was intended to benefit the railways, and reinforced after the election by a presentation at which she and Raymond showed union representatives maps of what Beeching would have done and what they proposed.43

In early 1966 Castle held private talks with Raymond at which she urged the need for a study to identify the loss-making parts of the railway and set the BRB an achievable target. Raymond was reluctantly persuaded to accept the appointment of a Joint Steering Group (JSG) consisting of two Ministry officials and one each from the DEA and Treasury, BRB representatives, two businessmen and an academic. The chief outcomes of this exercise were a lengthy and unsatisfactory reorganization of railway management and Raymond's sacking in October 1967 (although there is some dispute over the relative significance of Raymond's disagreements with Castle, Ministry officials' alleged lack of faith in him and the views of the independent JSG members in bringing the latter about). It also influenced the details of the 1968 Act's provision for railway subsidies and the financial reconstruction of the BRB.44 Raymond's dissatisfaction with the outcome of the talks, during which his subsidy proposals were rejected, made it all the more important for Castle to present her policy as pro-rail. Yet her advisers were unable to make a case for diverting freight from road to rail, the initial pro-rail aim of the National Freight Authority was abandoned and Castle accepted that her quantity licensing proposals would not be introduced until the freightliner network had proved itself. She later blamed her successor Richard Marsh for not implementing quantity licensing before the Conservatives returned to office, yet she would have found it difficult to justify doing so, as freightliners were not operating at a profit or to the extent originally envisaged

122 White heat/red light

by 1970. Quantity licensing was intended to prevent private hauliers obtaining licences to carry large or long-distance loads where the NFC or BRB could offer as good a service; but this would only have transferred to rail that small proportion of total freight traffic that the railways claimed they could carry more economically than road (a claim they would have to demonstrate in order to prevent a licence being granted), an absolute maximum of 30 million tons a year. Castle was well aware that any measure designed to produce a shift of freight from road to rail which could not be justified on economic grounds would never have been accepted by the TGWU and the MPs it sponsored and quantity licensing was largely a device 'to bind the railway unions to a railway policy which in many respects was tough on the railways'.⁴⁵

Rail subsidies

As we have seen, Whitehall had been prepared to consider subsidies for parts of the rail network in 1959 and although the idea had not come to fruition it had never been ruled out indefinitely, while some form of financial reconstruction had been expected to take place in or around 1968. When ministers first saw the Beeching Report in 1963, they had hurriedly sought Treasury advice on how subsidies might be paid and officials initially favoured a lump sum reviewed every two years.⁴⁶ This proved impractical and discussion petered out in the autumn of 1963 without any decision being taken.⁴⁷ By early 1966 some senior Treasury officials were prepared to contemplate the idea that the time was right for social subsidies.⁴⁸ The important considerations from their point of view were to avoid permanent payments, which would make it difficult to withdraw services in the future, to provide an incentive for economies and, by separating out the social railway, intensify pressure to reduce the deficit on the rest, concerns which were met by the 1968 Act's provision for grants for socially necessary services subject to a three-year maximum limit.⁴⁹ Raymond's attempts to get a general payment relating to what he called 'standby capacity', to be used in emergencies, were met with scepticism at the Treasury. A JSG investigation of the concept revealed that there was substantial surplus capacity (in the form, for example, of four-tracks where two would suffice for normal traffic), encouraging the Treasury to believe that 'there are likely to be greater economies from slimming the present system than from shortening it' and the Transport Act included a grant aimed at encouraging the elimination of this capacity.⁵⁰ So while the Act achieved Castle's objective of identifying and funding a social railway, it did so in a way which was generally acceptable to the Treasury and was a development rather than a change of Conservative policy.

The calculation of grants for individual services gave no real indication of their losses, because contributory revenue was completely excluded and renewals at replacement cost, interest and administration contributions were included. Castle had hoped to apply cost-benefit analysis to every unremunerative line, but this proved impossible, not least because the BRB could not produce the data required.⁵¹ In 1967 it was decided to carry out a cost-benefit

analysis of Machynlleth–Pwllheli as a test case. In 1969 this recommended closure, although there was a great deal of argument over its findings and the line remains open.⁵² In March 1970 the Ministry announced the setting-up of a cost-benefit analysis of all rail services in Cornwall, intended to judge the consequences of their withdrawal. Designing the questionnaires involved and managing their analysis by computer proved a complex task which had run into the ground by the middle of 1972, by which time it was not expected to be complete before October 1973 and was already out of date because bus services had been withdrawn or rescheduled; plans to publish it were abandoned.⁵³

The closure procedure followed under the 1968 Act fell a long way short of a full-scale cost-benefit analysis but was 'based on the same principles and ... intended to achieve, roughly speaking, the same result'. It included an estimate of the value of time lost to passengers as well as hardship and social and economic factors. However, the closure procedure was too time-consuming to be applied to every case before a grant was paid and so the Ministry employed a simple test of deficit (i.e. grant) per passenger mile to select services that would be proposed for closure. Those with a deficit of less than sixpence per passenger mile were generally given a grant and those with a deficit of more than eight pence per passenger mile were likely to be put forward for closure (the deficit per passenger for whom no alternative service was available was also calculated). Officials recognized the limitations of this crude approach and in 1970 it was replaced by a calculation of earnings as a percentage of short-term and longterm costs. This was not much more sophisticated, but officials needed some reasonably quick method of selecting candidates to subject to the fuller investigation of the closure process. The grant-aid procedure also involved officials in decisions over the level of service, fares and the relationship between services. Even without a full cost-benefit analysis, it proved impossible to process much more than two-thirds of the grant applications before the Act came into force. By 1970 it was clear that the level of grant bore little relation to the marginal cost of retaining a service and that, without more staff, the Ministry could not hope to fulfil the objectives of the 1968 Act in terms of assessing the value of services.⁵⁴ Although Foster's study of the Manchester-area services referred to in Chapter 1 illustrated the usefulness of the method, cost-benefit analysis simply could not be applied to every case, nor would it necessarily have resulted in a larger network.

Network for development

By the time Castle met Raymond in early 1966, studies implying an 8,000-mile network of which under 5,000 miles would be open to passengers were complete, yet in March 1967 the BRB and the MoT published a map, *British Railways Network for Development*, based on the idea that the system should be stabilized at 11,000 miles, with approximately 8,000 miles open to passengers. Had the 8,000-mile network been implemented, there would have been no passenger railway north of Glasgow–Aberdeen, most of Carlisle–Kilmarnock and

the Stranraer, Oban, Fort William and Mallaig lines would have closed. The sum total of lines in Wales would have been the main lines to Holyhead/Caernarvon and to Swansea plus a few branches in the Cardiff area and Shrewsbury–Wrexham–Chester. The Shrewsbury–Hereford–Newport route would also have closed almost entirely. In the south-west only the main lines from Bristol to Plymouth/Torquay and Basingstoke to Weymouth, a branch to Westbury and another to Salisbury would have been left. Skipton, Whitby, Scarborough, Skegness, Cromer, Newbury, Yarmouth and Lowestoft would have had no railways. Huddersfield to Manchester and Oxford to Worcester would also have closed.⁵⁵

It is important to avoid the assumption that because these closures never took place their rejection was inevitable. However, even *Network for Development* implied passenger closures which have never been implemented, including Leeds/Bradford–Ilkley/Carnforth/Carlisle, Hull–Scarborough and the Pwllheli, Braintree, Uckfield, Newquay, Exmouth and Falmouth lines, among others. The pattern of official advice and refusals before October 1964 suggests that even a Conservative government with an overwhelming majority and led by Ernest Marples could not have implemented the 8,000-mile proposal without legislating to abolish the consultative procedure altogether, completely altering the way in which closure proposals were considered within Whitehall, quelling considerable internal dissent and either completely ignoring the wider social and economic impact of closures or spending large sums on road improvements. Such a government might, however, have been able to achieve much of the programme by the mid-1970s, had it not been for the political difficulties involved.

Some railway managers had never been entirely won over to Beeching's approach. From late 1963 the view that, rather than cutting out unremunerative services, the railways should reduce total costs gained ground within the BRB and the proposal to stabilize the network at 11,000 miles seems to have come from the Board.⁵⁶ However, when the Ministry began to receive detailed proposals arising out of the *Trunk Routes* study in late 1965, officials realized that these ran counter to Fraser's decision to refer the east Lincolnshire case back to the BRB, his refusal to close the Settle and Carlisle local service and their own expected recommendation against closure of intermediate stations between Huddersfield and Manchester.⁵⁷ The removal of trunk-route traffic from these lines would have altered the financial arguments over the specific services, at least in the latter two of these three cases; nevertheless the problems implied are clear enough.

It is hard to detect any reversal of the Ministry's approach to closures under Marples in the genesis of the *Network* map. Although the network Raymond proposed in 1966 contained only 630 route miles of passenger closures which had either been included in the *Beeching Report* and subsequently rejected or had not been included in the first place, officials felt it contained a number of unpromising proposals and soon identified a couple of dozen which would be particularly controversial, about half of which would be rejected at early sift. Some of the problem cases had been rejected by Marples (Middlesbrough–

Whitby, for example), others were commuter services (such as North Berwick, Ashford–Ramsgate and the Tyne electric services), served major holiday routes (York-Scarborough), or were lines the retention of which had been integral to other closure consents (Peterborough–Oakham).58 Skegness was reprieved once the BRB's response to Fraser's request for a revised east Lincolnshire proposal arrived at the Ministry, proposing the retention of the line. Fraser's request was made on the basis of official advice, itself reflecting concern expressed by the BoT, the MHLG, the Ministry of Agriculture, the area TUCC and the Central Electricity Generating Board (CEGB).⁵⁹ Only a handful of services were added to the network for retention following REPC advice, which was rejected in three cases; and Castle, who had initially hoped to cut out the TUCC procedure to speed up the closure process, also accepted the Ministry's hope that Dingwall-Kyle of Lochalsh would close once road improvements were carried out.⁶⁰ A batch of 26 decisions announced on 20 September 1966 which caused alterations to be made to the draft map were broadly in line with the policy Marples had followed, in particular the general concern of his officials over holiday lines and commuter services, despite attempts in the accompanying press release to identify the decisions with Castle personally. She had been advised to refuse consent to St Erth-St Ives and Liskard-Looe because both carried substantial numbers of holidaymakers and 'present an intractable road traffic problem for alternative bus services' (Castle's 'determination' to preserve links to holiday resorts did not extend to Bodmin-Padstow where the Ministry felt the roads and buses could cope). The refusal to close Hope and Edale stations in order to preserve access to the Peak District National Park, and of Bury-Rawtenstall had been foreshadowed by the MHLG's concerns in August 1963. Where Marples had been prepared to close Cambridge-St Ives-March in 1964 despite difficulties in providing alternative bus services between Cambridge and St Ives, Castle reprieved this portion; but, as Marples' colleagues had postponed a decision, the difference between them was in desire rather than outcome.⁶¹

If Castle's map was largely a reflection of existing policy, both its content and presentation took account of the political difficulties of rail closures, brought home to her during the 1966 election campaign.⁶² This was particularly evident in the map's depiction of Welsh lines. Officials saw revived proposals to close the lines west of Shrewsbury as particularly controversial and Cledwyn Hughes, the Welsh Secretary, in the course of a strong but unsuccessful bid to have the Shrewsbury–Llanelli line marked for retention, told Castle that the inclusion of the Pembroke Dock line had led to her policy 'being seen in Wales as even more severe than the Beeching proposals'.⁶³ Castle sought to convey the impression that she had halted the closure programme by publishing *Network for Development*. In fact it portrayed a smaller network than the one existing at the time; but the key presentational point was that it was larger than the one Beeching's studies implied.⁶⁴ Originally, it was intended to publish a list of closure proposals with the map, in the style of *Reshaping*, but this did not happen, presumably because the Ministry appreciated that this 'would echo the Beeching method of presentation and impair the different impression of handling railway matters which the Minister is trying to create'.⁶⁵ What neither the unions nor the public knew was that the map was accepted by the Treasury because officials believed that it represented the practical limit of what the closure programme could achieve by 1970, a reasonable estimate given that in 1967 the network stood at about 13,000 miles in total, of which about 10,000 miles was open to passengers. Pressure from the Treasury and the DEA obliged Castle to privately accept the possibility of a further contraction after 1970.⁶⁶ The two departments sought to water down references to halting drastic reductions in the network contained in Castle's Railway Policy white paper of November 1967.⁶⁷ They were also anxious to stress that a larger network should not mean a larger investment programme to develop the core network in the intensive way Raymond had envisaged and to this end wanted the original title of 'Lines for Development' altered to 'Lines for Retention'; replacing 'Lines' with 'Network' kept both sides content.⁶⁸ The ambivalence of Castle's policy was illustrated by the headlines covering reports of a speech by Raymond in March 1966: 'Beeching Axe must chop on says rail chief' (Daily Express) and 'Railways retreat from the Beeching cuts' (Daily Mail).⁶⁹ Castle's map ensured that it was the latter interpretation which endured.

Having proved herself able to solve the Party's internal difficulties on transport, Castle was whisked off by Wilson to tackle the more contentious issue of industrial relations before she had finished guiding her Transport Bill onto the statute book, and replaced by Richard Marsh, who had fundamental doubts about the quantity licensing proposal. The move suggests Wilson saw transport in terms of party management rather than significant in itself.⁷⁰ Marsh was left with three particularly tough decisions, Edinburgh–Hawick–Carlisle (the Waverley line), Shrewsbury–Llanelli and the east Lincolnshire lines (Peterborough–Grimsby and the branches to Skegness and Mablethorpe), which indicate the difficulty any minister would have faced in pursuing the 8,000-mile target. What distinguishes these three cases is the extent to which closure would leave large areas with poor roads far from any rail service.

The Waverley line was considered by ministers in spring 1968. The proposal headed a lengthy list of government actions which the Scottish Secretary argued had led to a feeling in Scotland that 'we get more than our share of [unwelcome] decisions'. Reminding the Prime Minister of recent nationalist electoral successes, he put up a very strong, but unsuccessful, fight in favour of at least retaining Hawick–Edinburgh for three years, as it served an area of 'chronic depopulation' to which the Government was attempting to attract industry. Even the Scottish Economic Planning Council 'which was usually hard to convince that there was sometimes a case for retaining uneconomic railway services' opposed closure. However, while population had decreased by 9.5 per cent during 1964–7, the number of passengers north of Hawick had dropped by 30 per cent and the number of cars had risen by 120 per cent. There was a strong element of symbolism on both sides. Marsh argued that it was more important than ever to reduce the burden of the railway deficit and that rejecting this

closure would make it harder to justify others, while the Scottish Secretary pointed to the damage the closure would do to economic confidence in the area. Given that there were only 30 season ticket holders between Hawick and Edinburgh and the subsidy of over £390,000 a year for that section compared with an anticipated annual subsidy of £150 million to the railways, both could be accused of inflating the significance of the case, although the reaction to closure suggests that if they were not alone. On the penultimate day of operation two trains were delayed by bomb scares and passengers on an excursion train were jeered by a crowd at Hawick. The final train was stopped by a crowd on the level crossing at Newcastleton and in the ensuing confrontation the minister of the local kirk was arrested. Following mediation involving the local MP, David Steel, an exchange of prisoners was agreed, the minister was released and so was the train.⁷¹

The Waverley line closure seems particularly hard to defend, given the outcome of the proposal to close Shrewsbury-Llanelli, which ministers discussed in the summer of 1969. This too would leave a substantial area without a rail service, but usage had declined significantly since 1964 (when Marples had refused his consent to closure) and the line had only six regular daily passengers. It served no intermediate place of comparable significance to the border towns and required a subsidy of 21d per passenger mile, against the 16.8d which would have made Edinburgh-Carlisle one of the most expensive lines to keep, nor was there the prospect of any economy in operation. Nevertheless, the Welsh Secretary George Thomas, who had warned Wilson of the dangers of being seen to 'out-Beeching Beeching' in Wales the previous summer, defended it as strongly as his Scottish counterpart had defended the Waverley line the year before. The significant and decisive difference between the two was that the Welsh Secretary was able to deploy the fact that three marginal seats bordered the line, there was a strong nationalist challenge posed in Llanelli and the case had taken on a national significance in Wales. He was strongly supported by Eirene White, the Party Chairman, who warned Wilson that

closure would at once give the Nationalists exactly the rallying cry they need. We should lose Brecon and Radnor and Cardigan and forfeit any hope of defeating Gwynfor in Carmarthen. It could make things more difficult in several other seats.

Armed with this warning, the Prime Minister chaired a discussion of the case at which, surprisingly given their view the previous year that the Waverley line mattered little to the economy of the border towns, ministers decided that '[w]ith the development of Mid-Wales, the use of the railway for passengers and freight could develop markedly' and deferred the decision for review in 1970.⁷²

The east Lincolnshire proposal, although it had aroused considerable opposition, posed fewer political problems; but its complexity illustrates the difficult territory surrounding really large savings. Essentially the problem was how to maintain services for holidaymakers to Skegness and Mablethorpe, given that

128 White heat/red light

they were on the end of separate branches from a duplicate through route between Peterborough and Grimsby, connected to Lincoln by another line, none of which seemed worthy of retention other than as conduits for holidaymakers. Marples had deferred his decision on the Lincoln line in 1963 so that the whole network could be considered together, and Fraser had rejected the proposal to close it all; but it was not until 1969, after detailed consideration of various permutations, that a decision was taken to maintain only the Boston–Skegness service (although closed, the Peterborough–Spalding section was almost immediately restored with a local authority grant).⁷³

Taken together these three cases indicate the political and administrative difficulties that would have faced any attempt to pursue the 8,000-mile objective. Publication of the Waverley line proposal had been deferred in 1964; Shrewsbury-Llanelli rejected that year and resubmitted; the east Lincolnshire closure was the outcome of a continuous process dating back to 1963. How long, then, might it have taken to implement the closures implied by the 8,000-mile network? However, to dismiss Network for Development as purely a presentational trick with no real impact on the closure programme would be to ignore its symbolic significance. Castle may have been forced to accept the possibility of a new closure programme after 1970 but she ensured that if such a programme was pursued it would be seen as a departure from existing policy (even though arguably it would not be), thus raising the political temperature. It also meant that after 1967 few new closure proposals were being published, so there was not much of a closure programme to accelerate by 1970 and any government elected that year would have to produce major proposals quickly if it decided to reduce the size of the railway significantly and wanted to get the closure programme out of the way before the next election.⁷⁴ Whether or not Castle was thinking this far ahead, this was precisely the difficulty which faced the Conservatives after 1970.

End of the axe

The Conservatives returned to power under Edward Heath in June 1970 with their desire to modernize undiminished. Whether this was a modernization of the post-war mixed economy/welfare state settlement or an attempt to achieve 'a neo-capitalist El Dorado', it was intended to involve less public spending and less state activity.⁷⁵ It seemed at first that this would include a further round of closures.⁷⁶ The new Minister, John Peyton, was now in charge of a Department of Transport (DOT) within the newly created Department of the Environment, under Secretary of State Peter Walker, and the pair quickly recruited Marsh to chair the BRB. By the time Peyton took office his officials had already established a working party to look at a selection of railway scenarios for 1985 or 1990. One involved closing them entirely, although this was probably for comparative purposes rather than a serious suggestion. It was already clear that the 1968 Act would fail to put the BRB on a sound financial footing and a loss of £140 million in 1980 was anticipated. Officials saw little hope of improving the

financial position by closing the half of the network which was carrying 25–35 per cent of the traffic, as this would not reduce investment or help the BRB's accounts (as the savings from closure were much less than the grant aid provided) and there seemed little hope of cutting staff costs or raising revenue. Indeed it was suggested that in some cases prices should be lowered for environmental or social reasons. It therefore made sense to at least examine the effect of a significant contraction.⁷⁷ However, within four years the prospect of a further closure programme had receded, apparently for good.

These studies were given added momentum in September 1970 when the Cabinet examined ways of reducing public spending by £1,000 million by 1974-5. Ministers agreed that the London commuter network, which was losing £15 million a year, should be made self-supporting through fare rises of 30 per cent in real terms over the next three years (a policy undermined by subsequent price restraint) and asked officials to see what other rail savings could be found.⁷⁸ However, the Welsh Secretary soon made it clear that he would fight any closures and the Scottish Secretary seemed likely to do the same. The Deputy Secretary was warned that the 'battle will be bloody and the gains small'; 20 closures a year would be required simply to keep the grant at its existing level. Even this would cause 'very real political trouble' and the Minister was advised to offer no reduction in it beyond the London commuter subsidy. By early 1971 the Department had a list of 110 lines failing to cover even their short-term marginal costs, which was presented to the Cabinet's Economic Policy Committee in July. Peyton and his officials appreciated that if they threatened all unremunerative services at once, users of those services would make common cause against the plan. Therefore the programme was not only limited to the 70-80 cases needed to hold the grant level steady, but would be published piecemeal. Twelve proposals would be announced immediately, another 12 or so by early 1972 and then handfuls at intervals of a few months.⁷⁹

Despite this cautious approach, the Scottish Secretary refused point blank to accept closure of the Wick line, even to the extent of proposing commuter services as alternatives; the Welsh Secretary was equally intransigent over the Whitland-Pembroke Dock and Shrewsbury-Llanelli services and Peyton and the Chancellor accepted the political case for postponing any announcement.⁸⁰ Although Peyton hoped to take up the case for Scottish and Welsh closures again, the Welsh Secretary warned that the closure programme 'has now gone as far as it can go without prejudicing the economic and social life of many parts of Wales' and that he would oppose any further contraction in the next two years, while rumours of a 200-service closure programme had mobilized opposition across Britain.⁸¹ As one official remarked, 'the irrational and sentimental attraction to the retention of particular rail services at a time when so many of the development areas [as the areas of economic decline were now known] are experiencing serious unemployment' was a significant factor.⁸² Many people appeared to believe that rail services had a greater transport significance than their traffic suggested. Clearly, maintenance of the Inverness-Wick and Shrewsbury-Llanelli services, at a cost 'almost absurdly expensive in comparison to the standards we use in England', had taken on a symbolic significance that far outweighed the impact which closure would have on the average of 525 people who used the former and 360 who used the latter each day, or the £600,000 it was believed their closure would save; but if bankruptcies and redundancies were blamed on closures, it was difficult for the Government to prove otherwise. Less contentious alternatives could be found, but the case for closing them was more marginal.⁸³ By the time Peyton had compiled a list of 12 cases acceptable to the Scottish and Welsh Offices, the Treasury Chief Secretary expressed concern that the Government would look stupid if it proposed closures that would cost jobs while announcing Government spending elsewhere to create jobs and all but four of the cases on the list were reprieved. By early 1972 ministers had effectively placed a political moratorium on closures; its length remained open to question, but the eventual rundown of rural bus and rail services was still seen as inevitable.⁸⁴

Meanwhile, the BRB and the Department had engaged in studies of various sizes of railway, completed in late 1971, one of which was as small as 3,800 miles. None appeared to be viable, but it emerged that most of BR's commercial traffic could be accommodated on a 6,500-mile network, 9,000 miles if grantaided services were added. Although officials were not prepared to rule out a very much smaller railway permanently, a second round of studies concentrated on how withdrawing up to 123 grant-aided services or abandoning wagon-load freight would affect the commercial railway. The Board's studies showed that these alternatives would have little financial effect, but officials, whose own examinations suggested that the alternative scenarios would produce few social disbenefits, were critical of the assumptions behind the Board's work and expressed frustration that a network supposedly consisting of profitable passenger services, profitable freight services and grant-aided services (which were inherently profitable as far as the BRB's accounts were concerned) produced a hopelessly unremunerative whole.⁸⁵ The Board was asked to conduct another study aimed at identifying a viable railway. This produced a network of 5,450 miles on the assumption that only commuter services would receive grants. However, it was not profitable and the Board highlighted the transitional costs of achieving it. Further discussion between the BRB and DoT only produced agreement that no viable railway had been identified, that the 5,450-mile network was cheaper than the Board's favoured approach but less cost-effective in terms of the traffic it carried and that examination of the financial effects of adjusting the deployment of resources in the railway system should continue.⁸⁶

Interviewed by *The Times* in 1975, Beeching described Marsh's argument that the size of the network was just right as 'almost too miraculous to happen to anybody except an ex-politician'.⁸⁷ The BRB had not convinced officials either; however, by the end of 1973 the Government had broadly accepted the Board's Interim Rail Strategy of maintaining the network at its present size and investing in it. This was part of a wider attempt to alter the course of transport policy, shifting resources from road to rail, abandoning the more ambitious plans for urban motorways, restricting urban traffic and road freight. This initiative imme-

diately ran into difficulties. Restricting lorry weights might mean more small lorries rather than fewer large ones, the potential for transferring freight to rail was limited, there appear to have been no firm plans on how to restrict urban motorists and the trunk road programme was considered too vital to cut seriously. It soon ran into another when rail investment was cut in an attempt to restrain public spending.⁸⁸ Acceptance of the Board's proposals was made easier by the fact that for all their belief that a viable network could be identified, Whitehall officials could not identify one if the BRB's studies did not; they could only continue to press the BRB to do so. Moreover, the impact of closing significant numbers of grant-aided services was dwarfed by the size of the deficit. However, in mid-1972 officials still believed that a viable network could be identified and that the relatively insignificant cost of subsidies was no reason to abandon the search for savings.⁸⁹ The key factor frustrating any attempt at a closure programme was what one official complained of as 'the overwhelmingly most unsatisfactory part of the whole railway saga ... the fundamental refusal of politicians to countenance the possibility of a significant rundown in rail services'.90

According to Marsh the prospect of a closure programme was killed when he showed Peyton a map indicating its impact on Conservative constituencies in rural areas. When a copy of the Department's report on the BRB's second stage studies was leaked to the Sunday Times in October 1972 and the public saw a map on which not only Inverness, Stranraer, Penzance, Aberystwyth and King's Lynn, but Ayr, Middlesbrough, Canterbury, Stratford-upon-Avon, Hereford, Blackburn, Burnley, Aylesbury, Salisbury and Chichester were removed from the rail network, Peyton faced exactly the problem he had hoped to avoid by publishing closures in small batches and all hell broke loose.⁹¹ As the Chairman of the Broad Street Line (Richmond) Committee warned the following summer, 'Beeching caught the country unprepared [but] there is now scarcely one threatened line that is not forearmed with a defence committee' and many politicians had made promises of support which would now have to be honoured. The NUR promised to fight the plan 'tooth and nail'. In Aberystwyth, which would be left with Shrewsbury as a railhead, the local council unanimously resolved to organize protest meetings to prevent 'the death knell of Mid-Wales' and the mayor was quoted as saying '[w]e must fight, and fight to the death, even if it means going outside the conventional means at our disposal'.92 Peter Walker responded to the leak by telling officials that he would not accept any significant cuts in the network.93 Peyton and Marsh fell over themselves to reassure the public that the leaked map was just one of a series of options being studied (as indeed it was).94 By the start of 1973 the Department saw little point in continuing studies of the viable railway, as it was politically impossible and the choice appeared to be whether or not to increase investment in the existing railway.⁹⁵

Officials had not abandoned hope of achieving some savings from individual closures. The studies had undermined what had become known as the 'cascade' argument, that closing 'feeder' lines deprived the main network of revenue, and led officials to question the BRB's claim that closing these lines would damage
the railways by removing revenue while leaving the burden of central costs, a portion of which was attributed to each service and therefore covered by the grant, unchanged.⁹⁶ The difference between the Ministry, which argued that closure of 73 grant-aided services would produce a net saving to the taxpayer of £12 million, and the BRB, which continued to insist that this would be wiped out by the knock-on effects, remained unresolved at the end of 1973. However by mid-1973 a cross-party consensus had emerged on the need to maintain the network at roughly 11,500 miles; Peyton was claiming credit for the fact that only 135 miles of railway had closed in the last three years compared to 3,430 under Labour and had ruled out large-scale closures to cheers from all sides of the House of Commons. By early 1974 Peyton had announced that even piecemeal closures would generally fail to reduce system costs and several lines whose closure had already been approved were reprieved.97 The consensus on rail was cemented by Labour's Railways Act 1974, which was essentially the same as the legislation the Conservatives had planned and which replaced the 1968 grant system with a block grant (the Public Service Obligation or PSO), provided a further capital reconstruction, including a debt write-off worth nearly £200 million, and was accompanied by the Minister's instruction to provide a service from 1 January 1975 which was generally comparable to existing levels.⁹⁸ Interestingly, officials only realized that the way in which the railways could be subsidized was circumscribed by European Economic Community regulations after they began working on the details of the Bill, much to the horror of the Conservative Paymaster General.99

In 1974 BR identified 82 services on which each train carried an average maximum of 20 passengers and revenue was less than half of operating costs. When one compares the saving of £3.2 million that closing 38 of them and nearly 1,000 route-miles could deliver with the £324 million of public subsidy received by the BRB in 1975 and the reaction to the leaked map in 1972, the reasons for the stabilization of the network are clear.¹⁰⁰ The Treasury saw the new legislation as a formal recognition 'that British Rail is no longer a viable commercial enterprise, and that there is no foreseeable prospect of restoring viability'.¹⁰¹ Undoubtedly, the inability to find the profitable sculpture Enoch Powell had claimed must be hidden in the marble block of the unremunerative railway some 20 years earlier was significant in prompting the change, but this search was curtailed, and the future of the grant-aided services secured, by the political repercussions of closures. The Beeching era was over.

Conclusion

Ten years after the publication of the *Beeching Report* the closure programme was abandoned, because it had become clear that there was no profitable core network, pursuing one would involve closing socially necessary lines and even closing those lines which served little social purpose would not save enough money to be worth the political difficulties involved. The promise of the Labour opposition to halt major closures if elected in 1964 may have been hollow, and

the impression of having done so which Castle created with the publication of *Network for Development* misleading, but compared to the implications of the BRB's traffic studies a significantly larger network survived. Consideration of the social consequences of closures played an important part in this, because even if it had been politically possible to go further, to do so would have contradicted the trend in advice on individual cases, at least in the short term. Once the closure programme was slowed it was difficult to start it again within the lifetime of a single government and this added to the political disincentive.

Tom Fraser has been criticized for failing to alter his predecessor's transport policy, but Labour's belief in the need to consider transport as a whole and to base transport policy on a planned approach to the economy was not as radical a departure from Conservative practice as the Party liked to think. Nor was it an approach which could deliver quick results; indeed it had difficulty in delivering results at all, given the size and complexity of the tasks facing those responsible for transport policy in the 1960s. Instead Labour supporters were given a mixture of incremental change and symbolic postures. Key changes in transport policy, such as the subsidizing of specific rail services and the provision of conurbation transport authorities, were developments of rather than departures from Conservative policy, although they were significant developments and it would be misleading to assume that they were inevitable. Labour failed to make significant progress on the admittedly very difficult task of devising a means by which the price of road travel could be related to its real cost. More importantly, the need for significant investment in the core rail network, argued in successive plans of 1955, 1956, 1960, 1963 and 1965 and again in 1966 by Raymond and 1971-3 by Marsh, was not fulfilled; Marples remains the Minister who presided over the highest real-terms level of rail investment in the nationalized railway (albeit one which declined significantly during his period as Minister).¹⁰² It is impossible to say whether the Conservatives would have pursued the closure programme to the conclusion implied by Beeching's studies had they been reelected in 1964, but this chapter has illustrated the political difficulties that such a policy would have encountered and the likelihood that Whitehall's advice on individual cases would have frustrated attempts at a swift reduction to 8,000 miles. Certainly Marples' career did not benefit from his association with Beeching and by 1967 he appeared to some critics of the Conservatives as a lonely evangelist of technology and business.¹⁰³ The controversy over the quantity licensing proposals in Castle's Transport Bill may have reflected real ideological differences between the supporters of the two major parties, but this dispute was far more symbolic than those of 1947–53 and by 1974 a consensus had emerged on the need to stabilize and subsidize the passenger railway network. This consensus was to prove remarkably resilient, even as fundamental ideological differences between the parties became strikingly apparent over the ensuing 20 years.

8 The management of decline?

Only one major closure has taken place since 1974, the by then freight-only Hadfield–Penistone section of the former Manchester–Sheffield main line, and relatively few minor lines have been closed. The chief inhibitor of closures in the 1970s and 1980s was the political price to be paid for relatively small savings. A commitment to maintaining the network has become an important test of government's commitment to rail, yet the history of government–railway relations since 1974 has been dominated by the intractable problems of finance and the railways have come to be seen once again as indicative of national failure.

A permanent network?

The absence of major closures since 1974 might be taken as reflecting a greater appreciation of the social value of rail services, or a shift in perceptions of rail following the oil shock of the 1970s and the growing awareness of the dangers of global warming and the motor car's role in causing it. While it would be rash to completely dismiss these factors, the primary explanation is that, while closure programmes continued to be considered in the years before privatization, the savings were not worth the trouble involved. The disparity between the effort of implementing a major closure programme and the savings to be achieved was emphasized when in 1982 Sir David Serpell, veteran of the Stedeford Committee and subsequently Permanent Secretary at Transport and the DoE and part-time member of the BRB, was asked to lead an inquiry into the railways' finances and recommend ways of producing better results over the next 20 years. The inquiry's results disappointed both the Government and the BRB. Its work was cut short and rushed when the Minister, David Howell, told the committee to concentrate on the next five years; and its members were unable to issue a unanimous report. Nevertheless, part two of the report sought to discuss long-term policy options and contained a series of maps illustrating networks of different sizes and estimates of the financial results such networks would achieve in 1992. Only option A, a network of 1,630 miles (essentially the west coast main line plus the main lines from London to Newcastle/Leeds, Norwich, Cardiff/Bristol, Bournemouth, Portsmouth, Brighton/Newhaven,

Folkestone, Dover and Southend) showed a profit. Even a 40 per cent cut in the network would leave a subsidy of over £500 million and this would involve closing all the railways in north and central Wales and west of Exeter, Scotland north of the Glasgow–Edinburgh belt (except the Aberdeen route) and East Anglia except the mainline to Norwich.¹ As far as Sir David Serpell was concerned, the point of these models was to illustrate the impossibility of cutting the network down to a profitable core.² Certainly, it is hard to imagine that he believed option A was remotely possible. But maps do attract attention and these were taken seriously enough by contemporary observers. Their reaction, which helped the BRB sideline the report, indicates how politically difficult further closures would be.³ 'As cures go', wrote the *Evening Standard*, 'it's a killer'.⁴

Nevertheless, the possibility that a significant proportion of loss-making services could be replaced by buses remained on the agenda. In 1977 there had been talk of saving £25 million a year by replacing 10 per cent of passenger train mileage with buses. A report on the proposal went to the Serpell committee and, following the review's endorsement of the idea, a series of further studies were carried out, encouraged by the Transport Act 1985. However the initiative was abandoned in 1989 because further study suggested the benefits would not be as great as initially hoped, especially if introduced on individual lines rather than en masse. That there was no political appetite for the controversy this would involve is evident from the Minister's decision to rule out 'bustitution' in Scotland or Wales, thereby excluding the familiar survivors north of Inverness and Shrewsbury-Llanelli as well as Blaenau Ffestiniog, Malaig and a handful of other cases which probably offered more savings than English options such as St Ives and Sheringham. In any event, by 1989 it appeared that investing in rail services was as good an option. Suggestions that railways might be converted into roads, although investigated, also got nowhere.5

There was, however, one great closure battle left for the 1980s. By December 1983, when the proposal to close it was published, the Settle and Carlisle, a duplicate main line traversing thinly populated moorland, stood out as an apparently obvious candidate for easily achieved savings. The local service Tom Fraser reprieved having been withdrawn in 1970, it had only two stations, Settle and Appleby, two trains a day and a massive viaduct at Ribblehead in need of costly repair. But when it attempted to close the line the BRB walked into its most traumatic individual battle since the Bluebell case a quarter of a century earlier. Accusations of false figures and running down services abounded, legal challenges delayed hearings and expanded the scope for objection. In seeking to dismiss the latter BR restored the local service and found it attracted significant numbers of passengers (although James Towler, the Yorkshire TUCC Chairman who played a key role in opposing closure, recalls a train carrying just 25 people). The Ribblehead viaduct turned out to be cheaper than originally estimated to repair. Initial ministerial approval was suspended while attempts were made to sell the line and then refused when these failed. Every aspect of the closure battles which had deterred rail managers from a more vigorous approach in the 1950s seemed to be combined and writ large in this one case. For good measure Dame Alison Munro, one of the first Ministry officials to press the case for a closure programme in 1956, reappeared as the chair of the CTCC, recast as 'a doughty champion of the consumer, [who] stood no nonsense, least of all from British Rail'. At a time when the railways had much to be proud of, the case reinforced the image of railway management as men whose animosity towards the traveller was only mitigated by the incompetence which prevented them from doing their worst.⁶

Even when ministers decided to privatize the railways, they remained aware of the political need to maintain the size of the network and an attempt to use the franchising process to withdraw the sleeper service to Fort William, whose handful of passengers were subsidized to the tune of £450 a head, was lost to what the Rail Regulator called 'the Scottish lobby'.⁷ By the time reform of the closure procedure was proposed by the Railways Bill, 2004, the Strategic Rail Authority (SRA) had 'been trying for four years to remove one return service from Wales to London Waterloo, which was carrying an average of eight people a day and cost £500,000 a year'.⁸

Whether the railway network will undergo a significant further contraction remains open to question. Over 400 of the network's 2,500 stations are used by fewer than 25 people a day and the Government has proposed offering local authorities financial incentives to replace some services with buses. There may be a good case for doing so in that it could release funds, rolling stock and, where stopping services run on main lines, capacity for services people actually use, although the argument that some stations would see more passengers if served more frequently cannot be ignored. The abolition of Regional Rail Passenger Councils (as the TUCCs had become) under the Railways Act 2005 and cuts implied by the current franchising process suggest that the Government is considering grasping the nettle of rail closures and is well aware of the likely response (could this be why the Cabinet Office recently borrowed the file on the 1964 Cabinet committee that oversaw Marples' decisions from the Public Record Office?). However, such a programme will face opposition strengthened by the tendency to see the rail network as a part of the nation's fixtures and fittings and any contraction of it as inherently contravening a consensus on the need to reduce car traffic. Publication of the Railways Bill 2004 was met with warnings of 'Beeching mark two'.

When the closure of five stations in the Midlands was proposed in 2004 on the grounds that even the busiest of them produced an average of only four passengers per train and that closure would free stock for busy commuter services and allow an acceleration of expresses, *The Times*' report of the case, while it did not ignore these points, gave prominence to the concern of the West Midlands Rail Passengers Committee that local services were 'being sacrificed to make way for intercity trains between London and Manchester' and the comments of an 'outraged' Polesworth resident living next to the station who would 'love to leave the car at home. The Government says they want us to get out of our cars but they do nothing to help'. The fact that closing the station might do more to get people out of their cars, by freeing capacity, stock and finance, than retaining it could be discerned from the article, but the complaints of objectors were its focus. This is why, as Christian Wolmar recently warned, any closure programme will emerge by stealth.⁹ The Beeching era has left a template of reaction to rail closure in place and were a 'Beeching Mark Two' to list 400 stations for closure it would generate a response out of all proportion to the national significance of such a measure, compared for example to the far more important question of whether and how a major programme of investment in genuine high-speed lines might bridge the gap between the two economies of south-east England and the rest of Britain which so concerned Harold Macmillan at the time of the *Beeching Report*.¹⁰

By 1974 the branch-line railway was becoming fixed in the British imagination. Until rural railways began to close in appreciable numbers, rail enthusiasts were not terribly interested in them but tended instead to compare the performance of main-line locomotives.¹¹ As the branch lines disappeared they took on a more romantic aura. By the time Dr Beeching arrived at the BTC the Talyllyn and Bluebell lines had been restored by enthusiasts seeking not only to preserve them but a place to operate the steam locomotives they were saving from scrapyards. By 1997, Britain's heritage railways were carrying about eight million passengers a year.¹² In 1970 the Keighley and Worth Valley Railway played a starring role in Lionel Jeffries' successful film adaptation of E. Nesbit's *The Railway Children*, beginning a successful relationship between the heritage railway and the film-maker, most recently evident in the production of a model of the Hogwart's Express of Harry Potter fame.¹³ This is what Ian Marchant calls 'the railway of memory and dreams ... deeply loveable because it isn't entirely real'.¹⁴

I can still recall the moment my mother lifted me up as a small child to look over the bridge in Havant at a derelict track and told me that this was where the 'Hayling Billy' used to run. My youthful fascination with these mysterious pathways, dripping tunnels and crumbling viaducts, recognized and encouraged by Elizabeth Beresford's *The Secret Railway* (1979), must have been widely shared, as there are currently some 20 volumes offering guides to railway walks. A further series 'Forgotten Railways' provides potted histories of all the closed railways in an area with a brief guide to their remains. The Railway Ramblers organization has been active since 1978, raising money to maintain structures such as the viaduct south of Haltwhistle on the former Alston branch, and some 1,500–2,000 miles of former railway has now been converted into official paths and cycle routes, many by a company set up for that purpose, Sustrans Ltd.¹⁵

In 1952 H. C. Casserley indicated the growing interest in branch lines with the publication of a slim illustrated list of previous closures, *Service Suspended*.¹⁶ Now virtually every line that has ever existed has a small volume devoted to its history and, like the railway walks literature, they are laced with regret over closures. Jeff Vinter, chairman of the Railway Ramblers, admits in his guide to walks along former Southern and GWR routes that he sees Beeching as 'a sort of state executioner', appointed in 'the sixties [which], after all, were a self-consciously modern and destructive age'.¹⁷ In *Forgotten Railways*,

138 The management of decline?

H. P. White recounts his 1958 journey over the 110 miles of the former Midland and Great Northern Line from Peterborough to Great Yarmouth at an average speed of less than 25mph. Reading his account it is easy to appreciate that for 'the connoisseur of rail travel' this is a journey to be 'savoured in the memory', but as he acknowledges it is not one that would appeal to the normal passenger.¹⁸ It is of course the connoisseurs who write the accounts which fuel nostalgia for the Midland and Great Northern, the Somerset and Dorset and the rest. None of this is a bad thing and the romanticizing of the rural railway should not obscure the fact that opposition to closures was founded on the effects of closures, not a purely emotional attachment to the railway; but it helps to explain why Beeching, seen even by his opponents as the epitome of modernization in the early 1960s, has come to be seen as heralding the management of decline.¹⁹ It also helps to explain the tendency to equate opposition to rail closures with a 'prorail' transport policy.

Government and the railways 1974–92

The Railways Act 1974 was the end of the era of closures but it did not mark an end to the difficulties posed for the relationship between Government and the railways by the question of finance. Officials had by no means been won over to the railways' case for increased investment. While some felt there was in general a good argument for transferring resources from road to rail, the railways were deemed not to have made that case in the specific points put forward in 1972–4.²⁰ Although the Board's request for a doubling of rail investment was accepted by ministers in principle, it was not carried through in the spending round agreed in late 1973, which was then cut by 20 per cent within weeks. While investment levels picked up from 1969 they stabilized in the mid-1970s at an unsustainably low level, as the proposals contained in the Interim Rail Strategy (themselves below what Marsh had wanted) were undercut and in 1975 the railways' investment programme suffered greater cutbacks than the rest of the nationalized sector.²¹ Meanwhile, the introduction of the PSO failed, like the 1968 Act before it, to link subsidy levels to a calculation of the social value of rail services and the subsidy they received. A full account of the government/railway relationship after 1974 is not possible here, but it was clearly influenced by the fact that, because subsidies reflected losses rather than a payment for a social service, the level of subsidy tended to equate to the level of government dissatisfaction with railway management and this in turn consistently influenced the political willingness to invest in the rail network, even though the case for investing, for example in high-speed rail services, might have nothing to do with the reasons for increases in subsidy.

At the same time, investment policy was influenced by the continuing lack of faith in the railways' investment proposals within Whitehall. It is difficult not to sympathise with Marsh's frustration at being told he could replace short rail with short rail as that was revenue account spending but not with (more efficient) long-welded rail as that was capital expenditure, although it is worth remember-

ing that this decision was reversed.²² It is also difficult not to sympathize with his complaints at the tendency to impose cuts at short notice.²³ But while the tight control and restriction of railway investment owed much to the enduring Whitehall folk memory of the Modernisation Plan, official scepticism had been reinforced by the failure of every subsequent plan to deliver the promised results and continued to be reinforced by failings on the railways' part. Officials' misgivings were sustained by some features of the traffic forecasts used by the BRB to justify their plans, for example the 'angle of unreality', the angle formed on a graph between a projection of past trends (generally downwards) and the railways' prediction of future trends (generally upwards), and they believed that in judging railway plans '[t]he experience of the past quarter of a century suggests that the only safe rule is that if the figures show the future prospects of the railways in a favourable light they are probably wrong'. If this seems to back up the idea of an anti-rail Ministry, it is worth emphasizing that this was a view based on experience and backed up by examples, including a case in which, asked to evaluate the Advanced Passenger Train (APT) on the basis of reduced traffic levels, BR showed that the rate of return improved. While officials attempted to understand how this could happen, the project was approved; it later emerged that the Board had reduced capital assets and expenditure in line with the reduced level of traffic.24

Some of the comments made about Beeching imply that his arrival at the BRB permanently transformed the quality of railway management for the better,²⁵ but while he may have done much to improve railway management, it is not clear that he set in motion a continuous improvement sustained in the years following his departure. Accused by contemporary critics of making 'no real attempt to achieve the targets that it had set itself or to tackle the problems with which it was confronted' and of being 'prodigal and tolerant of inefficiency',²⁶ the railways' record on productivity and the reduction of operational costs during the 1970s is unimpressive and management appeared uncertain over what BR's strategy should be, at least until Peter Parker's arrival in 1976.²⁷ At the same time, the lessons which motivated the reforms of the early 1960s seem to have been forgotten. In the mid-1960s the Government again intervened to hold down or at least delay increases in fares, but while the BRB complained of the effects, they were at least mitigated by restraints on wages and after 1968 the railways benefited from greater freedom and the implementation of more selective pricing as recommended by the Prices and Incomes Board.²⁸ In the 1970s, the BRB had to endure the sort of interventions in prices and wage negotiations which caused so many problems in the 1950s. The relationship reached a nadir when the last disillusioned years of Marsh's chairmanship coincided with the return of Fred Mulley as Minister in 1974 (succeeded by John Gilbert in 1975) under Anthony Crosland as Environment Secretary. A significant fall in freight traffic, which necessitated additional unplanned grants to supplement the PSO in 1975-6, did nothing to improve relations. Crosland was not alone in tending to see the railways as existing largely for the benefit of the middle class. One study of the 1970s showed that over half of personal expenditure on rail came from the

140 The management of decline?

richest 20 per cent of the population, while only 5 per cent came from the poorest, and the difference was even more marked in spending on season tickets, statistics which did little to encourage social funding of rail.²⁹

There were more hopeful signs from 1976 when Peter Parker became Chairman and Bill Rodgers Secretary of State for Transport.³⁰ However, official pessimism continued to be encouraged both by the railways' financial performance and their failure to provide solid justification for investment projects, in particular by basing returns on questionable estimates of increased earnings rather than cost reduction. The embarrassing story of the APT, abandoned in 1986 after more than a decade of development, sums up the failure to invest in railways post-Beeching. Whitehall's investment scepticism was justified by technical and project-management failings on the railways' part. However, in hindsight there are elements of self-fulfilling prophecy here in that had the project been more enthusiastically supported its difficulties might have been overcome.³¹ Peter Parker bemoaned it as exemplifying a British habit of 'wishing for the moon and not willing the resources', which in this case represented a fraction of the sum wasted on Concorde.³²

Parker's attempts to get government endorsement for a major electrification programme were rejected by the Conservatives in 1981, despite a favourable joint BRB/Ministry study. Mrs Thatcher's famed dislike of publicly owned railways, and the scepticism regarding their prospects attributed to her trusted adviser Alan Walters, cannot have helped matters, but the railways' inability to achieve planned reductions in the PSO or obtain union cooperation on productivity deals were major handicaps to the Board's case. Although results did improve in the late 1970s, published surpluses were revealed to be losses once inflation was taken into account and when the economy went into recession from 1979 the railways' losses seemed once again to be spiralling out of control at a time when the BRB and the Government had agreed a reduction in the PSO.³³

By the late 1970s the railways' investment position was becoming desperate. BR was refurbishing multiple-units built under the *Modernisation Plan*, including vehicles operating on services in the south-east which even the most draconian advocates of a closure programme did not envisage withdrawing, in order to extend their lives rather than purchasing new stock. The future of lines such as Inverness–Kyle and Shrewsbury–Aberystwyth was called into question by the postponement of 3,000 miles of track renewal in 1977. Most disappointing was that, following the completion of electrification to Glasgow in 1974, no mainline electrification, and little suburban, took place during the decade.³⁴ The great investment success of the 1970s, the High Speed Train, the world's fastest diesel, was nevertheless a reflection of Britain's failure to implement the Weir committee's recommendations of 1931 on main-line electrification. A 1979 study showed that British Rail received less investment per train/km than any other European Union railway.³⁵

A measure of the problems facing the industry by the 1980s is provided by Gourvish's suggestion that rail managers deserve credit for the fact that the railways did not suffer the decimation inflicted on the coal industry during that decade. The introduction of sector management between 1979 and 1982, which divided the railways into five business sectors (InterCity, Provincial and London and South East passenger sectors, Freight and Parcels), provided a clearer management structure and was eventually followed by complete abolition of the railway regions and the creation of completely decentralized businesses; management performed well in general throughout the 1980s.³⁶ Ironically, the industry entered a decade dominated by the preparation and aftermath of privatization in better managerial shape than at any time since nationalization, yet this performance exposed the inescapable need for major investment and the railways' vulnerability to economic circumstances, which both damaged the railways' revenue position, thereby weakening the argument for investing in rail, and encouraged the Treasury to cut public spending in general.

The 1983 Serpell Review of railway finances was established at Parker's instigation and he appears to have hoped that it would support the case for investment in the railway, yet the Review's findings stressed the possibilities for further savings and failed to endorse major investment.³⁷ In its aftermath, the Government demanded a 25 per cent reduction in the PSO between 1983 and 1986 and when this was achieved demanded another 25 per cent cut by 1990. Both targets were exceeded and by the end of the decade the investment reward Parker had hoped for was beginning to materialize. From 1988 investment rose steadily until in 1993 it reached a level higher in real terms than in 1960. However, if the Channel Tunnel was excluded, investment in the existing railway was not that much higher than the inadequate plateau of the 1970s and making up for the chronic under-investment that had typified the intervening period would not be a quick process. British Rail was receiving the lowest level of support of any EU railway in 1989 and the extent to which this was true was greater then than in 1979. In 1990 investment again paid the price of the railways' failure to meet financial targets as the economy entered a recession and the realities behind the improved financial results of the 1980s began to be exposed, with a moratorium on new projects and a review by the Ministry and the Treasury. BR's achievements in the 1980s were genuine enough, for example train miles per staff member increased by 42 per cent in 1982-9, but the improved financial position by the end of the decade owed something to accountancy, something to property and asset sales and, crucially, owed more to increased passenger traffic than to cost savings. Between 1982 and 1989 both rail operating revenue and GDP increased by 26 per cent and as the economy went into recession in 1989 so the railways suffered, just as they had done in 1979-82. In 1989 the Treasury had been hoping to tighten the subsidy belt still further over the next few years so that London and the South East (Network South East, as it was by then known) would join InterCity in being self-supporting. The hopes for the early 1990s were dashed by the recession, during which 12 per cent of passenger mileage and nearly a quarter of freight traffic were lost. As the economy picked up, the BRB produced more encouraging results in its last year including, at last, a surplus for Network South East.³⁸

In the light of this brief survey it is clear that the policy of maintaining and

subsidizing the railway from 1974 was more an admission of defeat than a declaration of confidence. As Irving Lapsley has argued, the difficulty in obtaining the data necessary to base rail subsidies on social value resulted in the payment of subsidies linked to the loss made by a line which it had been decided should remain open, rather than an arrangement whereby the social value of rail services is a service provided to the government in return for a fee.³⁹ One consequence of this is that the subsidy became a badge of failure rather than an income earned. Another was that pressure to hold down the level of subsidy merely replaced pressure to cut the deficit. Not only did this add to the difficulties the railways experienced in attracting public investment, but it encouraged a negative public view of the contemporary railway and those who ran it that contrasted with and can only have been reinforced by the nostalgic affection for 'the great days of steam'.⁴⁰ By the early 1990s the railways were well run, well organized and cost-effective. They had developed, in total route modernization, an effective approach to investment (under which all elements of a route were modernized at the same time, an approach applied to the commuter services out of Marylebone with excellent results).⁴¹ If only, one is tempted to conclude, the nation had at this point resolved that it wanted a modern, efficient railway and was prepared to pay for it.

Privatization - back to square one?

The government-railway relationship in the two decades after 1974 was characterized by government dissatisfaction at its inability to stabilize rail subsidies and by the railways' inability to convince government to invest more heavily in the core network of inter-city and commuter services. Privatization was supposed to solve these problems by cutting costs and freeing the railways from Treasury investment control.⁴² The measure can of course be seen as an exercise in Thatcherite hubris which even some arch-Thatcherites were unwilling to endorse,⁴³ but it also reflects a tendency to see markets as offering the sort of economic panacea which planning promised in the early 1960s, a shift which is reflected in Michael Beesley's move from advocacy of cost-benefit analysis towards support for deregulation and competition.⁴⁴ In 1972 a Treasury discussion paper saw 'the seeds of a more rational transport policy' in the separation of responsibility for track and operations, with multiple, multi-mode operators (albeit within a publicly owned structure), and the idea of a separate rail track authority dates back at least to the 1940s, but the belief that the private sector would bring a new expertise in customer service was clearly an important influence.⁴⁵ Rail privatization is already the subject of a considerable body of literature and has been discussed in far more detail than is possible here. The summary that follows seeks to highlight two points: that in the story of the railways since 1992 history has repeated itself simultaneously as tragedy and farce; and that privatization has failed utterly to solve the enduring problems of the relationship between government and the railways.

Since 1992 the railway industry has suffered from a politically induced lack

of stability comparable to that evident between 1945 and 1955. After 1992 the attention of the BRB was diverted from running the railways to reorganizing for privatization, while a massive investment hiatus lasted into 1995-6 and privatization saw an exodus of expertise from the industry.⁴⁶ Before the new structure could bed down, the Strategic Rail Authority (SRA) was established (in shadow form in 1999 and in practice in 2001, accompanied by an advisory Commission for Integrated Transport), and before it could get to grips with its task the entire industry was thrown into chaos by the consequences of the Hatfield disaster of October 2000, the last of three major railway accidents for which the structure and performance of the privatized railway have been blamed. At Hatfield a rail shattered under a train, derailing it and killing four people, after which Railtrack, the company established to own the infrastructure, imposed hundreds of 20mph speed restrictions on sections of suspect track, bringing much of the network to a halt and incurring financial penalties as a result of the impact on Train Operating Companies (TOCs), which eventually led to its collapse. Having been placed in administration in October 2001, it was replaced by a not-for-profit company, Network Rail, the following year. Attempts by Railtrack shareholders to show that the Government, or at least Transport Minister Stephen Byers, had maliciously forced the company into administration foundered on the ruling of Mr Justice Lindsay that Railtrack's insolvency 'cannot be said to be a fault in the government unless one can postulate a duty on government to have funded Railtrack without limit and without condition, a hopeless proposition'. Meanwhile the franchises awarded to TOCs were subjected to a protracted renewal process and, following a policy review, the SRA was abolished by the Railways Act 2005.47

These administrative upheavals were accompanied by fundamental uncertainties over transport policy as the Conservatives, having initiated a massive roadbuilding programme at the end of the 1980s, abandoned it in the mid-1990s, largely for electoral and financial reasons, but partly for environmental ones. Initially Labour merely tinkered with this policy and its 1998 white paper neither altered nor developed it in any significant manner. Nevertheless, policy was perceived as sufficiently anti-motorist to frighten the Prime Minister. The success of an alliance of farmers and hauliers in bringing the roads to a halt in protest over fuel prices in September 2000, swiftly followed by Hatfield, meant that Labour entered the 2001 election torn between the need to solve a crisis on the railways and a fear of the motorist.⁴⁸ The subsequent appointment of Stephen Byers, a close ally of the Prime Minister, suggested that transport was now a priority, but Byers' position was swiftly and fatally undermined, apparently by an event of almost incredible insignificance, his failure to sack an aide for insensitive comments about the attack on the World Trade Center (although the furore surrounding the fate of Railtrack certainly contributed). It has been suggested, somewhat tongue-in-cheek, that Byers' replacement, Alistair Darling, was given the job of keeping transport out of the headlines.⁴⁹ This might not be a bad idea.

While it is too soon to say whether the abolition of the SRA and other measures in the Railways Act 2005 will produce benefits that outweigh the

disadvantage of another reorganization, there is little doubt that the Railways Act 1993 produced a defective structure. Critics highlight in particular the complex, legalistic web of relations between over 100 companies and the failure to provide Railtrack with incentives to develop the network while providing it with incentives to cut maintenance costs.⁵⁰ These shortcomings reflect the fact that, like Labour in 1948, the Conservatives took office in 1992 with a commitment to fundamental change but no plan as to how this should be done in practice and then repeated the mistake they made in 1951-3 by rushing their proposals into law in order that they might be irreversibly in place by the time a Labour government took office.⁵¹ One consequence of this rush to legislate was that the 1993 Act failed to foresee the subsequent boom in rail travel, just as the 1947 Act took little account of future transport prospects.⁵² Although Labour initially seemed committed to a new 'sustainable' and 'integrated' approach to transport policy in 1997, such talk now appears to be as much of a sop to prorail Labour sentiment as coordination was in the 1960s. Tony Blair's commitment to restore a 'publicly accountable, publicly-owned' railway appeared as worthless as Wilson's pledge to halt major closures in 1964 until Hatfield.⁵³ The decision not to renationalize was sensible enough in that it ought to have allowed a period of calm and avoided another expensive reorganization. It did not, partly because, in creating the Strategic Rail Authority, the new government made the error Barbara Castle avoided in 1966 when she argued that recreating the BTC would simply pass the buck and that controlling strategy was the Minister's job, as New Labour seems now to have recognized.⁵⁴ The SRA was supposed to restore the strategic drive that was lost when privatization fragmented the railway and removed incentives to growth. An addition to the plethora of railway organizations was probably not the best way to do this. As the SRA controlled neither purse-strings nor railway, it found it impossible to provide strategic leadership. Ironically, while its attempt to manage the renewal of franchises was subject to years of delay following Treasury doubts about its methods, the west-coast modernization, free of Treasury control, spiralled into financial disaster.55

New Labour's ten-year transport plan of 2000 appears, with only five years hindsight, to be as much of a politically useful but unrealistic wish list as the 1955 *Modernisation Plan* and, like its predecessor, fell victim to financial disaster, only rather sooner. There is little prospect of its investment proposals being fulfilled by 2010.⁵⁶ The BTC's management of its investment programme seems rather less profligate when set against the farce into which Railtrack's modernization of the west-coast main line descended. The BTC may have failed to deliver the predicted financial returns but at least it did produce an electric mainline railway, while Railtrack's dream of a state-of-the-art railway between London and Manchester has been scaled down to far less than an English TGV, because it turned out that it would cost MASA to put a man on Mars. Perhaps the difficulties of putting a twenty-first-century railway on a nineteenth-century route should have been evident from the difficulties experienced 30 years

earlier? This project too appears to have suffered from the political drive to get privatization up and running before a new government could halt it. James Meek argues that the terms of Railtrack's contract with Virgin Trains for the route's modernization were in themselves enough to destroy the company's viability, given the impossibility of fulfilling them.⁵⁷ Within ten years of privatization the industry was back at square one. In 1948 a quango operating at arm's length from the government attempted to organize a variety of undertakings in desperate need of maintenance and investment into a coherent whole to provide a safe and efficient service to the nation while not losing money; and the former shareholders were bailed out by the taxpayer. The difference at the end of 2004 was that the task was in the hands of two quangos (the SRA and Network Rail), not one.

Privatization - the impossible aim?

It is probably fair to say that there is a general consensus among the public that the privatized railway has been found wanting on safety, service and efficient operation. Such sweeping judgements are unfair, but not unfounded. What is beyond dispute is that it has been a political failure. In their early and admirable overview of the impact of privatization Nigel Harris and Ernest Godward estimated that while the policy had been a political liability for the Conservatives it had probably done little electoral damage and speculated that it had reduced future political difficulties because the industry could be asked to sort out problems itself.⁵⁸ With the benefit of considerably more hindsight this appears to be wrong. The fact that the Conservatives privatized the railways allows virtually any rail problem to be laid at the Party's door and although the value of this to other parties must diminish over time, it is taking a long time. It is ironic that while the Thatcher governments have been credited with setting the clear objectives which contributed to the nationalized railways' improved management performance in the 1980s,⁵⁹ this success has been utterly overshadowed by the failure of subsequent Conservative policy, a policy founded on the belief that private sector management was inherently superior to that in the public sector. It is even clearer that government has been unable to extricate itself from involvement in the railways. While Labour signalled its intention to take on greater strategic involvement when it established the SRA, the evidence suggests strongly that privatization was unlikely to free railway finance from government involvement even before the industry was thrown into chaos by the fall-out from the Hatfield disaster, which saw Railtrack and several train operators relying on considerable public subsidy.

The logic of freeing railway investment from the constraints of Treasury control was the clearest and most sensible aspect of privatization; and it has not been entirely unsuccessful. The BRB was approaching an investment crisis in the 1990s. A 1992 report on the state of the railways' infrastructure indicated significant problems. The Clapham disaster of 1989 exposed the poor crashworthiness of rolling stock dating back to the *Modernisation Plan.*⁶⁰ In the past five

years the average age of rolling stock has been reduced by over 25 per cent, representing an investment of over £4 billion, which the Treasury would have been unlikely to approve.⁶¹ Nevertheless, the replacement of outdated stock is well behind schedule, recent investment needs to be set against the hiatus during the privatization process and the ordering of trains which were too powerful to use the existing electrical supply and which were stored out-of-use at the taxpayers' expense is just one example of the extent to which the post-1994 railway has exposed the fallacy of the idea that the private sector is inherently better at business than the public sector used to be. Christian Wolmar has convincingly argued that this investment could have been procured through leasing, without recourse to privatization.⁶² At least rolling-stock investment has transferred some risk to the private sector and may now have reached a point where it can function well in the future. On the infrastructure side the taxpayer has sacrificed control with (even) less obvious benefit. Track renewal rates were far lower in the 1990s than the 1980s or 1970s, an increase in the headline investment figure since 1995 masks the extent to which this has been devoted to station renovation and, more importantly, the cost of achieving a particular investment objective has increased by an estimated two-and-a-half times more than inflation due to the complexities of the privatized structure.⁶³ The most important point about investment is that even before Hatfield the taxpayer was providing much of it; £26 billion of the £60 billion for railways in the 2000 ten-year transport plan was to come from the Exchequer, of which £14.3 billion was in the form of subsidies to TOCs.⁶⁴

The taxpayer has also continued, despite the hopes behind privatization, to subsidize railway services. One of the cornerstones of privatization was that the private sector would be able to cut costs.⁶⁵ The train operating franchises were therefore let on a basis of tapering subsidy, which in some cases required financial improvements verging on the miraculous. The total subsidy was planned to fall from £1.7 billion in 1997-8 to £806 million in 2002-3. Before the Hatfield disaster subsidies had increased since privatization (although in 2000 they were expected to fall below BR levels by 2002-3) and some TOCs had been bailed out by the Government.⁶⁶ In 1997 the net cost to the Government of privatization was calculated by Nigel Harris and Ernest Godward at £5.6 billion and the net social cost at £9.8 billion.⁶⁷ This figure was disputed prior to Hatfield, but even then it appeared likely that any savings to the Exchequer would not appear for a very long time.⁶⁸ In 2003 subsidies were higher than they had been ten years earlier.⁶⁹ As long as this financial dependency remains, government will continue to face the difficulties inherent in funding the future of the railway within the constraints of Treasury budgets.

Conclusion

The 20 years after 1974 were a period of almost continuous improvement in the running of the railway by its managers and government can take some credit for this. The financial settlement of 1974 implied a recognition that the railways per-

formed a social service; subsidies to essentially unnecessary services were only a small part of the total. However, the 1974 settlement left the industry saddled with an image of failure because its subsidies covered losses rather than payments for a service provided. This encouraged and was encouraged by the restriction of investment in rail to the point where crisis was approaching and insufficient progress was made towards the aim of the various railway plans published in 1955–65: a state-of-the-art network of trunk routes. It is difficult to prove, but reasonable to suggest, that an over-emphasis on the size of the network as a measure of government policy encouraged the development of this crisis. For example, had the 1,000-odd miles of closures identified as saving £3.2 million in 1974 been implemented, they would surely have provoked a public outcry far greater than a cut of ten times that amount in an annual rail investment budget.

The introduction of private capital to the railway offered a way out of the apparently intractable problems of the industry's dependence on Treasury investment finance. However, despite enjoying the most favourable circumstances since the 1950s, the privatized railway has failed. Although one cannot rule out the possibility that this failure might have been avoided but for Hatfield, the evidence suggests that the method of privatization was a contributory factor not only in causing the Hatfield crash (by providing an incentive to cut maintenance and creating an industry structure in which poor communication between component parts was endemic), but more significantly in creating circumstances under which the track authority knew so little about its assets that it reacted to the crash by imposing numerous expensive speed restrictions, as Wolmar argues.⁷⁰ In any event, the implications of the west-coast modernization project and the problems of the TOCs before Hatfield indicate that the hope of a cheaper railway was not to be fulfilled. None of this was the inevitable outcome of privatizing the railways, but of the form privatization took and of the haste with which it was devised. The period since 1992 can be seen as a sad repetition of 1945-58 when debates over organization and ideology and their outcomes detracted attention from the task of identifying what sort of railway was required and how much it would cost. Whether the latest review represents a move into a phase of pragmatism and problem-solving remains to be seen.

Although Labour's establishment of the SRA had signalled a rejection of the idea that the private sector should be allowed to simply get on with running the railways, the public outcry over railway accidents since privatization, the tax-payer's involvement in railway investment and the continuing dependence of the railway on public subsidy (both of which were exacerbated rather than caused by Hatfield) mean that the political benefits of privatization were surely always illusory and that privatization has in general added to the complexity of the relationship between government and the railways without solving the fundamental difficulties of it. The government continues to be held responsible for the quality of railway services and the 2004 white paper accepts this responsibility.⁷¹ Closures, subsidies and investment are still a matter for debate between ministers, officials, rail managers and the public and will remain so for the foreseeable future.

148 The management of decline?

Opposition to privatization was always founded on political opposition to the ideology behind it, even though that went hand in hand with pertinent, well-informed criticism. That the private railway came to symbolize the 'fat cat' culture for critics of market economics is hardly surprising when Railtrack was paying dividends to shareholders with one hand and taking subsidies from the taxpayer with another after Hatfield.⁷² When Ian Marchant writes that:

the railway that you sit on every morning on your way to another shitty fucking pointless day in a drab office in the company of drab work-related acquaintances, is the fruit of political corruption, institutional indifference and short-term profiteering. No one loves it because it is unlovable[,]

he is obviously not writing just about the railways. If the industry symbolized the need to modernize in 1960, it is now a metaphor for failure – not a failure to modernize, but of modern Britain itself.⁷³

9 Conclusion

This book set out to counter the popular view of the *Beeching Report* and to place it in the context of debates about the modernization of Britain. This conclusion offers an alternative to the popular view of Beeching, argues that transport policy underwent a significant modernization during the 1957–64 period and comments on the relationship between modernization and the negative view of Beeching today.

The closure programme

Railway closures were not the result of the pernicious influence of the road lobby or Ernest Marples; nor is it right to characterize the closure programme as a ruthless cost-cutting exercise in which the wider transport picture or the social and economic consequences of closures were ignored. The Beeching Report, although aimed at reducing the railway deficit, had its origins in studies of future transport requirements, the belief that responsibility for providing social services should lie with accountable ministers rather than rail managers and, above all, the need to control public investment. Although the significant increase in railway deficits during the 1950s was precipitated by government intervention in railway pricing and wage negotiations, it reflected a fundamental weakness in areas of the railway business, in particular stopping-train passenger and merchandise freight services. Much of the railway network was redundant by 1939; pressure to close loss-making branch lines was a feature of the 1950s and the plan for modernizing the railways published in 1955 envisaged a concentration on those tasks for which rail appeared best suited: the carriage of bulk traffic over long distances. However, the need for a more fundamental contraction of the industry began to be perceived as a result of Whitehall's attempts from 1957 to discern the sort of transport system the country would require in the future. These studies were not a simple response to the fact that the railways were operating at a loss, but arose from the inability of the BTC to finance its own investment programme. Faced with potentially unlimited demands for public spending, the Treasury had to construct a means of judging the value of railway investment. Having examined transport as a whole to the best of their ability, officials concluded that there were limited benefits to be gained from investing

150 Conclusion

in rail, that such investments would have little impact on the demand for road space outside urban areas and that the existing rail investment programme was being hopelessly mismanaged. While mounting deficits increased the pressure to cut out individual loss-making lines, the study of future transport requirements encouraged the view that a smaller railway industry was required, shifting the emphasis of the closure debate from arguments for individual closures to arguments for individual reprieves.

A second consequence of the Treasury's attempts to improve its control of public expenditure was the belief that the nationalized industries needed to be set clearer objectives, in the form of financial targets, with government taking greater responsibility for decisions that were not commercially motivated. While it is true to say that the reform of the nationalized industries involved a tendency to treat them as if they were 'commercial undertakings, not social services',¹ setting financial targets was not an attempt to end their role in providing social services, but to prevent ministers from using them to control inflation with no regard for the effect on their accounts, and to manage the public's demand for unremunerative facilities. Both on this macro-scale and the micro-scale of individual rail closures, the effects of ending public services were not ignored. By 1960 it was clear that the rationalization of the network was being hampered by the procedure for closing railway lines and the opportunities it offered to objectors. Experience suggested that these protests were unjustified. The reform of the closure procedure under the Transport Act 1962 therefore sought to make it more difficult for opponents to frustrate closures and to take responsibility for closing loss-making lines away from railway managers and into the hands of government. This new division of responsibility was both a reflection of the wider reform of the relationship between government and the nationalized boards and a practical attempt to make closures easier to achieve; it was accompanied by the belief that publishing a programme of closures as part of a plan would help overcome opposition in individual cases. Because that plan reflected the railways' side of the new arrangements, it emphasized financial questions rather than social factors, encouraging the impression that the latter were being ignored. Whether the decision reached on the level of public service to be provided at the taxpayer's expense was correct in any individual case is a matter of opinion. Rail services were maintained if their closure would cause hardship, but hardship was defined in such a way as to enable a service to be withdrawn where it was possible to replace it with a bus service for those whose journeys were economically necessary and whose numbers were economically significant.

Both decisions on individual rail services and attempts to plan the future transport system suffered from the difficulty in compiling accurate figures in the time available, a lack of expert staff (indeed the nascent stage of economic expertise on the subject) and, increasingly, the political difficulties of restricting road traffic and closing railway lines. For these reasons, and because in 1960 'the future' ended in about 1980, the resultant policy looks rather less prescient today than it might do had road traffic not increased since 1980 and in the light

of what we now know about climate change; however, it was essentially correct. Nevertheless, official attention focused on rail closures to an extent that overestimated the degree to which the railways' deficit could be reduced by cutting the network to a profitable core. This reflected a number of factors: the fact that until a closure programme was attempted it was difficult to judge its effects on the deficit; the changing nature of the problem as rail freight declined to become a secondary concern; the difficulties in cutting staff, holding down wages or increasing productivity; and the difficulty in making detailed judgements on the value of specific rail investments when confidence in railway management was at a low ebb. This last point reflected the problems inherent in the relationship between rail managers, who alone had the information and expertise on how to run the railway, and the Treasury, which had to manage the financial consequences. Rail closures were also a focus for Whitehall because by 1960 they were obviously being obstructed by the political and administrative difficulties presented by the closure procedure. As Beeching later commented, the whole process was ten years behind the times.² Here was a problem which officials could understand and attempt to solve.

In relation to both transport as a whole and the railways in particular, the gradual development of government policy during 1958–74 was more significant than the apparent changes wrought by new governments or new ministers. Although the election of a Labour Government in 1964 and the subsequent appointment of Barbara Castle as Minister made it harder to pursue a rigorous approach to closures, the search for a profitable core network was never likely to result in every line outside that network being closed, because Whitehall consistently appreciated that loss-making lines might be socially necessary. While it is conceivable that, once road improvements had been implemented, a significantly greater number of closures than did in fact take place might have done so outside urban areas, the abandonment of loss-making urban lines on a major scale was never likely.

The closure programme has been characterized as an act of ruthless disregard for the consequences inflicted on individuals. In fact, it is evidence of the limitations on the state's ability to act ruthlessly. Had Whitehall been able to close the lines officials felt served no useful social or economic purpose, the rail network would be far smaller today. Although the idea that the railways could be reduced to a profitable core seemed less credible as the closure programme proceeded, officials still felt that worthwhile savings could be produced from closing lines which seemed to provide little in the way of a social service. It was the political difficulties of closing railway lines that brought the programme to a halt. This reflects not only the determination of the rail lobby and users of individual lines, but the significance of rail services to regions and in particular in Scotland and Wales, where their maintenance had become, by the 1970s, symbolic of a supposed political commitment that far outweighed the real value of the services involved.

Local MPs routinely opposed closures in their constituencies and the Scottish and Welsh Secretaries played similar roles on a larger scale. However, while

152 Conclusion

local MPs could retire gracefully telling their constituents they had tried and failed to influence the Minister, the more powerful Secretaries of State (supported by officials who could strengthen arguments in a way MPs were not) felt they had to be seen to achieve something in the eyes of their 'constituents'. Where Marples was pressed to alter the timing of proposals, Castle and Marsh faced outright opposition to decisions and this intensified after 1970, reflecting the growing strength of the nationalist challenge to both Conservative and Labour. H. P. White's suggestion that the existence of separate departments for Scotland and Wales reduced the impact of closures there clearly has some validity;³ however, this in turn made it more difficult to close lines in England where losses were smaller and so helped bring the entire process to a halt. Since the mid-1970s maintenance of the existing rail network has become a badge of commitment to rail of far greater significance than the individual services involved, as can be seen, for example, in the use by opponents of rail privatization of the threat to Scottish sleeper services as a means to attack the whole process of selling off the railways. The legacy of the Beeching Report has in fact been to establish network size as a more important test of transport policy in the public mind than investment.

The modernization of transport policy

The image of the railways as encapsulating Britain's need to modernize in the late 1950s was an accurate one. Initially, the desire to modernize was manifested in a simplistic notion of modernization as a largely technological process; but by 1960 the railways, and transport policy in general, were being modernized in a more genuine sense, as part of a wider process which saw the Treasury try to master the more complex environment in which it operated as a result, in particular, of its responsibility for managing nationalized industry investment programmes. As the nationalized industry with the greatest problems, the railways influenced this wider process of reform.

The attempts made to get to grips with transport policy and with the nationalized sector in general during the late 1950s represent a significant advance on the performance of government in 1951–6. The problems the railways faced in the 1950s were little different from those they had faced before the Second World War, although they had been both exacerbated and temporarily disguised by the effects of war. Between the wars the railways largely failed to adapt to modern conditions. The reasons for this failure are not dealt with in detail here, but clearly the difficulty in obtaining funds for investment was one of them and equally clearly the organizational and ideological debates that dominated the first decade of the railways' peacetime history did little to address either this problem or the need to reshape the network. By the mid-1950s the need to invest in the railways was obvious, but the Government launched that investment at a time when, not only did it lack the knowledge of how to manage it or the structure to do so, but did not have a clear idea of what it wanted the railways to do.

The investment programmes of the nationalized industries transformed the

purpose of the Treasury, as it took on responsibility for judging the details of railway (and other) investments. This was not what was envisaged when nationalization took place, as is evident from the fact that it was not until three years after the BTC's establishment that the Ministry began arguing the need for a study of future transport requirements. The history of the railways since 1945 is littered with cries that what is needed is for the government and/or the nation to decide what sort of railway it wants and how much it is prepared to pay for it, or words to that effect.⁴ When Otto Clarke and Matthew Stevenson decided that they really ought to have a look at the implication of *Proposals for the Railways* in late 1956 those questions began to be asked seriously for the first time since 1945 (and probably since 1921) and they continued to be asked more thoroughly in the ensuing eight years than they have been since. We should not underestimate the extent of change this involved. In 1998 Sir Leo Pliatzky recalled his reaction when the *Modernisation Plan* landed on his desk at the Treasury as being, 'who was I to challenge [the railways'] plans?'.⁵

There was probably no more difficult time for Whitehall to begin asking these questions than the late 1950s, as car-ownership took off. This was a development of greater impact on transport than the development of information technology since 1990, yet can we confidently predict the extent and nature of changes in commuting and retail-related transport that may arise or be encouraged over the next 20 years as a result of the internet? The modernization of the machinery of government in the late 1950s may have resembled 'a rather piecemeal set of running repairs to the postwar settlement',⁶ but in transport it was more akin to installing a diesel engine in Mallard while it thundered down Stoke Bank. It suited the Government to present the Beeching Report as the outcome of sophisticated analysis; but in reality it was a snapshot of a work in progress, work which suffered from a shortage of expertise and the complexity of the task and which continued to do so. This was not a failure of modernization, so much as the legacy of previous failures to ask the right questions; however, the outcome of the process illustrates the limits of what government can achieve and of what it was capable of achieving during this period.

The modernization of transport policy-making achieved some success; not only did it cut railway costs and reshape the network along generally sensible lines, but it identified the need to preserve rail services in urban areas and developed more sophisticated judgements about investment than were evident in the 1950s. It failed in three key areas: linking the price of individual road journeys to their cost; paying the railways for the service they provided to the nation (as opposed to simply covering losses which could not be eliminated); and finding a way to exercise the Treasury's grip on rail investment that did more than simply prevent bad spending decisions and that was immune from unsustainable short-term variations. The first of these failures, which has only been tangentially referred to here, owed much to technological difficulties of which the reader will be well aware, now that the political will to address them appears to be emerging.⁷ All three failings reflect to an extent the false promise of technocratic modernization; that careful analysis of the problem would present a solution. Careful (i.e. cost-benefit) analysis offered neither quick nor painless and unarguable solutions to problems. This does not mean it had no value, simply that it was no magic wand.

In an ideal railway world the taxpayer would pay the rail operator a fee for the benefit provided by every rail service (not just those that lose money) to those who do not pay directly in fares and freight charges. Where the total of fares and non-user payments (or the rationally estimated future total) justified investment, investment would take place; where it did not justify maintenance and offered no prospect that it would, the service would close. In making this statement three points should be obvious from a reading of this book: that the closure of those services which could not survive under this system would be opposed; that the setting of non-user payments would involve complex calculations and debatable assumptions; and that the levels of these charges would be argued over by those seeking to prevent closures and by those seeking to lower taxes and fares. Modernization failed to produce this ideal system, not because the wider value of rail services was lost on or ignored by officials, but because it proved unattainable in a political reality of competing demands for investment, a lack of expertise and resources and the pressure of electoral timetables; and is probably unattainable per se. Nevertheless, it remains an idea worthy of consideration, however impossible an ideal it may be. Whitehall was certainly much closer to it by 1970 than it had been in 1957.

In these shortcomings can also be seen the consequence of the fact that the modernization of transport policy was led by the Treasury. While the wider social and economic problems were never ignored, the Treasury's chief concern was always with public spending levels. Of course, these are quite important. However, the way in which transport policy developed out of this concern surely encouraged the view of transport spending as a whole to be divided between road and rail, despite the fact that road and rail are not necessarily alternatives, and the tendency of the railways' attempts to acquire investment funds to be hampered by their failure to meet financial targets (I am not referring here to consideration of rates of return of specific projects, but to the more general relationship between deficits and investment). Here, however, one cannot ignore the wider problem of transport policy; that transport must compete for funds with politically attractive short-term spending on social services and the unwillingness of British governments to abandon the illusion of international power. In this contest too little weight has been attached to the importance of transport infrastructure in earning the wealth that funds welfare and defence spending and the consequences can be seen in the state of both road and rail transport in the early twenty-first century. The attention given to rail closures has encouraged the view that transport spending is a public service (which it often is), but it has a far more important role as an investment in the economy.

A detailed analysis of the competition for public funds between different sectors of government activity is outside the scope of this book, but clearly the wider attempt at modernization under Macmillan, part of which has been discussed here, did not involve an unqualified acceptance of Sir Henry Tizard's warning that 'if we continue to behave like a Great Power we shall soon cease to be a great nation',⁸ any more than it involved abandoning full employment, the welfare state or tripartism. It was instead a series of adjustments designed to adapt the status quo to new conditions in order to preserve the essentials of the former and to mitigate the consequences of the latter. This is evident in the attempt to find ways of attracting new industries to growth points in declining areas and it is evident too in the necessity of adapting the railways to modern conditions in a manner that would not treat men like machines or be unacceptable to the unions that represented them. Modernization, portrayed as dynamic and pro-active, was really an admission of impotence in the face of economic change. Macmillan could no more arrest the fundamental economic shift towards the south-east than he could drag people out of their cars and carry televisions out of lorries and put them all on trains until the railways made money. The conspiracy theory of transport policy could not be more utterly wrong.

Macmillan's modernization was a generally limited affair, 'too little too late', as Jim Tomlinson puts it.⁹ If this is true of transport policy, the problem is surely that in the ten years after the war too little was done to consider what sort of transport system was required. Transport policy-making was modernized significantly between 1957 and 1964 and this laid the foundations for further progress in subsequent years, but like the rest of Conservative modernization it involved planning to cope with change that was beyond control at a fundamental level and suffered from the soporific nature of government in 1951–6. This story illustrates, too, the way in which the elements of Conservative modernization, while brought together as a political response to a general sense of decline, sprang from a variety of sources and posed problems of coordination, as is evident in the relationship between railway modernization and regional policy.

Modernization and culture

Ironically, the negative reputation of Ernest Marples today as a dishonest, antirail minister owes much to his willingness to be honest about the choices facing the nation as far as the railways were concerned. Defending the Beeching Report in the House of Commons, Marples warned that 'if we funk reshaping the railways, we funk everything, because this is the most patent case for change and change reasonably quickly'.¹⁰ Warning his Party of the dangers of failing to modernize a decade later, Edward Heath argued that 'the alternative to expansion is not, as some occasionally seem to suppose, an England of quiet market towns linked only by trains puffing slowly and peacefully through green meadows', but poverty and decline. In 1981 Martin Weiner included Heath's warning in his assessment of English culture and suggested that the modernization project on which Margaret Thatcher was embarking might face its biggest challenge in a culture which saw modernization as un-English.¹¹ James Meek presents his account of the failure of Railtrack's attempt to modernize the westcoast main line as a story 'with wider implications about the kind of country that Britain has become: a country that has lost faith in its ability to design, make and build useful things; a country where the few who do still have that ability are underpaid, unrecognised, and unadmired'.¹² Does the opposition to rail closures, the infamy of Beeching, the survival of several thousand miles more railway than his studies implied were necessary and the 'sad state of British railways' today¹³ mean that Britain funked modernization or, that if it did, this indicates something fundamentally backward-looking about English or British culture?

Chapter 1 argued that the infamy attached to Beeching's reputation today reflects the place of the branch line in English culture; but it is important to draw a distinction between the way Beeching is remembered and the nature of contemporary reaction. While there are elements of cultural luddism in the opposition to rail closures and in particular to the various societies which sprung up to oppose them nationally or to preserve them locally, Beeching's status as a symbol of the modern approach and the association of rail closures with modernization were assets in the presentation of a policy which was generally only unpopular with those who stood to lose, not just a symbol of the past, but a tangible service. In some cases this can be seen as the selfish defence of a subsidized luxury, but even for those who used the railways occasionally and for pleasure, this was an important contribution to the quality of life. For those, sometimes many, who depended on the railways, buses, while adequate in Whitehall's understandably austere view, were no substitute.

Opposition often owed something to an arguably outdated attachment to the railway as a symbol of an area's continued significance, but this itself reflected, not a rejection of dynamic modernization, but a fear that areas such as the Highlands would be left behind while the rest of Britain modernized. At the time of writing, opposition to the withdrawal of sleeper services to Cornwall is criticized for exhibiting a romantic attachment to the sleeper service, while opponents themselves argue that the services are assets to both the tourist trade and the Cornish economy in general.¹⁴ Even the preservation movement, which might be seen as a clear manifestation of the romantic attachment to railways, in many cases hoped to restore lines, not as heritage sites, but as genuine public services and concrete proof of the flaws in the closure programme; a motive particularly evident in the attempt to reopen the Waverley line.¹⁵ The withdrawal of a local service, whether rail, hospital or post office, is almost always opposed. It is usually only possible to remove some of that opposition by arguments about the national interest, however well-founded they may be, because once a public service exists people tend to feel they have a right to it. The battle over rail closures was first and foremost a political struggle between those who saw the threatened lines as worthwhile social services and those who felt the nation could not afford them. This conflict took place at a time when romantic nostalgia for the disappearing rural railway co-existed with enthusiasm for modernization, but on balance the latter was stronger in contemporary reaction to the closure programme, except where the former was combined with a more significant opposition to the loss of a specific service, opposition founded in self-interest.

To present opposition to rail closures in the Beeching era as indicating a rejection of modernization would be too simplistic; however, the reputation of

Beeching today tells us something about contemporary British culture's assumption of a long process of decline and its view of the modernization effort of the 1960s as not only having failed to prevent that decline but added to it through its destructive nature. The Beeching myth, discussed in chapter one, reflects both the 'declinism' Tomlinson sees in economic history and a sense of social decline founded firmly in nostalgia for an England recreated by heritage railways and on screen. Jeff Vinter's view of Beeching as typifying the 'self-consciously modern and destructive' nature of the 1960s reflects a wider feeling that 'modernisation seemed to produce dereliction' which Robert Hewison has identified in relation to a variety of post-1945 environmental changes.¹⁶

Rail closures were part of a transformation of rural Britain. When I told a student of mine from Cirencester that Marples had been burnt in effigy outside her station when it closed, her response was one of amazement: 'but it's only five minutes to Kemble in the car'.¹⁷ When Neil Cooper-Key questioned whether the BTC should be allowed to close services in outlying districts just because they lost money in 1953, he specifically drew comparison between rural railways and rural post offices. Hillman and Whalley argued in 1976 that resentment over rail closures had been strengthened by the tendency for public facilities to be concentrated in towns.¹⁸ Today the decline of the rural post office and the village shop is a familiar concern, as they give way to the minisupermarket at the garage on the dual carriageway or the lure of distant superstores. The rail closure programme was part of a massive social change in Britain, which those who have created it through their desire to live in the country while enjoying the benefits of a job in a town or city, to drive on dual carriageways and use out-of-town supermarkets, to pay less for goods delivered more cheaply by road or to drive to the coast, regret some of the time. As Marples understood, 'our own car is precious, the rest are a traffic problem'.¹⁹ There is a Squire Chesterford ranting against the lorries and cars and houses with numbers instead of names in most of us and that part also regrets rail closures because they symbolize this change and because the branch-line railway is an integral part of the 'real' England depicted in so much of our culture, which the new England appears to have destroyed. Yet this change was caused not by the Beeching Report, but by the motor car and the lorry and was a consequence of popular choice. As Kenneth Glover puts it the 'predict and provide [response to traffic growth] has become politically incorrect, but at the time it seemed democratic, because it gave people what they showed they wanted'.²⁰ The result however, is that Beeching has come to be seen as 'a bad thing' not only by those who have reason to resent the loss of their local railway, but by a wider audience.

The negative view of Beeching today also reflects our dissatisfaction with the railway as it is. The railways were clearly central to the industrial revolution and the period of assumed greatness from which Britain has subsequently 'declined'. Much of the presentation of Britain's railway heritage emphasizes 'the high standards of service, performance and workmanship in which Britain was a world leader'.²¹ As James Meek's comments suggest, the railways today represent the falling away of that leadership. Ian Marchant is wrong to say that

158 Conclusion

the British do not love the railway today; it would be more accurate to say they feel that love has been betrayed by the dilapidated state into which much of the railways were falling before privatization and the chaos into which they have fallen since. Beeching is associated with the start of this process of betrayal, as Marchant recognizes:

[after the well-intentioned misspending of the *Modernisation Plan*] Ernest Marples became Transport Secretary – the last one anyone remembers – and he liked motorways, not horrid old trains. So he made Dr Beeching chairman of BR, and he didn't like railways, either. So he decimated Britain's railway system, only five years after the investment of the Modernization Plan. So what hope for Mr Prescott/Byers/Darling (insert name here)?²²

The idea that Beeching presided over the start of a decline which has typified the subsequent history of the railways surely owes much to the simple equating of the maintenance of a network at its existing size with being 'pro-rail', evident in the warnings of 'Beeching mark two' which almost invariably accompany reports of a possible round of closures.²³ Because closing railways is anti-rail, Beeching was anti-rail and started the industry on the path to its current sorry state.

Yet when did the loss of faith Meek refers to set in? When Mallard took the world steam speed record, Britain was not a world leader in rail technology; when the HST was launched and the APT prototype was built it was, if not the world leader, a creditable front-runner. The problems the railways have suffered since privatization stem in part from the fact that, on the assumption that the railways were in a process of permanent decline, the increased demand for rail services during the 1990s was not foreseen.²⁴ This, of course, is only part of the explanation. If there are lessons to be drawn from the story of Government railway policy since 1945, they are that it does not matter what the policy is if its detailed practicalities have taken second place to the need to legislate quickly and that there is no surer recipe for disaster than the assumption that if only the right organization or ideology is applied to the transport sector, the world will be a better place. One of the great successes of transport policy under Macmillan was the Government's willingness to abandon decentralization in favour of pragmatism. To see the railways in terms of a steady decline from Beeching to Hatfield is to ignore both the origins of Beeching's work and the effects, negative and positive, of choices made subsequently. Criticism of rail closures may have contributed to the idea that modernization in the 1960s failed to halt British decline, but this is a two-way process; 'declinism' has also given a distorted shape to the myth of Beeching 40 years on.

The view of Beeching today reflects the memory of the genuine hardship and inconvenience many suffered as a result of closures, the place of the branch-line railway in English culture, dissatisfaction with the current state of the railways and the tendency to see this as typifying the 'fact' that Britain is a weaker and less pleasant place than it used to be. The failings of the last decade and the

restriction of investment notwithstanding, this negative interpretation of railway history since the Modernisation Plan needs to be redressed somewhat. In 1955 a broad plan for adapting the railways to modern conditions was produced, based on the principle that in the modern age the railway is at its best when carrying large loads over long distances at speed. Neither the state nor the railway industry was geared up for the task. It was expected to take 15 to 20 years to work out the details and implement them. Over the following decade the plan was subjected to an almost constant process of revision, but the basic principle was never abandoned and the chief technological goal, the elimination of steam traction, had been accomplished by 1968. The contraction of the railway network was always part of this plan. The search for a precise formula by which the social and economic costs of this contraction could be compared to the savings it produced proved to be something of a false trail and the size of the remaining network was instead the outcome of a complex series of political negotiations over individual cases, reflecting the fact that in Britain central government has not historically had the power to impose national plans on the population. Although a number of mistakes were made and although it proved difficult to balance the competing demands of various rail users and workers within the constraints of wider economic and fiscal policy, the plan succeeded in providing quicker, safer, more reliable, more efficient and more comfortable services and by 1979 Britain had probably the most cost-effective railway in Europe. The rail workforce had been cut by more than half without the bitter divisions and social decay associated with the contraction of the mining industry in the 1980s. By 1975 Britain was about to introduce the world's fastest diesel train and was pioneering tilting train technology. A crucial component in this success story was the ability of the civil service to rapidly adapt to the massive new demands made upon it by the inability of the nationalized industries to fund their own investment programmes, a task made all the more difficult in the transport sector by the radical changes resulting from a doubling of motor-car ownership in successive decades.

Unfortunately the British failed to appreciate how successful the modernization of the railways had been. The fact that the process cost more and produced less impressive financial results than had been hoped should not have surprised anyone familiar with the history of building the railway network in the first place and would not surprise us today, given the difficulties railway investment projects have experienced since 1994. To the disappointment these unrealistic early expectations produced was added the belief that the railways' financial problems were the result of contemporary failures rather than (as they essentially were) the consequence of industrial change, several decades of underinvestment prior to 1955 and the damaging effect of government interventions. As a result governments became reluctant to invest in rail and, instead of being seen as the example of Britain's ability to successfully navigate a path through major social and industrial change that they were, the railways became a symbol of the decline which many Britons wrongly believed their country had undergone. The effects of the resulting under-investment meant that this view of the railways became more deeply entrenched. This contributed to a lack of faith in the ability of the public sector to manage change successfully and an increasing tendency to look to privatization as a solution to its problems; a faith which was to prove tragically misplaced, at least as far as the railways were concerned.

The paragraph above deliberately glosses over a few caveats which will be apparent from the rest of this book and its conclusion; but it presents a more accurate picture than the myth founded on the idea that the reform of transport policy in 1957–63 was either an act of incompetence or of wilful destruction which set the railway industry on a path of decline; and it is one well worth bearing in mind as we contemplate the essentially similar problems we face in transport today.

Appendix 1

Year	Railway operating result	Railway result after interest etc.	Investment in rail	Road programme capital authorization ¹
1948	23.8	10.5	40.3	_
1949	10.6	26.0	44.1	-
1950	25.2	12.3	43.4	-
1951	33.3	0.0	42.3	-
1952	38.7	3.9	40.0	-
1953	34.6	2.7	55.9	-
1954	16.4	21.6	65.3	5.3
1955	1.8	38.2	71.3	21.0
1956	16.5	57.7	89.0	31.0
1957	27.1	68.1	125.9	37.7
1958	48.1	90.1	141.0	70.0
1959	42.0	84.0	167.8	94.1
1960	67.7	112.7	163.3	79.1
1961	86.9	135.9	146.2	104.0
1962	104.0	<u>159.0</u>	115.3	101.9
1963	81.6	133.9	90.6	117.4
1964	67.5	120.9	100.7	169.1
1965	73.1	132.4	113.7	195.2
1966	71.6	134.7	102.8	175.6
1967	90.4	153.0	86.0	209.0
1968	<u>83.5</u>	<u>147.4</u>	79.0	326.8
1969	48.6	14.7	62.0	407.8
1970	47.4	9.5	77.9	366.6
1971	26.2	15.4	91.2	300.1
1972	17.8	26.2	102.8	513.6
1973	5.1	51.6	109.4	515.5

Financial overview 1948-73

(Figures in £ million, current prices. Figures in italics are negative)

This table is not intended to be a detailed guide to the railway business, but to illustrate the overall trends and headline figures. The road programme is only a part of road expenditure. The railway figures are subject to a variety of minor qualifications reflecting changes in the activities included. Underlined figures indicate the points at which major financial reconstructions altered the structure of railway central charges and the introduction of subsidies from 1969 affected the operating result.

Sources: T. Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73: A Business History*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, table 8, p. 93; Table 17, p. 175; Table 47, p. 397; Appendix B, table 1 p. 595; BRF, *Basic Road Statistics*, 1968, 1975.

Note

1 In year ending 31 March.

Appendix 2



Map 1

British Railways – Density of Passenger Traffic 1961: Scotland and northern England (source: BRB, *The Reshaping of British Railways: Part Two: Maps*, London: HMSO 1963, map 1).



Map 2

The Beeching Report – Passenger Closure Proposals, 1963: Scotland and northern England (source: BRB, *The Reshaping of British Railways: Part Two: Maps*, London: HMSO 1963, map 9).

Key:

Thick lines: for retention (in some cases stopping services on these lines to be withdrawn). Broken lines: all passenger services to be withdrawn.



Map 3 (For key see Map 1 above)

British Railways – Density of Passenger Traffic 1961: England and Wales (source: BRB, *The Reshaping of British Railways: Part Two: Maps*, London: HMSO 1963, map 1).



Map 4

The Beeching Report – Passenger Closure Proposals, 1963: England and Wales (source: BRB, *The Reshaping of British Railways: Part Two: Maps*, London: HMSO 1963, map 9).

Key:

Thick lines: for retention (in some cases stopping services on these lines to be withdrawn). Broken lines: all passenger services to be withdrawn.

Notes

1 'A wound that has not healed'

- 1 *Railway Magazine*, October 1964, p. 798; *Carlisle Journal*, 11 September 1964, p. 4; Lord Whitelaw, interview; M. Robbins, *The Railway Age*, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1962, p. 48.
- 2 Changes in organization, ownership and closure procedure and differences in the way statistics are compiled make it difficult to be precise. Between 1948 and the end of 1954 1,959 miles had been authorized for closure to passenger traffic. In 1955 14,801 miles remained open to passengers out of a total of 19,061 miles. By 1970 the figures were 9,095 and 11,799 respectively. In 1973 8,932 miles remained open to passengers. Station numbers include stations open to parcels traffic. T. Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73: A Business History*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, Table 24, p. 205, Table 52, p. 437; D. Munby and A. Watson, *Inland Transport Statistics, Great Britain, 1900 1970: Railways, Public Road Passenger Transport, London's Transport*, Oxford: Clarendon, 1978, Table A22, p. 118, Table A23, p. 119.
- 3 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 322 and 339.
- 4 Ibid., Table 53, p. 439.
- 5 BRB, The Reshaping of British Railways, London: HMSO, 1963, pp. 1-5.
- 6 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 406, 412, 425, Table 52, p. 437; National Archives, Public Record Office [hereafter PRO], T 319/839, cutting: Financial Times, 16 March 1967.
- 7 Guardian, 28 March 1963, www.guardiancentury.co.uk/1960-1969/Story/0,6051, 105642,00.html (accessed 4 August 2004); Flanders and Swann, *The Slow Train*, reproduced in J. Richards and J. Mackenzie, *The Railway Station: A Social History*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1986, page preceding introduction.
- 8 PRO, MT 124/719, Price to Marples, 27 April 1963.
- 9 Gourvish, British Railways, Table 25, p. 205.
- 10 R. Lamb, *The Macmillan Years The Emerging Truth*, London: John Murray, 1995, pp. 433–42; R. Adley, *Out of Steam: The Beeching Years in Hindsight*, Wellingborough: Patrick Stephens, 1990, pp. 35–9, 75; Stewart Francis, preface to P. Salveson, *Beeching in Reverse: The Case for a Programme of Line and Station Reopenings*, Huddersfield: Transport Research and Information Network, 2002, p. 3; D. Henshaw, *The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s*, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991; I. Marchant, *Parallel Lines or Journeys on the Railway of Dreams*, London: Bloomsbury, 2003, paperback edition 2004, p. 301.
- 11 Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, p. 7.
- 12 Railway Magazine, October 1964, p. 748.
- 13 For examples which cover a wide range of tone and time, see G. Allen, British Railways Today and Tomorrow, London: Ian Allen, 1962, pp. 28–9; R. Calvert, The Future of Britain's Railways, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1965, footnote, p. 12; M. Hamer, Wheels Within Wheels, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1987, p.

135; Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 300–1 and 324; Stan Abbott, foreword to Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, p. 8; D. Williamson, A Most Diplomatic General – The Life of General Lord Robertson of Oakridge Bt GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC 1896–1974, London: Brassey's, 1996, p. 204.

- 14 Henshaw, *Great Railway Conspiracy*, pp. 10, 110, 115 and 234; *Independent*, 18 November 1991, p. 6, 'Secret report that took axe to the railways'.
- 15 Grocott, House of Commons, Official Report, 12 February 1996, Cols 642–3; Francis, preface to Salveson, Beeching in Reverse, p. 3.
- 16 Francis, preface to Salveson, Beeching in Reverse, p. 3.
- 17 Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, pp. 240, 245–6; Salveson, Beeching in Reverse, pp. 15–17.
- 18 BRB, Reshaping, p. 60.
- 19 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 456–60; R. Marsh Off the Rails: An Autobiography, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1978, pp. 166–7.
- 20 G. Fiennes, I Tried to Run a Railway, London: Ian Allan, 1967, p. 114; R. Hardy, Beeching – Champion of the Railway, London: Ian Allen, 1989, p. 102; Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 436–8, 455–6; Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, p. 135.
- 21 M. Howe, 'The Transport Act, 1962, and the Consumers' Consultative Committees', *Public Administration*, 42 (1), 1964, p. 49; M. Hillman and A. Whalley, *The Social Consequences of Rail Closures*, London: Policy Studies Institute, 1980, pp. 110–18.
- 22 PRO, T 319/2115, DoE, 'Railway policy review report by a group of officials', June 1972; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 389, 412–13.
- 23 PRO, MT 124/725, Haygreen to MoT, 2 January 1964; Haygreen to Baxter, 23 January 1964; MT 124/664, Beeching to Marples, 4 July 1963; BRB, *Reshaping*, pp. 54–5.
- 24 Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, pp. 232-4.
- 25 Ibid., p. 189.
- 26 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 394.
- 27 Ibid., p. 457.
- 28 D. Thomas and S. Smith, *Summer Saturdays in the West*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1973, p. 25.
- 29 PRO, CAB 134/2426; Cabinet committee on reorganisation of the railways minutes, 1 August 1963; MT 124/664, meeting of officials, 15 November 1962.
- 30 For example see A. Daniel, 'Railways and the three P's', speech to National Council on Inland Transport conference, 26 September 1969.
- 31 PRO, MT 124/1339, Maw to Stephens, 16 May 1969; T 319/2113, Elliott-Binns to Slater, 31 January 1974; E. Gibbins, *The Railway Closure Controversy*, Alsager: Leisure Products, 2000, p. 32; Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 406.
- 32 Fiennes, I Tried to Run a Railway, pp. 114–15, 118; Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, pp. 178–9.
- 33 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 455.
- 34 Ibid., pp. 207–9, 455; J.M. Tolson, 'Too little too late A survey of British Railways diesel railbuses', *Railway Magazine*, January 1968, pp. 4–9; MTCA, *Re-appraisal of the Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways*, London: HMSO, 1959, p. 35; Gibbins, *Railway Closure Controversy*, pp. 35–47.
- 35 C. Foster, Report on a Social Cost/Benefit Study of the Manchester (Piccadilly) Hadfield/Glossop and Manchester (Piccadilly) – Marple/New Mills Suburban Railway Services: Part One, Main Report, London: BRB, London Midland Region, 1974, pp. iii, 4–5.
- 36 R. Pryke and J.S. Dodgson, *The Rail Problem*, London: Martin Robertson, 1975, pp. 197–210. The studies in question covered Shrewsbury–Llanelli, Machynlleth–Pwllheli, Ashford–Hastings, Broad Street–Richmond, Sheffield–Barnsley, Manchester–Buxton and Foster's referred to above.
- 37 Ibid., pp. 185–97, C. Sharp, Transport Economics, London: Macmillan, 1973, p. 9.
- 38 The report, Better Use of Rail Ways, was commissioned by the Department of the
Environment and carried out in 1975 by the Department of Geography at Reading University. E. Smith, *Better Use of Rail Ways – Comments and Rejoinders*, Reading: Reading University, 1978.

- 39 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 210; Gibbins, Railway Closure Controversy, p. 35.
- 40 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 454.
- 41 R. Joby, *Forgotten Railways: Volume Seven, East Anglia*, Newton Abbot: David St John Thomas, 1985 (first published Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1977), pp. 28–34.
- 42 PRO, MT 124/726; 'Statement of financial information', 2 January 1964; East Anglia Area TUCC minutes, 30 October 1963; 'Heads of information, Norwich– Sheringham–Melton Constable line', September 1963 (the figures include passengers joining at the two intermediate stations); 'List of objectors', September 1963; Gray to Marples, 1 October 1963; Auger to Marples, undated, received 26 November 1963; Lane to Douglas-Home, 11 December 1963; Knight to Marples, 5 February 1964.
- 43 I. Carter, Railways and Culture in Britain The Epitome of Modernity, Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2001, pp. 240–56.
- 44 Ibid., p. 253; Flanders and Swann, *The Slow Train*, in Richards and Mackenzie, *The Railway Station*, page preceding introduction.
- 45 D. Thomas, *The Country Railway*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1976 (Penguin edition, 1970), p. 12; Henshaw, *Great Railway Conspiracy*, p. 181.
- 46 PRO, MT 124/1211, Rennison to Castle, 11 February 1967.
- 47 J. Paxman, *The English A Portrait of a People*, London: Michael Joseph, 1998, pp. 141–75.
- 48 The Titfield Thunderbolt (GB: Ealing, 1952), dir. Charles Crichton, script T. Clarke.
- 49 CPRE, Where Motor-Car is Master How the Department of Transport Became Bewitched by Roads, London: CPRE, 1992; B. Castle, Fighting All the Way, London: Macmillan, 1993, p. 388.
- 50 J. Betjeman, Great Central Railway Sheffield Victoria to Banbury, reproduced in J. Healy, Great Central Memories, London: Baton Transport, 1987, p. 148.
- 51 R. Sykes, A. Austin, M. Fuller, T. Kinoshita and A. Shrimpton, 'Steam attraction: railways in Britain's national heritage', *Journal of Transport History*, 18 (2), 1997, p. 158.
- 52 J. Betjeman, *Dilton Marsh Halt*: www.poemhunter.com/p/m/poem.asp?poet=33551& poem=396200.
- 53 Railway World, October 1968, p. 466; Marchant, Parallel Lines, pp. 244-7.
- 54 H. White, Forgotten Railways, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986, pp. 87, 128.
- 55 J. Tomlinson, *The Politics of Decline: Understanding Post-war Britain*, Harlow: Longman, 2000 (2001 edition), pp. 21–2.
- 56 D. Butler and A. King, *The British General Election of 1964*, London, Macmillan, 1965, pp. 33–6, 78–9, 87–8; M. Donnelly, *Sixties Britain*, Harlow: Pearson, 2005, pp. 48–51, 74–5.
- 57 C. Booker, *The Neophiliacs: A Study of the Revolution in English Life in the Fifties and Sixties*, London: Collins, 1969.
- 58 K. Middlemas, Power, Competition and the State. Volume One: Britain in Search of Balance 1940–61, London: Macmillan, 1986, pp. 335–7; K. Middlemas, Power, Competition and the State. Volume Two: Threats to the Post-War Settlement 1961–74, London: Macmillan, 1990, pp. 23–56.
- 59 S. Brittan, *The Treasury Under the Tories, 1951–64*, Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1964, pp. 204–45.
- 60 Butler and King, The British General Election of 1964, p. 35.
- 61 A. Sampson, Anatomy of Britain, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1962, pp. 542-4.

2 The railway problems

- 1 National Archive, Public Record Office [hereafter PRO], T 234/563, Dunnett, 'The railway problem', 4 January 1960.
- 2 M. Robbins, *The Railway Age*, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1962, p. 189; R. Freeman and J. Shaw (eds), *All Change: British Railway Privatisation*, London: McGraw Hill, 2000, p. 15; C. Wolmar, *Broken Rails How Privatisation Wrecked Britain's Railways*, London: Aurum, 2001, p. 64.
- 3 R. Kinder, *Southern Railway Branch Lines in the Thirties*, Tarrant Hinton: Oakwood Press, 1976, p. 72.
- 4 J. Bellwood and D. Jenkinson, *Gresley and Stanier*, London: HMSO, 1986, pp. 79–87; P. Bagwell, *The Transport Revolution from 1770*, London: Batsford, 1974, p. 257; Greg Procter, online homepages.ihug.co.nz/~procter/SPEED.HTM, 20 September 1997 (accessed 22 April 2005); Martin Stott, interview with Camilla Harrison, curator National Railway Museum, York, and extract from 1944 interview with Driver Joe Duddington, American Public Media, 2004, online savvy-traveler.publicradio.org/show/features/2000/20001117/trainspotting.shtml (accessed 22 April 2005), P. Semmens, *Speed on the East Coast Main Line A Century and a Half of Accelerated Services*, Wellingborough: Patrick Stephens, 1990, figure 6, p. 64.
- 5 BRB, The Reshaping of British Railways, London: HMSO, 1963, pp. 4–5.
- 6 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, p. 255.
- 7 A. Thompson and L. Hunter, *The Nationalized Transport Industries*, London: Heinemann, 1973, p. 128.
- 8 M. Bonavia, *The Four Great Railways*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1980, pp. 126–7; Bagwell, *Transport Revolution*, pp. 253–5.
- 9 P. Butterfield, 'Branch lines, wayside stations and road competition', *Journal of Transport History*, 16 (2), September 1995, pp. 179–95.
- 10 D. Jenkinson, Rails in the Fells, Seaton: Peco, 1973, figure 38, p. 96.
- 11 Butterfield, 'Branch lines', p. 181.
- D. Joy, A Regional History of the Railways of Great Britain Volume 8: South and West Yorkshire (second, revised edition), Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1984, pp. 19, 152; D. Wragg, Signal Failure – Politics and Britain's Railways, Stroud: Sutton, 2004, pp. 20–9, 39.
- 13 Bonavia, Four Great Railways, pp. 18, 175–82; Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 255, 299.
- 14 C. Dalby of the LNER, quoted in D. Smith, *The Railway and its Passengers, A Social History*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1988, p. 88.
- 15 H. White, Forgotten Railways, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986, pp. 41-3.
- 16 Evening News, 16 March 1938, quoted in P. Clark, The Chichester and Midhurst Railway, Sheffield: Turntable, 1979, pp. 52–5.
- 17 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 237-45, 256-7, 261-70, 293.
- 18 W. Robson, Nationalized Industry and Public Ownership, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1960 (second edition 1962), p. 33.
- 19 Bonavia, Four Great Railways, p. 132, Bagwell, Transport Revolution, p. 257; E. Gibbins, Square Deal Denied, Alsager: Leisure Products, 1998, pp. 106–16.
- 20 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 296-304.
- 21 T. Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73 A Business History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 4–6, Appendix D, pp. 615–17; Bagwell, Transport Revolution, p. 315.
- 22 B. Mitchell, International Historical Statistics Europe 1750–1993 (fourth edition), London, Macmillan, 1998, pp. 738–42.
- 23 Gourvish, British Railways, Appendix D, pp. 615–17; Jenkinson, Rails in the Fells, figure 38, p. 96; Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 373–4.

- 170 Notes
- 24 Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 178–9, 415; PRO, CAB 134/2549, MoT 'Coordination of inter-urban freight transport', 25 November 1965.
- 25 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 296–307, 319.
- 26 G. Fiennes, I Tried to Run a Railway, London: Ian Allen, 1967, p. 53.
- 27 Transport Act, 1947, 10 and 11, Geo. VI, 49, S.3(1); Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 27, 66; Thompson and Hunter, Nationalized Transport Industries, p. 131; N. Harris, Competition and the Corporate Society British Conservatives, the State and Industry, 1945–64; London: Methuen, 1964, p. 97.
- 28 For a full discussion of the shortcomings of the Commission's organization under the Act, see Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 31–67.
- 29 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 306-7, table 14, p. 320.
- 30 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 106-7.
- 31 Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview.
- 32 Kenneth Glover, interview.
- 33 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, p. 315.
- 34 PRO, CAB 129/47, Barnes, 'Long-term financial prospects of the British Transport Commission', 10 September 1951.
- 35 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 305-6.
- 36 Robson, Nationalized Industry and Public Ownership, pp. 246-51.
- 37 Transport Act, 1947, 10 and 11, Geo. VI, 49, S.3(4); Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 91; PRO, MT 62/142, Summers to Leathers, 15 April 1952.
- 38 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 417, Figure 6; PRO, CAB 129/47, Barnes, 'Long-term financial prospects of the British Transport Commission', 10 September 1951.
- 39 Bagwell, *Transport Revolution*, p. 306. M. Hamer, *Wheels Within Wheels A Study of the Road Lobby*, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1987, p. 102; Maxwell Fyfe, House of Commons [hereafter HoC], *Official Report*, 12 November 1951, col. 725.
- 40 J. Ramsden, The Making of Conservative Party Policy The Conservative Research Department Since 1929, London: Longman, 1980, p. 119; J. Ramsden, The Age of Churchill and Eden, pp. 190–1; J. Boyd-Carpenter, Way of Life, London: Sidgwick and Jackson, 1980, p. 116; J. Hoffman, The Conservative Party in Opposition 1945–51, London: MacGibbon and Key, 1964, p. 237. Harris, Competition and the Corporate Society, p. 95.
- 41 PRO, MT 62/130, Mitchell to Leathers, 31 October 1951; PRO, PREM 11/287, note of meeting held in the Cabinet room, 24 March 1952; Bagwell, *Transport Revolution*, p. 328.
- 42 H. Watkinson, *Turning Points A Record of Our Times*, Salisbury: Michael Russell, 1986, pp. 20–1; Nigel Harris, *Competition and the Corporate Society*, pp. 77–88.
- 43 M. Kandiah, 'Conservative leaders, strategy and "consensus"? 1945–1964', in H. Jones and M. Kandiah (eds), *The Myth of Consensus: New Views on British History 1945–64*, London: Macmillan, 1996, pp. 69–71, 74.
- 44 Churchill to Leathers, 7 April 1952, quoted in Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 138; PRO, T 228/403, Figgures, 'T(52)16', 3 March 1952; CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 4 February 1952.
- 45 PRO MT 62/142, Macmillan to Leathers, 7 and 12 May 1952.
- 46 J. Richardson, 'The administration of denationalization: the case of road haulage', *Public Administration*, 49 (4), winter 1971, p. 387.
- 47 Ashridge Management College, Watkinson papers, Box I, BTC folder, Thorneycroft, 'Notes on transport policy', 30 November 1950; Conservative Central Office, *Notes on Current Politics*, 10 November 1952, p. 12.
- 48 PRO, CAB 128/23, Cabinet conclusions, 22 November 1951; PREM 11/287, Maude-Hunt, 22 December 1951; CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 14 January 1952.
- 49 For a discussion, see P. Hennessy and D. Welsh, 'Lords of all they surveyed?

Churchill's ministerial overlords 1951–1953', *Parliamentary Affairs*, 51 (1), 1998, pp. 62–70; A. Seldon, *Churchill's Indian Summer – The Conservative Government 1951–55*, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1981, pp. 28, 76, 95 and 104–5.

- 50 Seldon, Churchill's Indian Summer, p. 104; Harris, Competition and the Corporate Society, p. 304; Boyd-Carpenter, Way of Life, p. 108; telephone conversation with William Sharp, 13 December 1998.
- 51 PRO, MT 62/144, Leathers to Churchill, 20 May 1952; MT 62/144, Hurcomb, note, 21 July 1952; MT 97/66, draft memorandum, 'Transport policy', 27 November 1951; CAB 134/1180, Maclay, 'Notes on the proposed levy on road transport', 25 January 1952.
- 52 PRO, T 228/402, Figgures, note of meeting between ministers and officials, 21 December 1951; PREM 11/287, Oates, note, 27 December 1951; CAB 128/23, Cabinet conclusions, 28 December 1951.
- 53 Seldon, *Churchill's Indian Summer*, pp. 187–8; PRO, CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 7 and 21 January, 4 February, 3, 13 and 26 March 1952, 3 and 4 April 1952; CAB 129/50, Woolton, 'Reorganisation of road and rail transport', 20 March 1952; CAB 129/51, Woolton, 'Road and rail transport', 8 April 1952; CAB 128/24, Cabinet conclusions, 25 March and 10 April 1952; MoT, *Transport Policy*, London: HMSO, 1952.
- 54 PRO, CAB 128/25, Cabinet conclusions, 24 April, 8 May, 8 July 1952; Crookshank, HoC, Official Report, 10 July 1952, col. 1525.
- 55 PRO, CAB 129/50, Woolton, 'Reorganisation of road and rail transport', 20 March 1952.
- 56 PRO, CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 21 January 1952.
- 57 PRO, CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 28 January 1952.
- 58 Telephone conversation with William Sharp, 13 December 1998.
- 59 PRO, CAB 134/1180, MoT, 'Efficiency of the railways', 31 January 1952; CAB 134/1186, MoT, 'Transport bill', 16 September 1952.
- 60 PRO, T 228/403, Figgures to Mitchell, 3 March 1952; T 228/402, Figgures to Gilbert/Bridges/Armstrong, 28 December 1951; T 228/407, Kahn to Gilbert/Armstrong, 17 September 1952; Figgures to Gilbert/Armstrong, 1 October 1952.
- 61 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 101–4; PRO, PREM 11/1049, Churchill to Leathers, 4 March 1952; Maclay to Churchill, 14 March 1952, enclosing draft reply to parliamentary question, with alterations by Churchill; CAB 128/24, Cabinet conclusions, 6 March, 10 and 22 April 1952; CAB 129/50, Leathers, 'British Transport Commission charges', 19 March 1952; CAB 129/51, Woolton, 'Road and rail transport', 8 April 1952.
- 62 PRO, CAB 128/24, Cabinet conclusions, 3, 7, 10 April and 1 May 1952; MT 62/144, Woolton to Maclay, 10 April 1952; Shovelton to Leathers, 23 April 1952; CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 5 May 1952. Boyd-Carpenter, *Way of Life*, p. 107; Seldon, *Churchill's Indian Summer*, p. 105; Gourvish, British Railways, p. 103.
- 63 PRO, CAB 21/3861, cuttings: *The Times*, 10 July 1952; *Daily Telegraph*, 10 July 1952; *The Economist*, 12 October 1952.
- 64 PRO, CAB 134/1186, Lennox-Boyd, 'The transport bill', 30 July 1952; Lennox-Boyd, 'Transport bill', 18 September 1952; CAB 134/1186, Cabinet committee on transport policy [hereafter TP] minutes, 31 July 1952 (revised record); CAB 128/25, Cabinet conclusions, 29 October 1952; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 137–9; Glyn, HoC, *Official Report*, 21 May 1952, col. 517; quoted in H. Pelling, *Churchill's Peacetime Ministry*, 1951–55, London: Macmillan, 1997, p. 76.
- 65 PRO, T 228/407, Armstrong to Figgures, 5 September 1952; CAB 134/1186, MoT, 'Transport bill', 16 September 1952; Alan Lennox-Boyd, 'Transport bill', 18 September 1952.

- 172 Notes
- 66 Harris, Competition and the Corporate Society, p. 88.
- 67 PRO, CAB 134/1186, Cabinet committee on Transport Policy minutes, 31 July (revised record), 19 and 22 September, 2, 16 and 20 October 1952.
- 68 PRO, CAB 134/1186, TP minutes, 19 and 22 September 1952; PREM 11/559, Leathers to Churchill, 3 October 1952; Churchill's notes in the margin of Brook to Churchill, 3 October 1952; Leathers to Churchill, 17 October 1952; CAB 128/25, Cabinet conclusions, 7 October 1952; Conservative Central Office, *Notes on Current Politics*, 27 October 1952, pp. 18–19.
- 69 Bodleian Library, Macmillan Diaries [hereafter, BL/MAC], C.14/1, 23 October 1952; PRO, CAB 134/1186, TP minutes, 16 and 20 October 1952; T 228/407, Salter to Butler, 16 October 1952; MT 62/145, Rowlatt to Honour, 8 October 1952; Birtchnell and Jenkins, draft paper for TP meeting on 16 October 1952, draft paper to Cabinet; CAB 128/25, Cabinet conclusions, 22 and 29 October 1952.
- 70 Bagwell, Transport Revolution, pp. 331-2.
- 71 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 179, 198-203.
- 72 Ibid., pp. 139–43, 156–7, 164 and 170–2; D. Williamson, A Most Diplomatic General – The Life of General Lord Robertson of Oakridge Bt GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC 1896–1974, London: Brassey's, 1996, p. 184.
- 73 PRO, MT 115/70, Lennox-Boyd to Robertson, 12 January 1954.
- 74 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 165, 206 and 273; D. Thomas, West Country Railway History, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1988, pp. 265–6; Bagwell, Transport Revolution, p. 320; Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview; Robson, Nationalized Industry and Public Ownership, pp. 82–3.
- 75 PRO, CAB 128/25, Cabinet conclusions, 22 October 1952; CAB 134/1186, TP minutes, 27 October 1952; J. Sargent, *British Transport Policy*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1958, pp. 59–62, 85; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 139, 184–5, 203.
- 76 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 108-12.
- 77 PRO, CAB 129/50, Woolton, 'Reorganisation of road and rail transport', 20 March 1952; PREM 11/287, Churchill to Leathers, 30 May 1952; CAB 21/3861, Brook to Churchill, 23 June 1952; Salter to Leathers, 21 May 1952; T 228/404, Kahn to Figures, 28 April 1952; CAB 134/1180, Cabinet committee on road and rail transport minutes, 7 January 1952.
- 78 PRO, CAB 129/77, Kilmuir, 'Road passenger transport', 24 September 1955; CAB 128/29, Cabinet conclusions, 27 October 1955.
- 79 See PRO, AN 13/1675.
- 80 E. Gibbins, *The Railway Closure Controversy*, Alsager: Leisure Products, 2000, pp. 58–69.
- 81 Ibid., pp. 81-95.
- 82 The Times, 14 August 1953, p. 7, letter from Robb-Smith; The Times, 17 August 1953, p. 7, letter from Godfrey; The Times, 27 August 1953, p. 3.
- 83 Gibbins, Railway Closure Controversy, pp. 96–104; Gourvish, British Railways, p. 210.
- 84 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 206–7; PRO MT 115/3, Munro to Willis, 17 February 1956.
- 85 Gibbins, Railway Closure Controversy, p. 30; Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, pp. 88–95.
- 86 The Times, 29 September 1954, p. 9, editorial.
- 87 The Times, 15 August 1955, p. 7, editorial.
- 88 Cooper-Key, letter, The Times, 19 August 1953, p. 7.
- 89 Gibbins, Railway Closure Controversy, p. 91.
- 90 PRO, T 267/15, Peter Vinter, foreword to 'Treasury historical memorandum eleven – the economic and financial obligations of the nationalised industries, white paper of April 1961', May 1966 [hereafter T 267/15].

- 91 Monckton Papers, box 14, cited in Keith Middlemas, Power, Competition and the State: Volume One: Britain in Search of Balance 1940–61, London: Macmillan, 1986, p. 257; P. Dorey, The Conservative Party and the Trade Unions, London: Routledge, 1995, pp. 38–46; Watkinson, Turning Points, p. 60.
- 92 Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview; PRO, CAB 130/104, ad hoc committee on industrial disputes – railways minutes, 10 December 1954.
- 93 Williamson, Diplomatic General, p. 211.
- 94 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 217–24; Pelling, Churchill's Peacetime Ministry, pp. 115–16, 159–61; A. Roberts, Eminent Churchillians, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1994 (Phoenix edition 1995), pp. 74, 266–74; Seldon, Churchill's Indian Summer, p. 201; Williamson, A Most Diplomatic General, p. 192.
- 95 Lord Woolton, diary, 13 December 1954, cited in Seldon, *Churchill's Indian Summer*, p. 200; PRO, T 234/559, Leslie to Petch, 3 January 1955; CAB 128/26, Cabinet conclusions, 14 December 1953; CAB 128/27, Cabinet conclusions, 13 December 1954.
- 96 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 224-31.
- 97 PRO, T 267/7, pp. 22, 27; MT 115/82, draft letter from Watkinson to Robertson covering subjects discussed at their meeting on 29 May 1956; Watkinson to Robertson, 5 June 1956; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 185–7; Dorey, *The Conservative Party and the Trade Unions*, pp. 47–8; BL/MAC, D.26, 26/6/56; Watkinson, HoC, Official Report, 18 July 1956, col. 1189.
- 98 PRO, T 267/15, p. 4; T 267/7, Clarke, foreword to A. Ogilvy-Webb, 'Treasury historical memorandum five: government and wages 1945–60', 1962, pp. 1–2.
- 99 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 231-9.
- 100 Ibid., p. 471, Figure 6.
- 101 PRO, CAB 129/65, Lennox-Boyd, 'BTC: increase in charges', 6 February 1954.
- 102 Gourvish, British Railways, Table 17, p. 175.
- 103 PRO, MT 115/3, CTCC minutes, 8 October 1957.

3 The success of the Modernisation Plan

- 1 C. Booker, *The Neophiliacs: A Study of the Revolution in English Life in the Fifties and Sixties*, London: Collins, 1969, pp. 13, 39, 79, 219, 333–5.
- 2 D. Williamson, A Most Diplomatic General The Life of General Lord Robertson of Oakridge Bt GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC 1896–1974, London: Brassey's, 1996, p. 186.
- 3 BTC, A Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways, London: BTC, 1955, pp. 6–7.
- 4 Booker, Neophiliacs, pp. 171-2.
- 5 A. Sampson, Anatomy of Britain, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1962, pp. 542-4.
- 6 Williamson, Diplomatic General, pp. 211-14.
- 7 T. Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73: A Business History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 256–304.
- 8 Ibid., pp. 267–9, 278, 294; C. Foster, *The Transport Problem*, London: Blackie and Son, 1963, p. 99.
- 9 MoL, The Interim Report of a Court of Inquiry into a Dispute between the British Transport Commission and the National Union of Railwaymen, London: HMSO, 1955, p. 7.
- 10 National Archive, Public Record Office [hereafter PRO], CAB 128/28, Cabinet conclusions, 4 January 1955.
- 11 Watkinson, House of Commons [hereafter, HoC], *Official Report*, 3 February 1955, col. 1280; Butler, col. 1302.
- 12 PRO, MT 124/46, meeting of MTCA and Treasury officials, 6 August 1954.
- 13 PRO, MT 124/46, Churchard to Proctor, 1 July 1954.

- 174 Notes
- 14 PRO, CAB 129/65, Lennox-Boyd, 'BTC: increase in charges', 6 February 1954.
- 15 PRO, MT 115/14, Lintern to Proctor, 28 August 1954; Proctor to Jenkins, 28 August 1954.
- 16 PRO T 234/559, Grant, brief on C(54)1, 2 January 1954.
- 17 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 271.
- 18 PRO, MT 124/46, Churchard to Proctor, 1 July 1954; T 234/559, Robertson to Boyd-Carpenter, 27 September 1954; Jarratt to Blaker, 4 October 1954; Robertson to Grant, 5 October 1954.
- 19 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 264–9; G. Fiennes, I Tried to Run a Railway, London: Ian Allan, 1967, p. 77.
- 20 Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 259–60; PRO, CAB 129/65, Lennox-Boyd, 'BTC: increase in charges', 6 February 1954.
- 21 PRO, T 234/559, Robertson to Boyd-Carpenter, 27 September 1954; Jarratt to Blaker, 4 October 1954; minutes of meeting between Treasury and MTCA officials, 6 December 1954; Grant to Crombie/Brittain/Sir Bernard Gilbert, 8 December 1954; MT 47/405, 'Note of a meeting held in the Minister's room at the House of Commons', 1 December 1954.
- 22 PRO, CAB 128/27, Cabinet conclusions, 8 December 1954.
- 23 PRO, T 234/559, Gilbert to Bridges, 10 December 1954.
- 24 PRO, CAB 130/104, ad hoc committee on industrial disputes railways minutes, 10 December 1954; T 234/559, Boyd-Carpenter to Churchill, 11 December 1954.
- 25 Bodleian Library, Macmillan diaries, C.16/1, 13 December 1954.
- 26 PRO CAB 128/27, Cabinet conclusions 13, 14, 15 and 22 December 1954; CAB 128/28, Cabinet conclusions, 4 January 1955.
- 27 PRO, CAB 134/854, economic policy committee [hereafter EPC] minutes, 18 January 1955; T 234/550, Robertson, 'Proposed enquiry into British Railways', undated, January 1955; Boyd-Carpenter to Butler, 20 January 1955; CAB 128/28, Cabinet conclusions, 20 January 1955; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 224, 251.
- 28 PRO, T 234/549, Boyd-Carpenter to Butler, 29 December 1954.
- 29 PRO, T 234/559, Boyd-Carpenter to Churchill, 11 December 1954; CAB 128/28, Cabinet conclusions, 4 January 1955.
- 30 PRO, MT 124/46, Robertson to Boyd-Carpenter, 7 January 1955; *The Times*, 10 January 1955, p. 6.
- 31 PRO, T 234/559, Brittain to Grant/Crombie, 10 January 1955; T 234/549, Grant, 'The future of the railways', 11 January 1955 and Crombie's additions, 12 January 1955; Hall, 'Railway wages etc.', 11 January 1955; A. Cairncross (ed.), *The Robert Hall Diaries 1954–61*, London: Unwin Hyman, 1991, p. 26.
- 32 G. Peden, *The Treasury and British Public Policy 1906–1959*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000, p. 436; PRO, T 234/563, Page to Stevenson, 18 January 1960. By 1958 Bridges, Brittain and Gilbert had retired, Crombie had gone to the Customs Board and Grant had been promoted away from railway affairs.
- 33 PRO, T 234/550, Grant, 'The finance of the railways', 21 January 1955.
- 34 PRO, T 234/549, Grant to Brittain, 8 January 1955, with Brittain's additions; Crombie's additions to Grant, 'The future of the railways', 11 January 1955; Grant, 'Report on modernization and re-equipment of British Railways', 14 January 1955.
- 35 PRO, T 234/43, Jarratt to Johnstone, 21 April 1955; MT 47/405, note of meeting between the Treasury, BTC and MoT, 19 April 1955; Grant to Wild, 6 April 1955.
- 36 PRO, CAB 129/73, Butler, 'The finances of the railway modernisation plan', 19 January 1955; T 234/550, Strath to Petch, 1 February 1955.
- 37 PRO, CAB 128/28, Cabinet conclusions, 20 January 1955; PREM 11/1663, Salisbury to Churchill, 9 January 1955; Cherwell to Churchill, 14 January 1955; CAB 130/104; ad hoc committee on industrial disputes – railways minutes, 10 December 1954.
- 38 PRO, T 234/549, Bancroft to Brittain, with additional comments by Butler, 7 January 1955; Brittain to Bancroft, 8 January 1955, with Butler's addition; Bancroft to

Couzens/Brittain, 10 January 1955; Grant, 'The future of the railways', 11 January 1955; Crombie to Brittain, 12 January 1955; MT 124/46, Banister, note of telephone conversation between Boyd-Carpenter and Butler, 10 January 1955; CAB 129/73, Boyd-Carpenter, 'British Railways', 19 January 1955.

- 39 PRO, CAB 128/28, Cabinet conclusions, 20 January 1955; T 234/559, Robertson to Boyd-Carpenter, 27 September 1954; Grant to Crombie/Brittain/Gilbert, 8 December 1954; T 234/549, Rae to Grant, 5 January 1955.
- 40 Butler, HoC, Official Report, 3 February 1955, cols 1307–9, Powell, cols 1328–9; PRO, T 234/560, Grant to Wild, 8 February 1955; Wild to Grant, 10 February 1955; Grant to Crombie/Armstrong, 11 February 1955; MoL, The Final Report of a Court of Inquiry into a Dispute between the British Transport Commission and the National Union of Railwaymen, London: HMSO, 1955, p. 15.
- 41 PRO, T 234/549, Grant, draft Cabinet paper, 'The finances of the railway modernisation plan', 18 January 1955 with Butler's corrections; CAB 129/73, Butler, 'The finances of the railway modernisation plan', 19 January 1955.
- 42 PRO, T 234/560, Bancroft to Grant, 24 March 1955; Grant to Bancroft, 26 March 1955; Bancroft to Brittain, 29 March 1955; Boyd-Carpenter to Eden, 20 April 1955; Grant, 'Certain aspects of railway finance', 30 June 1955; Grant, brief for Chancellor's meeting with Sir Brian Robertson, 30 November 1955; Grant, note of meeting between the Chancellor and Sir Brian Robertson, 5 December 1955; MT 47/405, Robertson to Boyd-Carpenter, 1 April 1955.
- 43 PRO, T 234/561, Grant, 'Sir Brian Robertson's visit', 30 April 1956; T 234/551; Grant, 'BTC finances', 13 July 1956.
- 44 PRO, MT 47/405, Wild to Willis, 13 April 1955; Sir Leo Pliatzky, *Getting and Spending Public Expenditure, Employment and Inflation*, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, revised edition 1984, p. 29.
- 45 Sir Leo Pliatzky, interview.
- 46 PRO, T 234/43, Jarratt to Johnstone, 21 April 1955.
- 47 Sir Leo Pliatzky, interview.
- 48 Dame Alison Munro, interview; PRO MT 47/405, Willis to Wild/Munro, 31 March 1955; Wild to Willis, 13 April 1955; Grant to Wild, 6 April 1955; T 234/43, Grant to Gilbert, 7 December 1955; Grant to Johnstone, 23 January 1956; T 234/553, minutes of meeting at the Treasury, 31 August 1956.
- 49 PRO, T 234/43, Jarratt to Johnstone, 21 April 1955; Johnstone to Turnbull, 21 April 1955; Turnbull to Johnstone, 28 April 1955.
- 50 Private information.
- 51 PRO, MT 115/10, Watkinson to Fraser, 31 January 1956; CAB 128/30; Cabinet conclusions, 22 February 1956; MT 115/10; Watkinson to Eden, 20 January 1956; Watkinson to Fraser, 31 January 1956.
- 52 H. Watkinson, *Turning Points A Record of Our Times*, Salisbury: Michael Russell, 1986, p. 67; Sir James Dunnett, interview.
- 53 PRO, CAB 128/30, Cabinet conclusions, 22 February, 6, 13 March 1956; CAB 129/80, Watkinson, 'British Transport Commission', 25 February 1956; Macmillan, 'British Transport Commission', 10 March 1956; CAB 134/1229, EPC minutes, 7 March 1956; Watkinson, HoC, Official Report, 19 March 1956, cols 828–31.
- 54 PRO, CAB 134/1230, Watkinson, 'British Transport Commission', 6 March 1956; T 234/561, cutting: *Financial Times*, 21 March 1956; PRO, CAB 128/30; Cabinet conclusions, 10 April 1956; T 234/561, Grant to Brittain, 9 April 1956; Watkinson, HoC, *Official Report*, 11 April 1956, cols 185–6.
- 55 Watkinson, HoC, Official Report, 11 April 1956, cols 185–6; PRO, MT 115/3, BTC, 'Light units on railways', CTCC minutes, 11 October 1955, appendix three; BTC, 'The re-design of local and stopping railway passenger services', 15 December 1955; Munro to Willis, 17 February 1956.
- 56 PRO, MT 115/3, Molson to Willis, 28 January 1956; Munro to Willis, 17 February

176 Notes

1956; Molson to Watkinson, 5 March 1956; Watkinson to Molson, 6 March 1956; Watkinson to Stedman, 23 March 1956; BTC, draft memo from Area Boards to TUCCs, 'Passenger services', March 1956; MT 115/82, summary of a meeting between the Minister and Sir Brian Robertson, 26 March 1956.

- 57 PRO, MT 115/3, BTC, 'Passenger services', March 1956; CTCC minutes, 8 October 1957; Wilson to Molson, 18 July 1956; MT 56/498; meeting between Watkinson and TUCC chairmen, 29 March 1956; CTCC minutes, 10 April 1956; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 206–10.
- 58 PRO, MT 115/3, Munro to Willis, 14 April 1956; Willis to Stedman, 17 April 1956; Stedman to Watkinson, 18 April 1956; CAB 130/116, ad hoc committee on railway policy [hereafter, GEN 532] minutes, 26 June 1956.
- 59 PRO, CAB 130/116, Watkinson, 'The British Transport Commission draft outline note', 20 June 1956; MT 115/82, Munro to Willis, 7, 12 and 15 May 1956; Willis to Jenkins, 7 May 1956; Willis to Stedman, 12 May 1956; various drafts of working paper; Watkinson to Robertson, 17 May 1956.
- 60 PRO, MT 132/32, note of meeting, 11 May 1956.
- 61 PRO, T 234/561, Playfair to Grant, 20 April 1956; Ernest Davies, HoC, Official Report, 17 May 1956, col. 2347.
- 62 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 294-6.
- 63 PRO, MT 115/82, Stedman to Jenkins, 30 May 1956.
- 64 PRO, CAB 129/81, Watkinson, 'British Transport Commission', 8 June 1956; CAB 128/30, Cabinet conclusions, 12 June 1956.
- 65 PRO, MT 115/82, BTC, 'Further draft for a note by the Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation', first draft, 29 June 1956.
- 66 PRO, MT 115/82, Watkinson to Stedman, 6 July 1956; Stedman to Munro, 6 July 1956; Munro to Willis, 18 July 1956; MT 115/83, 'Further draft for a note by the Minister of Transport and Civil Aviation', third draft, 18 July 1956, pencil note in margin of paragraph 3/9 on rural and feeder services: 'Minister says this won't do'; MTCA, *Proposals for the Railways*, London: HMSO, 1956, p. 14.
- 67 Transport (Railway Finances) Act, 1957, 5 and 6 Eliz. II, 9.
- 68 Sir Leo Pliatzky, interview; PRO, T 234/552, Pliatzky to Wild, 21 August 1956; Pliatzky to Grant, 22 August 1956; CAB 130/116, GEN 532 minutes, 23 July 1956; T 234/552; Pliatzky to Brittain, 15 August 1956.
- 69 PRO, CAB 130/116, GEN 532 minutes, 23 July 1956.
- 70 PRO, CAB 130/116, GEN 532 minutes, 26 June, 23 July 1956; T 234/561, Watkinson to Macmillan, 12 July 1956; T 234/553, Stevenson to Grant, 14 September 1956; Clarke to Stevenson, 17 September 1956; T 234/44, Stevenson to Clarke, 4 October 1956; T 298/175; Padmore to Brook, 29 November 1960.
- 71 PRO, CAB 130/116, GEN 532 minutes, 23 July 1956.
- 72 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 286-7, 296-7.
- 73 The Times, 27 January 1955, p. 5.
- 74 PRO, MT 47/405, cutting: The Economist, 29 January 1955, 'Millions for Cinderella'.
- 75 AMC/WP, Box I, folder labelled 'Press Future of British Railways', cuttings, 26 October 1956: Daily Telegraph, Daily Mail, Manchester Guardian, The Times; The Economist, 27 October 1956, pp. 345–6, 'Will the new railways pay?'.
- 76 PRO, CAB 128/30, Cabinet conclusions, 26 September 1956.
- 77 PRO, MT 115/82, Watkinson, note, 23 July 1956; CAB 130/116, GEN 532 minutes, 23 July 1956.
- 78 Powell, HoC, Official Report, 3 February 1955, col. 1328.

4 Reappraisals

1 National Archive, Public Record Office [hereafter PRO], T 234/562, extract from a note to the Chancellor in Padmore to Grant, 25 September 1958.

- 2 PRO, T 267/15, Peter Vinter, foreword to 'Treasury historical memorandum eleven - the economic and financial obligations of the nationalised industries, white paper of April 19 1961', May 1966 [hereafter T267/15], p. 15.
- 3 Treasury, *Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries*, London: HMSO, 1961, Table 1, p. 1.
- 4 T. Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73: A Business History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, p. 285.
- 5 D. Henshaw, *The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s*, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991, pp. 10, 109–10, 115–17, 122–37.
- 6 A. Sampson, Anatomy of Britain, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1962, pp. 63, 88;
 C. Booker, The Neophiliacs: A Study of the Revolution in English Life in the Fifties and Sixties, London: Collins, 1969, p. 122; H. Macmillan, Pointing the Way, 1959–61, London, Macmillan, 1972; diary entry for 18 October 1959.
- 7 Sampson, Anatomy of Britain, pp. 542-3.
- 8 Ibid., p. 145; R. Hardy, *Beeching Champion of the Railway*, London: Ian Allen, 1989, p. 39; Vicky cartoon, *Evening Standard*, 19 January 1961, reproduced in Richard Lamb, *The Macmillan Years The Emerging Truth*, London: John Murray, 1995, endpapers; PRO, PREM 11/3577, Marples to Macmillan, 9 August 1960.
- 9 D. Williamson, A Most Diplomatic General The Life of General Lord Robertson of Oakridge Bt GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC 1896–1974, London: Brassey's, 1996, pp. 204, 207; Sampson, Anatomy of Britain, p. 543; Benn, House of Commons [hereafter HoC], Official Report, 26 October 1960, cols 2389–90.
- 10 M. Hamer, Wheels Within Wheels A Study of the Road Lobby, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1987, pp. 18–19.
- 11 PRO, PREM 11/4943, Trend to Marples, 18 June 1963; Mitchell, note for the record 25 May 1964; Trend to Marples, 20 July 1964; Lamb, *Macmillan Years*, p. 480.
- 12 Hamer, Wheels Within Wheels, p. 15.
- 13 PRO, PREM 11/4943, Marples to Macmillan, 15 January 1957; Lee, 'The Marples interest in Marples Ridgeway and Partners', 22 January 1960.
- 14 PRO, PREM 11/4943, cutting: *Evening Standard*, 22 January 1960; Dunnett to Lee, 22 January 1960.
- 15 PRO, PREM 11/4943, Abbott, note for the record, 29 October 1959; Manningham-Buller to Butler, 25 January 1960; Phelps to Bligh, 30 January 1960; Marples to Home, 24 March 1964.
- 16 H. Watkinson, *Turning Points A Record of Our Times*, Salisbury: Michael Russell, 1986, pp. 59–60 and 160.
- 17 PRO, T 230/353, 'Report of the statistical working party on long-term survey of transport' [hereafter LTST report], June 1957.
- 18 D. Starkie, The Motorway Age Road and Traffic Policies in Post-War Britain, Oxford: Pergamon, 1982, p. 11.
- 19 Watkinson, *Turning Points*, pp. 67–92; PRO, T 230/351, Grant to Clarke, 7 February 1957; meeting on road programme, 25 February 1957; Grant to Rae, 10 April 1957; draft of Grant to Lintern, 11 April 1957; T 230/352, Rae to Grant, 3 May 1957; note of a meeting between Watkinson and the Chancellor, 9 May 1957.
- 20 PRO, T 230/355, Goldman to Stevenson, 2 September 1959.
- 21 PRO, T 278/3, McAulay to Fraser, 16 September 1959.
- 22 John Boyd-Carpenter, Way of Life, London: Sidgwick and Jackson, 1980, pp. 108–9; Watkinson, Turning Points, pp. 68–9.
- 23 Hamer, Wheels Within Wheels, pp. 37-51.
- 24 Starkie, *Motorway Age*, p. 8; M. Robbins, *The Railway Age*, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1962, p. 37.
- 25 S. Finer, Anonymous Empire: A Study of the Lobby in Great Britain, London: Pall Mall, 1958 (1966 edition), p. 92.

- 178 Notes
- 26 Political and Economic Planning, 'The cost of roads', *Planning*, 27 (452), 15 May 1961, pp. 133–7.
- 27 Lady Marples, interview.
- 28 T. Barker and C. Savage, An Economic History of Transport, London: Hutchinson, 1959 (third edition, 1974), pp. 232–3; Starkie, Motorway Age, pp. 1–9, 11.
- 29 PRO, MT 124/55, minutes of meeting between Marples and RHA delegation, 28 March 1960; Russell to Marples, 29 March 1960; Bannard to Gingell, 8 April 1960; RT division, 'Note on the Road Haulage Association', 20 April 1960.
- 30 PRO, T 224/256, committee on motor industry prospects minutes, 17 July 1959.
- 31 PRO, T 298/197, 'The motor industry in the 1960s: report by a group of officials', June 1960, p. 21.
- 32 PRO, T 234/522, Mark to Clarke, 27 July 1959; T 224/256, SMMT, 'The motor-car in Britain in the 1960s', 23 July 1959; eonomic section 'Note on the SMMT's forecast of the growth of car ownership', January 1960; T 224/340, Clarke to Vinter, 2 February 1961; Booker, *The Neophiliacs*, p. 132; P. Dunnett, *The Decline of the British Motor Car Industry: The Effects of Government Policy, 1945–79*, London: Croom Helm, 1980, pp. 15, 148–9.
- 33 Sir James Dunnett, interview.
- 34 C. Foster, 'Michael Beesley and cost benefit analysis', *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, 35 (1), January 2001, pp. 13–17; Sir David Serpell, interview; Starkie, *Motorway Age*, pp. 31–41.
- 35 S. Brittan, The Treasury Under the Tories, 1951–1964, Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1961, pp. 204–45; H. Heclo and A. Wildavsky, The Private Government of Public Money Community and Policy inside British Politics, London: Macmillan, 1974, pp. 78–9 and 202–9; K. Theakston, Leadership in Whitehall, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 1999, pp. 154–60.
- 36 Sir Richard Clarke, Public Expenditure, Management and Control. The Development of the Public Expenditure Survey Committee (PESC), edited by Sir Alec Cairncross, London: Macmillan, 1978, pp. xx-xxi; Theakston, Leadership, pp. 154–6; T 267/15, p. 1.
- 37 PRO, T 234/44, Stevenson to Hall, 29 October 1956; T 234/564, Stevenson to Clarke, 12 June 1957; Stevenson to Grant, 12 June 1957; Clarke, *Public Expenditure*, pp. 17–19.
- 38 P. Hennessy, Whitehall, London: Secker and Warburg, 1989 (Fontana edition 1990), pp. 175–9.
- 39 Clarke, Public Expenditure, pp. 8, 14-21.
- 40 J. Ramsden, The Making of Conservative Party Policy The Conservative Research Department Since 1929, London: Longman, 1980, pp. 198–9; Ashridge Management College, Watkinson papers [hereafter AMC/WP]; Box I, MoT folder; Butler to Watkinson, 29 January and 18 March 1958; draft paper, 'Nationalised industries', with draft covering letter to Butler, February 1958; PRO, PREM 11/3440, Butler/Mills/Watkinson to Macmillan (undated but read on 23 December 1958) with Macmillan's manuscript addition; PRO, T 267/15; p. 6.
- 41 PRO, T 267/15, foreword and pp. 1, 12; PRO CAB 134/2251; Treasury note, 'Economic and financial framework for the nationalised industries', 13 March 1959, CAB 134/2252, 'Problems of the nationalised industries: report by a group of officials', 8 June 1959.
- 42 PRO, CAB 128/33; Cabinet conclusions, 16 July 1959; T 267/15; pp. 16–17, 30, 36–7; CAB 134/2252, 'Problems of the nationalised industries: report by a group of officials', 8 June 1959; Treasury, *Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries*, p. 6.
- 43 PRO, T 234/552, Clarke to Grant, 27 August 1956; T 230/351, note of meetings, 13 November 1956 and 6 February 1957; T 230/353, LTST report, 28 June 1957.
- 44 Interview with Sir Geoffrey Wardale, 24 April 1998.

- 45 PRO, T 230/351, Watts, 'Long-term survey of transport requirements', 22 January 1957; T 230/353, LTST report, 28 June 1957.
- 46 PRO, T 230/353, Watts to Johnstone, 18 June 1957; Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview, LTST report, 28 June 1957, pp. 9–12.
- 47 Clarke, Public Expenditure, p. 16, note 15 (p. 23); PRO, T 230/353, LTST report, 28 June 1957; Johnstone to Stevenson, 8 July 1957; Watts to Jones 1 July 1957.
- 48 PRO, T 230/353; Watts to Clarke, 29 June 1957.
- 49 PRO, T 230/353; Stevenson to Clarke, 8 July 1957.
- 50 PRO T 230/353, Treasury Economic Section, 'Impact on the economy of inadequate road transport – a preliminary note', 2 October 1957; Long-term transport survey meeting, 9 July 1957; Clarke to Faulkner, 30 December 1957; T 234/522, Clarke to Fraser/Padmore, 9 September 1959.
- 51 PRO, T 234/562, Clarke to Stevenson, 22 May 1958, enclosing cutting: *Financial Times*, 22 May 1958, 'Deepening crisis for US railways'.
- 52 PRO, T 234/562, Long-term investment review 1960-2, minutes, 30 May 1958.
- 53 PRO, T 234/564, Long-term investment review 1960-2, minutes, 27 June 1958.
- 54 PRO, T 230/353, Johnstone to Stevenson, 8 July 1957, T 234/564; Mark to Grant, 6 August 1958; Grant to Lang, 14 August 1958.
- 55 PRO, MT 115/3, Munro to Goodison, 14 February 1958; Watkinson to Faulkner, 19 March 1958; Munro to Goodison, 26 March 1958; Goodison to Faulkner, 31 March 1958, covering amended draft letter to Sir Brian Robertson; Faulkner to Goodison, 5 June 1958; MT 124/183, Watkinson to Robertson, 23 May 1958; TUCC for Scotland minutes, 6 June 1958, including Appendix G.
- 56 Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 234–9; PRO CAB 130/146, ad hoc committee on BTC wages, 1958.
- 57 PRO, MT 115/3, Munro to Goodison 14 February and 26 March 1958; CTCC minutes, 8 October 1957 and 4 March 1958; MT 124/183, 'Suggested outline of special procedure for consideration of line closures and withdrawal of services', covered by Chambers to Munro, 14 May 1958; Watkinson to Robertson, 23 May 1958; TUCC for Scotland minutes, 6 June 1958; Robertson to Watkinson, 12 June 1958; meeting between Watkinson, officials and TUCC/CTCC representatives, 24 June 1958; meeting of TUCC chairmen, 24 June 1958.
- 58 PRO, MT 124/183, Street to Grand 12 June 1958, 'handed to the Minister in confidence', 17 June 1958; Street to Chambers, 12 June 1958.
- 59 PRO, MT 115/3, MTCA brief on BTC Bill, 1957–8, 21 February 1958; MT 124/184, meeting of TUCC chairmen, 24 June 1958; MT 115/109, note of MTCA Parliamentary Secretary's meeting with Rural District Councils' Association, 2 December 1958; Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 210–12; D. Thomas, *The Rural Transport Problem*, London: Routledge, 1963, pp. 143–8.
- 60 PRO, MT 124/183, Chambers to Munro, 18 June 1958; brief for Watkinson's meeting with TUCC/CTCC representatives, 24 June 1958; MT 115/109, note of a meeting between Watkinson, MTCA officials, BTC Chief of General Duties and Robertson, 16 June 1958; MT 115/3, Munro to Goodison, 8 May 1958; Watkinson to Robertson, 23 May 1958; BTC, 'Unremunerative services cases received from or likely to be submitted by the regions to the Commission in 1958', covered by Robertson to Watkinson, 2 June 1958; MT 115/109, Munro to Goodison, 25 June 1958.
- 61 PRO, MT 115/3, departmental brief, 'BTC Bill, 1957–8, consultative committee procedure', 21 February 1958; MT 124/183, Munro to Faulkner, 11 February 1958; CTCC minutes, 15 April 1958; Chambers to Munro, 28 April 1958; Robertson to Watkinson, 2 June 1958 and 12 June 1958; meeting between Watkinson, officials and TUCC/CTCC representatives, 24 June 1958; MT 124/184, Note of a meeting between CTCC representatives and the BTC, 15 April 1958; CTCC minutes 7–8 July 1958; Meeting of TUCC chairmen, 24 June 1958; MT 115/3, Munro to Goodison, 5 May 1958.

- 180 Notes
- 62 PRO, MT 115/109, meeting between Watkinson, MTCA officials and CTCC/TUCC Chairmen, 24 June 1958; MT 124/184, Chambers to Le Goy, 31 March 1959.
- 63 PRO, MT 124/183, Robertson to Watkinson, 2 June 1958 and 12 June 1958, meeting between Watkinson, officials and TUCC/CTCC representatives, 24 June 1958; Watkinson, HoC, *Official Report*, 23 July 1958, col. 421. The other occasion was the debate on the BTC's annual report and accounts: Watkinson, HoC, *Official Report*, 17 July 1958, cols 1452 and 1457.
- 64 Private information; Watkinson, HoC, *Official Report*, 17 July 1958, cols 1457–8; 23 July 1958, col. 422; PRO, MT 115/3, CTCC minutes, 31 July 1958; MT 124/184, Garrett to Watkinson, 5 August 1958; Watkinson to Garrett, 11 September 1958; CTCC minutes, 16 September 1958.
- 65 PRO, MT 115/109, note of a meeting between Robertson, Watkinson and officials, 9 September 1958; T 234/555, Grant to Odell, 24 September 1958.
- 66 Robertson to Watkinson, 25 September 1958; Watkinson to Robertson, 30 October 1958; both published in HoC, *Official Report*, written answers, 5 November 1958, cols 52–65.
- 67 PRO, T 234/555, Ogilvy-Webb, 'The BTC and the railways', November 1958; Grant to Padmore, 30 September 1958; Stevenson to Padmore, 2 October 1958. T 234/262, Stevenson to Lang, 30 October 1958.
- 68 PRO, T 234/555, Bell to Stevenson, 23 October 1958; Stevenson to Clarke, 16 December 1958; Watkinson to Heathcoat Amory, 14 January 1959; Stevenson to Padmore, 13 November 1958 and 16 January 1959; AMC/WP, Watkinson, draft note, February 1959; Watkinson, HoC, *Official Report*, 11 December 1958, col. 522.
- 69 Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview, 24 April 1998; PRO, T 234/522; Clarke to Fraser/Padmore, 9 September 1959; Clarke to Stevenson, 1 October 1959; PREM 5/233, Brook to Macmillan, 28 June 1960; Williamson, *Diplomatic General*, p. 204; Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 299.
- 70 Private information.
- 71 AMC/WP, Watkinson, draft note, February 1959 [original emphasis].
- 72 PRO, MT 115/109, CTCC minutes, 31 July 1958 and 16 September 1958; MTCA brief on BTC Report and Accounts for 1958, July 1959; brief for Dunnett 'Closure of lines, withdrawal of services and closure of stations', 4 March 1959; Chambers, 'Closing of branch lines', 25 February 1959; MT 124/184, CTCC minutes, 7–8 July 1958; Chambers, 'Notes on closing of small stations', 6 April 1959; extract from Street to Chambers, 26 March 1959; Chambers to Le Goy, 31 March 1959 and enclosed memorandum from Peers, East Midlands TUCC; Chambers, 'Duties of the consultative committees', 21 April 1959.
- 73 PRO, MT 124/184, brief for Dunnett, 'Closure of lines, withdrawal of services and closure of stations', 4 March 1959; Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 208.
- 74 MTCA, Re-appraisal of the Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways, London: HMSO, 1959, appendix B, pp. 42–3.
- 75 PRO, MT 115/109, MTCA brief on BTC Report and Accounts for 1958, July 1959.
- 76 PRO, T 234/555, meeting of Treasury and MoT officials, 23 December 1958.
- 77 PRO, MT 115/279, note of meeting, 8 January 1959.
- 78 Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview. For an example of Glover's views see PRO, MT 65/336, Glover, note of 9 November 1956.
- 79 PRO, MT 115/279, 'The future position of the railways', 16 January 1959; improved figures enclosed in Glover to Lang, 20 January 1959.
- 80 PRO, MT 115/279, Watkinson, note, February 1959.
- 81 PRO, T 230/354, Glover to Watts, 16 March 1959, covering draft 'Statistics of the transport of goods by road'; Watts to Hopkin, 8 May 1959 (the 1957 study had estimated a 0.7 per cent increase in total freight traffic for every 1 per cent increase in GDP. This was now revised to 0.3–0.5 per cent); Watts to Hopkin, 29 May 1959; T 230/355, 'Road transport of goods', covered by Watts to Hopkin, 30 July 1959; T

234/556, Watts to Hopkin, 9 July 1959; Ogilvy-Webb to Mark, 29 July 1959.

- 82 MTCA, *Re-appraisal*, pp. 29–31; PRO, MT 115/279, Le Goy, 'The position on the re-appraisal', 8 June 1959, Wardale to Le Goy, 27 May 1959; Goodison to Hampson, 3 and 9 June 1959; T 234/556; Ogilvy-Webb to Mark, 20, 23 and 29 July 1959.
- 83 PRO MT 115/280, Glover, note on BTC paper on 'The financial and economic effects of the plan for the modernisation and rationalization of British Railways', July 1959.
- 84 PRO, PREM 11/3147, Watkinson to Macmillan, 9 July 1959; CAB 134/1681, EPC minutes, 8 July 1959.
- 85 PRO, MT 115/77, Wardale/Le Goy, 'BTC railways reappraisal, departmental examination with the Commission's officers of the British Transport Commission's reappraisal report', 5 October 1959; MT 115/280, note of meeting, 6 August 1959; MTCA, *Re-appraisal*, pp. 29–31; Sir Geoffrey Wardale, interview.
- 86 PRO; T 234/557, joint Treasury/MoT report on the reappraisal, covered by Garlick to Myers, 5 February 1960.
- 87 PRO MT 115/280, Glover, note on BTC paper on 'The financial and economic effects of the plan for the modernisation and rationalization of British Railways', July 1959; MT 115/77, Wardale/Le Goy, 'BTC railways reappraisal', 5 October 1959; T 234/557, Mark, minute, 27 October 1959; MT 132/11, Bird to Lang, 15 December 1959, covering 'Report of investigation into the BTC investment programme 1960–1962'.
- 88 Starkie, Motorway Age, pp. 5–6; PRO, PREM 11/3577, note of meeting, 14 December 1959.
- 89 PRO, T 234/522, Goldman to Stevenson, 2 September 1959; Clarke to Fraser/Padmore, 9 September 1959; Mark, draft, 'The economic case for road building', 6 October 1959; MT 115/77, Bird, note, 8 October 1959; T 230/355; Mark, 'Inland transport', 16 December 1959.
- 90 PRO, CAB 134/1685, EPC minutes, 13 July 1960; CAB 129/102; Selwyn Lloyd, 'Road programme', 15 July 1960; CAB 128/34; Cabinet conclusions, 19 July 1960.
- 91 PRO, CAB 128/34, Cabinet conclusions, 11 April 1960; CAB 134/1687, 'Report of the road programme committee' and annexed working party report, 8 July 1960.
- 92 Starkie, Motorway Age, pp. 7-9, 73-7.
- 93 PRO, MT 115/77, Dunnett, 'The railway problem', 4 January 1960.
- 94 Ibid.; MT 132/11; Dunnett to Hay, 31 December 1959; Bird to Lang, 15 December 1959.
- 95 PRO, MT 132/11, Marples to Robertson, 26 February 1960.
- 96 PRO, T 267/15, pp. 8, 12.
- 97 PRO, MT 132/11, Bird to Lang, 15 December 1959.
- 98 PRO, T 267/15, pp. 13, 17; T 234/522, Brunner to Mark, 15 October 1959.
- 99 PRO, CAB 134/2251, official committee on nationalised industries minutes, 8 April 1959.
- 100 PRO, MT 115/280, note of meeting, 14 August 1959.
- 101 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 213, note 77 (p. 690); PRO, MT 132/79, BTC, 'Fringe areas', 14 December 1959; D. Thomas, West Country Railway History, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1960 (sixth edition 1988), pp. 112, 123 and 186.
- 102 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 213; PRO, MT 132/79, BTC, 'Fringe areas', 14 December 1959; MT 115/77, Dunnett, 'The railway problem', 4 January 1960; MT 115/280; note of meeting, 14 August 1959.
- 103 PRO, T 234/522, Wilson, text of speech on 'The economics of transport with special reference to road-rail questions in the UK', presented to the British Association for the Advancement of Science, 8 September 1959; MT 115/280, note of meeting, 14 August 1959; T 234/558, minutes of meeting between Lord Mills and Robertson, 14 January 1960; T 234/563, minutes of meeting, 22 January 1960.
- 104 PRO, T 267/15, p. 30.

105 PRO, T 234/558, Padmore to Lee, 18 February 1960. 106 PRO, T 224/340, Vinter to Clarke, 14 February 1961.

5 'The nitty-gritty of actually doing things'

- 1 Sir David Serpell, interview.
- 2 T. Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73: A Business History*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 238–42.
- 3 Bodleian Library, Macmillan Diaries [hereafter BL/MAC], C.21/1, 16 February 1960; PRO, CAB 130/172, Macmillan, 'Transport', 19 February 1960; PREM 11/3147, Bishop to Macmillan, 26 February 1960; T 234/563, Padmore to Bell, 22 February 1960; Lee to Bell, 22 February 1960; Heathcoat Amory, note, 22 February 1960; Stevenson to Padmore, 18 March 1960; Stevenson to Serpell, 22 March 1960; Heathcoat Amory, House of Commons [hereafter HoC], *Official Report*, 4 April 1960, cols 48–9.
- 4 Macmillan, HoC, Official Report, 10 March 1960, col. 643.
- 5 Marples, HoC, Official Report, 6 April 1960, col. 394.
- 6 PRO, CAB 130/172, ad hoc committee on transport reorganisation [hereafter GEN 706] minutes, 11 March 1960; PREM 11/3148, Mills to Macmillan, 17 March 1960; Phelps to Macmillan, 15 and 18 March 1960; Macmillan to Stedeford, 24 March 1960; T 234/558, Lee to Bell 8 March 1960; Lee to Brooke 9 March 1960; Lee to Mills, 29 March 1960 and 30 March 1960; Dunnett to Padmore, 2 March 1960; R. Hardy, *Beeching Champion of the Railway*, London: Ian Allan, 1989, p. 47.
- 7 House of Commons Select Committee on Nationalised Industries, Report from the Select Committee on Nationalised Industries (together with the proceedings of the committee, minutes of evidence and appendices) – British Railways [hereafter SCNI report], London: HMSO 1960; MoT, Special Report from the Select Committee on Nationalised Industries (Observations of the British Transport Commission and of the Minister of Transport), London: HMSO, 1961; Sir David Serpell, interview.
- 8 Transport Act 1962; 10 and 11 Eliz. II, 10; Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 330; P. Bagwell, *The Transport Revolution from 1770*, London: Batsford, 1974, pp. 337–40.
- 9 PRO, T 298/174, draft, Marples 'Re-organization of the BTC: problem of appointments', September 1960.
- 10 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 322–4; PRO, T 298/176, Trend to Brook, 21 December 1960; PREM 11/4028, note of meeting, 22 December 1960, with Bligh's manuscript addition of 23 December 1960.
- 11 BRB, The Reshaping of British Railways, London: HMSO, 1963, p. 1.
- 12 Robens, HoC, Official Report, 3 April 1960, col. 1347, quoted in Gourvish, British Railways, p. 309; R. Lamb, The Macmillan Years – The Emerging Truth, London: John Murray, 1995, p. 433; G. Allen, British Railways Today and Tomorrow, London: Ian Allan, 1959 (third edition 1962), p. 29; D. Henshaw, The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991, pp. 122–9.
- 13 PRO, T 234/558, Stevenson to Padmore, 23 March 1960; unsigned undated note covering confidential terms of reference.
- 14 Henshaw, *Great Railway Conspiracy*, p. 129; PRO, T 298/174, SAG recommendation five, 29 September 1960.
- 15 PRO, AN 13/2741, BTC, 'Programme of modernization 1961–1964', covered by Robertson to Marples, 19 December 1960; BRB, *Reshaping*, p. 19.
- 16 PRO CAB 134/2252, 'Problems of the nationalised industries report by a group of officials', 8 June 1959.
- 17 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 311–21; PRO, CAB 130/172, Macmillan, 'Transport', 19 February 1960; GEN 706 minutes, 19 February 1960; T 234/558, Dunnett to

Marples, 18 March 1960; SAG confidential terms of reference, covered by an unsigned, undated note; T 298/174, Stevenson to Lee, 28 October 1960; CAB 134/2251, MTCA, 'The problems of the BTC', 6 April 1959.

- 18 PRO, PREM 11/3148, Glaves-Smith to Macmillan, 11 November 1960; T 234/558, Stevenson to Padmore, 11 March 1960; T 298/174, Stevenson to Padmore 13 September 1960; note of meeting, 15 September 1960; T 298/176 Stevenson to Lee, 6 December 1960; T 298/185, Serpell to Madge, 21 September 1960; Sir David Serpell, interview.
- 19 Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 320 and 330; PRO, CAB 128/34, Cabinet conclusions, 9 December 1960; PREM 11/4028, note of meeting between Beeching and Macmillan, 10 May 1960; CAB 134/1689, economic policy committee minutes, 26 July 1961.
- 20 PRO MT 124/1243, 'Committee on the reorganization of the railways: brief for Minister for the meeting on 30th May'.
- 21 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 310–12; D. Williamson, A Most Diplomatic General – The Life of General Lord Robertson of Oakridge Bt GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC 1896–1974, London: Brassey's, 1996, pp. 207–8; PRO, MT 132/79, Beeching, 'Interpretation of the terms of reference of the Special Advisory Group', 3 May 1960; T 298/185, Lee, note for the record, 18 May 1960; MT 124/102, Beeching, 'The preparation and presentation of railway modernisation plans' 8 June 1960; T 298/188, Stevenson to Padmore, 10 June 1960; Serpell, note for the record, 15 June 1960; Sir David Serpell, interview.
- 22 Williamson, *Diplomatic General*, p. 207; Henshaw, *Great Railway Conspiracy*, p. 129.
- 23 PRO, T 298/185, Lee, note for the record, 18 May 1960.
- 24 PRO, T 298/174, SAG recommendation four, 21 September 1960.
- 25 PRO, T 298/174, SAG recommendation five, 29 September 1960.
- 26 PO, MT 132/80, meeting between Marples and Stedeford, 26 May 1960.
- 27 PRO, PREM 11/3148, SAG recommendations one and two, 24 June 1960; Marples to Macmillan, 24 June 1960; MT 124/101, MGM minutes, 4 August 1960; T 298/188, Stevenson to Padmore, 24 June 1960; T 298/188, Beeching, 'The preparation and presentation of railway modernisation plans', 8 June 1960, with amendments by officials, printed as MGM paper 1, August 1960; MT 124/102, Sheaf to Beeching, 15 August 1960; Sheaf to Permanent Secretary's office, 16 August 1960.
- 28 PRO, T 298/174, SAG, recommendation seven, 30 September 1960.
- 29 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 631.
- 30 PRO, CAB 134/1689, economic policy committee minutes, 25 January 1961.
- 31 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 514–29; R. Marsh, Off the Rails: An Autobiography, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1978, pp. 196–7; K. Theakston, Leadership in Whitehall, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 1999, p. 148.
- 32 PRO, T 298/174, SAG, recommendations five, 21 September 1960, and six, undated; MT 65/360, Venning to Wardale, 4 January 1961; MT 96/169, meeting of MoT officials, 3 May 1961.
- 33 PRO, MT 96/169, note of meeting, 3 May 1961; MT 124/187, Brief for meeting between Serpell, Dunnett and CTCC and minutes of meeting, 10 January 1961.
- 34 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 211; PRO, CAB 134/2452, Cabinet committee on the reorganization of the railways minutes, 2 December 1963.
- 35 PRO, MT 124/306, Serpell, 'Railway closures', 13 April 1961; M. Howe, 'The Transport Act, 1962, and the Consumers' Consultative Committees', *Public Administration*, 42 (1), spring 1964, p. 49.
- 36 Gourvish, British Railways, pp. 436-7.
- 37 PRO, MT 124/212, reorganisation of nationalised transport working party minutes, 10 August 1961.
- 38 PRO, MT 96/169, note of meeting, 3 May 1961; MT 124/306, anonymous, undated

paper, 'Closing of railway lines and uneconomic services'. (This was produced between January and June 1961, when the MoT began to consider the consultative procedure.)

- 39 PRO, MT 124/212, reorganisation of nationalised transport steering group minutes, 16 June 1961.
- 40 PRO, T 298/188, Beeching, 'Preparation and presentation of railway modernisation plans', August 1960; SCNI report, 11 July 1960, pp. xcii–xciii.
- 41 PRO, MT 115/77, Dunnett, 'The railway problem', 4 January 1960.
- 42 PRO, CAB 134/2426, 'Report of the interdepartmental working party on railways' [hereafter IDR report], 18 July 1963, p. 6.
- 43 PRO, PRO Guide, Part One: History of Government, Kew: PRO, 1998, 628/2/5; Imperial Calendar 1964, London: HMSO, 1964.
- 44 Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 437; For examples in the Wells case, see PRO, MT 124/725, MoT working party on closures minutes, 18 February 1964; Galbraith to Marples, 26 February 1964; Richards, 'Railway passenger closure proposals list no. 10, Dereham to Wells-next-the-Sea', 26 September 1963.
- 45 PRO, MT 124/664, Scott-Malden, 'The "Beeching plan" for the railways', 29 November 1962; Beeching to Marples, 14 November 1962; MT 100/75, Oversby-Powell, 'The road programme', 1 May 1963.
- 46 PRO, MT 124/664, Serpell to Margetts, 20 November 1962; CAB 134/2397, Cabinet committee on population and employment minutes, 11 February 1963; CAB 134/2426, Marples, 'Passenger closures: public statements and past experience of Transport Users' Consultative Committee procedure', 22 February 1963; T 298/188, Beeching, 'Preparation and presentation of railway modernization plans', August 1960.
- 47 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Macmillan to Marples, 30 September 1962.
- 48 Treasury, *Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries*, p. 10; SCNI report, 11 July 1960, pp. xcii–xciii; Transport Act, 1962, 10 and 11 Eliz. II, 10, S.22(4).
- 49 Special Report from the Select Committee on Nationalized Industries: British Railways (Observations of the British Transport Commission and of the Minister of Transport), London: HMSO, 1961, para. 16.
- 50 PRO MT 124/187, brief for meeting between Dunnett, Serpell and CTCC and minutes of meeting, 10 January 1961; T 319/1129 draft, MoT 'Subsidies to the rail-ways board', April 1963.
- 51 PRO, CAB 134/1433, Cabinet committee on BTC reorganisation minutes, 14 November 1960; T 298/174, SAG, recommendation four, 21 September 1960; BL/MAC, C.21/1, 14 November 1960; Marples, HoC, *Official Report*, 20 November 1961, col. 942, cited in Bagwell, *Transport Revolution*, p. 339.
- 52 PRO, T 298/184, note of meeting, 10 November 1961; CAB 134/2426, IDR report, 18 July 1963.
- 53 PRO T 298/185, Stevenson, 'Nationalized industries suggested new financial framework', 26 July 1960; Stevenson to Padmore, 19 September 1960; T 298/174, Goldman to Stevenson, 27 September 1960; Stevenson to Goldman, 28 September 1960.
- 54 For example, Tim Pickford-Jones, 'Timmonet', online www.timmonet.co.uk/html/ body_beeching.htm, last published 11 June 2004 22.52 (accessed 23 May 2005).
- 55 Sir James Dunnett, 'The civil service administrator and the expert', lecture to the Royal Institute of Public Administration, 10 April 1961; reprinted in *Public Administration*, 39 (3), autumn 1961, pp. 223–37; PRO, T 224/340, Clarke to Vinter, 2 February 1961.
- 56 PRO MT 124/98, interdepartmental working party to consider railway statistics; report, July 1960.
- 57 PRO MT 96/168, Venning to Ackroyd, 6 December 1962, 'draft brief for the Permanent Secretary on road research for the committee of enquiry into the organization of

the civil service', 1 January 1963; MT 96/169, Hampson to Dunnett, 11 February 1960; Glanville to Dunnett, 23 May 1960; Dunnett to Melville, 22 February 1960 and 20 June 1960; T 234/522, Clarke to Mark, 1 February 1960; Goldman to Stevenson, 4 February 1960; Stevenson, note for the record, 8 February 1960; Ross to Vinter, 28 March 1960.

- 58 C. Foster, 'Michael Beesley and cost benefit analysis', *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, 35 (1), January 2001, pp. 5–13; PRO MT 160/11, Bird, 'Studies in progress', 25 March 1963; transport policy and research steering group minutes, 17 December 1963.
- 59 PRO, MT 96/174, 'Interim report of the long-term transport policy steering group', 20 December 1962; MT 96/169, note of a meeting of MoT officials on the interim report of the Hall group, 2 January 1963.
- 60 PRO MT 124/101, MGM minutes, 4, 24 and 31 August 1960; MT 124/100, statistics division note, 15 September 1960; Venning to Serpell, 16 September 1960 and 10 October 1960; MT 96/169, Serpell to Venning, 20 September 1960; Venning to Serpell, 16 September 1960; Sir David Serpell, interview. Sir David, who was not a member of the MGM, was not certain what became of it, but his assessment of its probable fate is supported by the documents, which peter out with MT 124/100, Dunnett to Serpell, 28 November 1960.
- 61 Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 403–15, 445; PRO, PREM 11/4548, BRB, freight map and press release, 13 July 1962; passenger map and press release, 20 July 1962; Marples to Macmillan, 18 July 1962.
- 62 PRO, MT 124/664, Scott-Malden to Serpell, 20 July 1962; note of meeting, 4 December 1962; CAB 134/2429, Marples, 'Timetable for passenger closures', 7 October 1963.
- 63 PRO, MT 124/664, note of meeting, 15 November 1962; Gourvish, *British Railways*, p. 436.
- 64 PRO, MT 124/664, note of meeting, 4 December 1962; Scott-Malden to Serpell, 5 December 1962.
- 65 PRO, MT 124/664, note of meeting, 4 December 1962; CAB 134/2426, IDR report, 18 July 1963; T 319/341, Scott-Malden to Vinter, 16 May 1963.
- 66 Gourvish, British Railways, p. 440.
- 67 C. Savage, An Economic History of Transport, London: Hutchinson, 1959 (second edition 1966), p. 206.
- 68 MoT, Traffic in Towns A Study of the Long Term Problems of Traffic in Urban Areas, Reports of the Steering Group and Working Group Appointed by the Minister of Transport, London: HMSO, 1963; PRO, T 298/199, meeting of Treasury, MoT and MHLG officials, 17 March 1961; MT 96/174, 'Interim report of the long-term transport policy steering group', 20 December 1962; MT 160/11, Bird, 'Studies in progress', 25 March 1963; transport policy and research steering group minutes, 17 December 1963.
- 69 PRO, MT 124/664, Scott-Malden to Serpell, 20 July 1962.
- 70 BRB, *Reshaping*, pp. 20–2; PRO, CAB 134/2426, IDR report, 18 July 1963; T 224/1239, meeting of officials, 2 April 1963; T 139/349, Macdonald, 'Suburban transport (other than in London)', 28 March 1963; T 319/350, Bretherton to Mills, 30 April 1964, covering 'Public transport in conurbations', 30 April 1964.
- 71 A. Daniel, 'Railways and the three P's', speech to National Council on Inland Transport conference, 26 September 1969; for an example of such an approach see Labour Party, *The Future of British Transport a reprint of the speech made by the Rt Hon. Harold Wilson, M.P., Leader of the Opposition, during the debate in the House of Commons on April 30th, 1963, on the Beeching Railway Report*, London: Labour Party, 1963. For examples of more penetrating criticism, see Gourvish, *British Railways*, pp. 407–12.
- 72 The Times, 3 April 1963 p. 15, letter from Cromartie.

- 73 A. Sampson, *Anatomy of Britain*, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1962, pp. 537, 544, 631.
- 74 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Marples to Macmillan, 19 February 1963.
- 75 Hay, HoC, Official Report, 29 November 1962, col. 684.

6 Top gear

- Bodleian Library, Oxford, Macmillan Diaries, vol. D49, 20 March 1963; J. Tomlinson, 'Conservative modernisation, 1960–64: too little too late?', *Contemporary British History*, 11 (3), 1997, pp. 18–38.
- 2 S. Brittan, *The Treasury Under the Tories 1951–64*, Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1964, pp. 267–8.
- 3 This was originally a sub-committee of a Cabinet committee set up to consider the *Beeching Report* before it was published. The sub-committee only met once. Following the change of leader, Douglas-Home abolished the original Cabinet committee and reconstituted the sub-committee as the Cabinet committee on reorganisation of the railways, with a new membership. After one meeting this became the Committee on road and rail transport, which managed ten meetings before the 1964 General Election.
- 4 National Archives Public Record Office [hereafter, PRO], CAB 134/1763, Fraser, 'Progress with rail passenger closure proposals', 2 December 1964; Fraser, 'Summary of position at end November 1964', 3 December 1964. These figures exclude cases published before *Reshaping* even where decisions emerged after October 1963, among them the Sanderstead, Alston and Shrewsbury–Llanelli proposals, which were refused, and Silloth, which was approved. However, adjustments to include such cases would not alter the broad balance between consents and refusals. The *Reshaping* cases to which Marples refused consent were: Cardiff–Coryton; four stations on the Swansea–Fishguard line; Kilmarnock–Ayr; Inverness–Wick/Thurso; Inverness–Kyle of Lochalsh; Ayr–Stranraer; Manchester– Buxton; Newcastle–Riverside–Tynemouth; Middlesbrough–Whitby; Llandudno– Blaenau Ffestiniog; Bangor–Caernarvon; Darlington–Bishop Auckland and individual stations at Bishopbriggs, Brent Knoll, King's Sutton, Caldicott Halt, Dalwhinnie and Carr Bridge.
- 5 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Marples to Macmillan, 18 July 1962; PREM 11/4277, Marples to Macmillan, 26 October 1962; Marples, 'Rebuilding urban Britain', 26 October 1962; Woodfield to Robertson, 1 August 1962.
- 6 PRO, CAB 21/4719, Macmillan to Brook, 24 June 1962; Brook to Macmillan, 22 October 1962; Clarke to Padmore, 24 July 1962.
- 7 PRO, CAB 128/36, Cabinet conclusions, 24 July 1962.
- 8 Tomlinson, 'Conservative modernisation', pp. 20–1; PRO, PREM 11/4520, Trend to Macmillan, 26 November 1962; Woodfield, notes for the record of 21 and 27 November 1962; Woodfield to Macmillan, 27 November 1962; Trend to Woodfield, 28 November 1962; CAB 129/111, Macmillan, 'Modernisation of Britain', 3 December 1962; CAB 128/36, Cabinet conclusions, 6 December 1962.
- 9 PRO, CAB 134/2426, 'Interdepartmental working party on railways: report by the working party' [hereafter IDR Report], 18 July 1963.
- 10 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Marples, notes for meeting with Macmillan on 1 August 1962; papers in PREM 11/4520: Ministerial discussions on modernizing Britain, part one and PREM 11/4277: Minister of Transport's proposals for expansion of the construction industry; CAB 134/2396, Cabinet committee on population and employment minutes, 12 December 1962.
- 11 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Macmillan to Marples, 30 September 1962.
- 12 PRO, PREM 11/3930, text of Macmillan's speech to Cabinet, 28 May 1962; CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963; P. Bagwell, *The Railwaymen: The History of*

the National Union of Railwaymen, Volume Two: The Beeching Era and After, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1982, pp. 143–5, 155–7.

- 13 Bagwell, *Railwaymen*, pp. 144–6; PRO, PREM 11/4548, note of meeting between MoT and MoL officials and NUR, 28 September 1962; Macmillan to Marples, 30 September 1962 (two minutes).
- 14 *The Times*, 17 April 1963, p. 10; 22 April 1963, p. 6; 25 April 1963, pp. 5, 7; 1 May 1963, p. 8; 6 May 1963, p. 9; 1 October 1963, p. 16.
- 15 The Times, 3 August 1972, p. 21.
- 16 Marples, House of Commons [hereafter HoC], Official Report, 29 April 1963, cols 725–6.
- 17 PRO, T 319/2115, DoE, 'Railway policy review report by a group of officials', June 1972; *The Times*, 3 August 1972, p. 21; T. Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73: A Business History*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 98–9, 562–5; T. Gourvish, *British Railways 1974–97: From Integration to Privatisation*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002, p. 164; Bagwell, *Railwaymen*, p. 157.
- 18 PRO, PREM 11/4521, Trend to Macmillan, 11 February 1963; MT 124/666, Scott-Malden, 'Minister's brief for population and employment committee meeting on 11 February', 8 February 1963.
- 19 PRO, CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963.
- 20 PRO, CAB 134/2426, Cabinet committee on the reorganisation of railways [hereafter R] minutes, 1 August 1963.
- 21 PRO, PREM 11/3930, text of Macmillan's speech to Cabinet, 28 May 1962; CAB 21/4719, Cabinet Office to Brooke, 19 September 1962; CAB 128/36, Cabinet conclusions, 25 and 29 October 1962; PREM 11/4520, Macmillan's notes for Cabinet, 'Modernising Britain', 25 October 1962.
- 22 D. Butler and A. King, *The British General Election of 1964*, London: Macmillan, 1965, p. 78; *The Times*, 1 April 1963, p. 6.
- 23 PRO, CAB 134/2426, IDR report, 18 July 1963.
- 24 PRO, CAB 134/2452, Cabinet committee on the reorganisation of the railways [hereafter RR], minutes, 2 December 1963.
- 25 PRO, MT 124/1244, Brooke to Marples, 4 September 1963.
- 26 PRO, T 319/343, Carr to Lee, 22 May 1964, cutting: *Financial Times*, 4 May 1964, 'Beeching bearded in his own den'; MT 124/699, Davies to Waddison, 20 February 1964, transcript of *Here and Now*, ITV, 5 May 1964, 6.45pm.
- 27 CAB 134/1766, MoT, 'Summary of position at end of November 1965', 13 December 1965.
- 28 PRO, CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963; PREM 11/4520, Prime Minister's steering committee minutes, 31 December 1962.
- 29 PRO, CAB 134/2453, Marples, 'The timetable for passenger closure proposals', 6 January 1964; Cabinet committee on road and rail transport [hereafter RRT] minutes, 11 May 1964.
- 30 PRO, CAB 134/2426, IDR report, 18 July 1963.
- 31 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 9 June 1964.
- 32 PRO, CAB 21/5921, Nunn to Blakenham, 1 September 1964; T 319/344, Whitelaw to Blakenham, September 1964; MacDonald, 'Brief on RRT(64)28', 4 September 1964; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 7 September 1964.
- 33 D. Henshaw, The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991, p. 240; Timesonline, 1 March 2005, 'Fears grow for rail services as axe hangs over local stations', online, www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,2-1505665,00.html (accessed 4 March 2005).
- 34 PRO, T 319/344, North West Regional Study Group, 'Proposed withdrawals of railway passenger services', 14 September 1964. The services were: (Category A – serious concern) Manchester–Bury, Manchester–Glossop/Hadfield, Liverpool– Southport, Liverpool–Ormskirk–Preston, Wrexham–Chester–New Brighton, Hooton–

Helsby, Liverpool Lime St-Chester and Barrow-Whitehaven; (category B – less serious concern) Manchester-Bury-Bacup/Accrington/Colne, Manchester-Rochdale/ Oldham, Liverpool Exchange-Wigan, Wigan-Bolton/Bury/Rochdale, Workington-Penrith.

- 35 PRO, CAB 21/5920, Joseph to Macleod, 2 August 1963. The services were: Manchester– Buxton; Manchester–Bury–Bacup; Manchester–Glossop; Manchester–Romiley/ Hayfield/Macclesfield; Manchester–Bury/Accrington/Colne; Liverpool–Southport; Liverpool–St Helens–Wigan; Wrexham–Chester–New Brighton; Barrow– Whitehaven; Manchester–Chinley–Sheffield.
- 36 PRO, CAB 134/2453, Marples, ⁱThe timetable for passenger closure proposals', 12 December 1963.
- 37 PRO, CAB 128/38, Cabinet conclusions, 17 January and 25 February 1964; PREM 11/5167, Trend to Douglas-Home, 19 February 1964.
- 38 PRO, CAB 134/1766, MoT, 'Summary of position at end of November 1965', 13 December 1965.
- 39 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 7 September 1964.
- 40 D. Thomas and S. Smith, *Summer Saturdays in the West*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1973 (1983 edition), pp. 13, 17, 24–5, 51; Henshaw, *Great Railway Conspiracy*, p. 152.
- 41 BRB, *The Reshaping of British Railways*, London: HMSO, 1963, p. 15; PRO, PREM 11/5167, Tebay to Reid, 4 February 1964. CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963.
- 42 Wellingborough News, 6 March 1964, p. 1; 8 May 1964, p. 1.
- 43 Thomas and Smith, Summer Saturdays in the West, p. 16.
- 44 CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963; CAB 134/2429, Macleod, 'Timing of closures', 15 October 1963; CAB 134/2452, RR minutes, 2 December 1963; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 8 January 1964; Marples, 'Hull–Hornsea, Hull–Withernsea passenger closure proposals', 7 July 1964; MT 124/1258; Fogarty to Baxter, 21 October 1964; Marples, HoC, *Official Report*, 12 February 1964, written answers, cols 69–70.
- 45 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Marples to Macmillan, 19 February 1963.
- 46 PRO, MT 115/109, Marples to Thorneycroft, 1 June 1962; MT 124/666, 'Note of minister's nationalised transport policy meeting on 13 February 1963'; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 22 July 1964.
- 47 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 11 May and 9 June 1964.
- 48 PRO, MT 124/780, TUCC report on proposal to close Hull–Hornsea rail service; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 13 July 1964; Marples, 'Hull–Hornsea, Hull– Withernsea passenger closure proposals', 7 July 1964; MT 124/790, Scott-Malden to Marples, 30 July 1964; MT 124/1207, brief, September 1964.
- 49 PRO, MT 124/741, working party on passenger closure proposals, 5 October 1961 and attached paper; CAB 134/2453, Galbraith, 'Rail passenger closure proposals: Ayr–Stranraer and Dumfries–Stranraer', 6 May 1964; Marples, 'Proposed closure of passenger rail services from Ayr and Dumfries to Stranraer', 7 July 1964; RRT minutes, 12 February, 11 May, 13 and 22 July, 7 September 1964; MT 124/1258; Fogarty to Baxter, 21 October 1964; T 319/343 MacDonald to Littlewood, 6 February 1964, Vinter note, 5 June 1964.
- 50 D. Thomas, *West Country Railway History*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1960 (sixth edition 1988), p. 280.
- 51 PRO, MT 124/725, 'Report of the East Anglian TUCC on the proposed withdrawal of passenger train services between Dereham and Wells-next-the-Sea', 29 November 1963; Beeton to Davies, 18 December 1964.
- 52 M. Hillman and A. Whalley, *The Social Consequences of Railway Closures*, London: Policy Studies Institute, 1980, pp. 4, 110–18.
- 53 PRO, MT 124/726, Davies to Baxter, 5 April 1965.

- 54 PRO MT 124/796, 'Ministry of Transport report on the effects of closing three rail passenger services (the "Marplan" survey)', July 1967.
- 55 P. Bagwell, *The Transport Revolution from 1770*, London: Batsford, 1974, pp. 356–8, 373–8; PRO, CAB 129/114, Marples, 'Rural bus services', 16 September 1963.
- 56 PRO, T 319/343, Littlewood to MacDonald, 4 and 11 February 1964; CAB 21/5919, Marples to Blakenham, 28 April 1964.
- 57 The Times, 10 February 1964, p. 6.
- 58 PRO, CAB 134/2453, Marples, 'Cambridge–March–St Ives railway closure proposal', 3 September 1964; RRT minutes, 7 September 1964; MT 124/720, Marples to Blakenham, 30 July 1964; Grainger to Galbraith, 30 July 1964; Blakenham to Marples, 6 August 1964.
- 59 Hillman and Whalley, Social Consequences of Railway Closures, p. 118.
- 60 PRO, CAB 134/2397, Cabinet committee on population and employment minutes, 11 February 1963; CAB 21/4813, Baldwin to Cary, 12 February 1963; Cary to Trend, 13 February 1963.
- 61 PRO, CAB 21/4813, Trend to Butler, 19 February 1963; CAB 134/2426, 'Terms of reference', 21 February 1963.
- 62 PRO, CAB 21/4813, Cary to Trend, 13 February 1963; MT 115/265, Coombs to Hay, 20 February 1961; PREM 11/4548, Trend to Macmillan, 20 March 1963; T 319/340, Vinter to Petch, 8 February 1963; Vinter to Mitchell, 13 March 1963; CAB 128/37, Cabinet conclusions, 14 March 1963.
- 63 PRO, CAB 134/2397, Cabinet committee on population and employment minutes, 11 February 1963; CAB 134/2426; R(63), first meeting, 4 March 1963; second meeting, 13 March 1963; Bodleian Library, Conservative Archive, CRD 2/9/10, 'Crowther and Buchanan reports: political reactions', 8 August 1963; Deedes to Fraser, 13 August 1963.
- 64 *The Times*, 6 March 1963, p. 6; 9 March 1963, p. 15; 22 March 1963, p. 12; 25 March 1963, p. 6.
- 65 The Times, 28 March 1963, pp. 8, 12, 13; 29 March 1963, pp. 8, 12, 13; 1 May 1963, p. 12; Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73*, p. 414; PRO CAB 128/37, Cabinet conclusions, 14 March 1963; MT 124/666, Deedes to Marples, 12 March 1963.
- 66 PRO, MT 115/3, Munro to Willis, 14 April 1956; Willis to Stedman, 17 April 1956.
- 67 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Maclay to Macmillan, 29 June 1962; Marples to Macmillan, 7 June 1962; H. White, *Forgotten Railways*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986, p. 82.
- 68 PRO, MT 124/1243, Beeching to Marples, 4 July 1963; MT 124/1244, Marples to Noble, 20 November 1963; CAB 134/2426, R minutes, 30 May 1963; CAB 21/5921, Macmillan to Marples, 10 and 16 July 1962.
- 69 PRO, PRO, CAB 134/2453, Galbraith, 'Rail passenger closure proposals: Ayr–Stranraer and Dumfries–Stranraer', 6 May 1964; Marples, 'Proposed closure of passenger rail services from Ayr and Dumfries to Stranraer', 7 July 1964; RRT minutes, 12 February 1964.
- 70 PRO, PREM 11/4596, Waters to Macmillan, 30 May 1963; Woodfield to Macmillan, 1 July 1963, with Macmillan's additions.
- 71 *The Times*, 30 March 1963, p. 6; 1 April 1963, p. 6; 1 May 1963, p. 12; PRO, CAB 134/2429, Macleod, 'Timing of closures', 15 October 1963; CAB 134/2453, MoT, 'List of current closure proposals', 18 August 1964.
- 72 PRO MT 124/742, note of meeting, 17 December 1963.
- 73 Henshaw, Great Railway Conspiracy, p. 133; Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73, p. 441; PRO, PREM 11/5166, Redmayne to Bligh, 17 May 1963; Bodleian Library, Conservative Archive, CRD 2/19/5, Conservative parliamentary transport committee minutes, 21 May 1963.
- 74 PRO, MT 124/664, Wansborough-Jones to Serpell, 21 June 1962.

- 190 Notes
- 75 Chesham, House of Lords, *Official Report*, 20 June 1963, cols 1478–9; PRO, CAB 134/2426, R(63), fourth meeting, 1 August 1963.
- 76 Letter from Sir David Serpell, 25 November 1998; Sir David Serpell, interview, 3 April 1995; PRO, CAB 134/2426, Carrington to Marples, 1 October 1963, appendix to Marples, 'Financial information for TUCCs', 3 October 1963.
- 77 PRO, MT 149/76, Price to Morris, 2 June 1966.
- 78 PRO, 124/1234; Stonham to Marples, 28 October 1963; Serpell to Padmore, 31 October 1963.
- 79 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 16 December 1963.
- 80 PRO, MT 124/725, Tyler to Davies, 9 October 1963; Haygreen to MoT, 2 January 1964; Baxter to Haygreen, 13 January 1964; Haygreen to Baxter, 23 January 1964; Baxter to Scott-Malden, 19 February 1964; cutting: *The Catholic Herald*, 22 November 1963, p. 5; BRB, *Reshaping*, p. 54.
- 81 PRO, T 224/1129, Bretherton to Vinter, 25 March 1964.
- 82 PRO, PREM 11/5166, Redmayne to Bligh, 29 October 1963; CAB 21/5920, Macleod to Marples, 4 September 1963; minutes of meeting between Marples, Macleod and officials, 12 September 1963; CAB 134/2429, Cabinet committee on reorganisation of railways sub-committee on passenger closures [hereafter R(C)], minutes, 2 August 1963.
- 83 PRO, CAB 21/5920, Forward to Lloyd, 8 November 1963.
- 84 PRO, CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963; CAB 134/1763, Fraser, 'Summary of position at end November 1964', 3 December 1964. Of 337 services and 65 individual stations proposed for closure in the *Beeching Report*, 261 service and 32 station proposals had been published by the end of October 1964, TUCCs had reported on 179 and 19 respectively and decisions had been reached on 138 services and 17 stations.
- 85 PRO, CAB 21/5920, minutes of meeting between Marples, Macleod and officials, 12 September 1963; Marples to Macleod and enclosed paper, 6 September 1963; PRO, CAB 134/2453, Marples, 'The timetable for passenger closure proposals', 12 December 1963.
- 86 PRO, PREM 11/5162, Marples to Bligh, 21 January 1964.
- 87 PRO, T 319/342, Littlewood to Vinter, 23 July 1963; CAB 134/2426, IDR Report, 18 July 1963.
- 88 PRO, CAB 21/5921, Boyd-Carpenter to Marples, 15 April 1964.
- 89 Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73, p. 442; PRO, CAB 134/2426, R minutes, 1 August 1963.
- 90 PRO, CAB 134/2426, R minutes, 30 May and 1 August 1963.
- 91 BRB, Reshaping, pp. 100-1.
- 92 PRO, PREM 11/5167, cutting: The Times, 4 March 1964.
- 93 PRO, CAB 21/5920, Macleod to Marples, 4 and 23 September 1963; Joseph to Marples, 2 August 1963; Forward, note, 15 October 1963; CAB 134/2429, Macleod, 'Timing of closures', 15 October 1963.
- 94 PRO, PREM 11/5166, Redmayne to Bligh, 29 October 1963 and Bligh's manuscript note, Douglas-Home, note 30 October 1963; PREM 11/4113, Trend to Douglas-Home, 1 November 1963; CAB 134/2452, RR minutes, 2 December 1963.
- 95 Gourvish, British Railways 1948-73, p. 440.
- 96 PRO, CAB 134/2452, RR minutes, 2 December 1963; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 16 December 1963 and 8 January 1964; Marples, 'The timetable for passenger closure proposals', 12 December 1963; Marples, 'Closure proposals affecting holiday resorts', 21 January 1964; CAB 128/38, Cabinet conclusions, 17 January 1964.
- 97 PRO, PREM 11/5078, Reid to Tebay, 24 December 1963.
- 98 The Times, 2 December 1963, p. 6; 13 December 1963, p. 14.
- 99 PRO, PREM 11/5167, George to Douglas-Home, 6 January 1964.

- 100 PRO, PREM 11/5167, Douglas-Home, note on Tebay to Reid, 30 January 1964; cutting: *The Scotsman*, 17 February 1964, 'Rail axe assurance by Noble'; Reid, 'Note of meeting between Scottish delegation and ministers on 27 January 1964'; PREM 11/5078, Nimmo (Scottish Council), 'Note of meeting between Scottish delegation and ministers'; Reid to Baird, 17 March 1964; Baird to Reid, 18 March 1964; PREM 11/5166, Douglas-Home to Marples, 3 December 1963; PREM 11/5078 cuttings: *Daily Express*, 18 December 1963, p. 1; *Ross-Shire Journal*, 10 January 1964, p. 5, letter from J. C. Ballantyne; Douglas-Home, HoC, *Official Report*, 6 February 1964, col. 1335.
- 101 PRO, PREM 11/5167, Reid to Tebay, 28 January 1964; Tebay to Reid, 17 February 1964; Reid to Douglas-Home, 18 February 1964; Baird to Tebay, 18 February 1964; Marples to Douglas-Home, 27 February 1964; Marples, 'Proposed closure of passenger rail services from Inverness to Kyle and from Inverness to Wick and Thurso', covered by Marples to Douglas-Home, 14 April 1964; Marples, HoC, *Official Report*, 16 April 1964, written answers, cols 108–10.
- 102 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 12 February and 13 July 1964; MoT, 'List of current closure proposals', 18 August 1964.
- 103 PRO, PREM 11/5167, Reid to Tebay, 28 January 1964; Blakenham to Douglas-Home, 12 May 1964; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 11 May 1964.
- 104 PRO, T 319/344, Noble to Marples, 2 September 1964; CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 7 September 1964.
- 105 CAB 134/2453, MoT, 'List of current closure proposals', 18 August 1964.
- 106 PRO, CAB 134/2453, Marples, 'Central Wales line', 5 February 1964; RRT minutes, 12 February and 11 May 1964.
- 107 PRO, MT 124/1211, Scullin to Ministry, 8 July 1967; Washer to Scullin, 17 July 1967.
- 108 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 11 May 1964; Gourvish, *British Railways* 1948-73, p. 443.
- 109 PRO, CAB 21/5921, Blakenham to Marples, 24 April 1964.
- 110 PRO, CAB 134/2453, RRT minutes, 9 June and 22 July 1964.
- 111 PRO, CAB 21/5919, Marples to Blakenham, 17 September 1964.
- 112 PRO, CAB 134/1763, Fraser, 'Summary of position at end November 1964', 3 December 1964; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'List of current passenger closure proposals', 13 December 1965.
- 113 Butler and King, British General Election of 1964, p. 223.
- 114 Buckingham Advertiser and North Bucks Free Press, 11 September 1964, p. 1; The Times, 17 October 1964, p. 6; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'List of current passenger closure proposals', 13 December 1965.
- 115 PRO, CAB 128/39, Cabinet conclusions, 22 October 1964; Labour Party, *The New Britain*, 1964, online, www.psr.keele.ac.uk/area/uk/man/lab64.htm (accessed 17 July 2004).
- 116 Whitby Gazette, 18 September 1964, pp. 1–2; 25 September 1964, pp. 1–2.
- 117 Carlisle Journal, 4 September 1964, p. 1; 11 September, 1964, pp. 1 and 4.
- 118 Carlisle Journal, 2 October 1964, p. 13; 9 October 1964, p. 9; The Times, 17 October 1964, p. 6.
- 119 Hull Daily Mail, 14 October 1964, p. 4; 15 October 1964, p. 1; The Times, 17 October 1964, p. 6.
- 120 Wellingborough News, 6 March 1964, p. 1; 8 May 1964, p. 1; Northamptonshire Advertiser, 23 October 1964, p. 13; The Times, 17 October 1964, p. 6.
- 121 Cornish Guardian, 24 September 1964, p. 5; Observer, 11 October 1964, p. 5; The Times, 17 October 1964, p. 6; 14 March 1966, p. 6.
- 122 The Times, 6 October 1964, p. 16; 15 October 1964, p. 6; Butler and King, British General Election of 1964, pp. 320–1; PRO, CAB 21/5920, Macleod, note, 26 September 1963.
- 123 The Times, 2 October 1964, p. 16; 17 October 1964, p. 6; Bury Times, 7 October

1964, p. 4; 14 October 1964, p. 16; PRO, CAB 134/2453, MoT, 'List of current closure proposals', 18 August 1964; CAB 134/1764, Cabinet committee on economic development, sub-committee on road and rail transport minutes, 18 January 1965.

- 124 Dereham and Fakenham Times, 2 October 1964, p. 1; 9 October 1964, pp. 1, 4, 11;
 23 October 1964, p. 4; North Norfolk News, 2 October 1964, p. 12; 9 October 1964, pp. 1, 22; The Times, 14 October 1964, p. 16; 17 October 1964, p. 6; 14 March 1966, p. 6.
- 125 Sunday Telegraph, 4 October 1964, p. 7; Carlisle Journal, 9 October 1964, transport special; Bury Times, 14 October 1964, p. 16.

7 White heat/red light

- T. Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73: A Business History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 415–25; National Archive, Public Record Office [hereafter PRO], AN 111/48, BRB minutes, 11 February 1965; T 319/839, cutting: Financial Times, 16 March 1967.
- 2 BRB, The Development of the Major Railway Trunk Routes, London: BRB, 1965.
- 3 P. Hennessy, *The Prime Minister The Office and its Holders Since 1945*, London: Penguin, 2000, p. 285.
- 4 Ibid., p. 287; Steven Fielding, "White heat" and white collars: the evolution of "Wilsonism" in R. Coopey, S. Fielding and N. Tiratsoo (eds), *The Wilson Governments* 1964–1970, London: Pinter, 1995, pp. 29–30.
- 5 Labour Party, The Future of British Transport a reprint of the speech made by the Rt Hon. Harold Wilson, M.P., Leader of the Opposition, during the debate in the House of Commons on April 30th, 1963, on the Beeching Railway Report, London: Labour Party, 1963.
- 6 Labour Party, *The New Britain*, 1964, online, www.psr.keele.ac.uk/area/uk/ man/lab64.htm (accessed 17 July 2004).
- 7 B. Castle, *Fighting All the Way*, London: Macmillan, 1993, p. 369; PRO, T 224/1239, Lee to Vinter, 30 September 1964; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'Work of the committee', 14 September 1965.
- 8 The Times, 19 July 1968, p. 1; PRO MT 97/1055, Foster to Brigstocke, 2 January 1969; Castle, Fighting All the Way, p. 372.
- 9 Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73, pp. 344–9; R. Crossman, The Diaries of A Cabinet Minister, Volume 1 – Minister of Housing 1964–66, London: Hamish Hamilton and Jonathan Cape, 1975, pp. 100–3, 14–15 December 1964; PRO, CAB 128/39 Cabinet conclusions, 15 June 1965; PREM 13/648, Trend to Wilson, 14 December 1964; CAB 134/1736, economic development committee minutes, 14 December 1964; MT 160/11, transport policy and research committee minutes, 26 February 1965.
- 10 PRO, PREM 13/1245, Fraser to Wilson, 2 November 1965; CAB 134/1765, Fraser, 'Planning for inland transport – a progress report', 22 July 1965; CAB 134/2549, Munby and Beesley, 'Economic issues of transport policies', 25 November 1965; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'Work of the committee', 14 September 1965; Roll, 'Restraint of urban traffic', 14 December 1965; CAB 134/3333, MoT, 'Road track costs', 17 January 1968; Vinter, 'Working party on transport policies (investment appraisal) – termination of the working party', 12 June 1968; MT 97/1055, Foster to Brigstocke, 2 January 1969.
- 11 PRO CAB 128/39, Cabinet conclusions, 15 June 1965.
- 12 PRO CAB 134/2549, Houghton, 'Plan for transport', 17 August 1965 and covering note, 27 August 1965; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'Work of the committee', 14 September 1965; MT 160/1, Scott to Custance, 27 September 1965.
- 13 B. Castle, The Castle Diaries 1964-76, London: Papermac, 1990, pp. 20-1, 15 June

1965; PRO PREM 13/1883, Greene to Wilson, 23 August 1965; 'Brief for Prime Minister's meeting with NUR, ASLEF and TSSA on 6 October 1965', 4 October 1965; minutes of a meeting between Wilson and representatives of the rail unions, 6 October 1965; PREM 13/1245, Derek Mitchell's comments on Wilson's copy of Balogh to Houghton, 21 September 1965; Trend to Wilson, 20 October 1965; Balogh to Wilson, 25 October 1965 and 2 November 1965; note of a meeting, 15 November 1965; Mitchell to Wyatt, 22 November 1965; CAB 134/2549, MoT, 'The major problems in transport and how they are being tackled', 22 November 1965.

- 14 PRO, MT 124/1230, Baxter to Hankey, 5 October 1964, Hankey to Baxter, 12 October 1964; CAB 128/39, Cabinet conclusions, 22 October 1964.
- 15 House of Commons [hereafter HoC], Official Report, 4 November 1964, cols 195–202; PRO, T 319/344, Vinter to Painter, 3 November 1964; cuttings, 5 November 1964: The Times, 'Prelude to a new deal' and 'Slow-down for Beeching rail closures'; Guardian, 'Minister puts brake on rail closures'; Financial Times, 'No major rail closures will be allowed'; PREM 13/647, Fraser to Wilson, 19 and 16 February 1965.
- 16 PRO MT 124/1455, closures working party minutes, 28 May 1964, filenote, 6 October 1964; undated paper, 'Carlisle-Hellifield'.
- 17 PRO, CAB 134/2453, annex to RRT minutes, 12 February 1964; RRT minutes, 6 and 9 June, 7 September 1964.
- 18 PRO, PREM 13/647, Fraser to Wilson, 21 October 1964 and 3 December 1964; CAB 134/1763 Cabinet committee on economic development, sub-committee on road and rail transport [hereafter ED(RR)] minutes, 7 December 1964; MT 124/1258, Custance, briefing, 30 December 1965.
- 19 PRO, T 319/344, Scott-Malden to Vinter, 13 November 1964. The four cases Scott-Malden felt would have been rejected were Inverness–Wick, Manchester–Buxton, Middlesbrough–Whitby and Darlington–Bishop Auckland; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'List of current passenger closure proposals', 13 December 1965.
- 20 PRO, MT 124/1103, draft Fraser to Wilson, 20 January 1965.
- 21 PRO, PREM 13/647, Fraser to Wilson, 19 February 1965; Houghton to Wilson, 18 February 1965; Fraser to Wilson, 22 January 1965 and Wilson's additions; MT 124/1258, note of Minister's meeting with representatives of the railway unions, 30 October 1964; PRO, PREM 13/647, T 319/344, cuttings, 23 October 1964: *Financial Times*, 'Great Central closure plan'; *Guardian*, 'Rail closure would make 1,400 men redundant'; *The Times*, 'Plan to close 60 miles of Great Central line'; HoC, *Official Report*, 11 November 1964, cols 996–1006, written answers, cols 65–72.
- 22 PRO, CAB 134/1764 ED(RR) minutes, 15 February 1965; Spearman, HoC, Official Report, 9 February 1965, cols 210–11; Whitby Gazette, 18 September 1964, pp. 1–2, 25 September, pp. 1–2, 23 October, p. 1, 6 November, p. 1, 13 November, p. 1, 20 November, p. 1, 27 November, p. 1, 11 December 1964, p. 1.
- 23 PRO, PREM 13/647, Woodfield to Lawman, 11 February 1965; Wilson note on ED(RR) minutes, 15 February 1965; Reid to Lawman, 17 February and 1 March 1965; Fraser to Wilson, 26 February 1965 with Wilson's comments; CAB 128/39, Cabinet conclusions, 11 March 1965; T 224/1239 meeting of AT and PE division officials, 18 March 1965; Fraser, HoC, *Official Report*, 31 March 1965, cols 1650–5.
- 24 PRO, CAB 134/1765, Cabinet committee on economic development, sub committee on transport polices minutes, 2 August 1965; MT 124/1224, note of meeting 16 February 1966; note of meeting between the Minister of Transport and Chairmen of Regional Economic Councils, 19 May 1966; CAB 134/2762, Stewart, 'Regional economic planning councils', 14 February 1967.
- 25 PRO, T 319/344, Lee to Macdonald, 26 October 1964; T 319/347, Macdonald to Hunt, 24 August 1965.
- 26 PRO, T 319/345, Macdonald to Lee, 12 February 1965.

- 194 Notes
- 27 PRO, PREM 11/4548, Marples to Macmillan, 19 February 1963; MT 124/1258, draft, Minister to Noel-Baker, covered by Custance to Minister, 29 December 1965.
- 28 PRO, PREM 13/647, Fraser to Wilson, 26 February 1965 with Wilson's comments; PRO, T 319/344; Isaac to Lee, 23 December 1964; Macdonald to Lee, 30 December 1964; T319/345, Callaghan to Fraser, 7 January 1965; CAB 134/1764 ED(RR) minutes, 18 January, 1 and 15 February 1965.
- 29 PRO, PREM 13/647, Lee to Wilson, 10 March 1965; Trend to Wilson, 10 March 1965; T 319/346; Roll to Armstrong, 10 March 1965; Lee to Macdonald, 3 March 1965.
- 30 PRO, T 319/344; Whitemore, note, 21 September 1964; Vinter to Lee, 26 October 1964; Lee to Pliatzky, 26 October 1964, Vinter to Painter, 3 November 1964, Mac-Dermot to Fraser, 3 November 1964; T 319/345; Lee to Vinter, 25 January 1965; MT 124/928, brief for meeting with BRB, 7 April 1965.
- 31 PRO, T 319/345, Macdonald to Lee, 4 December 1964; MacDonald, brief on Manchester–Bury, 15 January 1965; Whitmore, brief on Bradford and Halifax lines, 15 January 1965; Callaghan to Fraser, 7 January 1965; Lee to Vinter, 25 January 1965; Vinter to Lee, 28 January 1965; T 319/346, Hunt to Lee, 9 March 1965; PREM 13/647, Callaghan to Wilson, 5 March 1965; PREM 13/1883, Callaghan to Fraser, 16 November 1965; T 319/347, Lee to Hunt, 24 March 1965; Hunt to Isaacs, 24 March 1965; Hunt to Custance, 26 March 1965; Hunt to Vinter, 17 December 1965; meeting between Chief Secretary, Minister of Transport and officials, 21 December 1965; Crossman, *Diaries*, p. 161, 18 February 1965.
- 32 PRO, T 319/346, Macdonald to Lee, 25 February 1965.
- 33 PRO, T 319/345, Houghton to Fraser, 13 January 1965; Vinter to Lee, 28 January 1965; Philip Noel-Baker, MP, quoted in Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73*, p. 445.
- 34 Castle, Diaries, p. 39, 21 December 1965.
- 35 PRO, PREM 13/647, Fraser to Wilson, 19 February 1965.
- 36 P. Bagwell and P. Lyth, *Transport in Britain: From Canal Lock to Gridlock* 1750–2000, London: Hambledon and London, 2002, p. 216; Quinn, HoC (Westminster Hall), *Official Report*, 11 January 2005, cols 1–2WH.
- 37 D. Henshaw, The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991, p. 186; PRO, MT 97/1055, Foster to Brigstocke, 2 January 1969.
- 38 B. Castle, *The Castle Diaries 1964–76*, London: Papermac, 1990, pp. 41–3; PRO, MT 124/699, cutting: *Daily Telegraph*, 27 June 1965.
- 39 PRO, T 319/350, Bretherton to Mills, 30 April 1964, covering 'Public transport in conurbations', 30 April 1964. For evidence of the work on which Castle's proposals for the NFC and quantity licensing drew, see PRO, CAB 128/39, Cabinet conclusions, 15 June 1965; CAB 134/1766, Fraser, 'Work of the committee', 14 September 1965; MT 160/5, Minutes of a meeting on the co-ordination of freight transport, 15 October 1965; CAB 134/2549, MoT, 'Co-ordination of inter-urban freight transport', 25 November 1965; CAB 134/1765, sub-committee on transport policies, minutes, 16 December 1965.
- 40 PRO, CAB 134/1766, Roll, 'Restraint of urban traffic', 14 December 1965.
- 41 Gourvish, British Railways 1948-73, pp. 507-13, appendix B, Table 1, p. 595.
- 42 PRO, PREM 13/2995, Castle to Wilson, 21 June 1967; Castle, 'The road programme', June 1967; CAB 128/42, Cabinet conclusions, 12 July 1967; CAB 134/2707; economic development committee minutes, 22 June 1966.
- 43 PRO, PREM 13/1278, note of meeting with NUR, 11 February 1966, 'Brief for PM's meeting on railways', 10 March 1966; MT 160/8, minutes of a meeting, 21 February 1966; Castle, *Diaries*, p. 39, 21 December 1965, pp. 54–7, 11–25 February 1966; Castle, *Fighting All The Way*, p. 389.
- 44 Gourvish, British Railways 1948-73, pp. 351-81.
- 45 PRO, MT 160/5, minutes of a meeting on the coordination of freight transport, 15

October 1965; CAB 134/2549, MoT, 'Co-ordination of inter-urban freight transport', 25 November 1965; MT 160/8, Castle to Padmore, 25 April 1966; CAB 128/42, Cabinet conclusions, 11 and 12 July 1967; PREM 13/1877, Trend to Wilson, 10 July 1967; MT 97/1055, MoT note, 'The statistical basis for quantity licensing', 26 July 1968; Foster to Brigstocke, 2 January 1969; 'Quantity licensing – submission to the Minister', 14 November 1969; MT 160/122, Gunn, note of 21 March 1968; Castle, *Diaries*, pp. 138–9, 13 July 1967; pp. 170–1, footnote.

- 46 PRO T 319/1129; Boyd-Carpenter to Clarke, 19 February 1963; Clarke to Couzens, 22 February 1963; Vinter to Scott-Malden, 2 April 1963; MoT, draft 'Subsidies to the Railway Board', 16 April 1963; Littlewood to Petch, 7 May 1963.
- 47 PRO, T 319/1129, Macdonald to Littlewood, 3 July 1963; Littlewood to Macdonald, 31 October 1963; minutes of interdepartmental meeting, 30 October 1963.
- 48 PRO, T 319/358; Hunt to Vinter, 28 February 1966; Vinter to Petch, 3 March 1966; Petch to Bretherton, 4 March 1966.
- 49 PRO, MT 124/1224, minutes of meeting between MoT, DEA and Treasury officials, 21 April 1966; T 224/1239, minutes of AT/PE divisions meeting, 3 May 1966; T 319/358, Hunt to Bretherton, 14 March 1966.
- 50 PRO, T 319/358, Hunt to Vinter, 17 February 1966; T 319/682, Hunt to Vinter, 17 May 1967 and Vinter's comments; Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73*, p. 394.
- 51 Castle, Diaries, p. 187, 19 February 1968; Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73, p. 457; C. Foster, 'Michael Beesley and cost benefit analysis', Journal of Transport Economics and Policy, 35 (1), 2001, p. 20.
- 52 Gourvish, British Railways 1948-73, p. 453.
- 53 PRO, MT 149/163, Mancini to Bradbury, 24 March 1972; Bradbury to Price, 12 June 1972; Peyton to Mudd, 20 June 1972.
- 54 PRO, CAB 134/2766, Marsh, 'Unremunerative railway passenger services', 17 September 1968; MT 124/1364, RB Division, 'Grants for unremunerative rail passenger services', 14 June 1970; RB Division, 'Grants unremunerative rail passenger services', 12 November 1970.
- 55 PRO, T 319/839, cutting: Financial Times, 16 March 1967.
- 56 Gourvish, *British Railways 1948–73*, pp. 424–5; Castle, *Diaries*, p. 51, 31 January–4 February 1966; PRO, MT 124/1224 minutes of meeting between BRB and MoT at 222 Marylebone Rd, 16 February 1965.
- 57 PRO, MT 124/1223, Baxter to Scott-Malden, 22 November 1965.
- 58 PRO, MT 124/1224, draft Scott-Malden to Margetts, 16 March 1966 and attached list; 'Future shape of the railway system – implications of the 11,000 mile system proposed by the Railways Board – Passenger Services', undated; 'meeting with BRB on 28 April – brief for Mr Scott-Malden', 1966.
- 59 PRO, MT 124/1224, Castle to Raymond, 16 June 1966; MT 124/718, working party on passenger closures minutes, 7 January 1965; MoT brief for working party meeting, CEGB to Fogarty, 25 February 1964; O'Driscoll to Davies, 26 May 1964.
- 60 PRO, T 319/358, Hunt to Vinter, 17 February 1966; T 319/839, Scott-Malden to Hunt, 2 December 1966; MT 124/1224, 'meeting with BRB on 28 April: brief for Mr Scott-Malden', 1966; MT 124/1225, 'brief for Minister's meeting with Regional EPC Chairmen', 3 November 1966; minutes of MoT/BRB meeting, 4 January 1967. The three cases were Exeter–Exmouth, Par–Newquay and Ashford–Hastings.
- 61 PRO, MT 124/1173, Bailey to Scott-Malden, 21 July 1966; MoT press release, 20 September 1966.
- 62 Gourvish, British Railways 1948-73, p. 446.
- 63 PRO, T 319/839, Hughes to Castle, 29 November 1966; MT 124/1224; draft Scott-Malden to Margetts, 16 March 1966 and attached list; MT 124/1225, minutes of MoT/BRB meeting, 4 January 1967.
- 64 Castle, HoC, Official Report, 15 March 1967, cols 403-4.
- 65 PRO, MT 124/1255, Baxter to Scott-Malden, 8 September 1966.

- 196 Notes
- 66 PRO, T 319/358, Hunt to Vinter, 17 February 1966; MT 124/1224, Brown to Castle, 16 May 1966; T 319/839; Stewart to Castle, 21 December 1966; Lee to Hunt/Vinter, 11 January 1967; Castle to Callaghan, 6 February 1967; Vinter to Baldwin, 19 December 1967; D. Munby and A. Watson, *Inland Transport Statistics, Great Britain, 1900 1970: Railways, Public Road Passenger Transport, London's Transport*, Oxford: Clarendon, 1978, Table A22, p. 118.
- 67 PRO, CAB 128/41, Cabinet conclusions, 30 October 1967.
- 68 PRO, MT 124/1224, Hunt to Scott-Malden, 12 August 1966.
- 69 PRO, MT 124/1224, press cuttings dated 15 March 1966.
- 70 R. Marsh, Off the Rails An Autobiography, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1978, pp. 122–5, 128; Castle, Diaries, pp. 209–215.
- 71 PRO, CAB 134/2765, environmental planning committee minutes, 8 April, 21 May 1968; PREM 13/2431, Ross to Wilson, 23 May 1968; Marsh to Wilson, undated; Scottish Office draft paper for parliamentary committee 'Scottish affairs', 12 June 1968; H. White, *Forgotten Railways*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986, p. 178.
- 72 PRO, CAB 134/2765, Cabinet committee on environmental planning minutes, 21 May 1968; PREM 13/2431, Thomas to Wilson, 25 July and 12 August 1968; PREM 13/2996; Marsh to Thomas, 3 June and 10 July 1969; Thomas to Marsh, 27 June and 23 July 1969; Thomas to Wilson, 28 July 1969; White to Wilson, 30 July 1969; CAB 134/3209, Cabinet committee on economic policy, minutes, 31 July 1969.
- 73 PRO, MT 124/718, Beeton to Baxter, 11 May 1968; MT 124/1339, Maw to Stephens, 16 May 1969; MT 124/1340, 'Peterborough–Spalding passenger service', undated, 1970; White, *Forgotten Railways*, p. 108.
- 74 PRO, MT 124/1364, Rosenfeld to Downey, 24 July 1971.
- 75 Hennessy, *Prime Minister*, pp. 333–5; D. Childs, *Britain since 1945 A Political History*, London: Routledge, 1992 (third edition), pp. 220–1.
- 76 PRO, T 319/1779, Cutting: *Financial Times*, 7 October 1971, 'Marsh stresses rail closure policy'.
- 77 PRO, MT 97/1055, 'Discussion of the future role of the British Railways Board in the provision of freight and passenger transport', 8 April 1970; Lazarus to Beagley/Banister, 1 May 1970.
- 78 PRO, CAB 128/47, Cabinet conclusions, 28 and 29 September 1970; Peyton, HoC, *Official Report*, written answers, 18 January 1972, col. 161.
- 79 PRO, MT 97/1055, Moore to Scott Malden, 13 November 1970; Scott Malden to Peyton, 31 December 1970; MT 124/1364, Rosenfeld to Downey, 9 and 24 February 1971; CAB 134/3379, Walker and Macmillan, 'Review of grants for unremunerative rail services', 23 July 1971.
- 80 PRO, T 319/1779, Campbell to Peyton, 28 September 1971. He offered Glasgow-Shotts-Edinburgh, Johnstone-Kilmacolm and the Montrose-Dundee-Perth local service; Peeler to Clement, 9 September 1971; Peyton to Barber, 2 August 1971; Barber to Peyton, 4 August 1971.
- 81 PRO, T319/1779, Peyton to Macmillan, 10 November 1971, Thomas to Peyton, 23 November 1971; cuttings: *Sunday Times*, 22 August 1971, 'Battle to keep rail subsidies'; *Observer*, 7 November 1971, 'Many branch lines safe from the axe'.
- 82 PRO, T319/1779, Lazarus to Peeler, 14 September 1971.
- 83 PRO, T319/1779, Peyton, draft paper, 'Railway closures and regional development policy', September 1971; Peyton to Macmillan, 10 November 1971; CAB 134/3379, Walker and Macmillan, 'Review of grants for unremunerative rail services', 23 July 1971.
- 84 PRO, T 319/1779, Peyton to Macmillan, 10 November and 20 December 1971; Macmillan to Peyton, 24 November 1971; Peeler to Elliott-Binns, 26 November 1971; Unwin to Lazarus, 18 January 1971; Slater to Rosenfeld, 23 February 1972.
- 85 PRO, T 319/2115, DoE, 'Railway policy review report by a group of officials', June 1972.

- 86 PRO, T 319/1773, DoE and BRB, 'Financial effects of radical contraction of the railway service network', October 1973.
- 87 The Times, 15 December 1975, p. 12.
- 88 PRO, CAB 134/3598, economic policy committee minutes, 1 November 1973; T. Gourvish, *British Railways 1974–97: From Integration to Privatisation*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002, p. 15.
- 89 PRO, T 319/2115, DoE, 'Railway policy review report by a group of officials', June 1972.
- 90 PRO, T 319/1771, Bowman to Elliott-Binns, 23 October 1973, original emphasis.
- 91 Marsh, *Off the Rails*, pp. 167–70; *The Times*, 9 October 1972, pp. 1–2; PRO, T 319/1760, Wood to Elliott-Binns, 11 December 1972.
- 92 The Times, 9 October 1972, p. 1; 12 October 1972, p. 5; 11 June 1973, p. 15, letter from Blomfield.
- 93 PRO, T 319/1760, Henley to Pliatzky, 10 October 1972.
- 94 The Times, 9 October 1972, p. 1; 25 October 1972, p. 6.
- 95 PRO, T 319/1761, Elliott-Binns to Slater, 11 January 1973; DoE discussion paper, 12 January 1973.
- 96 PRO, T 319/2113, Elliott-Binns to Slater, 31 January 1974; PRO, T 319/2115, DoE, 'Railway policy review – report by a group of officials', June 1972.
- 97 The Times, 5 July 1973, p. 8; Peyton, HoC, Official Report, 28 November 1973, cols 397–407; Speed, HoC, Official Report, 2 November 1973, col. 582; PRO, CAB 134/3598, economic policy committee minutes, 1 November 1973; T 319/2113, Harrop to Pliatzky, 15 February 1974; PREM 15/2228, Peyton to Boardman, 17 January 1974.
- 98 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 11-13.
- 99 PRO, T 319/2112, Howard to Pliatzky, 7 January 1974; Eccles, comment on Elliott-Binns to Slater, 16 January 1974.
- 100 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, p. 62, Appendix A, p. 455.
- 101 PRO, T 319/2114, draft Cabinet paper for Chief Secretary, May 1974.
- 102 P. Bagwell, 'The sad state of British railways the rise and fall of Railtrack 1992–2002', *Journal of Transport History*, 25 (2), 2004, p. 120, figure 2.
- 103 G. Jones and M. Barnes, Britain on Borrowed Time (1967) quoted in M. Weiner, English Culture and the Decline of the Industrial Spirit, 1850–1980, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981, p. 163.

8 The management of decline?

- 1 T. Gourvish, British Railways 1974–97: From Integration to Privatisation, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002, pp. 169–74.
- 2 Sir David Serpell, interview.
- 3 Gourvish, British Railways 1974–97, pp. 178–82; Philip Bagwell, End of the Line? The Fate of the Railways Under Thatcher, London: Verso, 1984, pp. 121–41; D. Henshaw, The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991, p. 222.
- 4 Quoted in Bagwell, End of the Line? p. 125.
- 5 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 62-3, 201-2 and Appendix J.2, pp. 502-3.
- 6 Ibid., pp. 199–201; J. Towler, *The Battle for the Settle and Carlisle*, Sheffield: Platform Five, 1990, pp. 142, 176 and 251.
- 7 C. Foster, foreword to R. Freeman and J. Shaw (eds), *All Change: British Railway Privatisation*, London: McGraw Hill, 2000, p. xiii; Roger Salmon, quoted in C. Wolmar, *Broken Rails How Privatisation Wrecked Britain's Railways*, London: Aurum, 2001, pp. 71–2.
- 8 *Observer*, 3 October 2004, 'Axe threatens local lines in rail reshuffle', online, observer.guardian.co.uk/uk_news/story/0,,1318468,00.html (accessed 2 July 2005).

198 Notes

- 9 Anthony Smith, national director of the Rail Passengers Council, quoted in ibid.; *Timesonline*, 1 March 2005, 'Fears grow for rail services as axe hangs over local stations', online, www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,2-1505665,00.html; 11 February 2005, 'Line closures set to follow axing of 150 passenger watchdog jobs', online, www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,2-1479375,00.html (accessed 4 March 2005); C. Wolmar, 'The spectre of cuts by stealth is stalking the railway', *Rail*, 22 June–5 July 2005, pp. 28–9; National Archive, Public Record Office [hereafter PRO], CAB 134/2453, accidental enclosure: receipt for return of file to PRO from Cabinet Office, 26 October 2004.
- 10 The Commission for Integrated Transport has called on the Government to examine a 200mph national rail infrastructure. *Guardian*, 9 February 2004, 'Call for 200mph railways', online, www.guardian.co.uk/guardianpolitics/story/0,,1143934,00.html (accessed 2 July 2005).
- 11 H. White, Forgotten Railways, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986, p. 26.
- 12 R. Sykes, A. Austin, M. Fuller, T. Kinoshita and A. Shrimpton, 'Steam attraction: railways in Britain's national heritage', *Journal of Transport History*, 18 (2), 1997, pp. 158–9. The passenger figure relates to 65 standard gauge railways and 63 'miniature steam centres and museums'.
- 13 Hornby PLC, www.hornbyrailways.com/pages/prod_det.aspx?id=6093 (accessed 2 July 2005).
- 14 I. Marchant, Parallel Lines or Journeys on the Railway of Dreams, London: Bloomsbury, 2003 (paperback edition 2004), p. 307.
- 15 Railway Ramblers, online, www.railwayramblers.org.uk/history/history.htm (accessed 3 May 2005).
- 16 H. Casserley, Service Suspended A Pictorial Souvenir of Services that are No Longer in Operation, London: Ian Allan, 1952.
- 17 J. Vinter, Railway Walks: GWR and SR, Stroud: Alan Sutton, 1990, pp. xv-xvi.
- 18 White, Forgotten Railways, pp. 10-12.
- 19 Vinter, Railway Walks, p. xv.
- 20 PRO, T 319/1771, Byatt, brief, 18 October 1973; Harrop, brief, 20 October 1973.
- 21 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 15, 84-7.
- 22 R. Adley, *Out of Steam: The Beeching Years in Hindsight*, Wellingborough: Patrick Stephens, 1990, p. 45.
- 23 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, p. 15.
- 24 Private information.
- 25 Adley, *Out of Steam*, Wellingborough: Patrick Stephens, 1990, p. 13; R. Hardy, *Beeching Champion of the Railway*, London: Ian Allen, 1989, pp. 96, 101.
- 26 R. Pryke and M. Dodgson, The Rail Problem, London: Martin Robertson, 1975, p. 274.
- 27 Gourvish, British Railways 1974–97, pp. 17, 67, 70, 83.
- 28 T. Gourvish, British Railways 1948–73: A Business History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986, pp. 474–82.
- 29 Gourvish, British Railways 1974–97, pp. 21–2, 30, 48–9, 56–9; R. Marsh, Off the Rails: An Autobiography, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1978, pp. 188–9; Marsh quoted in Adley, Out of Steam, pp. 43, 46–7; Pryke and Dodgson, The Rail Problem, pp. 194–7.
- 30 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 27, 47-52.
- 31 Ibid., pp. 90-1.
- 32 Sir Peter Parker, For Starters: The Business of Life, London: Jonathan Cape, 1989, p. 272.
- 33 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 23, 100-1, 107-10, 154-5.
- 34 Ibid., pp. 86–93.
- 35 Ibid., p. 16.
- 36 Ibid., pp. 150, 230, 262.
- 37 Ibid., pp. 158-62, 171.

- 38 Ibid., pp. 146-50, 262-70, 302-14.
- 39 I. Lapsley, 'The influence of financial measures on UK railway policy', *Journal of Public Policy*, 3 (3), 1983, pp. 289, 295–6.
- 40 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 3-4.
- 41 N. Harris and E. Godward, *The Privatisation of British Rail*, London: Railway Consultancy Press, 1997, p. 55.
- 42 Foster, foreword in Freeman and Shaw, All Change, p. xi; John Major, quoted in A. Murray, Off the Rails: Britain's Great Rail Crisis – Causes, Consequences and Cure, London: Verso, 2001, p. 18.
- 43 Murray, Off the Rails, p. 15.
- 44 C. Foster, 'Michael Beesley and cost benefit analysis', Journal of Transport Economics and Policy, 35 (1), 2001, pp. 3–30.
- 45 PRO T 319/1760; FTII division, 'Rail policy review possible means of subsidy', 26 October 1972; Murray, *Off the Rails*, pp. 13–14; Foster, foreword to Freeman and Shaw, *All Change*, p. xi.
- 46 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, pp. 444, 450; Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 2-3.
- 47 Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 1–18, 155–65, 231–8. DfT, The Future of Rail, London: HMSO, 2005; DfT, The Railways Act 2005 – Summary, London HMSO, 2005. Guardian, 15 October 2005, 'Railtrack shareholders lose court battle for compensation', online www.guardian.co.uk/transport/Story/0,2763,1592837,00.html (accessed 15 October 2005).
- 48 C. Foster, 'Transport policy', in A. Seldon (ed.), *The Blair Effect: the Blair Govern*ment 1997–2001, London: Little Brown, 2001, pp. 271–85.
- 49 Independent, 9 June 2005, p. 35.
- 50 Murray, Off the Rails, pp. 15, 20; Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 97, 156.
- 51 J. Shaw, 'Designing a method of rail privatisation', in Freeman and Shaw, All Change, pp. 21–7; Wolmar, Broken Rails, p. 66.
- 52 Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 62-3.
- 53 Ibid., pp. 73-4, 107-17.
- 54 B. Castle, *The Castle Diaries 1964–76*, London: Papermac, 1990, p. 60, 19 April 1966; DfT, *Future of Rail*, p. 5.
- 55 Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 230-8.
- 56 Ibid., pp. 113, 208, 238-41.
- 57 J. Meek, 'The £10bn rail crash', *Guardian*, 1 April 2004, online www.guardian.co.uk/ g2/story/0,,1183118,00.html, www.guardian.co.uk/g2/story/0,3604,1183226,00.html (accessed 20 June 2005).
- 58 Harris and Godward, Privatisation, p. 113.
- 59 Gourvish, British Railways 1974-97, p. 443.
- 60 Ibid., pp. 313, 354-5.
- 61 R. Bowker, 'Who pays for the railways', Rail, 8-21 June 2005, pp. 50-3.
- 62 'Public will pay up to £50m to ensure new trains stand idle', *Guardian*, 7 February 2003, online, www.guardian.co.uk/business/story/0,,890763,00.html (accessed 29 May 2003); Wolmar, *Broken Rails*, pp. 211–12; Gourvish, *British Railways 1974–97*, pp. 354–5.
- 63 P. Bagwell, 'The sad state of British railways the rise and fall of Railtrack 1992–2002', *Journal of Transport History*, 25 (2), 2004, pp. 120–1; Wolmar, *Broken Rails*, pp. 225–6.
- 64 Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 241-2.
- 65 Foster, foreword to Freeman and Shaw, All Change, p. xii.
- 66 C. Wolmar and R. Ford, 'Selling the passenger railway', in Freeman and Shaw, *All Change*, pp. 161, 173; C. Charlton, 'The structure of the new railway', in Freeman and Shaw, *All Change*, Table 2.4, p. 45; Wolmar, *Broken Rails*, p. 200.
- 67 Harris and Godward, Privatisation, p. 145.
- 68 Wolmar and Ford, 'Selling the passenger railway', in Freeman and Shaw, *All Change*, pp. 161–2.

- 69 Bagwell, 'The sad state of British railways', p. 121.
- 70 Wolmar, Broken Rails, pp. 1-10.
- 71 DoT, The Future of Rail, p. 5.
- 72 Murray, *Off the Rails*, in particular, pp. 145–7, 184 and Ken Livingstone, quoted on jacket.
- 73 Marchant, Parallel Lines, p. 306.

9 Conclusion

- 1 K. Middlemas, *Power, Competition and the State. Volume Two: Threats to the Post-War Settlement 1961–74*, London: Macmillan, 1990, p. 30.
- 2 Beeching interview, The Times, 15 December 1975, p. 12.
- 3 H. White, Forgotten Railways, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986, pp. 87, 128.
- 4 Examples include: PRO, CAB 129/47, Barnes, 'Long-term financial prospects of the British Transport Commission', 10 September 1951; R. Marsh, *Off the Rails: An Autobiography*, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1978, p. 188; C. Wolmar, 'The spectre of cuts by stealth is stalking the railway', *Rail*, 22 June–5 July 2005, p. 29.
- 5 Sir Leo Pliatzky, interview.
- 6 Middlemas, Power, Competition and the State, p. 28.
- 7 PRO, CAB 134/1766, Roll, 'Restraint of urban traffic', 14 December 1965; CAB 134/3333, MoT, 'Road track costs', 17 January 1968.
- 8 Quoted in P. Hennessy, *Whitehall*, London: Secker and Warburg, 1989 (Fontana edition 1990), p. 155.
- 9 J. Tomlinson, 'Conservative modernisation, 1960–64: too little too late?', *Contemporary British History*, 11 (3), 1997, pp. 18–38.
- 10 Marples, House of Commons, Official Report, 29 April 1963, col. 742.
- 11 M. Weiner, *English Culture and the Decline of the Industrial Spirit, 1850–1980*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981, pp. 162–6.
- 12 James Meek, 'The £10bn rail crash', *Guardian*, 1 April 2004, online www.guardian. co.uk/g2/story/0,,1183118,00.html, www.guardian.co.uk/g2/story/0,3604,1183226,00. html (accessed 20 June 2005).
- 13 P. Bagwell, 'The sad state of British railways the rise and fall of Railtrack 1992–2002', *Journal of Transport History*, 25 (2), 2004.
- 14 *Rail*, 22 June–5 July 2005, p. 13, "Sleepers" vital to south west'; p. 22, 'The future of Britain's sleepers'.
- 15 R. Sykes, A. Austin, M. Fuller, T. Kinoshita and A. Shrimpton, 'Steam attraction: railways in Britain's national heritage', *Journal of Transport History*, 18 (2), 1997, p. 159; D. Henshaw, *The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s*, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991, pp. 202–3.
- 16 J. Tomlinson, *The Politics of Decline: Understanding Post-war Britain*, Harlow: Longman, 2000 (2001 edition), pp. 114–15; J. Vinter, *Railway Walks: GWR and SR*, Stroud: Alan Sutton, 1990; pp. xv–xvi; R. Hewison, *The Heritage Industry: Britain in a Climate of Decline*, London: Methuen, 1987, p. 38.
- 17 Conversation with Sarah Keenan, Cirencester resident, born in the 1970s, 9 July 1998. Kemble, formerly the junction for Cirencester, is now the town's railhead.
- 18 The Times, 19 August 1953, p. 7; M. Hillman and A. Whalley, The Social Consequences of Railway Closures, London: Policy Studies Institute, 1980, p. 115.
- 19 Marples, House of Commons, Official Report, 29 April 1963, col. 741.
- 20 Glover, letters to author, 22 March 2000, 1 August 2005.
- 21 Sykes, Austin, Fuller, Kinoshita and Shrimpton, 'Steam attraction', *Journal of Transport History*, 18 (2), 1997, p. 161.
- 22 I. Marchant, *Parallel Lines or Journeys on the Railway of Dreams*, London: Bloomsbury, 2003 (paperback edition 2004), p. 135.
- 23 Observer, 3 October 2004, 'Axe threatens local lines in rail reshuffle', online,

observer.guardian.co.uk/uk_news/story/0,,1318468,00.html (accessed 2 July 2005); *Timesonline*, 1 March 2005, 'Fears grow for rail services as axe hangs over local stations', online, www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,2-1505665,00.html (accessed 4 March 2005).

24 C. Wolmar, *Broken Rails – How Privatisation Wrecked Britain's Railways*, London: Aurum, 2001, pp. 62–3, 191–2.

Bibliography

Unpublished sources

Archives

Conservative Party Archive, Bodleian Library, Oxford. Harold Macmillan, Diaries, Bodleian Library, Oxford. Harold Watkinson, Private Papers, Ashridge Management College, Berkhamsted. National Archive, Public Record Office, Kew:

Prime Minister's Office:

	PREM 5:	Appointments
	PREM 11:	Prime Minister's Office 1951–64
	PREM 13:	Prime Minister's Office 1964–70
Cabinet Office:		
	CAB 21:	Cabinet Office
	CAB 128:	Cabinet conclusions
	CAB 129:	Cabinet papers
	CAB 130:	Ad hoc Cabinet committees
	CAB 134:	Cabinet committees
Ministry of Transport:		
	MT 45:	Establishment and Organisation Division
	MT 47:	Finance Division
	MT 56:	Rates and Charges Division
	MT 62:	Private Office Papers
	MT 65:	Statistics Division
	MT 74:	Transport Act 1947
	MT 96:	General Division
	MT 97:	Road Transport Division
	MT 100:	Highways 'N' Division
	MT 115:	Railways and Inland Waterways Division
	MT 124:	Railways A, B and C Divisions
	MT 132:	Finance, Transport and Shipping Division
	MT 149:	Directorate-General of Economic Planning

MT 160: Transport Policy General Division

Treasury:

T 224: Agriculture, Trade and Transport Division

- T 228: Trade and Industry Division
- T 229: Central Economic Planning Staff
- T 230: Economic Section
- T 234: Home and Overseas Planning Staff and Successors
- T 278: Papers of Various Senior Officials
- T 298: National Resources Division
- T 319: Public Enterprises Division

Treasury Historical Memoranda:

- T 267/7, Treasury Historical Memorandum Five: 'Government and Wages 1945–60', 1962.
- T 267/15, *Treasury Historical Memorandum Eleven:* 'The Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries, White Paper of April 1961', 1966.

Speech

Daniel, R., 'Railways and the three P's', speech to National Council on Inland Transport conference, 26 September 1969. Queen Mary University of London, library.

Interviews

- Sir James Dunnett (deputy secretary, Ministry of Transport and Civil Aviation, 1958–9 and Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Transport, 1959–62), 11 April 1995.
- Kenneth Glover (Statistics Division, Ministry of Transport [and Civil Aviation] 1948–61), 20 February 1997 and subsequent letters, 22 March 2000 and 1 August 2005.
- Lady Marples (widow of Lord Marples), 19 May 2003.
- Dame Alison Munro (assistant secretary, Railways and Inland Waterways Division, Ministry of Transport and Civil Aviation, 1954–8), 15 October 1996.
- Sir Leo Pliatzky (principal, Trade and Industry Division, Treasury, 1953–6), 22 July 1998.
- Sir David Serpell (deputy secretary, Ministry of Transport 1960–3), 3 April 1995 (and subsequent letters, 4 April 1995, 25 November 1998.
- William Sharp (private secretary to Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Transport 1950–3), telephone conversation, 13 December 1998.
- Sir Geoffrey Wardale (assistant secretary, Finance Division, Ministry of Transport, 1957–61), 24 April 1998.
- Lord Whitelaw (Member of Parliament for Penrith and the Border Division of Cumberland in 1963, and Parliamentary Secretary, Ministry of Labour, 1962–4), 23 March 1995.

Published sources

- Adley, R., *Out of Steam: The Beeching Years in Hindsight*, Wellingborough: Patrick Stephens, 1990.
- Allen, G., British Railways Today and Tomorrow, London: Ian Allen, 1962.

Bagwell, P., The Transport Revolution from 1770, London: Batsford, 1974.

— The Railwaymen: The History of the National Union of Railwaymen, Volume Two: The Beeching Era and After, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1982.
- End of the Line? The Fate of the Railways Under Thatcher, London: Verso, 1984.
- —— 'The sad state of British railways the rise and fall of Railtrack 1992–2002', *Journal of Transport History*, 25 (2), 2004.
- Bagwell, P. and Lyth, P., *Transport in Britain: From Canal Lock to Gridlock 1750–2000*, London: Hambledon and London, 2002.
- Barker, T. and Savage, C., *An Economic History of Transport*, London: Hutchinson, 1959 (third edition 1974).
- Bellwood, J. and Jenkinson, D., Gresley and Stanier, London: HMSO, 1986.
- Bonavia, M., The Four Great Railways, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1980.
- Booker, C., *The Neophiliacs: A Study of the Revolution in English Life in the Fifties and Sixties*, London: Collins, 1969.
- Bowker, R., 'Who pays for the railways', Rail, 8-21 June 2005.
- Boyd-Carpenter, J., Way of Life, London: Sidgwick and Jackson, 1980.
- Brittan, S., The Treasury Under the Tories, 1951-64, Harmondsworth: Penguin, 1964.
- BRB, The Reshaping of British Railways, London: HMSO, 1963.
- The Development of the Major Railway Trunk Routes, London: BRB, 1965.
- BTC, A Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways, London: BTC, 1955.
- Butler, D. and King, A., The British General Election of 1964, London: Macmillan, 1965.
- Butterfield, P., 'Branch lines, wayside stations and road competition', *Journal of Transport History*, 16 (2), September 1995, pp. 179–95.
- Cairneross, A. (ed.), The Robert Hall Diaries 1954-61, London: Unwin Hyman, 1991.
- Calvert, R., The Future of Britain's Railways, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1965.
- Carter, I., Railways and Culture in Britain The Epitome of Modernity, Manchester: Manchester University Press, 2001.
- Casserley, H., Service Suspended A Pictorial Souvenir of Services that are No Longer in Operation, London: Ian Allan, 1952.
- Castle, B., The Castle Diaries 1964-76, London: Papermac, 1990.
- Fighting All the Way, London: Macmillan, 1993.
- Childs, D., Britain Since 1945 A Political History, London: Routledge, 1992 (third edition).
- Clark, P., The Chichester and Midhurst Railway, Sheffield: Turntable, 1979.
- Clarke, R., Public Expenditure, Management and Control. The Development of the Public Expenditure Survey Committee (PESC), edited by Sir Alec Cairneross, London: Macmillan, 1978.
- Coopey, R., Fielding, S. and Tiratsoo, N. (eds), *The Wilson Governments 1964–1970*, London: Pinter, 1995.
- Council for the Protection of Rural England, *Where Motor-Car is Master How the Department of Transport Became Bewitched by Roads*, London: CPRE, 1992.
- Crossman, R., *The Diaries of a Cabinet Minister, Volume 1 Minister of Housing 1964–66*, London: Hamish Hamilton and Jonathan Cape, 1975.
- DfT, The Future of Rail, London: HMSO, 2004.
- DfT, The Railways Act 2005 Summary, London: HMSO, 2005.
- Donnelly, M., Sixties Britain, Harlow: Pearson, 2005.
- Dorey, P., The Conservative Party and the Trade Unions, London: Routledge, 1995.
- Dunnett, J., 'The civil service administrator and the expert', lecture to the Royal Institute of Public Administration, 10 April 1961; reprinted in *Public Administration*, 39 (3), pp. 223–37.
- Dunnett, P., The Decline of the British Motor Car Industry: The Effects of Government Policy, 1945–79, London: Croom Helm, 1980.

Fiennes, G., I Tried to Run a Railway, London: Ian Allan, 1967.

Finer, S., *Anonymous Empire: A Study of the Lobby in Great Britain*, London: Pall Mall, 1966 (first published 1958).

Foster, C., The Transport Problem, London: Blackie and Son, 1963.

- Report on a Social Cost/Benefit Study of the Manchester (Piccadilly)–Hadfield/ Glossop and Manchester (Piccadilly)–Marple/New Mills Suburban Railway Services: Part One, Main Report, London: BRB, London Midland Region, 1974.
- 'Michael Beesley and cost benefit analysis', *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, 35 (1), 2001, pp. 3–30.
- ----- 'Transport policy', in A. Seldon (ed.), *The Blair Effect: The Blair Government* 1997–2001, London: Little Brown, 2001, pp. 271–85.
- Freeman, R. and Shaw, J. (eds), *All Change: British Railway Privatisation*, London: McGraw Hill, 2000.
- Gibbins, E., Square Deal Denied, Alsager: Leisure Products, 1998.
- The Railway Closure Controversy, Alsager: Leisure Products, 2000.
- Gourvish, T., British Railways 1948–73: A Business History, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1986.
- British Railways 1974–97: From Integration to Privatisation, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002.
- Hamer, M., *Wheels Within Wheels A Study of the Road Lobby*, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1987.
- Hardy, R., Beeching Champion of the Railway, London: Ian Allen, 1989.
- Harris, N., Competition and the Corporate Society British Conservatives, the State and Industry, 1945–64; London: Methuen, 1964.
- Harris, N. and Godward, E., *The Privatisation of British Rail*, London: Railway Consultancy Press, 1997.
- Healy, J., Great Central Memories, London: Baton Transport, 1987.
- Heclo, H. and Wildavsky, A., *The Private Government of Public Money Community* and Policy Inside British Politics, London: Macmillan, 1974.
- Hennessy, P., Whitehall, London: Secker and Warburg, 1989 (Fontana edition 1990).
 The Prime Minister The Office and its Holders Since 1945, London: Penguin, 2000.
- Hennessy, P. and Welsh, D., 'Lords of all they surveyed? Churchill's ministerial overlords 1951–1953', *Parliamentary Affairs*, 51 (1), 1998, pp. 62–70.
- Henshaw, D., *The Great Railway Conspiracy: The Fall and Rise of Britain's Railways Since the 1950s*, Hawes: Leading Edge, 1991.
- Hewison, R., *The Heritage Industry: Britain in a Climate of Decline*, London: Methuen, 1987.
- Hillman, M. and Whalley, A., *The Social Consequences of Railway Closures*, London: Policy Studies Institute, 1980.
- Hoffman, J., *The Conservative Party in Opposition 1945–51*, London: MacGibbon and Key, 1964.
- House of Commons, Official Report, London: HMSO, 1945-2005.
- House of Commons Select Committee on Nationalised Industries, Report from the Select Committee on Nationalised Industries (together with the proceedings of the committee, minutes of evidence and appendices) – British Railways (Cmnd. 254), London: HMSO, 1960.
 - First Report from the Select Committee on Nationalised Industries Session 1976–77: The Role of British Rail in Public Transport Vol. 2, Minutes of Evidence, London: HMSO, 1977.

206 Bibliography

House of Lords, Official Report, London: HMSO, 1945-2005.

- Howe, M., 'The Transport Act, 1962, and the Consumers' Consultative Committees', *Public Administration*, 42 (1), 1964.
- Jenkinson, D., Rails in the Fells, Seaton: Peco, 1973.
- Joby, R., *Forgotten Railways: Volume Seven, East Anglia*, Newton Abbot: David St John Thomas, 1985 (first published Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1977).
- Jones, H. and Kandiah M. (eds), *The Myth of Consensus: New Views on British History* 1945–64, London: Macmillan, 1996.
- Jowett, A., Jowett's Railway Atlas of Great Britain and Ireland from Pre-Grouping to the Present Day, Wellingborough: Patrick Stevens, 1989.
- Joy, D., A Regional History of the Railways of Great Britain Volume 8: South and West Yorkshire (second, revised edition), Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1984.
- Kinder, R., Southern Railway Branch Lines in the Thirties, Tarrant Hinton: Oakwood Press, 1976.
- Labour Party, The Future of British Transport a reprint of the speech made by the Rt Hon. Harold Wilson, M.P., Leader of the Opposition, during the debate in the House of Commons on April 30th, 1963, on the Beeching Railway Report, London: Labour Party, 1963.
- *The New Britain*, 1964, online, www.psr.keele.ac.uk/area/uk/man/lab64.htm (accessed 17 July 2004).
- Lamb, R., The Macmillan Years The Emerging Truth, London: John Murray, 1995.
- Lapsley, I., 'The influence of financial measures on UK railway policy', *Journal of Public Policy*, 3 (3), 1983, pp. 289, 295–6.
- Macmillan, H., Pointing the Way, 1959-61, London, Macmillan, 1972.
- Marchant, I., Parallel Lines or Journeys on the Railway of Dreams, London: Bloomsbury, 2003 (paperback edition 2004).
- Marsh, R., Off the Rails: An Autobiography, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1978.
- Meek, J., 'The £10bn rail crash', *Guardian*, 1 April 2004, online www.guardian.co.uk/g2/story/0,,1183118,00.html, www.guardian.co.uk/g2/story/0,3604,1183226,00.html (accessed 20 June 2005).
- Middlemas, K., Power, Competition and the State. Volume One: Britain in Search of Balance 1940–61, London: Macmillan, 1986.
- —— Power, Competition and the State. Volume Two: Threats to the Post-War Settlement 1961–74, London: Macmillan, 1990.
- Mitchell, B., *International Historical Statistics Europe 1750–1993* (fourth edition), London: Macmillan, 1998.
- MoL, The Interim Report of a Court of Inquiry into a Dispute between the British Transport Commission and the National Union of Railwaymen, London: HMSO, 1955.

— The Final Report of a Court of Inquiry into a Dispute between the British Transport Commission and the National Union of Railwaymen, London: HMSO, 1955.

MoT, Transport Policy, London: HMSO, 1952.

—— Reorganisation of the Nationalised Transport Undertakings, London: HMSO, 1960.

MoT, Special Report from the Select Committee on Nationalised Industries (Observations of the British Transport Commission and of the Minister of Transport), London: HMSO, 1961; Sir David Serpell, interview.

— Traffic in Towns – A Study of the Long Term Problems of Traffic in Urban Areas, Reports of the Steering Group and Working Group Appointed by the Minister of Transport, London: HMSO, 1963.

MTCA, Proposals for the Railways, London: HMSO, 1956.

- Re-appraisal of the Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways, London: HMSO, 1959.
- Munby, D. and Watson, A., Inland Transport Statistics, Great Britain, 1900–1970: Railways, Public Road Passenger Transport, London's Transport, Oxford: Clarendon, 1978.
- Murray, A., *Off the Rails: Britain's Great Rail Crisis Causes, Consequences and Cure*, London: Verso, 2001.
- Parker, P., For Starters: The Business of Life, London: Jonathan Cape, 1989.
- Paxman, J., The English A Portrait of a People, London: Michael Joseph, 1998.
- Peden, G., The Treasury and British Public Policy 1906–1959, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- Pelling, H., Churchill's Peacetime Ministry, 1951-55, London: Macmillan, 1997, p. 76.
- Pliatzky, L., *Getting and Spending Public Expenditure, Employment and Inflation*, Oxford: Basil Blackwell, revised edition 1984.
- Political and Economic Planning, 'The cost of roads', Planning, 27 (452), 1961, pp. 111-37.
- Pryke, R. and Dodgson, M., The Rail Problem, London: Martin Robertson, 1975.
- Ramsden, J., The Making of Conservative Party Policy The Conservative Research Department Since 1929, London: Longman, 1980.
- A History of the Conservative Party: The Age of Churchill and Eden 1940–57, London: Longman, 1995.
- Richards, J. and Mackenzie, J., *The Railway Station: A Social History*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1986.
- Richardson, J., 'The administration of denationalization: the case of road haulage', *Public Administration*, 49 (4), winter 1971, pp. 385–402.
- Robbins, M., The Railway Age, London: Routledge and Kegan Paul, 1962.
- Roberts, A., *Eminent Churchillians*, London: Weidenfeld and Nicolson, 1994 (Phoenix edition 1995).
- Robson, W., *Nationalized Industry and Public Ownership*, London: George Allen and Unwin, 1960 (second edition 1962).
- Salveson, P., *Beeching in Reverse: The Case for a Programme of Line and Station Reopenings*, Huddersfield: Transport Research and Information Network, 2002.
- Sampson, A., Anatomy of Britain, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1962.
- Sargent, J., British Transport Policy, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1958.
- Savage, C., An Economic History of Transport, London: Hutchinson, 1959 (second edition 1966).
- Seldon, A., *Churchill's Indian Summer The Conservative Government 1951–55*, London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1981.
- Semmens, P., Speed on the East Coast Main Line A Century and a Half of Accelerated Services, Wellingborough, Patrick Stephens, 1990.
- Sharp, C., Transport Economics, London: Macmillan, 1973.
- Smith, D., *The Railway and its Passengers, A Social History*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1988.
- Smith, E., Better Use of Rail Ways Comments and Rejoinders, Reading: Reading University, 1978.
- Starkie, D., *The Motorway Age Road and Traffic Policies in Post-War Britain*, Oxford: Pergamon, 1982.
- Sykes, R., Austin, A., Fuller, M., Kinoshita, T. and Shrimpton, A., 'Steam attraction: railways in Britain's national heritage', *Journal of Transport History*, 18 (2), 1997, pp. 156–75.

Theakston, K., Leadership in Whitehall, London: Palgrave Macmillan, 1999.

Thomas, D., The Rural Transport Problem, London: Routledge, 1963.

- *The Country Railway*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1976 (Penguin edition 1979).
- West Country Railway History, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1960 (sixth edition 1988).
- Thomas, D. and Smith, S., *Summer Saturdays in the West*, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1973 (1983 edition).
- Thompson A. and Hunter, L., *The Nationalized Transport Industries*, London: Heinemann, 1973.
- Tolson, J., 'Too little too late a survey of British Railways diesel railbuses', *Railway Magazine*, January 1968, pp. 4–9.
- Tomlinson, J., 'Conservative modernisation, 1960–64: too little too late?', *Contemporary British History*, 11 (3), 1997, pp. 18–38.
- *The Politics of Decline: Understanding Post-war Britain*, Harlow: Longman, 2000 (2001 edition).
- Towler, J., The Battle for the Settle and Carlisle, Sheffield: Platform Five, 1990.
- Treasury, *Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries*, London: HMSO, 1961.
- Vinter, J., Railway Walks: GWR and SR, Stroud: Alan Sutton, 1990.
- Watkinson, H., *Turning Points A Record of Our Times*, Salisbury: Michael Russell, 1986.
- Weiner, M., English Culture and the Decline of the Industrial Spirit, 1850–1980, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1981.
- White, H., Forgotten Railways, Newton Abbot: David and Charles, 1986.
- Williamson, D., A Most Diplomatic General The Life of General Lord Robertson of Oakridge Bt GCB GBE KCMG KCVO DSO MC 1896–1974, London: Brassey's, 1996.
- Wolmar, C., Broken Rails How Privatisation Wrecked Britain's Railways, London: Aurum, 2001.

------ 'The spectre of cuts by stealth is stalking the railway', *Rail*, 22 June–5 July 2005, pp. 28–9.

Wragg, D., Signal Failure - Politics and Britain's Railways, Stroud: Sutton, 2004.

Newspapers, periodicals etc.

Buckingham Advertiser and North Bucks Free Press Bury Times Carlisle Journal Cornish Guardian Dereham and Fakenham Times Guardian Guardian Unlimited (online) Hull Daily Mail Independent Modern Railways Northamptonshire Advertiser North Norfolk News Notes on Current Politics Rail Railway Magazine Railway World Sunday Telegraph The Times Timesonline (online) Wellingborough News Whitby Gazette

Film

The Titfield Thunderbolt (GB: Ealing, 1952), dir. Charles Crichton.

Index

Advanced Passenger Train 139-40, 158 Alston branch 82, 137 Andover-Romsey line 95, 98-9 Associated Society of Locomotive Engineers and Firemen 33, 93, 101 Association of British Chambers of Commerce 19, 29 Aviemore-Forres line 107 Baldwin, Archer 32 Barnes, Alfred 21-2, 24 Barrow–Whitehaven line 94–6 Beeching Report see The Reshaping of British Railways Beeching, Richard 11, 17, 53, 61, 70, 75, 82, 89, 102–3, 109, 121, 125, 130, 133, 137, 151-2; effect on railway management 139; political pressure on 94, 105-8, 115-17; reputation 2-6, 12-13, 15, 138, 156-8; and SAG 76-8, 83-5; technocratic image 87-8, 156; traffic studies 18, 85-7, 120 Beesley, Michael 85, 115, 142 Benson, Henry 75, 77-8 Betjeman, Sir John 12-13 Better Use of Rail Ways study 10 Birtchnell, Sir Cyril 26, 29 Blair, Tony 143–4 Blakenham, Lord 104, 108 'Bluebell' line 10, 32, 47, 64, 137 Board of Trade 91, 106, 125 Boyd-Carpenter, John 40-4, 56 Bradford-Huddersfield line 100 Bridlington line 11-12 Brightlingsea branch 31, 33 Bristol: closures in 94 British Overseas Airways Corporation 83 British Oxygen Company 91 British Railways Board 2-4, 61, 81, 87,

99, 108, 115, 117, 120, 122–4, 135; establishment of 53, 75, 82; financial position 128–32, 141; investment in 120–1, 138–42, 145–6; performance 1974–94 138–43, 146; and *Reshaping* 6–7, 75, 86, 94, 100–1, 103–4, 109; structure 30, 77
British Roads Federation 56–7

British Transport Commission 2, 3, 8, 15, 47, 49-50, 54, 60-2, 67, 69-70, 74, 76, 82, 85; abolition of 53, 75; area boards 30, 38; closure policy 31–3, 64–5; establishment of 21-3; financial position 16, 23–4, 34–5, 42–3, 48, 53, 59, 66–8, 79, 83, 149; Labour Party's emotional attachment to 115; and modernization 37-43, 51, 76, 78-80; Railway Executive 22, 29-30, 31; reform of 1951-3 24-30; relationship with Whitehall 45, 47–9, 153; subsidies 71-2; wages and charges 27-8, 33-4, 39, 41, 46 British Transport Commission (Borrowing Powers) Bill (1955) 40, 44 Broad St-Richmond (North London) line 94-6, 120, 131 Brook, Sir Norman 65 Brooke, Henry 41, 49, 91 Buchanan, Colin 58; see also Traffic in Towns Bury 110-11, 119 buses 18, 20, 81, 98-101, 102, 135, 150, 156 Butler, Richard 40-1, 43-4, 60, 101 Byers, Stephen 143 Callaghan, James 118-19 Cambridge-March line 100, 125 Cambridge-Marks Tey line 8 Carrington, Sir William 103

Castle, Barbara, 87, 100, 103, 111, 113-14, 118-19, 120-5, 128, 133, 144, 151 - 2Central Statistical Office 61 Central Transport Consultative Committee 23, 27, 31, 47, 64, 81, 136 Channel Tunnel 141 Churchill, Sir Winston 26–8, 33, 41–2 Cirencester branch 4, 103, 157 Clapham Junction accident 145 Clarke, Richard 59–62, 69, 153 Clayton West branch 18 closure procedure 23, 31, 64-6, 81-2, 136, 150closure programme 149-52; 1956 proposal 46-7; 1960 proposals 77, 80; 1970-4 proposals 128-32; 1977 proposal 135; extent of 2; future 136-7; pressure for in 1958-9 63-7, 73; see also The Reshaping of British Railways Colne Valley line 101 Comrie branch 107 Concorde 140 Coniston branch 64, 98 consensus 25 Conservative Party 24-6, 28, 50, 60, 94, 133, 142, 144-5 contributory revenue 6–7, 97, 103–4, 122 coordination 19-20, 22, 25, 120-1 Cornwall 109-10, 156 Coryton line 94, 99, 108 cost-benefit analysis 5, 8-10, 69-70, 80, 84, 94, 122–3, 153–4 Council for the Protection of Rural England 12 Cousins, Frank 115 Crosland, Anthony 139 Crossman, Richard 119 Darling, Alistair 143 Darlington-Bishop Auckland-Crook branch 96 decentralization 25, 28-30, 60, 77, 158 decline: British fear of 13-14, 155, 157 denationalization of road haulage 24-7, 29, 136 Department for Transport see Ministry of Transport Department of Economic Affairs 118-19, 126 Department of Scientific and Industrial Research 84-5 Department of Transport see Ministry of Transport

The Development of the Major Railway Trunk Routes see Trunk Routes report Diamond, John 119 Douglas-Home, Sir Alec 104, 107, 114 Dunnet, Sir James 16, 45, 58, 65, 68-71, 81-3 'early sift' 116-17 east Lincolnshire lines 7, 101, 97, 125, 127 - 8east Suffolk line 8 Economic and Financial Obligations of the Nationalised Industries 59, 61, 80–1, 92 Economic Implications of Full Employment, The 34 Economist, The 50 Eden, Sir Anthony 33-4, 46 Eridge-Hailsham line 100 Fiennes, Gerard 5-6, 8 Foster, Christopher 8, 84, 120, 123 Francis, Stewart 5 Fraser, Tom 114-21, 125, 133 freightliners 2, 121–2 freight traffic 18, 21, 67, 113, 139 General Election: 1951 24; 1959 53; 1964 2, 14, 104, 108–11; 1966 110–11, 121, 125 Gilbert, Sir Bernard 41, 45 Gilbert, John 139 Glover, Kenneth 22, 66, 157 Grant, Alexander 40-1, 43-4 Great Central line 18, 117 Great Railway Conspiracy, The 4-5, 54, 76, 120, 155 Great Western Railway 16, 25 Greene, Sidney 92 Guillebaud inquiry 34, 63, 66, 68, 79 Gunnislake branch 82 Gunter, Ray 101 Hailsham, Lord 91 Hall, Christopher 120 Hall, Sir Robert 84, 87 Halwill Junction-Torrington line 106, 118 hardship 5, 10-11, 98-101, 150 Hatfield accident 143-8, 158 Heath, Edward 128, 155 Henshaw, David see The Great Railway Conspiracy Highland lines 82, 96, 98, 109–10, 125,

135, 140, 156

212 Index

High Speed Train 140, 158 Hinton, Lord 115 holiday traffic 7, 96-8 Hornsea branch 98–9, 109 Horsham-Guildford line 104 Houghton, Douglas 115-16 Hull and Barnsley line 66 Hurcomb, Lord 26, 29 Ilfracombe 97, 98 interdepartmental working party on railways 81, 83 Interim Rail Strategy 130 Inverness see Highland lines Isle of Wight 31, 82, 95, 98, 102 Jenkins, Sir Gilmour 26, 65 Joint Steering Group 121-2 Joseph, Keith 106 Kearton, Frank 75, 78 Kilmarnock-Ayr line 108 Kyle of Lochalsh branch see Highland lines Labour Party 25, 115, 119, 121, 133, 144 - 5Leathers, Lord 24, 26-8 Lee, Fred 119 Le Goy, Ray 65 Lennox-Boyd, Alan 28, 30, 40 letters of protest: effectiveness of 108 Leysdown branch 31 London Midland and Scottish Railway 16, 17,23 London and North Eastern Railway 16, 17, 19 London Passenger Transport Board 19, 21 LTST see statistical working party on long-term survey of transport report Lyme Regis branch 118 Maclay, John 26-8, 102 Macleod, Iain 101, 104, 106 Macmillan, Harold 25, 30, 34, 42, 54, 60, 74-6, 98, 106, 137, 158; and modernization 90-4, 154-5 Macpuff 107 Maitland, Sir John 101 Major, John 16 Mallard 17 Manchester–Buxton line 96, 98–9 Marples, Ernest 15, 57, 67, 75, 77, 100, 116, 118, 124, 133, 149, 155, 157; anti-

rail reputation 4, 11, 155, 158; contribution to forming transport policy 58-9, 67-70, 72-3, 79-80, 149; criticized by motorists 56; handling of closure programme 90, 94, 98, 102-9; personality 53-6; plans for rebuilding urban Britain 91-2; Marples Ridgeway 55 Marsh, Richard 121, 126, 130-1, 133, 138 - 9Maxwell, Robert 109 Maxwell-Fyfe, David 24, 26, 29 Melton Constable 10-11, 110-11 Midland and Great Northern Railway 10, 66, 138; see also Melton Constable Mills, Lord 60 Ministerial Group on Modernisation 77, 79, 84, 88, 115 Ministry of Housing and Local Government 87, 95, 98, 106, 125 Ministry of Labour 45 Ministry of Transport 6, 7, 71, 103, 117, 121, 123, 141; attitude to railways 22, 39-40, 65, 138-9; investigation of rail prospects 66, 68, 69-70, 128-32; liaison with Treasury and BTC 45, 63, 65; and Proposals for the Railways 46–9; and Reshaping 81-2, 86, 98-101, 108; road programme 56-7, 68-9; and transport planning 61-2, 83-5, 87, 115; and Wilson Government 116, 118, 120, 124 - 6Ministry of Transport and Civil Aviation see Ministry of Transport Modernisation Plan, see A Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways modernization: British attitudes to 14-15, 36, 37-8, 137-8, 155-60; see also decline: British fear of; Macmillan, Harold Molson, Hugh 46 Monkseaton-Blyth-Newbiggin line 96 motor car ownership: growth of 14, 20, 58, 69, 121, 153 Mulley, Fred 139 Munro, Dame Alison 136 National Coal Board 30, 39, 53, 76, 119 National Council on Inland Transport 103 - 4National Economic Development Council 14 National Freight Corporation 120-2

nationalized industries, government policy towards 14, 41, 59-61, 72, 139, 150 National Plan 80 National Union of Railwaymen 33–4, 39, 63, 92, 116, 121, 131 Network for Development 123-6, 128, 133 Network Rail 143-5 Night Mail 16 Noble, Michael 102, 105-8, 112 Noel-Baker, Philip 118 North of Scotland Hydro-Electricity Board 49, 53 north-west: closures in 95 Nottingham–Worksop line 94 opposition to closures, general 31-3, 47, 131, 136-7, 151-2, 156-7 Padmore committee 60-1, 70, 77 Padmore, Sir Thomas 53, 60, 69, 72, 120 Parker, Peter 139-41 Passenger Transport Executives 87, 120 Peyton, John 128-32 Plan for the Modernization and Reequipment of British Railways, A 15, 37-8, 40, 42-4, 48, 50, 52, 63, 72, 93, 139, 144-5, 153 Pliatzky, Leo 49, 153 Plowden committee 60 Powell, Enoch 52 preservation 13, 137, 156 Princetown branch 99 Proposals for the Railways 38, 45, 47–51, 65, 67, 72, 153 Public Expenditure Survey Committee 59-60 Public Service Obligation grant 132, 138-41 railbuses 8, 9, 47 rail privatization 15-16, 136, 142-8 Railtrack 143–6 Railway Children, The 137 Railway Development Association 32 Railway Ramblers 137 Railway Rates Tribunal 17, 23 Railways Act (1921) 19 Railways Act (1974) 132-3, 138 Railways Act (1993) 144; see also rail privatization Railways Act (2005) 136, 144 Raymond, Sir Stanley 115–16, 121, 124, 126, 133

Reappraisal of the Plan for the Modernisation and Re-equipment of British Railways 38, 53, 67, 77 Redmayne, Martin 103 regional planning 91, 94-7, 114, 117-18 Reshaping of British Railways, The 3, 5–9, 14-15, 52, 74-7, 85-9, 92-9 101-10 113-14, 122, 149, 152-5, 157 Ridley, Nicholas 102 Riverside loop, Newcastle 94, 104, 109 Road Haulage Association 24–5, 56–8, 120 road haulage industry 17-8, 20-2, 115; 25-mile limit 22, 25-6, 28-9 road programme 56-7, 68-9, 121 road pricing 37, 58, 115, 120, 133, 153 Road and Rail Traffic Act (1933) 20 Road Traffic Act (1930) 19 Roads Campaign Council 55-6 Robens, Alf 76 Robertson, B. 29-30, 33-4, 36-8, 40-2, 44, 46, 70, 72, 78 Rodgers, Bill 140 Rusholme, Lord 35 St Pancras–Barking service 94–5, 107 Salter, Sir Arthur 19, 26 Scotland: politics of closures in 13, 47, 77-8, 96, 102, 106-8, 109-10, 126-7, 129-30, 136, 151-2 Scottish Development Department 96, 106 Seaton branch 118 Select Committee on Nationalized Industries 59, 75, 81 Serpell, Sir David 74-5, 78; review of railway finances 134-5, 141 Settle-Carlisle line 18, 21, 116-17, 135 Shrewsbury-Llanelli line 99, 106, 108, 125-8, 135 Silloth branch 1-2, 109 sleeper services 136, 156 Slow Train, The 3, 11 Society for the Reinvigoration of Branch Lines 32 Society of Motor Manufacturers and Traders 57-8 Somerset and Dorset line 118, 138 Southern Railway 16, 19 Spearman, Sir Alexander, MP 117 Special (Stedeford) Advisory Group 4, 53, 57, 66-7, 74-84, 88 'square deal' campaign 20-1 statistical working party on long-term

survey of transport report 61–3, 65, 67, 73

steam: end of 13 Stedeford, Sir Ivan 74–5, 78–9 Stedman, George 48 Steel, David 127 Stevenson, Matthew 62, 83, 153 Stewart, Michael 118 Stonham, Lord 103-4, 106 Stranraer: proposals to close all routes to 96,100 Strategic Rail Authority 136, 143-5, 147 subsidies 42-3, 70-1, 82-3, 122-3, 138, 141-2, 146; for buses 99-100; ideal system of 154 Talyllyn Railway 137 Thatcher, Margaret 140, 145, 155 Thomas the Tank Engine 13 Thorneycroft, Peter 26-7 Titfield Thunderbolt, The 12, 31-2, 157 Trades Union Congress 46, 116 Traffic in Towns 58, 87, 101 Train Operating Companies 143, 145-7 Transport 2010, the ten-year plan 144, 146 Transport Act (1947) 16, 21-3, 25, 29, 35, 78 Transport Act (1953) 16, 25, 29–31, 35, 77 - 8Transport Act (1962) 4-6, 30, 53, 59, 61, 63, 75, 80-3, 93, 150 Transport Act (1968) 87, 120-3, 128, 133, 138 Transport Bill (1947) 22 Transport Bill (1952) 26-9 Transport Bill (1968) 126 Transport and General Workers Union 34, 115, 121-2Transport (Railway Finances) Act (1957) 49, 53 Transport Salaried Staffs' Association 101 Transport Tribunal 23-4 transport users' consultative committees

23, 31–2, 46–7, 58, 64–6, 76, 80–2, 98, 103, 105, 107, 125, 136

Treasury 14-15, 33-4, 72-3, 94, 101, 104, 132, 141-2, 145-7; and Modernisation Plan 39-45; modernization of approach to public expenditure and consequences for transport 57-63, 65-8, 149-50, 152–4; and Proposals for the Railways 49-50; and Transport Bill (1952) 23, 26-7; and Wilson Government 114, 116, 118-20, 122, 126 Trend, Burke 119 Trunk Routes report 113, 117, 119, 124 urban closures 87, 94, 106, 112, 153 Wales: politics of closures in 13, 82, 102, 106-8, 125, 127, 129-31, 151-2 Walker, Peter 128, 131 Watkinson, Harold 24, 45-52, 55-6, 63-6, 73, 100 Waverley line 5, 82, 106-7, 126-8, 156 Weir committee (1931) 17, 140 Wellingborough 109 Wells-next-the-Sea branch 6, 98-9, 110 - 11west coast main line: modernization of 38, 68, 79-80, 144-5 West country 82, 96, 102 Westerham branch 80-1, 94 West Midlands: closures in 95, 136 Whitby: closure of lines to 98-9, 109, 117 White, Eirene 127 Whitelaw, William 1 Wick see Highland lines Wild, Ira 45, 65 Wilson, Harold 109, 114-15, 117-19, 127, 144 Wilson, Sir Reginald. 30, 40-1, 45, 48, 55, 71,79 Woodhead route 113, 134 Woodside-Sanderstead line 81, 94 Woodstock branch 31

Woolton, Lord 24, 26

workshops: rationalization of 92, 110-11

eBooks - at www.eBookstore.tandf.co.uk

A library at your fingertips!

eBooks are electronic versions of printed books. You can store them on your PC/laptop or browse them online.

They have advantages for anyone needing rapid access to a wide variety of published, copyright information.

eBooks can help your research by enabling you to bookmark chapters, annotate text and use instant searches to find specific words or phrases. Several eBook files would fit on even a small laptop or PDA.

NEW: Save money by eSubscribing: cheap, online access to any eBook for as long as you need it.

Annual subscription packages

We now offer special low-cost bulk subscriptions to packages of eBooks in certain subject areas. These are available to libraries or to individuals.

For more information please contact webmaster.ebooks@tandf.co.uk

We're continually developing the eBook concept, so keep up to date by visiting the website.

www.eBookstore.tandf.co.uk